
REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL
CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI

November 7, 2023
AGENDA
10:00 AM

CALL TO ORDER BY THE PRESIDENT

INVOCATION

1. REV. BARRON BANKS OF OLD TOWN PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH

PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

PUBLIC HEARING

INTRODUCTIONS

PUBLIC COMMENTS

CONSENT AGENDA

2. NOTE: "ALL MATTERS LISTED UNDER THE CONSENT AGENDA ARE
CONSIDERED TO BE ROUTINE BY THE CITY COUNCIL AND WILL BE
ENACTED BY ONE MOTION IN THE FORM LISTED BELOW.  THERE
WILL BE NO SEPARATE DISCUSSION OF THESE ITEMS. IF DISCUSSION
IS DESIRED, THAT ITEM WILL BE REMOVED FROM THE CONSENT
AGENDA AND CONSIDERED SEPARATELY."

3. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND FOUR SEASONS ENTERPRISES
SERVICES LLC TO DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS,
AND DRIVEWAY; CUT GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND
DEBRIS; AND REMEDY CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH
CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE
ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11
FOR CASE #CE-21-1110 LOCATED AT 953 BAILEY AVE. PARCEL #93-40 –
$28,000.00 – WARD 3 (DOTSON, LUMUMBA)

4. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING INC CO. TO
DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY;
CUT GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY
CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE
TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO
MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-

shanekiaj
Text Box
REVISED2



115 LOCATED AT 2356 HICKORY DRIVE PARCEL #837-147 – $6,443.00 –
WARD 5 (DOTSON, LUMUMBA)

5. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF JACKSON AND TRIARC MANAGEMENT
SERVICES LLC TO DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS,
AND DRIVEWAY; CUT GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND
DEBRIS; AND REMEDY CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH
CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE
ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11
FOR CASE #CE-23-624 LOCATED AT 4313 OFFICER THOMAS
CATCHINGS PARCEL #306-127 – 6,700.00 – WARD 3 (DOTSON,
LUMUMBA)

6. APPROVAL OF THE OCTOBER 10, 2023 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING
MINUTES. (S.JORDAN, BANKS)

7. APPROVAL OF THE OCTOBER 11, 2023 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING
MINUTES. (S.JORDAN, BANKS)

8. APPROVAL OF THE OCTOBER 16, 2023 REGULAR ZONING MEETING
MINUTES. (S.JORDAN, BANKS)       

INTRODUCTION OF ORDINANCES

9. ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI
HONORARY RENAMING 723 ROSE STREET TO THE INTERSECTION OF
ROSE STREET AND LYNCH STREET TO ALPHA DELTA ZETA CHAPTER,
ZETA PHI BETA SORORITY, INC. STREET. (STOKES)

ADOPTION OF ORDINANCE

10. ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI
RESTRICTING THE USE OF TAKE HOME CITY VEHICLES EXCEPT
THOSE DEEMED ESSENTIAL ACCORDING TO THIS ORDINANCE IN
ADDITION, RESTRICTING THE USE OF TAKE HOME CITY VEHICLES
OUTSIDE OF THE CITY LIMITS OF JACKSON WITH NO EXCEPTIONS
AND THE TRANSFER OF ANY VEHICLE FROM ANY DEPARTMENT TO
ANOTHER, WITHOUT CITY COUNCIL APPROVAL. (BANKS)

REGULAR AGENDA

11. CLAIMS (MALEMBEKA, LUMUMBA)
12. PAYROLL (MALEMBEKA, LUMUMBA)
13. ORDER DESIGNATING JPMORGAN CHASE BANK AS THE CITY OF

JACKSON PUBLIC FUNDS DEPOSITORY FOR 2023-2024 AND 2024-2025
(MALEMBEKA, LUMUMBA)

14. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO TERMINATE AN AMENDMENT
TO THE SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH LOOMIS, FARGO & CO.
(“LOOMIS”) AT WATER SEWER BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION.
(MALEMBEKA, LUMUMBA)

15. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO ENTER INTO THE
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES MASTER AGREEMENT, END-USER LICENSE



AGREEMENT, AND TERMS OF SERVICE AGREEMENT WITH SQUARE 9
SOFTWORKS, INC. TO SUPPORT THE DEPARTMENT OF THE
MUNICIPAL CLERK. (A. HARRIS, LUMUMBA)

16. RESOLUTION DECLARING THE INTENTION OF THE MAYOR AND CITY
COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI TO ENTER INTO A
LOAN WITH THE MISSISSIPPI DEVELOPMENT BANK IN AN
AGGREGATE PRINCIPAL AMOUNT OF NOT TO EXCEED FORTY
MILLION DOLLARS ($40,000,000) TO RAISE MONEY FOR THE PURPOSE
OF THE (A) REPAIR, MAINTENANCE AND/OR RECONSTRUCTION OF
ROADS, STREETS AND BRIDGES; (B) STORM WATER AND DRAINAGE
IMPROVEMENTS AS AUTHORIZED BY SECTIONS 27-67-31 THROUGH 27-
67-35, AS AMENDED AND SUPPLEMENTED FROM TIME TO TIME AND
SECTIONS 31-25-1 ET SEQ., MISSISSIPPI CODE OF 1972, AS AMENDED
AND SUPPLEMENTED FROM TIME TO TIME; (C) AND OTHER
AUTHORIZED PURPOSES UNDER THE ACT (DEFINED BELOW)
INCLUDING FUNDING CAPITALIZED INTEREST, FUNDING A DEBT
SERVICE RESERVE FUND, IF APPLICABLE, PAYING THE COSTS OF
ISSUANCE FOR THE BONDS AND DIRECTING THE PUBLICATION OF A
NOTICE OF SUCH INTENTION; AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES. (SCOTT
LUMUMBA)

17. ORDER RATIFYING PAST SERVICES PERFORMED AND PAYMENT TO
PEOPLE’S PLACE ENTERPRISES LLC FOR THE REMOVAL AND
HAULING AWAY OF FALLEN TREES, LIMBS, AND TREE DEBRIS FROM
THIRTEEN (13) CITY OF JACKSON PARKS THAT OCCURRED AFTER
SEVERE THUNDERSTORMS STRUCK THE CITY OF JACKSON IN JUNE
2023 WHICH NECESSITATED THE ISSUANCE OF A MAYORAL
EMERGENCY PROCLAMATION WHICH OCCURRED ON JUNE 16TH,
2023 (HUTTON, LUMUMBA)

18. ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL OF FUTURE SERVICES FROM AND
PAYMENTS TO VENDORS WHO ARE ASSISTING WITH THE PICTURES
WITH SOUL SANTA EVENT ON SATURDAY, DECEMBER 02, 2023, IN THE
WESTBROOK HOUSE AT MYNELLE GARDENS. (HUTTON, LUMUMBA)

19. ORDER RATIFYING PAST SERVICES PERFORMED AND APPROVING
PAYMENT TO DURHAM SCHOOL SERVICES LP IN THE AMOUNT OF
THREE THOUSAND FORTY DOLLARS ($3,040.00) FOR
TRANSPORTATION SERVICES FOR VARIOUS FIELD TRIPS FOR
TWENTY-FIVE (25) YOUTH PARTICIPANTS AND EIGHT (8) STAFF
MEMBERS OF THE GROVE PARK COMMUNITY CENTER’S SUMMER
ENRICHMENT PROGRAM THAT OCCURRED ON JUNE 16TH, 23RD, AND
30TH, 2023, AND JULY 7TH, 14TH, AND 21ST, 2023 (HUTTON, LUMUMBA)

20. ORDER RATIFYING PAST SERVICING AND REPAIR WORK
PERFORMED BY, AND APPROVING PAYMENT TO, DEVINEY
EQUIPMENT FOR SERVICING AND EXTENSIVE REPAIRS PERFORMED
ON A KUBOTA L39 TRACTOR OWNED BY THE JACKSON ZOO IN THE
AMOUNT OF FIVE THOUSAND SIX HUNDRED SEVEN DOLLARS AND
FIFTY-EIGHT CENTS ($5,607.58) (HUTTON, LUMUMBA)

21. ORDER REQUESTING AUTHORIZATION TO RENEW A ONE (1) YEAR
COMMERCIAL PEST CONTROL SERVICES AGREEMENT BETWEEN



INTEGRATED PEST CONTROL MAINTENANCE LLC AND THE CITY OF
JACKSON PARKS AND RECREATION DEPARTMENT FOR SEVENTEEN
(17) PARKS AND RECREATION FACILITIES (WARDS 1-7) (HUTTON,
LUMUMBA)

22. ORDER AMENDING PREVIOUS ORDER THAT WAS APPROVED BY THE
CITY COUNCIL ON DECEMBER 6, 2022, THAT ACCEPTED THE BID OF
YAMAHA GOLF-CAR COMPANY TO LEASE SEVERAL GOLF CARTS,
INCLUDING GPS UNITS, TO THE PARKS AND RECREATION
DEPARTMENT TO CLARIFY THAT THE GPS UNITS ARE BEING
PROVIDED BY VANTAGE TAG SYSTEMS AND NOT YAMAHA GOLF-CAR
COMPANY AND THAT SEPARATE MONTHLY PAYMENTS WILL BE MADE
TO VANTAGE TAG SYSTEMS, HOWEVER, THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF
MONTHLY PAYMENTS REMAINS UNCHANGED. (HUTTON, LUMUMBA)

23. ORDER REQUESTING APPROVAL TO PURCHASE A SMITHCO 7580
ULTRA GREENS ROLLER THAT WAS LEASED FROM LADD’S GOLF &
TURF LLC FOR FORTY-EIGHT (48) MONTHS THROUGH PNC
EQUIPMENT FINANCE LLC FOR MAINTENANCE OF GOLF GREENS AT
THE PETE BROWN GOLF FACILITY IN THE AMOUNT OF SEVEN
THOUSAND DOLLARS ($7,000.00). (HUTTON, LUMUMBA)

24. ORDER TO APPROVE FUTURE SERVICES FROM AND PAYMENTS TO
SECURITY & INTEGRATED SYSTEMS SUPPORT INC FOR THE
PROVISION OF SECURITY MONITORING SERVICES FOR THREE (3)
PARKS AND RECREATION FACILITIES (HUTTON, LUMUMBA)

25. ORDER TO APPROVE FUTURE SERVICES FROM AND PAYMENTS TO
PENNINGTON & TRIM ALARM SERVICES INC FOR THE PROVISION OF
SECURITY MONITORING SERVICES FOR THE JACKSON ZOO GIFT
SHOP (HUTTON, LUMUMBA)

26. ORDER RATIFYING ROOF REPLACEMENT PERFORMED AT THE PETE
BROWN GOLF FACILITY CLUBHOUSE AND APPROVING PAYMENT FOR
SAID ROOF REPLACEMENT TO FOUR SEASONS ENTERPRISE LLC IN
THE AMOUNT OF TWENTY-ONE THOUSAND NINE HUNDRED EIGHT
DOLLARS ($21,908.00) (HUTTON, LUMUMBA)

27. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE ANY AND ALL
DOCUMENTS NECESSARY TO APPLY FOR PRO HOUSING PATHWAYS
TO REMOVE OBSTACLES GRANT THAT WILL PROVIDE FUNDING FOR
COMMUNITIES TO IDENTIFY AND REMOVE BARRIERS TO
AFFORDABLE HOUSING AND HOUSING PRODUCTION AND
PRESERVATION. (DOTSON, LUMUMBA)

28. ORDER DENYING THE APPLICATION OF THE GREATER EASTOVER
NEIGHBORHOOD FOUNDATION, INC. FOR THE INSTALLATION OF A
PUBLIC ACCESS GATES ON MEADOWBROOK ROAD, JUST EAST OF
THE EAST RIDGE DRIVE INTERSECTION AT 2206 MEADOWVROOK
ROAD. (WARD1) (DOTSON, LUMUMBA)

29. ORDER ACCEPTING THE QUOTE OF VEHICLE TECHNICAL
CONSULTANTS INC AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A
PURCHASE ORDER AND RELATED DOCUMENTS WITH VEHICLE
TECHNICAL CONSULTANTS INC TO PROIVE TRANSIT FLEET



TURNOVER INSPECTION. (DOTSON, LUMUMBA)
30. ORDER ACCEPTING THE PROPOSAL OF SP PLUS CORPORATION TO

PROVIDE METERED PARKING SYSTEM OPERATION, MANAGEMENT,
AND ENFORCEMENT SERVICES AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO
EXECUTE AN AGREEMENT. (DOTSON, LUMUMBA)

31. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE EVENT
LICENSE AGREEMENT WITH THE CAPITAL CITY CONVENTION
CENTER COMMISSION TO HOST THE CITY OF JACKSON’S DOING
BUSINESS WITH THE CITY INFORMATION AND NETWORKING
RECEPTION ON DECEMBER 7, 2023, AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT IN
THE AMOUNT OF SIX THOUSAND TWO HUNDRED AND TWENTY-SIX
DOLLARS AND EIGHTY CENTS. (DOTSON, LUMUMBA)

32. ORDER RATIFYING THE ACCEPTANCE OF SERVICES PROVIDED FOR
THE CITY OF JACKSON’S NLC SCEI COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT HELD
ON JULY 12-13, 2023 AND AUTHORIZING EXPENDITURES RELATED
HERETO. (DOTSON, LUMUMBA)

33. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE SUPPLEMENTAL
AGREEMENT NO. 4 AND RELATED DOCUMENTS TO THE AGREEMENT
WITH CONNETICS TRANSPORTATION GROUP TO COMPLETE AND
IMPLEMENT THE BUS NETWORK PLAN FOR THE JACKSON PUBLIC
TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (JTRAN) (DOTSON, LUMUMBA) 

34. ORDER AUTHORIZING FINAL PAYMENT AND PUBLICATION OF NOTICE
OF COMPLETION TO THE CONTRACT OF GCW PAVEMENT SERVICES
FOR THE BUS STOP IMPROVEMENT PROGRAM OF THE JACKSON
PUBLIC TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (JTRAN). (DOTSON, LUMUMBA) 

35. ORDINANCE CREATING SECTION 118-383 OF THE CITY OF JACKSON
CODE OF ORDINANCES AUTHORIZING THE DELEGATION OF PARKING
REGULATION TO A PRIVATE ENTERPRISE. (R.LEE, LUMUMBA) 

36. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE
SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT #3/FINAL TO THE CONTRACT OF
HEMPHILL CONSTRUCTION COMPANY, INC., AUTHORIZING RELEASE
OF RETAINAGE, AUTHORIZING PUBLICATION OF NOTICE
OF COMPLETION, AND COMMENCING ONE-YEAR WARRANTY
FOR THE WEST CAPITOL STREET PROJECT (BOLING STREET
TO PRENTISS STREET) (R.LEE, LUMUMBA) 

37. ORDER ACCEPTING THE QUOTES OF CERTAIN VENDORS FOR TREE
CUTTING SERVICES FOR THE REMOVAL OF THREE TREES AND
AUTHORIZING PAYMENT COMPLETION OF THE WORK. (R.LEE,
LUMUMBA)

38. ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF REPAIR SERVICES FROM
CERTAIN VENDORS AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO SAID
VENDORS. (R.LEE, LUMUMBA)

39. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE PAYMENT OF ATTORNEY’S FEES ON
BEHALF OF JACKSON POLICE OFFICER ALBERT TAYLOR, IN THE
MATTER OF THE ESTATE OF CRYSTALLINE BARNES, DECEASED VS.
THE CITY OF JACKSON, ALBERT TAYLOR, IN HIS INDIVIDUAL AND
OFFICIAL CAPACITY, RAKASHA ADAMS, IN HER INDIVIDUAL



CAPACITY; IN THE UNITED STATES FEDERAL DISTRICT COURT,
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF MISSISSIPPI; CIVIL ACTION NO.: 3:18-cv-644-
CWR-LGI. (C.MARTIN, LUMUMBA)

40. ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT
WITH MV TRANSPORTATION. INC FOR THE PROVISION OF
OPERATIONS AND MAINTENANCE OF JACKSON'S PUBLIC
TRANSPORTATION SYSTEM (JTRAN) COMMENCING JANUARY 1, 2024.
(DOTSON, LUMUMBA)  

41. ORDER APPROVING THE APPLICATION OF THE GREATER EASTOVER
NEIGHBORHOOD FOUNDATION, INC. FOR THE INSTALLATION OF A
PUBLIC ACCESS GATES ON MEADOWBROOK ROAD, JUST EAST OF
THE EAST RIDGE DRIVE INTERSECTION AT 2206 MEADOWVROOK
ROAD. (WARD1) (DOTSON, LUMUMBA)

42. ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF $36,950.33 TO GRANICUS FOR
GRANICUS, INC. FOR ANNUAL MAINTENANCE FOR THE AGENDA
MANAGEMENT AND VIDEO SYSTEM. (JACKSON CITY COUNCIL)

DISCUSSION

43. DISCUSSION: JACKSON PUBLIC SCHOOLS (STOKES)
44. DISCUSSION: 1910 GORDON STREET (STOKES)
45. DISCUSSION: HOMELESS, DISPLACED AND UNHOUSED POPULATION IN

JACKSON (HARTLEY)
46. DISCUSSION: OFFICE SPACE (BANKS)
47. DISCUSSION:PERSONNEL MATTERS (BANKS)

PRESENTATION

PROCLAMATION

RESOLUTIONS

REPORT FROM MEMBERS, MAYOR, DEPARTMENT DIRECTORS

48. MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED ACCORDING
TO SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED OF
1972.

ANNOUNCEMENTS

ADJOURNMENT

AGENDA ITEMS IN COMMITTEE











shanekiaj
Text Box
3











shanekiaj
Text Box
4











shanekiaj
Text Box
5















REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             1 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi, was convened at City Hall at 10:00 a.m. on October 10, 2023, being the second 

Tuesday of said month, when and where the following things were had and done to wit: 

  

 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Ward 6, Council President; Angelique 

Lee, Vice-President, Ward 2; Ashby Foote, Ward 1; Kenneth Stokes, Ward 

3; Brian Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 

7. Directors: Louis Wright, Chief Administrative Office; Fidelis 

Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer: Shanekia Jordan, Clerk of Council; 

Sabrina Shelby, Chief Deputy Clerk of Council and Catoria Martin, City 

Attorney.  

 

 Absent:           None. 

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The invocation was offered by Reverend Calvin Day of St. John Missionary Baptist Church. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The Council recited the Pledge of Allegiance.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

Note: Council Member Grizzell and Vice President Lee joined the meeting.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Hartley who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Lindsay, to suspend the rules to allow for public comments and presentation of a 

Proclamation. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay, and Stokes.  

Nays – None.  

Absent – None.    

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

The following individual provided public comments during the meeting. 

 

• Wade Brown expressed concerns regarding several issues in and around the Presidential 

Hills area. Specifically, the flooding issues caused by the dry damn behind Northwest 

Middle School, the bridge on Flag Chappel Road that’s missing rails, and the tall grass on 

Highway 49 coming into Jackson. President Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim 

Public Works Director, who stated that the current flooding issues is a top priority that 

will be addressed during this new fiscal budget. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

PROCLAMATION RECOGNIZING THE MONTH OF OCTOBER AS 

NATIONAL PLANNING MONTH. Accepting the proclamation with appropriate 

remarks was Dr. Tayla Thomas.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Note: President Banks left the meeting.  

           * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             2 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

There came on for consideration Agenda Item No. 2, Public Hearing:  

 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

HONORARY RENAMING REVEREND DR. MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. 

DRIVE, FROM WOODROW WILSON AVENUE TO MAPLE STREET TO JUDGE 

LARITA COOPER STOKES DRIVE. Vice President Lee recognized Rev. Calvin Day, 

who spoke in favor of said ordinance.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

Note: President Banks returned to the meeting.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 

President Banks requested that Agenda Item No. 12 be moved forward on the Agenda. Hearing 

no objections, the Clerk read the following:  

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

HONORARY RENAMING REVEREND DR. MARTIN LUTHER KING JR. 

DRIVE, FROM WOODROW WILSON AVENUE TO MAPLE STREET TO JUDGE 

LARITA COOPER STOKES DRIVE.  

WHEREAS, it is befitting for the City of Jackson to recognize, honor and celebrate 

individuals whose lives have had a significant and positive impact in the community; and 

WHEREAS, LaRita Cooper Stokes was the first black female County Court Judge to be 

elected in Hinds County, Jackson, Mississippi; and  

WHEREAS, Cooper-Stokes represented District 2 in the county court, she was also a 

former member of the Jackson City Council, serving Ward 3 representative from 2012 to 2014; 

and 

WHEREAS, Cooper-Stokes was a licensed attorney for almost 38 years, was a graduate 

from Thurgood Marshall School of Law at Texas Southern University.  She was a longstanding 

public servant within Hinds County and the City of Jackson.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, 

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI hereby honorary renames Reverend Dr. Martin Luther King Jr. Drive, 

from Woodrow Wilson Avenue to Maple Street to Judge LaRita Cooper Stokes Drive.   

Council Member Stokes moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON AND FOUR SEASONS ENTERPRISES LLC TO 

DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY 

CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO 

PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO 

EXECUTE ACONTRACT AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI 

CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE # CE-21-1768 LOCATED AT 

217 SYKES RD. PARCEL #626-116-1 – $6,250.00 – WARD 6.  

WHEREAS, on August 29, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution 

declaring certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, 

safety, and welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an 

administrative hearing held on June 6, 2023, for case CE-21-1768 located at 217 Sykes Rd. parcel 

#626-116-1 in Ward 6 of the City of Jackson; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             3 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

  WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 217 Sykes Rd.; and 

 

WHEREAS, Four Seasons Enterprises LLC submitted the lowest bid of $6,250.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 

 

  WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed, Four Seasons Enterprises LLC 

through its representative, Robert Love has agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, 

driveway and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, 

debris, tires, crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; 

and remedy conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel 

located at 217 Sykes Rd. in an amount not to exceed $6,250.00; and 

 

  WHEREAS, Four Seasons Enterprises LLC has a principal office located at 4612 Medgar 

Evers Boulevard, Jackson, Mississippi 39213 according to the information appearing on the 

Mississippi Secretary of State’s website. 

  IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract 

with Four Seasons Enterprises LLC to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the 

property located at 217 Sykes Rd. deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. 

 

  IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $6,250.00 shall be paid 

to Four Seasons Enterprises LLC upon the completion of the services provided from funds 

budgeted for the Division. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON AND QUALITY LANDSCAPE AND LAWN 

MAINTENANCE INC. TO DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, 

STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND 

DEBRIS; AND REMEDY CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH 

CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE 

ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR 

CASE #CE-22-463 LOCATED AT 2280 DECATUR ST PARCEL #104-155 – 

$5,825.00.  

WHEREAS, on May 23, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on February 07, 2023 for case #CE-22-463 located at 2280 Decatur St. parcel #104-155 in 

Ward 3 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 2280 Decatur St and 

 

WHEREAS, Quality Landscape and Lawn Maintenance Inc. submitted the lowest bid of 

$5,825.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             4 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed, Quality Landscape and Lawn 

Maintenance, Inc. through its representative, Eric Kelly, has agreed to demolish the structure, 

foundation, steps, driveway and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; 

remove trash, debris, tires, crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; 

clean curbside; and remedy conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare 

for the parcel located at 2280 Decatur St. in an amount not to exceed $5,825.00; and 

 

  WHEREAS, Quality Landscape and Lawn Maintenance Inc. has a principal office located 

at 133 Park Circle Jackson, MS 39212, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

 IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract 

with Quality Landscape and Lawn Maintenance Inc. to demolish the structure and remedy 

conditions on the property located at 2280 Decatur St. deemed to be a menace to public health, 

safety, and welfare. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to $5,825.00 shall be paid 

to Quality Landscape and Lawn Maintenance Inc. upon the completion of the services provided 

from funds budgeted for the Division. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON AND TRIARC MANAGEMENT SERVICES LLC TO 

DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY 

CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO 

PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI 

CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-282 LOCATED AT 

2454 VERNON AVE PARCEL #837-13 – $6,800.00.  

WHEREAS, on May 23, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on February 28, 2023 for case #CE-22-282 located at 2454 Vernon Ave. parcel #837-13 in 

Ward 5 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 2454 Vernon Ave. and 

 

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC, submitted the lowest bid of $6,800.00; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 

 

WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed TriArc Management Services 

LLC through its representative, Stacey Stowers, has agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, 

steps, driveway and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, 

debris, tires, crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; 

and remedy conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel 

located at 2454 Vernon Ave. in an amount not to exceed $6,800.00; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             5 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC, Inc. has a principal office located at 644 

E. Rhinewalt Road Lena, MS 39094, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with 

TriArc Management Services LLC to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the 

property located at 2454 Vernon Ave. deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to $6,800.00 shall be paid 

to TriArc Management Services LLC upon the completion of the services provided from funds 

budgeted for the Division.  

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITYOF JACKSON AND LOVE TRUCKING CO., INC. TO DEMOLISH 

THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT GRASS AND 

WEEDS; REMOVE TRASHAND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY CONDITIONS ON 

PRIVATE PROPERTYWHICHCONSTITUTE AMENACE TO PUBLIC HEALTH, 

SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED 

SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22- 410 LOCATED AT 3043 LAKEWOOD DR. 

PARCEL #628-376 – $6,341.00.  

WHEREAS, on May 23, 2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on March 21, 2023 for case #CE-22-410 located at 3043 Lakewood Dr. parcel #628-376 in 

Ward 6 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 3043 Lakewood Dr. and 

 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. submitted the lowest bid of $6,341.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 

 

WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed Love Trucking Co., Inc through 

its representative, Dennis Love, has agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, steps, driveway 

and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, debris, tires, 

crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; and remedy 

conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel located at 3043 

Lakewood Dr. in an amount not to exceed $6,341.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, Love Trucking Co., Inc. has a principal office located at 761 Woodlake Dr. 

Jackson, MS 39206, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi Secretary of State’s 

website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with 

Love Trucking Co., Inc. to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the property located 

at 3043 Lakewood Dr. deemed to be a menace to public health, safety, and welfare. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to exceed $6,341.00 shall be paid 

to Love Trucking Co., Inc. upon the completion of the services provided from funds budgeted for 

the Division. 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             6 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE A CONTRACT BETWEEN 

THE CITY OF JACKSON AND TRIARC MANAGEMENT SERVICES LLC TO 

DEMOLISH THE STRUCTURE, FOUNDATION, STEPS, AND DRIVEWAY; CUT 

GRASS AND WEEDS; REMOVE TRASH AND DEBRIS; AND REMEDY 

CONDITIONS ON PRIVATE PROPERTY WHICH CONSTITUTE A MENACE TO 

PUBLIC HEALTH, SAFETY, AND WELFARE ACCORDING TO MISSISSIPPI 

CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-19-11 FOR CASE #CE-22-2523 LOCATED AT 

4309 OFFICER THOMAS CATCHINGS DR PARCEL #306-129 – 5,700.00.  

WHEREAS, on May 23,2023, the Jackson City Council approved a resolution declaring 

certain parcels of real property in the City of Jackson to be a menace to public health, safety, and 

welfare pursuant to Section 21-19-11 of the Mississippi Code following an administrative hearing 

held on March 21, 2023 for case #CE-22-2523 located at 4309 Officer Thomas Catchings Dr. 

parcel #306-129 in Ward 4 of the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Improvement Division of the Planning and Development 

Department maintains a list of licensed, bonded, and insured contractors that received and 

responded to the request for bids for the demolition project located at 4309 Officer Thomas 

Catchings Dr. and 

 

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC, submitted the lowest bid of $5,700.00; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, a municipal contract for the professional services of a contractor is not 

subject to advertising and bidding requirements set forth in Section 31-7-13 of the Mississippi 

Code of 1972; and 

 

WHEREAS, upon receipt of a written Notice to Proceed, TriArc Management Services 

LLC through its representative, Stacey Stowers, has agreed to demolish the structure, foundation, 

steps, driveway and/or cut grass, weeds, shrubbery, fence line, bushes, and saplings; remove trash, 

debris, tires, crates, appliances, building materials, furniture, and fallen tree parts; clean curbside; 

and remedy conditions constituting a menace to public health, safety, and welfare for the parcel 

located at 4309 Officer Thomas Catchings in an amount not to exceed $5,700.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, TriArc Management Services LLC, has a principal office located at 644 E. 

Rhinewalt Road Lena, MS 39094, according to the information appearing on the Mississippi 

Secretary of State’s website. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute a contract with 

TriArc Management Services LLC to demolish the structure and remedy conditions on the 

property located at 4309 Officer Thomas Catchings Dr. deemed to be a menace to public health, 

safety, and welfare. 

 

IT IS FURTHER HEREBY ORDERED that a sum not to $5,700.00 shall be paid 

to TriArc Management Services LLC upon the completion of the services provided from funds 

budgeted for the Division. 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             7 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

APPROVAL OF THE SEPTEMBER 26, 2023 REGULAR COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

APPROVAL OF THE SEPTEMBER 27, 2023 SPECIAL COUNCIL MEETING 

MINUTES.  

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for Introduction Agenda Item No. 11:  

 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

PROHIBITING THE PHYSICAL FOLLOWING OF JACKSON POLICE 

OFFICERS (OR THOSE WHO ENFORCE LAW IN THE CITY OF JACKSON). 

President Banks stated said item would be placed on the next Regular Council agenda to 

be held on October 24, 2023  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 29401 to 29456 APPEARING AT 

PAGES 1 TO 27 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 

CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $7,245,989.25 AND MAKING 

APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 29401 to 29456 appearing at pages 1 

to 27, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 

$7,245,989.25 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 

immediate payment thereof. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 

                                                                                                                 TO 

                                                                                                ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

         FROM:                                                                                         FUND 

GENERAL FUND   4,360,424.36 

TECHNOLOGY FUND  512.39 

PARKS & RECR. FUND  146,958.31 

BUSINESS IMPROV FUND (LANDSCP)  415.68 

LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  33,728.53 

STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND  925.00 

WATER/SEWER REVENUE FUND  80.71 

WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  1,208,446.20 

REPAIR & REPLACEMENT FUND   10,526.00 

DISABILITY RELIEF FUND  4,822.26 

EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE FUND   1,168.00 

NARCOTICS EVIDENCE ESCROW  2,207.40 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             8 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

PAYROLL FUND  347.40 

HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  32,901.15 

EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT (ESG)  1,192.52 

UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION REVO  3,213.28 

1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  68,962.96 

MADISON SEWAGE DISP OP & MAINT  39.54 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  409,078.44 

RESURFACING – REPAIR & REPL. FD  4,287.35 

WATER SEWER B&I FD 2013 $89.9M  5,750.00 

09 TIF BOND FUND $407000  850.00 

2015 A/B G.O. REFUNDING  343,206.26 

MODERNIZATION TAX  1,999.00 

SIEMENS SETTLEMENT ACCOUNT   299,231.99 

PLANNING AND DEV GRANTS    1,216.93 

CDBG COVID CARES   5,172.13 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  17,424.80 

2019 7M NOTE  113,750.00 

LIBRARY FUND   162,250.66 

DFA – SB2971 – PETE BROWN GOLF   4,900.00 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $7,245,989.25 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

     

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim Public Works Director, and Fidelis 

Malembeka, Chief Financial Officer, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Yeas – Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Banks, Foote, Hartley and Stokes. 

Absent – None.   

 

Note: Said item failed due to a lack of a majority vote.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING GROSS PAYROLL INCLUDING PAYROLL 

 DEDUCTION CLAIMS NUMBERED 29401 TO 29456 AND MAKING 

 APPROPRIATION FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that payroll deduction claims numbered 29401 to 29456 

inclusive therein, in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of $96,127.58 

plus payroll, are approved for payment and necessary amounts are appropriated from various 

municipal funds for transfer to the payroll fund for the immediate payment thereof. 

IT IS FINALLY ORDERED that the following expenditures from the accounts payable 

fund be made in order to pay amounts transferred thereto from the payroll fund for payment of the 

payroll deduction claims authorized herein for payment:    

         TO                                           TO 

FROM:                                                             ACCOUNTS PAYABLE                  PAYROLL     

                                                                                           FUND                                    FUND 

GENERAL FUND  2,311,732.56 

PARKS & RECR FUND  104,871.64 

LANDFILL FUND  24,494.96 

SENIOR AIDES  3,440.23 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             9 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WATER/SEWER OPER & MAINT  89,090.94 

PAYROLL  96,127.58  

HOUSING COMM DEV  8,894.73 

TITLE III AGING PROGRAMS  5,972.04 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  16,470.24 

PEG ACCESS-PROGRAMMING FUND  5,467.15 

2020 SAKI GRAND DOJ  7,405.71 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  31,541.63 

AMERICAN RESCUE PLAN ACT 2021              253.38 

NLC-MUNICIPAL REIMAGINING COMM  5,386.86 

TOTAL                                                                                                                      $2,615,022.07 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee, Lindsay and Stokes. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – None.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Note: Council Member Stokes left the meeting.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AMENDING ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE 

CONTRACT EXECUTION, MENTOR COMPENSATION, WORKSHOP 

PRESENTER COMPENSATION, AND FUNDS TRANSFER FILM JXN YOUTH 

SUMMER CAMP.  

WHEREAS, the City Council previously approved the Order authorizing the Mayor to 

execute all documents related to the Film JXN Youth Summer Camp on August 15, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, it was discovered by the Municipal Clerk after approval that the Order failed 

to include a statement including “IT IS HEREBY ORDERED” and therefore the original Order is 

in need of an amendment; and 

 

WHEREAS, up to seven workshop presenters were identified as qualified candidates to 

enhance the participant’s understanding of the film industry; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the city to compensate the workshop presenters for 

their valuable contributions to the Jackson Summer Youth Film Camp; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Public, Educational, and Governmental Access Channel (PEG Network) 

recommends authorizing payment to industry professionals: The Chosen Entertainment & Media, 

Blue Light Underground Ensemble, Howard McGlothin, Bumble Bee Planning, Thomas Audio 

Services and Sweet Unknown South for providing workshops and support on and with various 

aspects of film and television production; and 

 

WHEREAS, the proposed film industry professional agreements became effective upon 

the execution, with workshop services rendered at a cost not to exceed $200.00 per workshop, up 

to a maximum $1,400.00 for seven workshops. 

 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute and submit payment 

for agreements with The Chosen Entertainment & Media, Blue Light Underground Ensemble, 

Howard McGlothin, Bumble Bee Planning, Thomas Audio Services and Sweet Unknown South 

in an amount not to exceed Two Hundred Dollars ($200.00) per workshop, up to a maximum of 

seven workshops totaling One Thousand Four Hundred and No Cents ($1,400.00) for the Film 

JXN Youth Summer Camp. 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             10 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RE-APPOINTING JOHN MILLER TO THE JACKSON CONVENTION 

AND VISITORS BUREAU AS MEMBER AT-LARGE.  

WHEREAS, during the 2019 Mississippi Legislative Session, local and private legislation, 

namely House Bill 1706, was signed into law, which allows for the reconstitution of the Jackson 

Convention and Visitors Bureau; and 

 

WHEREAS, the term of John Miller expired on July 1, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, thereafter the bureau shall consist of nine (9) members, who shall be 

appointed, qualify and take office within ninety (90) days after July 1, 2019, and the appointments 

to the bureau and, if applicable, the initial terms of the appointments made on or after July 1, 2019, 

shall be as follows: (a) the two (2) hotel/motel members representing hotel or motel properties 

located within the city limits of Jackson, Mississippi, who are members of the Capital Center 

Convention Center Commission; (b) the two (2) restaurant members appointed who are members 

of the Capital Center Convention Center Commission; (c) one (1) member representing the 

business community in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the 

council for a term of two (2) years. This member and his or her successors shall be appointed by 

the mayor with confirmation by the council after being selected from a panel of two (2) names 

submitted by the Jackson Chamber of Commerce the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau 

consist of nine (9) members, for a term of five (5) years; (d) One (1) member representing the arts 

community in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council for a 

term of two (2) years; (e) One (1) member representing the education community appointed by the 

mayor with confirmation by the council for a term of four (4) years; (f) One (1) member 

representing the attractions industry in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with 

confirmation by the council for a term of two (2) years. This member and his or her successors 

shall be residents of the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council 

after being selected from a panel of two (2) names submitted by the Metro Jackson Attractions 

Association; (g) One (1) at-large member appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council 

for a term of four (4) years; and 

 

WHEREAS, John Miller, after evaluation of her qualifications, has been nominated by the 

Mayor to fill said vacancy on the bureau as the arts community representative. 

 

           IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor's nomination of John Miller to the 

Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau be confirmed with said term to expire July 1, 2027. 

 

 Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RE-APPOINTING CAROL BURGER TO THE JACKSON 

CONVENTION AND VISITORS BUREAU AS BUSINESS COMMUNITY 

REPRESENTATIVE.  

WHEREAS, during the 2019 Mississippi Legislative Session, local and private legislation, 

namely House Bill 1706, was signed into law, which allows for the reconstitution of the Jackson 

Convention and Visitors Bureau; and 

 

WHEREAS, the terms of the current term of Carol Burger expired on July 1, 2023; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             11 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, thereafter the bureau shall consist of nine (9) members, who shall be 

appointed, qualify and take office within ninety (90) days after July 1, 2019, and the appointments 

to the bureau and, if applicable, the initial terms of the appointments made on or after July 1, 2019, 

shall be as follows: (a) the two (2) hotel/motel members representing hotel or motel properties 

located within the city limits of Jackson, Mississippi, who are members of the Capital Center 

Convention Center Commission; (b) the two (2) restaurant members appointed who are members 

of the Capital Center Convention Center Commission; (c) one (1) member representing the 

business community in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the 

council for a term of two (2) years. This member and his or her successors shall be appointed by 

the mayor with confirmation by the council after being selected from a panel of two (2) names 

submitted by the Jackson Chamber of Commerce the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau 

consist of nine (9) members, for a term of five (5) years; (d) One (1) member representing the arts 

community in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council for a 

term of two (2) years; (e) One (1) member representing the education community appointed by the 

mayor with confirmation by the council for a term of four (4) years; (f) One (1) member 

representing the attractions industry in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with 

confirmation by the council for a term of two (2) years. This member and his or her successors 

shall be residents of the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council 

after being selected from a panel of two (2) names submitted by the Metro Jackson Attractions 

Association; (g) One (1) at-large member appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council 

for a term of four (4) years; and 

 

WHEREAS, Carol Burger, after evaluation of her qualifications, has been nominated by 

the Mayor to fill said vacancy on the bureau as the arts community representative. 

 

           IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor's re-appointment of Carol Burger to the 

Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau be confirmed with said term to expire July 1, 2027. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER CONFIRMING THE MAYOR'S NOMINATION OF PATRICK HOUSE 

TO THE JACKSON CONVENTION AND VISITOR'S BUREAU.  

WHEREAS, the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau consist of nine (9) members, for 

a term of five (5) years; and 

 

WHEREAS, Lewis Formby ended his appointment; thereby creating a vacancy; and 

 

WHEREAS, Patrick House, after evaluation of her qualifications, has been nominated by 

the Mayor to fill said vacancy by serving the remainder of the term. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor's nomination of Patrick House to the 

Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau be confirmed with said term to expire July 1, 2026. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER CONFIRMING THE MAYOR'S NOMINATION OF MENDE MALOUF 

TO THE JACKSON CONVENTION AND VISITOR'S BUREAU.  

WHEREAS, the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau consist of nine (9) members, for 

a term of five (5) years; and  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             12 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, a term expired on July 1, 2023; thereby creating a vacancy; and  

WHEREAS, Mende Malouf, after evaluation of her qualifications, has been nominated by 

the Mayor to fill said vacancy.  

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor's nomination of Mende Malouf to the 

Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau be confirmed with said term to expire July 1, 2027. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO REAPPOINTING ENRIKA TO THE 

CAPITAL CITY CONVENTION CENTER COMMISSION.  

WHEREAS, the Capital City Convention Center Commission (“Commission”) consists 

of nine (9) members nominated by the Mayor for a term of five (5) years; and 

 

WHEREAS, Enrika Williams, after evaluation of her qualifications, has been reappointed 

by the Mayor. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor’s reappointment of Enrika Williams to 

the Capital City Convention Center Commission is hereby confirmed with said term to expire on 

July 1, 2028. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Toya Martin, Director of Human Resources, who provided a brief 

overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Foote who moved, seconded by Council Member 

Hartley, to amend said order in the header to add “Williams” after Enrika. The motion prevailed 

by the following vote: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Stokes.  

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO REAPPOINTING ENRIKA 

WILLIAMS TO THE CAPITAL CITY CONVENTION CENTER COMMISSION.  

WHEREAS, the Capital City Convention Center Commission (“Commission”) consists 

of nine (9) members nominated by the Mayor for a term of five (5) years; and 

 

WHEREAS, Enrika Williams, after evaluation of her qualifications, has been reappointed 

by the Mayor. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor’s reappointment of Enrika Williams to 

the Capital City Convention Center Commission is hereby confirmed with said term to expire on 

July 1, 2028. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             13 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

ORDER REAPPOINTING ENRIKA WILLIAMS TO THE JACKSON 

CONVENTION AND VISITORS BUREAU AS RESTAURANT AND 

HOSPITALITY ASSOCIATION REPRESENTATIVE.  

 

WHEREAS, during the 2021 Mississippi Legislative Session, local and private legislation, 

namely House Bill 1706, was signed into law, which allows for the reconstitution of the Jackson 

Convention and Visitors Bureau; and 

 

WHEREAS, the terms of the current members of the Jackson Convention and Visitors 

Bureau expired on July 1, 2021; and 

 

WHEREAS, thereafter the bureau shall consist of nine (9) members, who shall be 

appointed, qualify and take office within ninety (90) days after July 1, 2019, and the appointments 

to the bureau and, if applicable, the initial terms of the appointments made on or after July 1, 2019, 

shall be as follows: (a) the two (2) hotel/motel members representing hotel or motel properties 

located within the city limits of Jackson, Mississippi, who are members of the Capital Center 

Convention Center Commission; (b) the two (2) restaurant members appointed who are members 

of the Capital Center Convention Center Commission; (c) one (1) member representing the 

business community in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the 

council for a term of two (2) years. This member and his or her successors shall be appointed by 

the mayor with confirmation by the council after being selected from a panel of two (2) names 

submitted by the Jackson Chamber of Commerce the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau 

consist of nine (9) members, for a term of five (5) years; (d) One (1) member representing the arts 

community in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council for a 

term of two (2) years; (e) One (1) member representing the education community appointed by the 

mayor with confirmation by the council for a term of four (4) years; (f) One (1) member 

representing the attractions industry in the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with 

confirmation by the council for a term of two (2) years. This member and his or her successors 

shall be residents of the City of Jackson appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council 

after being selected from a panel of two (2) names submitted by the Metro Jackson Attractions 

Association; (g) One (1) at-large member appointed by the mayor with confirmation by the council 

for a term of four (4) years; and 

 

WHEREAS, Enrika Williams, after evaluation of her qualifications, has been 

recommended by the Mayor to continue serving on the bureau as a Restaurant and Hospitality 

Association Representative. 

 

           IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor's reappointment of Enrika Williams to 

the Jackson Convention and Visitors Bureau be confirmed with said term to expire July 1, 2027. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR AND MUNICIPAL OFFICIAL TO 

EXECUTE THE 2023 MUNICIPAL COMPLIANCE QUESTIONNAIRE 

REQUIRED BY THE OFFICE OF THE STATE AUDITOR FOR STATE OF 

MISSISSIPPI.  

WHEREAS, as part of the municipality's audit, the governing authorities of the 

municipality must make certain assertions with regard to legal compliance. The municipal 

questionnaire was developed for this purpose; and 

 

WHEREAS, a questionnaire and related certification must be completed at the end of the 

municipality's fiscal year and entered into the official minutes of the governing authorities at their 

next regular meeting; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             14 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities should take care to answer these questions 

accurately. Incorrect answers could reduce the auditor's reliance on the questionnaire responses, 

resulting in the need to perform additional audit procedures at added cost; and 

 

WHEREAS, an auditor should also review the municipal compliance questionnaire to 

determine if the municipal officials' responses agree with the audit results; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Administration recommends that the Mayor and 

Municipal Officials be authorized to execute the Municipal Compliance Questionnaire for the 

2023 Municipal Audit. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Municipal Compliance Questionnaire for the 

2023 City Audit is approved by the Jackson City Council and that the Mayor and municipal 

officials are authorized to execute said questionnaire and the City Clerk shall enter minute book 

references when the questionnaire is accepted by the City Council. 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             15 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             16 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 
 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             17 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 
 

 
 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             18 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.   

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF $61,880.40 TO THE MISSISSIPPI 

MUNICIPAL LEAGUE FOR THE DEPARTMENT OF ADMINISTRATION 

ANNUAL MEMBERSHIP DUES FOR 2023-2024.  

  WHEREAS, The Mississippi Municipal League is the Official Non-Profit private 

organization of Cities and Towns of Mississippi that represents municipalities with public and 

private entities; and 

 

            WHEREAS, The MML is a source for voluntary group of Mississippi cities and towns 

that lobbies the state and federal legislatures, provides education for municipal elected officials, 

provides technical support, legislative advocacy, optional benefits programs, training and 

educational opportunities, and multiple publications; and 

 

          WHEREAS, full members are Municipal elected officials who serve a legislative 

government body in an administrative capacity with management responsibilities and whose duties 

include custody of the official seal and execution of official documents, elections, financial 

management, general management, human resources management, management of Bylaws, 

Articles of Incorporation, ordinances, or other legal instruments, meeting administration, and 

records management; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             19 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

        WHEREAS, a municipality may pay professional association dues for individuals if the 

public entity determines that the professional association dues or licensing fees are reasonable and 

necessary to the performance of the employee’s duties and the membership must accrue to the 

benefit of the municipality, and any benefit to the individual must be merely incidental. 

 

          IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that the governing authorities for the City of Jackson 

determine that MML professional association dues are reasonable and necessary to the 

performance of the elected officials and the membership accrue to the benefit of the municipality 

and that payment of $61,880.40 be made from the General Fund to the Mississippi Municipal 

League for 2023-2024 annual membership dues. 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AMENDING THE CITY OF JACKSON PAY PLAN TO CHANGE THE 

RANGE OF POLICE CHIEF FROM RANGE 38 TO RANGE 50; ASSISTANT 

POLICE CHIEF FROM RANGE 102 TO RANGE 43; DEPUTY POLICE CHIEF 

FROM RANGE 101 TO 38; IDENTIFICATION TECHNICIAN FROM RANGE 16 

TO 21; PERSONNEL REPRESENTATIVE FROM RANGE 19 TO 23; POLICE 

RECORDS MANAGER FROM RANGE 24 TO 28; POLICE RECORDS 

TECHNICIAN FROM RANGE 12 TO 19; ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER FROM 

RANGE 12 TO 19; CRIMINALIST I FROM RANGE 20 TO 25; SOCIALWORKER 

FROM RANGE 18 TO RANGE 25; INVENTORY CONTROLLER FROM RANGE 

16 TO RANGE 21; AND SENIOR SHELTER ATTENDANT FROM RANGE 10 TO 

RANGE 19.  

WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson adopted a 

compensation plan on or about September 22, 1998 which is found in Minute Book 4Y; and 

WHEREAS, the Department of Human Resources conducted a salary survey on the 

classification of: Police Chief; Assistant Police Chief; Deputy Police Chief; Identification 

Technician; Personnel Representative; Police Records Manager; Police Records Technician; 

Animal Control Officer; Criminalist I; Social Worker; Inventory Controller; and Senior Shelter 

Attendant; and 

WHEREAS, the salary survey was conducted on the classifications by sending inquiries 

to: Baton Rouge, Louisiana and Little Rock, Arkansas; and 

WHEREAS, the response from the Cities surveyed concerning the median salary paid fo

r the positions are as follows: 

(a) Police Chief was within the range of $135,857.54-$162,857.32; and 

(b) Assistant Police Chief was within the range of $85,452.74-$98,410.54; and 

(c) Deputy Police Chief was within the range of $76,354.19-$90,547.78; and 

(d) Identification Technician was within the range of $36,542.65-45,214.45; and            

(e)  Personnel Representative was within the range of $46,741.87-$58,451.85; and 

(f) Police Records Manager was within the range of $53,421.69-65,236.88; and 

(g) Police Records Technician was within the range of $35,002.41-38,589.74; and 

(h) Animal Control Officer was within the range of $30,125.52- $35, 069.01; and 

(i) Criminalist I was within the range of $48,782.84-$56,782.25; and 

WHEREAS, the Police department classifications with the exception of the Police Chief 

pay ranges begin at ranges 95 through pay range 101; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             20 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, pay range 101 salary is: $55,763.48-$67,330.28; and 

WHEREAS, pay range 101 is not feasible for accommodating recommended salary 

changes for the position of Assistant Police Chief and Deputy Police Chief; and 

WHEREAS, the compensation plan adopted by the Jackson City Council on September 

22, 1998 does have pay ranges which will accommodate the salary increases, and it is 

recommended that the existing pay ranges be sued to accommodate the salary increases; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for the Police Chief be modified 

to range 50 with annual salary of $105,758.99-$128-511.92; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for the Assistant Police Chief be 

modified to range 43 with annual salary of $75, 614.80-$91,784.09; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Deputy Police Chief be 

modified to range 38 with annual salary of $73,148.44-$88,646.24; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Identification Technician be 

modified to range 21 with annual salary of $33,150.08-$39,911.70 and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Personnel Representative be 

modified to range 23 with annual salary of $36,323.42-$43,776.60; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Police Records Manager be 

modified to range 28 with annual salary of $45,753.36-$55,267.76; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Police Records 

Technician be modified to range 19 with annual salary of $30,272.70-$36,404.94; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Animal Control Officer be 

modified to range 19 with annual salary of $30,272.70-$36,404.94; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Criminalist I be modified to 

range 25 with annual salary of $39,822.11-$48,039.06; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Social Worker be modified 

to range 25 with annual salary of $39,822.11-$48,039.06; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Inventory Controller be 

modified to range 21 with annual salary of $33,150.08-$39,911.70; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Senior Shelter Attendant be 

modified to range 19 with annual salary of $30,272.70-$36,404.94 and 

WHEREAS, the Police Department has sufficient monies in its budget to cover the 

recommended pay range increases. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Pay Plan adopted by the City Council on 

September 22, 1998, found in the Minute Book 4Y, be further amended as above. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the pay plan amendments stated shall become effective 

immediately. 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Toya Martin, Director of Human Resource and Catoria Martin, 

City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of said item.      

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who recommended an amendment 

to said order in the 4th whereas adding “(j) Social Worker was within the range of $45,472.22-

$53,854.47”, “(k) Inventory Controller was within the range of $32,410.29-$41,526.65” and (l) 

Senior Shelter Attendant was within the range of $31,578.63-$36,477.05.  

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             21 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Council Member Lindsay moved; seconded by Council Member Grizzell, to amend said order 

to reflect the changes as stated by Catoria Martin, City Attorney.  The motion prevailed by the 

following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Stokes.  

     _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _  

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item as amended: 

 

ORDER AMENDING THE CITY OF JACKSON PAY PLAN TO CHANGE THE 

RANGE OF POLICE CHIEF FROM RANGE 38 TO RANGE 50; ASSISTANT 

POLICE CHIEF FROM RANGE 102 TO RANGE 43; DEPUTY POLICE CHIEF 

FROM RANGE 101 TO 38; IDENTIFICATION TECHNICIAN FROM RANGE 16 

TO 21; PERSONNEL REPRESENTATIVE FROM RANGE 19 TO 23; POLICE 

RECORDS MANAGER FROM RANGE 24 TO 28; POLICE RECORDS 

TECHNICIAN FROM RANGE 12 TO 19; ANIMAL CONTROL OFFICER FROM 

RANGE 12 TO 19; CRIMINALIST I FROM RANGE 20 TO 25; SOCIALWORKER 

FROM RANGE 18 TO RANGE 25; INVENTORY CONTROLLER FROM RANGE 

16 TO RANGE 21; AND SENIOR SHELTER ATTENDANT FROM RANGE 10 TO 

RANGE 19.  

 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson adopted a 

compensation plan on or about September 22, 1998 which is found in Minute Book 4Y; and 

WHEREAS, the Department of Human Resources conducted a salary survey on the 

classification of: Police Chief; Assistant Police Chief; Deputy Police Chief; Identification 

Technician; Personnel Representative; Police Records Manager; Police Records Technician; 

Animal Control Officer; Criminalist I; Social Worker; Inventory Controller; and Senior Shelter 

Attendant; and 

WHEREAS, the salary survey was conducted on the classifications by sending inquiries 

to: Baton Rouge, Louisiana and Little Rock, Arkansas; and 

WHEREAS, the response from the Cities surveyed concerning the median salary paid 

for the positions are as follows: 

(a) Police Chief was within the range of $135,857.54-$162,857.32; and 

(b) Assistant Police Chief was within the range of $85,452.74-$98,410.54; and 

(c)  Deputy Police Chief was within the range of $76,354.19-$90,547.78; and 

(d) Identification Technician was within the range of $36,542.65-45,214.45; and            

(e)  Personnel Representative was within the range of $46,741.87-$58,451.85; and 

(f) Police Records Manager was within the range of $53,421.69-65,236.88; and 

(g) Police Records Technician was within the range of $35,002.41-38,589.74; and 

(h) Animal Control Officer was within the range of $30,125.52- $35, 069.01; and 

(i) Criminalist I was within the range of $48,782.84-$56,782.25; and 

(j) Social Worker was within the range of $45,472.22-$53,854.47; and 

(k) Inventory Controller was within the range of $32,410.29-$41,526.65; 

(l) Senior Shelter Attendant was within the range of $31,578.63-$36,477.05; and  

WHEREAS, the Police department classifications with the exception of the Police Chief 

pay ranges begin at ranges 95 through pay range 101; and 

WHEREAS, pay range 101 salary is: $55,763.48-$67,330.28; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             22 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, pay range 101 is not feasible for accommodating recommended salary 

changes for the position of Assistant Police Chief and Deputy Police Chief; and 

WHEREAS, the compensation plan adopted by the Jackson City Council on September 

22, 1998 does have pay ranges which will accommodate the salary increases, and it is 

recommended that the existing pay ranges be sued to accommodate the salary increases; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for the Police Chief be modified 

to range 50 with annual salary of $105,758.99-$128-511.92; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for the Assistant Police Chief be 

modified to range 43 with annual salary of $75, 614.80-$91,784.09; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Deputy Police Chief be 

modified to range 38 with annual salary of $73,148.44-$88,646.24; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Identification Technician be 

modified to range 21 with annual salary of $33,150.08-$39,911.70 and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Personnel Representative be 

modified to range 23 with annual salary of $36,323.42-$43,776.60; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Police Records Manager be 

modified to range 28 with annual salary of $45,753.36-$55,267.76; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Police Records 

Technician be modified to range 19 with annual salary of $30,272.70-$36,404.94; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Animal Control Officer be 

modified to range 19 with annual salary of $30,272.70-$36,404.94; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Criminalist I be modified to 

range 25 with annual salary of $39,822.11-$48,039.06; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Social Worker be modified 

to range 25 with annual salary of $39,822.11-$48,039.06; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Inventory Controller be 

modified to range 21 with annual salary of $33,150.08-$39,911.70; and 

WHEREAS, it is recommended that the range established for Senior Shelter Attendant be 

modified to range 19 with annual salary of $30,272.70-$36,404.94 and 

WHEREAS, the Police Department has sufficient monies in its budget to cover the 

recommended pay range increases. 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Pay Plan adopted by the City Council on 

September 22, 1998, found in the Minute Book 4Y, be further amended as above. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the pay plan amendments stated shall become effective 

immediately. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The City Clerk for the City of Jackson, Mississippi (the "City"), reported that pursuant to a 

resolution declaring the intention of the Mayor and City Council (the "Governing Body") of the 

City calling for a public hearing to be held at 10:00 o'clock a.m. on October 10, 2023, with respect 

to the Urban Renewal Plan (City of Jackson, Mississippi Planetarium Project 2023) (the "2023 

Urban Renewal Plan"), did cause a notice of the public hearing to be published in The Clarion 

Ledger and The Mississippi Link, both legally qualified newspapers published in the City and 

having a general circulation in the City on September 21, 2023, as evidenced by the proof of 

publication on file in the office of the City Clerk. The President of the Governing Body then called 

the meeting to order, and the public hearing was duly convened. At the time, all present were given 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             23 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

an opportunity to present oral and/or written comments on the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan, which 

is included herein as EXHIBIT A. A general description of the testimony presented is set forth in 

EXHIBIT B hereto. At the conclusion of the public hearing, Councilperson Lindsay offered and 

moved the adoption of the following: 

RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE URBAN 

RENEWAL PLAN (CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM 

PROJECT 2023); PROVIDING FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SUCH PLAN, 

AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES. 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 43-35-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 

as amended from time to time (the “Urban Renewal Act”), the Governing Body by resolution duly 

adopted on September 12, 2023, approved the form of the proposed 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and 

directed such 2023 Urban Renewal Plan to be submitted to the Planning Board of the City (the 

“Planning Board”) for review and recommendations as to the conformity of the Urban Renewal 

Plan with the general plan for the development of the City as a whole; and 

WHEREAS, under the power and authority granted by the laws of the State of Mississippi 

(the "State") and particularly under the Urban Renewal Act the Governing Body of the City on 

September 12, 2023, did adopt a certain resolution (the "Public Hearing Resolution") entitled " 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI TAKING OFFICIAL ACTION TOWARDS THE APPROVAL 

OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, URBAN RENEWAL PLAN (CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023); SETTING A PUBLIC 

HEARING ON SUCH URBAN RENEWAL PLAN (CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023); AUTHORIZING AN URBAN RENEWAL PROJECT; 

AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES"; and 

WHEREAS, as directed by the Public Hearing Resolution and as required by law, a Notice 

of Public Hearing was published in The Clarion Ledger and The Mississippi Link, both legally 

qualified newspapers published in the City and having general circulation in the City, and was so 

published in said newspapers on September 21, 2023; as evidenced by the publisher's proof of 

publication of the same heretofore presented to the Governing Body and filed with the City Clerk 

all in accordance with State law and attached hereto as EXHIBIT C; and  

WHEREAS, the Notice of Public Hearing generally described the 2023 Urban Renewal 

Plan and further called for a public hearing to be held in the regular meeting place of this Governing 

Body at the City Hall of the City at 260 S. President Street, Jackson, Mississippi, at the hour of 

10:00 o'clock a.m. on October 10, 2023, in order for the general public to state and present their 

views on the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan; and 

WHEREAS, prior to October 10, 2023 and pursuant to the Urban Renewal Act, the City 

did submit its 2023 Urban Renewal Plan to the Planning Board for review and said Planning Board 

did convene a meeting on September 27, 2023 at 1:30 pm and has submitted its written finding or 

recommendation to the City regarding the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and its conformance with the 

City’s general plan (the "Comprehensive Plan") for the development of the City as a whole; and 

WHEREAS, at 10:00 o'clock a.m. on October 10, 2023, the public hearing was held and 

all in attendance were given the opportunity to state and present their views on the 2023 Urban 

Renewal Plan; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023 authorizing the City to (a) pursue additional subsidy for the Urban Renewal 

Project (as defined in the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan) by participating and utilizing federal New 

Markets Tax Credits pursuant to Section 45D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 

and/or Mississippi Equity Investment Tax Credits pursuant to Sections 57-105-1, Mississippi Code 

of 1972, as amended and/or supplemented from time to time (the “MS NMTC Act”) (collectively, 

the “NMTC Financing”) to finance the Urban Renewal Project, (b) authorizing the use of a Public 

Entity (the “Public Entity”), including but not limited to the Jackson Redevelopment Authority 

(the “JRA”) to be utilized as defined specifically pursuant to § 57-105-1 (7)(b)(iii) of the MS 

NMTC Act as well as a “Public Benefit Corporation” as defined specifically pursuant to § 57-105-



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             24 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

1 (7)(b)(ii) of the MS NMTC Act (the “Public Benefit Corporation” or specifically the “JRA Public 

Benefit Corporation”), and (c) entering into or approving various leases, loans, development 

agreements and other financing arrangements with the Public Entity, the JRA Public Benefit 

Corporation or other NMTC Financing participants for the purpose of utilizing NMTC Financing 

as may be approved by further action of the Governing Body; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023, the Governing Body herby approves and acknowledges the form of the 

Operating Lease Agreement (the "Operating Lease Agreement") by and between the JRA Public 

Benefit Corporation and the City; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023, the Governing Body herby approves and acknowledges the form of the 

Development Services Agreement (the "Development Services Agreement") by and between the 

City, as Developer (as defined in the Development Services Agreement), JRA and the JRA Public 

Benefit Corporation; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023, the Governing Body herby approves and acknowledges the form of the JRA 

Ground Lease Agreement (the "JRA Ground Lease Agreement") by and between JRA and the JRA 

Public Benefit Corporation; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023, the Governing Body herby approves and acknowledges the form of the City 

Ground Lease Agreement (the "City Ground Lease Agreement") by and between the City and the 

JRA.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 

CITY, ACTING FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE CITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. That all the findings and facts made and set forth in the preamble to this 

resolution shall be and the same are hereby found, declared and adjudicated to be true and correct. 

Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the same meaning as set forth in the Public Hearing 

Resolution. 

SECTION 2. Pursuant to the certified copy of the resolution of the City's Planning Board, 

a copy of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT D, the Planning Board reviewed the 2023 Urban 

Renewal Plan on September 27, 2023 and has found that the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan is necessary 

and appropriate to facilitate the proper growth and development of the community in accordance 

with sound planning standards and local community objectives and is consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan.  

SECTION 3.  The Governing Body herby approves the Operating Lease Agreement by 

and between the JRA Public Benefit Corporation and the City in the form attached as EXHIBIT 

E.   

SECTION 4. The Governing Body herby approves the Development Services Agreement 

by and between the City, as Developer (as defined in the Development Services Agreement), JRA 

and the JRA Public Benefit Corporation in the form attached as EXHIBIT F; and  

SECTION 5. The Governing Body herby approves the JRA Ground Lease Agreement by 

and between JRA and the JRA Public Benefit Corporation in the form attached as EXHIBIT G; 

and  

SECTION 6. The Governing Body herby approves the City Ground Lease Agreement by 

and between the City and the JRA in the form attached as EXHIBIT H; and  

SECTION 7. That the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan will afford maximum opportunity, 

consistent with the sound needs of the City as a whole, for the rehabilitation or redevelopment of 

the 2023 Urban Renewal Area.  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             25 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

SECTION 8. That the Governing Body is now fully authorized and empowered under the 

provisions of the Urban Renewal Act, to adopt and implement the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and 

does hereby adopt and approve said 2023 Urban Renewal Plan to be implemented for the 

development and redevelopment of the City in conjunction with the 2023 Urban Renewal Project. 

SECTION 9.  This resolution shall become effective immediately and all resolutions and 

orders, or parts thereof, in conflict herewith are, to the extent of such conflict, repealed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Remainder Left Intentionally Blank] 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             26 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

EXHIBIT A 

URBAN RENEWAL PLAN 

(CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023) 

URBAN RENEWAL PLAN 

(CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023) 

 

I. Existence of Urban Renewal Plan 

This Urban Renewal Plan shall constitute an urban renewal plan of the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi (the "City"), as set forth in Mississippi Code Annotated § 43-35-13, as amended. 

II. Designation of Urban Renewal Area 

The City Council of the City of Jackson, Mississippi, did by Resolution of October 10, 

2023, declare that certain property located in the City of Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi area 

of operation and more particularly described in EXHIBIT "A" hereto to be blighted within the 

meaning of Mississippi Code Annotated § 43-35-3(i) and did designate such area as set forth in 

EXHIBIT "A" hereto as appropriate for an urban renewal project.  The property described on 

EXHIBIT "A" hereto is the "Urban Renewal Area" for purposes of this Urban Renewal Plan. 

III. The Urban Renewal Project 

The Urban Renewal Project shall be the repairing, improving, adorning and equipping the 

Arts Center of Mississippi and the Russell C. Davis Planetarium and for other authorized purposes 

in connection with same including constructing, improving and paving streets, sidewalks, 

driveways, parkways, walkways and public parking facilities located at 201 E. Pascagoula Street, 

Jackson, MS 39201 (the "Urban Renewal Project") within the City, which site shall be the property 

described in EXHIBIT "A" hereto (the "Project Site").   

IV. Relationship to Local Objective 

The Urban Renewal Project will not require a zoning change to and shall be accomplished 

in accordance with the city zoning ordinance and building code unless exceptions are made in 

accordance with law.  The Urban Renewal Project will constitute an appropriate land use. 

V. Ownership/Operation of Urban Renewal Project 

The Project Site, currently owned and operated by the City, may be ground leased to the 

Jackson Redevelopment Authority (“JRA”), established as an urban renewal agency pursuant to 

Sections 43-35-1 through 43-35-37 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended (the "Urban 

Renewal Act").  JRA, acting pursuant to Sections 57-105-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as 

amended (the “MS NMTC Act”), intends to establish a “Public Benefit Corporation” (as defined 

therein) (the “PBC”) in order to facilitate the financing for the Project utilizing federal New 

Markets Tax Credits pursuant to Section 45D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 

(the “Code”) and, if available, Mississippi Equity Investment Tax Credits of the MS NMTC Act.  

JRA may ground lease the Project Site to PBC for purposes of financing the Project pursuant to 

the MS NMTC Act.  JRA, the City and the newly formed public benefit corporation may enter into 

a joint development agreement, wherein the PBC will pay turnkey development payments to the 

City to facilitate the cost of construction of the Project.  Upon completion of the renovations, PBC 

may lease back the Urban Renewal Project to the City for operations. To provide for this Urban 

Renewal Project the City and JRA, as applicable, may enter the ground leases, the leaseback, the 

joint development agreement and/or any other agreement(s) as may be necessary with respect to 

the conveyance of the Project Site and the conveyance, development and operations of the Project 

all consistent with the provisions of the Urban Renewal Act and the MS NMTC Act.   

 

VI. Financing 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             27 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

A. Pursuant to Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and 

supplemented from time to time (the “City Bond Act”) and Sections 31-25-1 et seq., 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and supplemented from time to time (the 

“Bank Act”), the City may  issue either (a) general obligation bonds of the City, in 

one or more taxable or tax-exempt series in a total aggregate principal amount of 

not to exceed Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($9,500,000) (the 

“Series 2023 Bonds”),  (b) a general obligation bond of the City to be sold to the 

Mississippi Development Bank (the “Bank”), in one or more taxable or tax-exempt 

series, in a total aggregate principal amount of not to exceed Nine Million Five 

Hundred Thousand Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Series 2023 City Bond”), and/or (c) 

by entering into a taxable or tax-exempt loan(s) with the Bank to borrow money 

from the Bank in a total principal amount not to exceed Nine Million Five Hundred 

Thousand Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Series 2023 Loan”).  Such Series 2023 Bonds 

shall be issued in the form of one or more instruments.  The proceeds from sale of 

the Series 2023 Bonds may be used to provide the necessary funds for the 

Construction Project and/or Urban Renewal Project and may be contributed to the 

JRA to use all or a portion of such Series 2023 Bond proceeds as a leverage loan in 

accordance with the financing and as authorized pursuant to the Series 2023 City 

Bond Resolution dated September 26, 2023 and the Series 2023 Indenture, dated 

the date of delivery thereof.    

 

VII. Ad Valorem Taxes 

The Urban Renewal Project shall be fully subject to ad valorem taxation, unless exempted 

by further action of the City Council of the City of Jackson, Mississippi, or unless otherwise 

exempt under Mississippi law. 

 

 

EXHIBIT "A" 

 PROJECT SITE DESCRIPTION 

 

That certain tract of land situated in the City of Jackson, Mississippi, Hinds County, 

Mississippi, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Located at 201 East Pascagoula Street in downtown Jackson, the planetarium is situated in 

one of Jackson's most vibrant cultural districts. Lamar Street runs underneath the 

planetarium.  

  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             28 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             29 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

EXHIBIT C 

 

COPY OF PROOF OF PUBLICATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             30 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             31 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             32 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT D 

PLANNING BOARD ORDER/RESOLUTION 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             33 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             34 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

EXHIBIT E 

OPERATING LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of _____________, 2023 (the 

“Effective Date”), is made between JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, a Mississippi 

nonprofit corporation (“Lessor”) and CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and 

politic of the State of Mississippi (“Lessee” or “City”).   

W I T N E S S E T H 

WHEREAS, Lessor has acquired a leasehold estate in the real property located in Hinds 

County, Mississippi, located at 201 E. Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39201 and more particularly 

described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”), pursuant to that certain Ground Lease 

Agreement of even date herewith (the “JRA Ground Lease”) between Lessor (in such capacity, 

“Ground Lessee”) and Jackson Redevelopment Authority, a body corporate and politic and urban 

renewal agency of the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“JRA”); and  

WHEREAS, JRA and City have entered into that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated 

as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or 

supplemented from time to time, the “City Ground Lease”) under which JRA holds a leasehold 

estate in the Demised Premises (as such term is defined in the City Ground Lease); and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease, Lessor (in its capacity as Ground Lessee) 

is leasing the Demised Premises (as defined below), which includes certain work in progress 

undertaken by City, as more particularly described in the JRA Ground Lease and the City Ground 

Lease (the “WIP”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease, the City Ground Lease and the 

Development Agreement (as defined in the JRA Ground Lease), City and JRA in cooperation with 

Lessor (in its capacity as Ground Lessee), will continue to cause development, repairing, 

improving, adorning and equipping the Russell C. Davis Planetarium and other authorized 

purposes with same including constructing, improving and paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, 

parkways, walkways and public parking facilities on the Property as more fully described on 

Exhibit B attached hereto (collectively, the “Improvements”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Development Agreement Lessor is appointing Lessee to 

provide for, or cause to be provided for, the completion of the construction and development of 

the Improvements on the Property; and  

WHEREAS, Lessor is willing to lease the Property, the WIP and the Improvements 

(collectively, the “Demised Premises”) to Lessee as provided herein for Lessee to operate the 

Demised Premises; and 

WHEREAS, Lessor, as borrower, is entering into a Loan and Security Agreement (the 

“CDE Loan Agreement”) and other ancillary loan documents (collectively, and together with the 

CDE Loan Agreement, the “CDE Loan Documents”) with Hope New Markets ___, LLC, a 

Mississippi limited liability company (the “Hope CDE Lender”) and Wells Fargo __, LLC, a 

_________ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE Lender” together with the Hope CDE 

Lender, the “CDE Lenders”), as lenders, pursuant to which the CDE Lenders will make certain 

loans to Lessor (collectively, the “CDE Loans”), the proceeds of which will be deposited into the 

Loan Disbursement Account (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and 

agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

LEASE OF THE DEMISED PREMISES 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             35 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

General.  The intent of Lessor and Lessee is that Lessor shall provide and lease to Lessee 

the Demised Premises which shall be operated under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.   

The Demised Premises.  The term “Demised Premises,” as previously referenced herein, 

shall mean the Improvements described on Exhibit B attached hereto to be constructed by Lessee 

(pursuant to the Development Agreement), together with the Property and the WIP, as previously 

referenced herein, granted to Lessor (in its capacity as Ground Lessee) pursuant to the JRA Ground 

Lease.   

Term.  The term of this Agreement shall begin on ________, 2024 (the “Commencement 

Date”) and continue until _______________, 2053, unless and until terminated in accordance with 

the provisions of this Agreement (“Term”).  Upon expiration of the Term or earlier termination in 

accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, Lessee shall leave the Demised Premises in 

good condition, normal wear and tear excepted. 

Compensation.  For and in consideration of this Agreement and in addition to the other 

duties, obligations and covenants of Lessee as provided in this Agreement, Lessee shall pay rent 

(“Base Rent”) as provided in the attached Exhibit C on the first (1st) day of each March, June, 

September and December for the Term, and shall pay all Operating Expenses (as defined below) 

pursuant to Section III.A.   

Damage and Destruction.  If the Demised Premises or any part thereof shall be damaged 

by fire or other casualty during the Term, Lessee, at Lessee’s sole cost and expense, shall rebuild 

or restore the damaged portion of the Demised Premises to at least the condition existing 

immediately prior to such destruction so that the Demised Premises can be used to furnish at least 

substantially the same type and quality of services as were furnished at the Demised Premises prior 

to such destruction or casualty.  In the event of such partial destruction, Lessor shall assign all 

rights Lessor may have to proceeds of any insurance maintained in respect of the Demised 

Premises to Lessee.  If, during the Term, the Demised Premises or any other structure material to 

the operation is substantially or totally destroyed by casualty, Lessee shall have the option either 

to terminate this Agreement or commence and proceed with reasonable diligence to restore the 

Demised Premises to substantially the same condition in which it was immediately prior to the 

happening of the casualty, except that Lessee’s obligation to restore shall not exceed the scope of 

the work required to be done in originally constructing the Improvements as set forth in the initial 

Plans and Specifications, nor shall Lessee be required to spend for such work an amount in excess 

of the insurance proceeds actually received by Lessee and/or Lessor as a result of the casualty.  In 

the event Lessee terminates this Agreement, Lessee shall at Lessor’s direction either proceed to 

collect any insurance payable with respect to such damage and pay such insurance proceeds to the 

Lessor or assign all rights Lessee may have to the proceeds of any insurance maintained by Lessee 

in respect of the Demised Premises to Lessor and thereafter Lessor shall have no claims against 

Lessee for the value of any unexpired portion of the Term or otherwise.  In the event Lessee 

exercises its option to rebuild or restore the Demised Premises as described above and subject to 

the CDE Loan Agreement, Lessor shall assign all rights Lessor may have to the proceeds of any 

insurance maintained in respect of the Demised Premises to Lessee.  Lessee shall give immediate 

written notice to Lessor and the CDE Lenders in case of fire, accident, or other casualty in or about 

the Demised Premises involving damage exceeding $100,000.  For purposes of this Section, the 

Demised Premises shall be deemed substantially destroyed if more than 50% of the Demised 

Premises are rendered unusable.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long as 

the CDE Loans remain outstanding, all insurance proceeds shall be applied in accordance with the 

CDE Loan Agreement. 

Utilities.  Lessee shall be solely responsible for and shall promptly pay all charges in 

respect of the Demised Premises for utilities and similar services incurred in connection with the 

operation of the Demised Premises. 

Taxes.  Lessee shall be responsible for and shall pay prior to delinquency any and all 

federal, state or local taxes (if any) incurred or assessed in connection with Lessee’s operating of 

the Demised Premises.  During the Term and to the extent permitted by law, Lessee agrees to take 

such actions as the statutes of Mississippi permit to ensure that the Demised Premises and all 

property and operations of Lessee thereon shall remain exempt from ad valorem taxation and other 

local taxation to the maximum extent allowed by the law. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             36 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Quiet Enjoyment.  Lessor covenants that it holds title to the leasehold interest of the 

Demised Premises under the JRA Ground Lease.  As long as Lessee performs as provided in this 

Agreement, Lessor covenants and agrees that Lessee shall and may peaceably have, hold, and 

enjoy the occupancy and use of the Demised Premises to the extent provided herein free from 

molestation, eviction or disturbance by Lessor or any other persons or legal entity whatsoever.  

Subject to the CDE Loan Agreement, Lessor shall have the right to mortgage and/or grant security 

interests secured by liens on this Agreement as well as the JRA Ground Lease, the building, 

improvements and equipment comprising the Demised Premises. 

Care and Maintenance of the Demised Premises.  Lessee shall, at Lessee’s sole cost and 

expense, operate, maintain, repair, improve and upkeep the Demised Premises as needed and 

required and do any and all other acts or things to keep the Demised Premises or any equipment, 

facilities or fixtures contained therein or thereon in good condition and repair, reasonable wear and 

tear excepted.  As the owner of the Demised Premises, Lessor shall be responsible for all 

replacements related to the structure of the Demised Premises (“Structural Replacement”), unless 

due to the negligence of, abuse or misuse of, or failure to properly and regularly maintain such 

Demised Premises by Lessee, or its employees, agents, contractors or business invitees, in which 

case such Structural Replacement shall be at Lessee’s sole cost and expense.  If Lessor is required 

to pay for any Structural Replacements, Lessor may charge back to Lessee, as additional rent, and 

Lessee agrees to pay, its pro rata share of such cost as follows:  the costs incurred in connection 

with such Structural Replacement shall be amortized over the estimated remaining useful life of 

the Structural Replacement, or the Demised Premises, whichever is shorter, and only such annual 

amortized amounts as are applicable to the then existing lease term shall be payable by Lessee as 

additional rent, as a onetime payment equal to the present value of such annual amortized amounts 

determined using a reasonable discount rate.  In each case, Lessor shall send to Lessee a billing 

statement describing the Structural Replacement that was required, the date of the replacement, 

the cost of the replacement, and the remaining useful life of the Structural Replacement or the 

Demised Premises, as applicable, together with the calculation of the amount due from Lessee as 

additional rent.  Within thirty (30) days of receipt of the billing statement for the Structural 

Replacement, the Lessee shall pay to the Lessor said amount.  In the event that Lessee fails to 

maintain the Demised Premises in accordance with this Agreement, and such failure shall continue 

for a period of fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of written notice by Lessee, Lessor may, but 

shall not be obligated to, undertake any such maintenance, repair, improvement and upkeep of the 

Demised Premises.  All cost and expense which Lessor incurs for such maintenance, repair, 

improvement and upkeep of the Demised Premises shall be deemed additional rent hereunder and 

shall be payable by Lessee to Lessor as such in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, 

but not later than the first (1st) day of the month following the month in which payment therefor 

is made by Lessor. 

Operating Lease.  Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that it is their mutual intent 

that this Agreement is, and shall be treated as an “operating” or “true” lease for federal income tax 

purposes and for accounting purposes and for all other purposes.  With respect to the 

Improvements, the parties acknowledge and agree that the building has an economic useful life of 

at least _______ (___) years. 

Lease Pledged to CDE Lenders.  Lessee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement has 

been pledged to the CDE Lenders as collateral for the loans under the CDE Loan Agreement.  

Lessee hereby consents to Lessor’s collateral assignment of this Agreement to the CDE Lenders.  

In the event that (1) the CDE Lenders elect to exercise its remedies under the CDE Loan 

Documents, (2) the CDE Lenders or their assignees or designees or any purchaser (each, including 

the CDE Lenders, herein sometimes referred to herein as a “Successor Lessor”) succeeds to the 

rights of Lessor under this Agreement, whether through possession or foreclosure action or 

otherwise, and (3) this Agreement is not extinguished by such foreclosure or other action, then 

Lessee shall attorn to Successor Lessor and shall agree to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement for the benefit of Successor Lessor.  Lessee waives any and all rights to terminate this 

Agreement solely by reason of any default or foreclosure under the CDE Loan Documents.  If any 

court holds this Agreement to be terminated by reason of such a default or foreclosure and such 

Successor Lessor desires for this Agreement to remain in effect, then at the written request of the 

Successor Lessor, Lessee shall execute and deliver a new lease for the balance of the term at the 

same rental herein provided and upon the same terms and conditions as herein provided.  Lessee 

recognizes such Successor Lessor shall not be liable for, subject to, or bound by (a) any payment 

of the Base Rent more than one (1) rental period in advance, except prepayments in the nature of 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             37 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

security for the performance by Lessee of its obligations under this Agreement, but only to the 

extent such prepayments have been delivered to such Successor Lessor, (b) any amendment of this 

Agreement made without the consent of the CDE Lenders, (c) damages for any breach, act or 

omission of any prior lessor, (d) any offsets or defenses which Lessee might have against any prior 

lessor, (e) any obligations with respect to construction or completion of the Improvements, or 

following any fire or casualty, the restoration or repair of any improvement upon the Demised 

Premises, (f) warranties of any nature whatsoever, including any warranties respecting use, 

compliance with zoning, hazardous wastes or Environmental Laws (as defined below), title, 

authority, habitability, fitness for purpose or possession; or (g) any assignment or subletting by 

Lessee made in a manner not expressly permitted under this Agreement, unless such assignment 

or sublease was made with the consent of the CDE Lenders as of the date of such assignment or 

sublease.  Any liability of a Successor Lessor shall be limited to its interest in the subleased 

Demised Premises, and following any transfer of the subleased Demised Premises to another party, 

a Successor Lessor shall have no further liability under this Agreement. 

INSURANCE 

General Requirements.  During the term of this Agreement, Lessee shall maintain insurance 

against the loss or damage by fire or other risks from time to time included under standard extended 

coverage insurance policies with respect to the building and contents located therein on the 

Demised Premises.  Such insurance protection shall cover losses in aggregate amounts not less 

than eighty percent (80%) (or such other greater amount as may be required to prevent Lessor from 

becoming a co-insured) of the fair insurable value thereof and such insurable value of said 

purposes, if not agreed upon by Lessor and Lessee, shall be determined by an insurance appraiser 

chosen by them jointly.  Such policies shall be payable to Lessee and Lessor as their interest may 

appear.  Lessee shall maintain commercial general liability insurance coverage in such amount as 

it determines for bodily injuries or deaths of persons occurring in or about the Demised Premises 

and any property damage thereof.  All such policies of insurance shall, if requested by Lessor, 

name Lessor and/or the CDE Lenders as an additional named insured or loss payee as applicable.  

Without limiting the foregoing, for so long as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, Lessee shall 

maintain in full force and effect such insurance coverages as are required to be maintained under 

the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

Cancellation/Certification.  Certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage shall be 

delivered to Lessor prior to the Commencement Date and from time to time thereafter prior to 

expiration of the then-current policy terms.  All insurance policies or certificates thereof shall 

include provision for not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Lessor, the CDE Lenders 

and Lessee of cancellation or change in conditions or terms thereof. 

DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF LESSEE 

In addition to the Base Rent, Lessee agrees to pay all costs and expense of every kind and 

nature associated with owning and operating the Demised Premises including, without limitation, 

all costs and expenses, Lessor shall pay or became obligated to pay in connection with the 

management, operation, maintenance, replacement and repair of the Demised Premises, which 

costs and expenses shall include, by way of illustration and not limitation, liability and casualty 

insurance costs, maintenance and repair costs, accounting expenses, management fees and 

expenses, ad valorem taxes, utilities costs, pest control costs, and the costs of the other defined 

services described herein (the “Operating Expense”).  Lessee shall, on the first day of each calendar 

month, reimburse Lessor for any Operating Expenses paid by Lessor.   

In addition to the compensation payable by Lessee to Lessor as provided in Section I.D. 

above, Lessee shall operate and maintain the Demised Premises, in compliance with but not limited 

to, the following terms: 

Subject to the terms of this Agreement, Lessee shall immediately fix all mechanical 

problems that affect the operation of the Demised Premises under the provisions of the Act (as 

defined below) at any time; 

Lessee shall procure, pay the costs of and maintain all casualty and disability insurance 

coverage’s, including coverage’s of personal property and contents on the Demised Premises as 

are mutually determined and agreed upon between Lessor and Lessee (consistent as to amount and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             38 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

terms with recognized and recommended industry standards) with both Lessor and Lessee as 

named insured as their respective interest shall appear; 

Lessee shall pay directly all utility charges for all necessary utilities used on the Demised 

Premises; 

All persons employed in the management, supervision, operations, and maintenance of the 

Demised Premises shall be employees of Lessee or its subcontractors; 

Lessee shall pay all costs of maintenance and repair of equipment utilized on the Demised 

Premises; 

Lessee shall provide and pay all costs of supplies reasonable and necessary to the proper 

operation of the Demised Premises; 

Lessee shall pay such other costs and expenses and take such other actions as may be 

necessary for the proper operation and maintenance of the Demised Premises; 

The conduct of the operations and maintenance of the Demised Premises by Lessee shall 

at all times be in compliance with all other governmental statues and regulations applicable thereto 

(collectively, the “Legal Requirements”); 

(a) Throughout the Term, Lessee shall fully and punctually comply with all present and 

future Legal Requirements that are applicable to the Demised Premises and that relate to the quality 

or protection of the environment or the use, storage, handling and disposal of Hazardous Material 

(as defined below), including, without limitation, the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, 

as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq., the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation 

and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq., the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. 

§1801 et seq., the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §2601 et seq., the Resource 

Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §6901 et seq., the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 

as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 U.S.C. §1251 et seq., and the Clean Air Act, 42 

U.S.C. §7401 et seq., and all regulations promulgated on the authority of the foregoing (the 

“Environmental Laws”).  The term “Hazardous Material” means any substance: 

the presence of which requires or may later require notification, investigation or 

remediation under any Environmental Law; or 

that is or becomes defined as a “hazardous waste,” “hazardous material,” “hazardous 

substance,” “pollutant” or “contaminant” under any Environmental Law, including, without 

limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (42 

U.S.C. §9601 et seq.), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. §6901 et seq.) and 

the associated regulations; or 

that is toxic, explosive, corrosive, flammable, infectious, radioactive, carcinogenic, 

mutagenic or otherwise hazardous and is or becomes regulated by any governmental authority, 

agency, department, commission, board, agency or instrumentality of the United States, any state 

of the United States, or any political subdivision within any state; or 

the presence of which on the Demised Premises causes or threatens to cause a nuisance on 

the Demised Premises or to adjacent properties or poses or threatens to pose a hazard to the 

Demised Premises or to the health or safety of persons on or about the Demised Premises; or 

that contains gasoline, diesel fuel or other petroleum hydrocarbons or volatile organic 

compounds; or 

that contains polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), asbestos or urea formaldehyde foam 

insulation; or 

that contains or emits radioactive particles, waves or material, including, without 

limitation, radon gas. 

(b) In conducting its activities on the Demised Premises, Lessee shall fully and 

punctually comply, and shall cause its agents, employees, contractors, invitees and others on the 

Demised Premises (collectively, the “Lessee Parties”) to fully and punctually comply, with all 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             39 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

present and future Environmental Laws.  In that regard, Lessee must secure all permits and 

approvals required by virtue of applicable Environmental Laws in order for Lessee to lawfully use 

the Demised Premises. Lessee may not release or discharge, and will not permit any Lessee Party 

to release or discharge, air emissions, waste, effluent, Hazardous Material or contaminants from 

the Demised Premises in such a manner that the release or discharge will unlawfully pollute or 

contaminate air, ground (including sub-surface strata), or water (including ground water) or 

become a public nuisance.  Any treatment, testing or control of releases or discharges, including 

monitoring or mitigation measures, required as a result of Lessee’s operations will be solely 

Lessee’s responsibility.  

(c) To the extent authorized by Mississippi law, Lessee shall defend, indemnify and 

hold Lessor and its directors, officers, agents, employees and contractors harmless from and 

against all suits, actions, legal or administrative proceedings, demands, claims, liability, fines, 

penalties, loss, injuries, damages, expenses and costs, including, without limitation, interest and 

reasonable attorneys’ and paralegals’ fees for attorneys of the indemnitee’s choice, and costs of 

defense (direct and on appeal), settlement or judgment, that may be incurred or suffered by, or 

claimed or assessed against, any of the indemnitees under any Environmental Law for, with respect 

to, or as a direct or indirect result of the presence on, within or beneath the Demised Premises or 

the stormwater retention areas, if any, into which the Demised Premises drain (the “Stormwater 

Retention Areas”), or the transportation, handling, management, storage, spill, escape, seepage, 

leakage, spillage, discharge, emission or release to or from the Demised Premises or the 

Stormwater Retention Areas of, any Hazardous Material that is brought on the Demised Premises 

during the Term. 

(d) Lessor shall comply, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its 

design professional and contractors to comply, with all requirements of any Environmental Laws 

applicable to the Demised Premises in the design and construction of the Improvements.   

(e) The provisions of this Paragraph (9) will survive the expiration of the Term or the 

earlier termination of this Agreement.  

(a) Lessee shall comply with all Legal Requirements governing non-discrimination in 

public accommodations and commercial facilities (“Public Accommodation Laws”), such as the 

requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101) and all rules and 

regulations made on the basis of authority granted in that Act. 

(b) Lessee shall promptly make all alterations, modifications or improvements, 

including, without limitation, remodeling, renovation, rehabilitation, reconstruction, changes or 

rearrangements in structure and changes or rearrangements in wall configuration or full-height 

partitions that become necessary with respect to the Demised Premises in order to comply with 

any Legal Requirement that initially becomes effective after the Commencement Date. 

(c) The provisions of this Paragraph 10 will survive the expiration of the Term or the 

earlier termination of this Agreement. 

Lessee shall not subject Lessor’s interest in the Demised Premises to any mechanics’ or 

materialmens’ liens or other lien of any kind, except to the extent that the creation of such lien or 

liens is specifically authorized by a provision in this Agreement or the written consent of Lessor.  

Lessee shall not allow a lien or claim of any kind to be filed or claimed against Lessor’s interest 

in the Demised Premises during the continuance of this Agreement.  If such lien is claimed or filed, 

Lessee shall cause the Demised Premises to be released from the claim within 30 days after Lessor 

is given written notice of the claim and transmits written notice of its receipt to Lessee, whichever 

30-day period expires earlier.  Lessee will cause such release either by paying to the court the 

amount necessary to relieve and release the Demised Premises from such claim, or in any other 

manner which, as a matter of law, will result, within the 30-day period, in releasing Lessor and its 

title from the claim. 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

Compliance with New Markets Tax Credits.  Lessee acknowledges that the Improvements, 

as developed and constructed by Lessee, will be financed utilizing federal New Markets Tax 

Credits (the “Tax Credits”) authorized under Section 45D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 

as amended (the “Code”), and both Lessee and Lessor agree that no action shall be taken by either 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             40 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

party without the written consent of both parties and the CDE Lenders that would in any way 

jeopardize or threaten the validity of the Tax Credits during the seven (7) year period wherein such 

Tax Credits are subject to recapture under Section 45D(g) of the Code (the “Compliance Period”), 

or Lessor’s status as a “qualified active low-income community business” as such term is defined 

in Section 45D of the Code and associated Treasury Regulations.  During the term of the CDE 

Loan Agreement, Lessee shall be entitled to use the Demised Premises in accordance with the 

terms contained in the CDE Loan Documents and shall not be permitted to use, or permit the use 

of, the Demised Premises for any Excluded Activity or Business (as defined below).  

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Lessee shall have no right to cure any breach of 

the provisions of this Section IV.A. 

If Lessee or Lessor fails to keep, observe or perform any of the terms of this Agreement 

required to be kept, observed or performed by it, in addition to any notice hereunder, Lessor or 

Lessee, as applicable, shall give written notice of such failure to each Lender (as defined in the 

JRA Ground Lease) according to the notice provisions contained herein.  No notice of a failure or 

other default by Lessor or Lessee under or with respect to this Agreement shall be deemed to have 

been duly given unless and until a copy thereof has been so served on any Lender.  Lessor and 

Lessee agree to accept performance by any Lender with the same force and effect as though kept, 

observed or performed by Lessee or Lessor, as applicable.  Such Lender shall have the same right 

as Lessee or Lessor to enter the Demised Premises for the express purpose of keeping, observing 

or performing such terms.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Lessor 

and Lessee agree that in the event of a default under this Agreement that would give Lessor  the 

right, immediately or after the lapse of a period of time, to cancel or terminate this Agreement or 

exercise any of its other rights or remedies hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as applicable, shall not 

exercise such right unless and until (a) Lessor or Lessee has given written notice to each Lender 

of such default, act or omission, (b) Lessor or Lessee has given each Lender an opportunity to cure, 

and (c) such Lender or its designee has failed to cure or remedy the default, act or omission within 

thirty (30) days after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in the case of a default in 

the due and punctual payment of any taxes, insurance premiums or other charges or monetary 

amounts required to be paid under this Agreement and within sixty (60) days after the expiration 

of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in the case of a failure to observe or perform any other material 

terms of this Agreement to be observed or performed by Lessee, and if such default cannot with 

due diligence and good faith be cured within such sixty (60) day period, then such longer period 

of time as may be reasonably necessary, not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) days.  Any Lender 

which cures a default shall be subrogated to any and all rights of Lessor against Lessee with respect 

to such default. 

Lessor hereby acknowledges that the Lender may require estoppel certificates in 

substantially the form attached as Exhibit E to the Ground Lease (an “Estoppel Certificate”), 

consents, approvals or other written documentation from Lessor and from certain third parties that 

may from time to time have a property, regulatory or other interest in the Demised Premises in 

connection with any Leasehold Deed of Trust (as defined in the Ground Lease), and Lessor hereby 

agrees to (i) within twenty (20) days after written request, deliver all such documentation as Lessee 

or Lender may reasonably require (including, but not limited to an Estoppel Certificate), provided 

that nothing therein materially adversely affects the rights of Lessor, and (ii) promptly cooperate 

with Lessee and any Lender holding Leasehold Deed of Trust in order to obtain any such written 

documentation from any such third parties.  It is understood that Lessor shall not be obligated to 

expend any funds or incur any liabilities in implementation of the foregoing, and Lessor shall be 

reimbursed by Lessee for all such out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in 

connection therewith. 

As to Sections I.E., I.K., II.A., II.B., and IV.A. – F., (i) each Lender shall be a third party 

beneficiary hereof and (ii) such section shall be self-operative and no further instrument is 

necessary. 

For so long as the CDE Loan Agreement remains in effect, Lessee and Lessor shall provide 

such information as may be reasonably requested by the CDE Lenders to comply with 

requirements of the CDFI Fund (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement) with respect to the Tax 

Credit data collection.  The Demised Premises shall be operated in a manner that satisfies and shall 

continue to satisfy all restrictions applicable to the Demised Premises and real property on which 

the Demised Premises is located and qualified businesses under Section 45D of the Code and 

Treasury Regulations (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement).  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             41 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Lessee shall use the Demised Premises only for the uses described in this Agreement and 

for no other purpose without the prior written consent of the CDE Lenders.  In no event shall any 

portion of the Demised Premises be used or subleased to any party for any trade or business, either 

as a principal or an ancillary business, that is an excluded business under Section 1.45D 

1(d)(5)(iii)(B) of the Treasury Regulations, including, without limitation, any one or more of the 

following:  (i) the rental to others of “residential rental property” (as such term is defined in Section 

168(e)(2)(A) of the Code); (ii) the operation of any private or commercial golf course, country 

club, massage parlor, hot tub or suntan facility, race track or other facility used for gambling, any 

store the principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off 

premises, or any check cashing store; (iii) the development or holding of intangibles for sale or 

license; (iv) farming (within the meaning of Section 2032A(e)(5)(A) or (B) of the Code); (v) the 

operation of any a bank, credit union or other financial institution; provided that any tenant or 

subtenant may operate a state or federally chartered bank or thrift; (vi) any type of sexually oriented 

business, adult entertainment or adult bookstore; including but not limited to any facility selling 

or displaying adult or pornographic books, literature, videotapes or materials in any medium, or 

any facility providing adult entertainment or other adult services (for purposes of this limitation, 

materials or activities shall be considered “adult” or “pornographic” if the same are not available 

for sale or rental to children under eighteen (18) years old because they explicitly deal with or 

depict human sexuality); (vii) escort services, dating services, or similar matchmaking or 

companion services; (viii) without limitation of (ii) above, bingo or similar games of chance, 

including, without limitation, the sale of lottery tickets; (ix) the sale of any firearms, ammunition 

or weapons, or a shooting gallery of any type; (x) the sale of fireworks, except as an incidental part 

of another primary business; (xi) pay day lending activities, pay day advances, pay check advances, 

or any similar type of lending activity; (xii) pawn shops, pawn brokers, car title lenders (which, 

for purposes of this limitation, will not include auto loans made by a state or federally chartered 

bank or thrift), or any similar type of lending activity; (xiii) check cashing services, except as an 

incidental part of another primary business or incident to the banking activities of a state or 

federally chartered bank or thrift; (xiv) debt collection activities, debt consolidation services, credit 

repair or credit restoration activities, except as such activities are incidental to banking activities 

conducted by a state or Federally chartered bank or thrift; (xv) bail bond services of any kind, or 

any activities of a bail bond agent; (xvi) the sale, distribution, marketing, or production of medical 

marijuana, medical cannabis or any constituent cannabinoids such as THC, as well as any 

substance considered to be synthetic cannabinoids (this limitation applies broadly, regardless of 

whether the activity is conducted by collectives, collective caregivers, co-ops, growers, or any 

other entity or organization); (xvii) the sale, distribution, or manufacture of any type of drug 

paraphernalia; (xviii) tattoo parlors or any establishment that performs tattooing; (xix) a bar, 

restaurant or other establishment, the principal business of which is the sale of alcohol for 

consumption on premises (for purposes of this limitation, an establishment shall be considered to 

have the sale of alcohol for consumption on premises as a principal business if: (a) alcohol sales 

amount to fifty percent (50%) or more of the establishment’s gross receipts in any month; (b) there 

is no independent, full service kitchen to service in restaurant dining; (c) there are no waiters and 

table service for dining; (d) minors are prohibited from entry during all or at specified times of the 

day; or (e) more than thirty percent (30%) of the square footage of the premises is devoted 

principally to the sale and consumption of alcohol on premises); (xx) businesses based 

predominantly on inbound or outbound telemarketing activities, except as such calls are an 

incidental part of another primary business; or (xxi) multi-level marketing activities, the sale of 

multi-level business opportunities or network marketing activities (individually and collectively, 

an “Excluded Activity or Business”).  If applicable, all subleases shall contain this Excluded 

Activity or Business restriction and shall provide for automatic termination if the Demised 

Premises are used for such Excluded Activity or Business. 

Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that pursuant to Section 57-105-1(7)(d) of the 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, this Agreement and the Demised Premises are exempt from 

any limitation or requirements with respect to leasing, acquiring and/or constructing public 

property or facilities in the State of Mississippi.   

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Representations and Warranties by Lessor.  Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee as 

follows: 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             42 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Existence.  Lessor is a non-profit corporation, duly organized and validly existing in good 

standing under the laws of the State of Mississippi and has all requisite power and authority to 

execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. 

Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments contemplated by this 

Agreement to which Lessor is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, executed, and 

delivered by Lessor and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessor enforceable 

in accordance with their terms.  All requisite organizational action of Lessor has been taken to 

authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and 

the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not violate the Articles 

of Incorporation of Lessor as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Mississippi on 

______________, or the Bylaws of Lessor adopted on ___________, nor any note, indenture, 

mortgage, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessor is a party or by which it is bound. 

Representations and Warranties by Lessee.  Lessee represents and warrants to Lessor as 

follows: 

Existence.  Lessee is a body corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi and has all 

requisite power and authority to execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and the transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments contemplated by this 

Agreement to which Lessee is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, executed, and 

delivered by Lessee and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessee enforceable 

in accordance with their terms.  All requisite organizational action of Lessee has been taken to 

authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and 

the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not violate the Act or 

any note, bond, indenture, mortgage, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessee is a 

party or by which it is bound. 

NMTC Compliance.  Lessee will comply with the provisions of Section IV. 

TERMINATION 

During the Compliance Period, this Agreement may not be terminated without the written 

consent of both parties other than for non-payment of rent following failure to cure within ten (10) 

days of the payment due date or for Lessee’s breach of Section V.B(4).  This Agreement may be 

terminated by the non-violating party upon thirty (30) days written notice upon the following 

grounds (violations of this Agreement), where the same is not cured in said thirty (30) days: 

The failure of either party to materially abide by the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement; or  

The failure of either party to make timely payments called for under this Agreement. 

The termination of this Agreement for violations of its terms or the terms of the other 

written agreements between the parties shall not affect the aggrieved party’s rights to seek remedies 

as herein provided.  In addition to relief granted an aggrieved party, the party violating this 

Agreement agrees to pay all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred by the aggrieved 

party in enforcing this Agreement.  Provided further, however, that if a party claims the other party 

has violated this Agreement (or other written agreements between the parties) and if it is later 

determined that no such violation occurred, the party wrongfully claiming such violation agrees to 

pay all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred by the aggrieved party in defending their 

conduct. 

REMEDIES 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             43 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Violation of this Agreement.  Upon the violation of any provision of this Agreement, the 

aggrieved party may seek relief from such violation under the terms of this Agreement, in law and 

in equity. 

Waiver of Rights, Remedies and Relief.  No delay or failure of either party to exercise any 

power or right hereunder, or under a similar agreement with third parties, shall operate as a waiver 

of any right, remedy or relief which either party is entitled; and such rights, remedies and relief 

shall be deemed continuous; nor shall a partial exercise preclude the party from full exercise 

thereof.   

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Notices.  Any notices or other communications hereunder shall be deemed to have been 

given when delivered personally, sent by electronic transmission (with confirmation receipt) to the 

following telephone numbers, or if deposited in the United States Mail, registered or certified, with 

proper postage and registration or certification fees prepaid, upon delivery by the post office 

addressed to the following addresses: 

TO LESSEE: 

 

City of Jackson, Mississippi 

_________________ 

_________________ 

Attention:  ____________ 

Facsimile:  (___) ___-____ 

E-mail:   

  

 with a copy to: 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS 39157 

Attention:  Jetson G. Hollingsworth 

 Facsimile:  (601) 985-4500 

 E-mail: jet.hollingsworth@gmail.com  

 and to: 

____________________ 

_________________ 

_________________ 

Attention:  _______________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

E-mail:   

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             44 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

TO LESSOR: 

 

JRA Public Benefit Corporation 

________________ 

________________ 

Attention:  President, Board of Directors 

Facsimile:  ________________ 

E-mail:   

with a copy to: 

 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS  39157 

Attention:  Jetson G. Hollingsworth 

 Facsimile:  (601) 985-4500 

 E-mail: jet.hollingsworth@butlersnow.com  

 and to: 

____________________ 

_________________ 

_________________ 

Attention:  _______________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

E-mail:   

 

AND TO THE CDE LENDERS AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES AT THE 

ADDRESSES SET FORTH ON EXHIBIT E. 

 

or such other addresses as may be designated by any of the parties from time to time by 

written notice given to the other party in the aforesaid manner. 

Fair Market Rent, etc.  The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that this Agreement, the 

arrangements contemplated herein, and the compensation to be paid hereunder: (i) are 

commercially reasonable; (ii) are commensurate or less than fair market value; (iii) are consistent 

with and necessary for the legitimate business purposes of the parties; and (iv) are based on the 

reasonably anticipated costs of the items and services provided hereunder. 

Assignment/Right to Sublet.  This Agreement may be assigned by Lessor as provided for 

under Section I.K. hereof.  This Agreement and all rights pertaining hereto and obligations 

hereunder may also be assigned by Lessor or Lessee at any time only with the written consent of 

the other party, which consent will not unreasonably be withheld.  Other than as consented to in 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             45 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

writing by Lessor, this Agreement shall not be assigned by Lessee to any other party.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall be entitled to sublet the Demised Premises or any part 

thereof with the written consent of the Lessor. 

Binding Effect.  The terms and provisions hereof shall be binding upon and shall inure to 

the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors, and 

assigns. 

Brokerage Commissions.  Each party represents and warrants to the other party that such 

warranting party has not incurred any obligation to pay any brokerage commissions by reason of 

the transaction contemplated hereunder.  Each party shall indemnify and hold harmless the other 

party against any and all loss, cost, damage, expense and liability whatsoever based upon any such 

commitment by such indemnifying party, but only to the extent authorized by Mississippi law. 

Applicable Laws.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder 

shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Mississippi. 

Memorandum of Lease.  Lessor and Lessee shall sign, acknowledge and deliver a 

memorandum of lease in the form attached as Exhibit D for purposes of recording, where permitted 

by law.  The memorandum of lease may not, under any circumstances, be interpreted to amend 

any of the provisions of this Agreement which will, in all circumstances, govern and control. 

Further Assurances.  Each party hereby agrees to execute all such further instruments and 

documents, and to take all such further action as any other party may reasonably require in order 

to give effect to the provisions and purpose of this Agreement. 

Agreement Interpretation.  This Agreement has been freely and fairly negotiated by the 

parties hereto and has been reviewed and discussed by legal counsel for each of the parties, each 

of whom has had the full opportunity to modify the draftsmanship hereof and, therefore, the terms 

of this Agreement shall be construed and interpreted without any presumption or other rule 

requiring construction or interpretation against the interest of the party causing this Agreement to 

be drafted. 

Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.  

Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by telecopier, facsimile 

machine, portable document format (“PDF”), Electronic Signature (as defined below) or other 

electronic means shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this 

Agreement.  The effectiveness of any such documents and signatures shall, subject to applicable 

laws, have the same force and effect as manually signed originals and shall be binding on the 

parties.  “Electronic Signature” means any symbol or process attached to a document or instrument 

and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign the document or instrument, including, 

without limitation, any digital representation of a party’s signature created by scanning such party’s 

signature or by any electronic signature service such as DocuSign. 

Subordination.  Lessee shall subordinate its rights under this Agreement to the lien of any 

mortgage or deed of trust executed in favor of any bank, insurance company or other lender and 

now or in the future in force against the Demised Premises, including, but not limited to, the CDE 

Lenders. 

Instrumentality.  Lessor is a governmental “instrumentality” of JRA, in compliance with 

the guidance provided by the Internal Revenue Service in Revenue Ruling 57-128, 1957-1 C.B. 

311.  Lessor will take all necessary actions to meet the requirements of an “instrumentality” of 

JRA under the provisions of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder, including, but 

not limited to, making covenants and certifications in connection therewith. 

[Signature page follows]  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Lease Agreement to be duly 

executed as of the Effective Date. 

  

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             46 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

LESSOR: 

 

JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, 

a Mississippi nonprofit corporation  

 

 

By:_____________ 

President, Board of Directors 

 

LESSEE: 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of 

Mississippi 

 

 

 

By:        

_______________ 

       _______________ 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 

EXHIBIT B 

IMPROVEMENTS 

 

EXHIBIT C 

BASE RENT 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

MEMORANDUM OF LEASE 

 

(attached behind) 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             47 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

EXHIBIT E 

 

ADDRESSES OF EACH LENDER AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES 

 

EXHIBIT F 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICE AGREEMENT 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT 

THIS DEVELOPMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and 

entered into as of __________, ____ 2023 (the “Effective Date”) by and among CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi (the “City” or 

“Developer”), and JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and 

politic and the urban renewal agency of the City (“JRA”) and JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT 

CORPORATION, a Mississippi nonprofit corporation (“QALICB”).  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Developer is the fee simple owner of certain real property located at 201 E. 

Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39201, as legally described on Exhibit A, attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference (the “Property”); 

WHEREAS, Developer is engaged in the development, repairing, improving, adorning and 

equipping the Russell C. Davis Planetarium and other authorized purposes with same including 

constructing, improving and paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways and public 

parking facilities on the Property (collectively, the “Project”);  

WHEREAS, Developer and JRA have entered into that certain Ground Lease Agreement 

dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or 

supplemented from time to time, the “City Ground Lease”) under which JRA holds a leasehold 

estate in the Demised Premises (as such term is defined in the City Ground Lease) and pursuant 

thereto and hereto, will participate in the development and financing of a portion of the Project 

with Developer and QALICB; 

WHEREAS, JRA and QALICB have entered into that certain Ground Lease Agreement 

dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or 

supplemented from time to time, the “JRA Ground Lease”) under which QALICB holds a 

leasehold estate in the Demised Premises (as such term is defined in the JRA Ground Lease) and 

pursuant thereto and hereto, will participate in the development and financing of a portion of the 

Project with Developer and JRA; 

WHEREAS, upon completion of the construction and development of the Project, 

QALICB will lease the Demised Premises to Developer pursuant to that certain Lease Agreement 

dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or 

supplemented from time to time, the “Operating Lease”) under which Developer will operate the 

Project;  

WHEREAS, QALICB desires to utilize new markets tax credit (“NMTC”) financing for 

the purpose of financing the costs of constructing a portion of the Project through qualified low-

income community investment loans which must meet certain terms and conditions to qualify for 

NMTCs under Section 45D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”);  

WHEREAS, Hope New Markets ___, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company (the 

“Hope CDE”) and Wells Fargo ___, LLC, a _______ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE”, 

together with Hope CDE, the “CDE Lenders”) are providing certain loans in the aggregate original 

principal amount of $[____________] (collectively, the “QLICI Loans”) to QALICB, and 

QALICB and the CDE Lenders are parties to (i) that certain Loan and Security Agreement dated 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             48 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or supplemented 

from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”), (ii) that certain Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment 

of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of the Effective Date (as the 

same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or supplemented from time to time, the 

“Leasehold Mortgage”), and (iii) certain other ancillary loan documents (collectively, and together 

with the Loan Agreement and the Leasehold Mortgage, the “Loan Documents”), which set forth 

the terms and conditions under which the CDE Lenders will make the QLICI Loans to QALICB 

for the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Project must satisfy all requirements of the Loan Documents, and any 

other agreements executed by QALICB, JRA or Developer in connection with the financing of the 

Project which may provide for funding of any portion of the Project (collectively, the “Financing 

Documents”), which set forth the terms and conditions for Project funding;  

WHEREAS, JRA, acting in cooperation with the QALICB and Developer, desire to assist 

in the financing of the Project and hereby acknowledge and agree to the terms and conditions 

herein; and 

WHEREAS, QALICB desires to appoint Developer exclusively to undertake the 

development and construction of the Project on behalf of QALICB in accordance with this 

Agreement, the Loan Documents, the Financing Documents, Section 45D of the Code, and all 

applicable laws. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, of the mutual promises of the 

parties hereto, and of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 

are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Incorporation, Capitalized Terms.  The above Recitals are hereby incorporated by 

this reference.  Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning 

given in the Loan Documents. 

2. Appointment.  QALICB hereby appoints Developer to provide the Development 

Services (as defined below) and confirms and ratifies the appointment of Developer with regard 

to any Development Services rendered by Developer prior to and as of the date hereof with respect 

to the development and construction of the Project.  

3. Authority and Obligations.  QALICB acknowledges and agrees that pursuant to this 

Agreement, Developer has the authority and the obligation to undertake, and Developer, as of 

________, ___ 2023 has undertaken and agrees to continue to undertake for the benefit of 

QALICB, the following services for the benefit of QALICB and the Project (collectively as set 

forth below, the “Development Services”):  

(A) act at the direction of QALICB in its relation with the CDE Lenders, project 

funders, and any governmental agency or authority with respect to matters relating to the 

development and construction of the Project as provided for in this Section 3;  

(B) at the direction of QALICB, select the architect, contractor, engineer, construction 

manager, and any other necessary third party consultants (collectively, the “Construction Parties”) 

in connection with preparation of the renderings, design, drawings, plans and specifications for the 

development and construction of the Project (“Plans and Specifications”), and negotiate and enter 

into all necessary contracts in compliance with all applicable public bid laws, regulations, orders 

and requirements of all governmental, judicial or legal authorities having jurisdiction over the 

Project (including without limitation the Construction Contract) for the Project in Developer’s 

name; 

(C) at the direction of QALICB, choose the products and materials necessary to equip 

the Project in a manner which satisfies all requirements of the Plans and Specifications;  

(D) at the direction of QALICB, monitor for reimbursement purposes the disbursement 

and payment of amounts owed to the Construction Parties selected to complete the Project; 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             49 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

(E) at the direction of QALICB, undertake alternative solutions within the scope of the 

budget approved by QALICB and the CDE Lenders (“Project Budget”) whenever design details 

affect construction feasibility or schedules;  

(F) be cognizant of and advise QALICB as needed with respect to any and all rules or 

regulations, city ordinances, including health and fire safety regulations, or any other requirements 

of law or governmental authorities applicable to the development and construction of the Project 

and to coordinate the services of professionals in connection therewith; 

(G) ensure contractors obtain all necessary permits and approvals for and in connection 

with the development and construction of the Project, including but not limited to securing all 

Project code approvals and obtain certificates of occupancy for the Project, and in obtaining a 

contractor payment and performance bond; 

(H) provide, and periodically update Project construction time schedule which 

coordinates and integrates the architect’s services with construction schedules; 

(I) at the direction of QALICB, cause the Project to be completed in a prompt and 

expeditious manner, consistent with good workmanship, and in compliance with the following: 

(i) the Plans and Specifications as they may be amended by the agreement of the 

parties hereto, satisfying the construction related reporting requirements of all Project funders 

which are imposed upon QALICB or the Project and otherwise assist QALICB in meeting those 

and related requirements; 

(ii) applicable requirements set forth in the Loan Documents, but only such 

requirements that are in connection with and directly related to the Development Services set forth 

in Section 3(A) through (X) of this Agreement, including the obligations to cause the contractor to 

obtain and maintain insurance and/or bonding as set forth therein, and Developer hereby covenants 

that, notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement and except as specifically 

permitted by the Loan Documents, it shall not approve any change or the use of any savings in any 

line item of the Project Budget to fund an actual or potential shortfall in any other line item thereof 

except in full compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and with the consent of QALICB; 

and  

(iii) any and all zoning regulations, county ordinances, including health, fire and safety 

regulations, and any other requirements of federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations and 

ordinances applicable to construction of the Project, and in performance of its responsibilities 

hereunder, Developer covenants and agrees to observe and perform the terms, covenants, 

conditions, provisions and agreements to be performed by QALICB under the Loan Documents, 

but only with respect to the completion of the construction of the Project and the related 

Development Services set forth in Section 3(A) through (X) of this Agreement; 

(J) at the direction of QALICB, ensure the Project is developed and completed free 

and clear of all mechanic’s and materialmen’s liens; 

(K) at the direction of QALICB, coordinate the work of the architect to complete the 

Project in accordance with the objectives as to cost, time and quality, and provide sufficient 

personnel at the Property with authority to achieve such objectives; 

(L) at the direction of QALICB, prepare a detailed schedule of realistic activity 

sequences and durations, allocation of labor and materials and processing of shop drawings and 

samples; perform regular monitoring of the schedule as construction progresses, identify potential 

variances between scheduled and probable completion dates, review the schedule for work not 

started or incomplete; and on request of QALICB provide QALICB documentation regarding the 

monitoring of the schedule and regarding any scheduling adjustments affecting the probable 

completion date for the Project; 

(M) at the direction of QALICB, revise and refine the approved estimate of Project cost, 

incorporate changes as they occur, and develop cash flow reports and forecasts as needed; provide 

regular monitoring of the approved estimate of Project cost, show actual costs for activities in 

process and estimates for uncompleted tasks, identify variances between actual and budgeted or 

estimated costs and advise QALICB whenever projected costs exceed budgeted or estimated costs;  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             50 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

(N) develop and implement a system for review and processing of change orders as to 

the Project;  

(O) develop and implement a procedure for the review and processing of applications 

by contractors for progress and final payments; 

(P) establish and implement procedures for expediting the processing and approval of 

shop drawings and samples; 

(Q) record the progress of the Project and submit written progress reports to QALICB, 

including the percentage of completion and the number and amounts of change orders 

(R) at the direction of QALICB, cause to be performed in a diligent and efficient 

manner the following: 

(i) development of the Project, including any required off-site work; and 

(ii) general administration and supervision of the Project, including but not limited to 

activities of contractors, and others employed as to the Project in a manner which complies in all 

respects with the Plans and Specifications; 

(S) keep, or cause to be kept, accounts and cost records as to the Project; 

(T) maintain, or cause to be maintained, at its expense, all accounting facilities and 

equipment necessary to adequately perform the foregoing functions; 

(U) make available to QALICB, during normal business hours and upon its written 

request, copies of all contracts; 

(V) maintain sufficient, reasonable and adequate documentation that provides objective 

evidence that details the time, effort, costs, and money spent by Developer on any of the services 

(e.g., time records or memoranda recounting meetings or other efforts as to such services); 

(W) at the direction of QALICB, prepare requests for release of QLICI Loan proceeds 

for application to Project Costs (as defined below) and complete and submit all forms necessary 

therefor and take all other actions as necessary to comply with Section 45D of the Code as related 

to the Project;  

(X) at the direction of QALICB, prepare a schedule of costs incurred by Developer prior 

to the date of consummation of the QLICI Loans in form and substance satisfactory to the CDE 

Lenders. 

4. Project Completion.  QALICB and Developer share a common interest in 

developing the Project and Developer has agreed to guarantee the completion of the Project in 

accordance with the Guaranty of Completion and Payment dated as of the Effective Date, by 

Developer for the benefit of the CDE Lenders (the “Guaranty”); therefore, in consideration for 

such benefit, and in order to induce the CDE Lenders to make the QLICI Loans to QALICB, 

subject to the provisions of this Agreement, Developer agrees as follows: 

(A) Developer shall collaterally assign all of Developer’s right, title, and interest in this 

Agreement and all other agreements entered into by Developer for completion of the Project to the 

CDE Lenders, including any warranties provided by any third parties to such agreements and all 

permits, licenses, and approvals necessary for completion of the Project (collectively, the 

“Contracts and Permits”), pursuant to that certain Assignment of Construction Documents made 

by Developer in favor of the CDE Lenders.  Developer agrees that, upon the occurrence of an 

Event of Default under the Guaranty or any of the other Loan Documents, the CDE Lenders shall 

have the right to enforce this Agreement and the Contracts and Permits to cause the Project to be 

completed by a third party (the “Completion Right”).  If the CDE Lenders exercise the Completion 

Right, the CDE Lenders shall have no obligation to advance funds in excess of any remaining 

undisbursed QLICI Loan proceeds to pay Project Costs or other costs required to complete 

construction of the Project.  QALICB and JRA hereby acknowledges and consents to the 

Completion Right.  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             51 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

(B) Developer acknowledges that the terms of the Leasehold Mortgage securing the 

QLICI Loans impose covenants and obligations upon QALICB, the performance and observance 

of which will (in whole or in part) be dependent on Developer’s actions and inactions as the 

developer of the Project.  QALICB has provided to Developer a copy of the Leasehold Mortgage, 

and Developer has reviewed and is familiar with the provisions of such Leasehold Mortgage.  

Developer hereby covenants and agrees that Developer shall not violate or cause a violation of any 

of the provisions of the Leasehold Mortgage, and that Developer shall take such actions, on a 

prompt and timely basis, as shall be necessary to enable QALICB to comply with the same.  Any 

failure by Developer to observe or comply with the foregoing provisions that is not cured by (i) 

the end of the applicable cure period set forth in this Agreement, if any, or (ii) the applicable cure 

period afforded to QALICB under the provisions of the Leasehold Mortgage, whichever is the 

shorter period, shall constitute a default under this Agreement. 

5. Initial Turnkey Payment; Turnkey Payments.  The parties acknowledge that in 

connection with providing the Development Services, Developer has previously incurred certain 

costs and expenses in the total amount of $[____________].  As part of the consideration to lease 

the Demised Premises, QALICB will pay Developer the amount of $[___________] (the “Initial 

Turnkey Payment”), which Initial Turnkey Payment will be paid on the Effective Date as more 

particularly described in the Ground Lease.  Subject to the consent of the CDE Lenders, QALICB 

agrees to make additional payments under this Agreement (the “Turnkey Payments”) for a portion 

of Developer’s actual costs and expenses incurred or involved in providing Development Services 

hereunder anticipated to be in the amount of $[____________], and any amounts incurred or paid 

by Developer under any agreements entered into by Developer for the purpose of undertaking or 

completing the Project, including without limitation the Construction Contract and Architect 

Agreement, subject to the amounts provided in the Project Budget (collectively, “Project Costs”).  

Such Turnkey Payments will be made by QALICB as such funds are made available to QALICB 

pursuant to that certain Disbursement Agreement dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may 

be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or supplemented from time to time, the “Disbursement 

Agreement”), by and among QALICB, Developer, [Wells Fargo, a ____________], and the CDE 

Lender, following delivery of an invoice for reimbursable costs from Developer to QALICB and 

any and all other materials required to be submitted by QALICB pursuant to the Loan Documents 

as a condition precedent to the disbursement or release of QLICI Loan proceeds pursuant to the 

Disbursement Agreement.  The anticipated schedule of Turnkey Payments is attached hereto as 

Exhibit B. 

6. City Contribution/JRA Leverage Loan.  The parties acknowledge and agree that in 

connection with the NMTC financing arrangements, JRA will be providing a leverage loan in the 

amount of $[______________] (the “Leverage Loan”) to [Wells Fargo Investment Fund].  The 

City has agreed to contribute (a) a portion of the bond proceeds from the issuance of its taxable 

general obligation bonds in one or more series in a total aggregate principal amount of not to 

exceed Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Bonds”) (b) federal grant 

funds and (c) any other legally available revenues of the City in support of the Project.  In addition, 

JRA will be accepting various other sources of capital, including but not limited to, additional 

bridge loan financing, in order to provide funding for the Leverage Loan.    

7. Default.  Developer and JRA acknowledge that the terms of the Loan Documents 

evidencing, governing and securing the Project funding impose covenants and obligations upon 

QALICB, the performance and observance of which will (in part) be dependent on Developer’s 

actions and inactions as the developer of the Project.  QALICB has provided to Developer and 

JRA copies of the Loan Documents, and Developer and JRA have reviewed and are familiar with 

the provisions of such Loan Documents.  Developer and JRA shall take such actions, on a prompt 

and timely basis, as shall be necessary to enable QALICB to comply with such Loan Documents; 

provided, however, that Developer’s obligations shall be limited to providing Development 

Services hereunder and nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as imposing 

additional obligations upon Developer with respect to the Loan Documents.  Any failure by 

Developer or JRA to substantially comply with a material provision under this Agreement that is 

not cured by (i) the end of a thirty (30) calendar day opportunity to cure such default after receipt 

of written notice of the same from QALICB, or (ii) the applicable cure period afforded to QALICB 

under the provisions of the Loan Documents, whichever is the shorter period, shall constitute a 

default under this Agreement; provided, however, that the cure period to comply may be extended 

for an additional sixty (60) days if the ability to cure such failure to comply within the specified 

cure period is not within the reasonable control of JRA or Developer.  QALICB may concurrently 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             52 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

or successively pursue any remedy at law or in equity, including, but not limited to, the following: 

(a) terminate this Agreement; or (b) withhold any disputed amounts due to Developer.  All amounts 

withheld by QALICB shall be promptly released to Developer only after Developer has cured the 

default justifying the withholding, as demonstrated by evidence reasonably acceptable to 

QALICB.  

8. Notices.  Each party shall deliver all notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, 

waivers and other communications under this Agreement (each, a “Notice”) in writing and 

addressed to the other party at its address set out below (or to such other address that the receiving 

party may designate from time to time in accordance with this Section). Each party shall deliver 

all Notices by personal delivery, nationally recognized overnight courier (with all fees pre-paid), 

facsimile or e-mail (with confirmation of transmission) or certified or registered mail (in each case, 

return receipt requested, postage prepaid).  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, a 

Notice is effective only (a) on receipt by the receiving party, and (b) if the party giving the Notice 

has complied with the requirements of this Section. 

Notice to QALICB:  JRA Public Benefit Corporation 

_____________ 

Jackson, MS  _______ 

Attention:  President, Board of Directors 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

Email: _________________ 

 

with a copy to:  Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS  39157 

Attention:  Jet Hollingsworth 

Facsimile:  (601) 985-4500 

Email:  jet.hollingsworth@butlersnow.com  

 

and to:   ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

 

Notice to Developer:   City of Jackson, Mississippi 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  ______________ 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             53 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Facsimile:  _____________ 

Email:  _________________  

   

with a copy to:  ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

  

and to:   ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

 

Notice to JRA: ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

 

 

and to:   ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

 

Copies of all notices provided hereunder shall be simultaneously provided to the CDE 

Lenders as provided in the Loan Agreement.  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             54 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

9. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on the parties hereto, 

their heirs, successors, and assigns.  Except as expressly set forth herein, this Agreement may not 

be assigned by either party without the written consent of the other, provided that by execution of 

this Agreement, Developer and JRA consent to the assignment by QALICB to the extent required 

under the terms of the Loan Documents. 

10. Severability of Provisions.  Each provision of this Agreement shall be considered 

severable and if, for any reason, any provision which is not essential to the effectuation of the basic 

purposes of this Agreement is determined to be invalid and contrary to any existing or future law, 

such invalidity shall not impair the operation of or affect those provisions of this Agreement which 

are valid. 

11. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, together with all related exhibits and 

schedules, is the sole and entire agreement of the parties to this Agreement regarding the subject 

matter contained herein and therein, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, 

agreements, representations and warranties, both written and oral, regarding such subject matter.  

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed 

and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall together constitute one and the same 

instrument.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by 

telecopier, facsimile machine, portable document format (“PDF”), Electronic Signature (as defined 

below) or other electronic means shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed 

counterpart of this Agreement.  The effectiveness of any such documents and signatures shall, 

subject to applicable laws, have the same force and effect as manually signed originals and shall 

be binding on the parties.  “Electronic Signature” means any symbol or process attached to a 

document or instrument and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign the document 

or instrument, including, without limitation, any digital representation of a party’s signature 

created by scanning such party’s signature or by any electronic signature service such as DocuSign.  

The parties agree to mutually cooperate with each other to assist in obtaining and finalizing the 

NMTC financing transaction including, without limitation, amending this Agreement as necessary 

and reasonably requested by the CDE Lenders to finalize or carryout the terms or requirements for 

the same. 

12. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Mississippi. 

13. Third Party Beneficiaries.  Unless otherwise evidenced in writing signed by all 

parties, QALICB, JRA and Developer do not intend to benefit any party that is not a party to this 

Agreement and no such party shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of this Agreement or 

any provision hereof; provided, however, that QALICB, JRA and Developer agree that the CDE 

Lenders are an intended third party beneficiary of this Agreement with the right to enforce the 

same as specified in Section 4 above, and the provisions of this Agreement shall not be amended, 

restated, modified or terminated without the prior written consent of the CDE Lenders. 

[Signatures on following page] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Development Services 

Agreement effective as of the day and year first above written. 

DEVELOPER:  

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of 

Mississippi. 

By:        

_______________      

 _______________ 

     JRA: 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and politic and 

the urban renewal agency for the City of Jackson, Mississippi 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             55 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

By:        

_______________ 

  _______________  

QALICB: 

 

JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, 

a Mississippi nonprofit corporation  

 By:        

_________________ 

President, Board of Directors 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

PROPERTY 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

TURNKEY PAYMENTS 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT G 

JRA GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of __________, 

2023 (the “Effective Date”), is made between JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a 

public body corporate and politic and the urban renewal agency of the City (“Lessor”), and JRA 

PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, a Mississippi nonprofit corporation (“Lessee”).   

W I T N E S S E T H 

WHEREAS, Lessor is the ground lessee of certain real property located in 201 E. 

Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39201, and more particularly described on Exhibit A attached 

hereto (the “Property”) pursuant to that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated as of the Effective 

Date (the “City Ground Lease”) by and between the City of Jackson, Mississippi, a public body 

corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi (the “City”), as lessor therein, and the Lessor, as 

lessee therein; and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             56 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, Lessor has determined that it is necessary and appropriate to lease the 

Property and the improvements hereafter constructed thereon (including, but not limited to, the 

Improvements (as defined below)), as well as certain work in progress undertaken by the City as 

more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto (the “WIP”), to Lessee with the 

understanding that Lessor, in cooperation with Lessee, will continue to cause development, 

repairing, improving, adorning and equipping the Russell C. Davis Planetarium and other 

authorized purposes with same including constructing, improving and paving streets, sidewalks, 

driveways, parkways, walkways and public parking facilities on the Property, as more fully 

described on Exhibit C attached hereto (collectively, the “Improvements,” and, together with the 

Property and the WIP, the “Demised Premises”) in accordance with the Development Agreement 

(as defined below) and the Plans and Specifications (as defined in the Development Agreement); 

and 

WHEREAS, City, Lessor and Lessee have entered into that certain Development Services 

Agreement dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, 

modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Development Agreement”) pursuant to which 

City will cause the development and construction of the Improvements and Lessee will make 

turnkey development payments (the “Turnkey Payments”) using the proceeds of certain loans in 

the aggregate original principal amount of $[________] (collectively, the “CDE Loans”) from  

Hope New Markets __, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company (the “Hope CDE”) and Wells 

Fargo __, LLC, a _______ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE” together with the HOPE 

CDE, the “CDE Lenders”), pursuant to that certain Loan and Security Agreement between Lessee, 

as borrower, and CDE Lenders, as lender, dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be 

amended, assigned, restated, renewed modified or supplemented from time to time, the “CDE Loan 

Agreement”), and certain other ancillary documents (collectively and together with the CDE Loan 

Agreement, the “CDE Loan Documents”); and 

WHEREAS, Lessee (in its capacity as lessor under the Operating Lease (as defined below)) 

has agreed to lease the Demised Premises to City (in its capacity as lessee under the Operating 

Lease), pursuant to that certain Lease Agreement dated as of the Effective Date, between City and 

Lessee (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified or supplemented from time to 

time, the “Operating Lease”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and 

agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

I. LEASE OF THE DEMISED PREMISES  

 A. General.  The intent of Lessor and Lessee is that Lessor shall lease to Lessee 

the Demised Premises.  Lessor hereby grants and leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby accepts, 

upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the Demised Premises to be used by Lessee to 

cause the development of the Demised Premises and lease the Demised Premises to the City for 

operations of the Russell C. Davis Planetarium.  

 B. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on ________, 2023, 

subject to the performance of the parties of the terms and conditions hereof (the “Commencement 

Date”), and shall continue until __________, 2074 (the “Expiration Date”).  At the Expiration 

Date, Lessee shall surrender to Lessor the Demised Premises in good and clean condition (ordinary 

wear and tear excepted) and free of all personal property of Lessee; provided, however, that Lessee 

shall have no obligation to maintain any portion of the Demised Premises for the period beyond 

their economic useful life (determined as of the Commencement Date), and Lessee shall execute 

and deliver to Lessor any and all instruments and documents that Lessor reasonably requests to 

effectively transfer, assign, and convey the Demised Premises to Lessor, free of any encumbrances, 

excluding any Permitted Liens (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement). 

 C. Consideration.  Lessor hereby leases its interest in the Demised Premises to 

Lessee for the term of this Agreement with the understanding and agreement that, subject to the 

terms of the Development Agreement, Lessor shall cause the Improvements to be constructed in 

accordance with the Plans and Specifications.  Lessor and Lessee agree that in exchange for the 

rights granted to Lessee under this Agreement, (i) using a portion of the proceeds of the CDE 

Loans, Lessee shall pay the Initial Turnkey Payment (as defined below) as set forth in Section I.G. 

below, (ii) using a portion of the proceeds of the CDE Loans, Lessee shall make the Turnkey 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             57 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Payments to City pursuant to the terms of the Development Agreement to pay a portion of the costs 

to develop and construct the Improvements on the Property, and (iii) City shall pay the remaining 

portion of the costs to develop and construct the Improvements on the Property, which upon 

completion shall be deemed a contribution in kind from City to Lessor pursuant to the City Ground 

Lease (the “Contribution”). The Lessor will in turn make the Contribution of remaining costs to 

Lessee pursuant to this Agreement.  The amount of the Contribution is anticipated to be 

$[_______________].  

D. Utilities.  Lessor and Lessee agree, during the term of this Agreement, Lessee shall 

pay before delinquency, all charges for use of telephone, water, gas, heat, electricity, trash, sewer 

and all other utilities and services of whatever kind and nature which may be used in or upon the 

Demised Premises adequate for the intended purposes in full compliance with all governmental 

laws and regulations. 

 E. Taxes.  Lessee shall pay all real estate taxes, special assessments and any 

other taxes, assessments or public charges levied or assessed by lawful authority against the 

Demised Premises attributable to the period during the term of this Agreement on or before the 

due date thereof, unless contested by Lessee in good faith.  Lessee shall have the right to contest, 

in good faith, by appropriate proceedings, the amount, applicability, or validity of any such taxes 

or assessments.  Lessee shall be responsible to pay its respective taxes on income and all its 

employee related taxes, if any, in connection with the operations of the Demised Premises.  As 

between Lessor and Lessee, Lessee has the exclusive right (but shall be under no obligation), at its 

expense, to endeavor at any time or times to obtain a reduction in the assessed valuation of the 

Demised Premises, or any part thereof, for the purpose of reducing the real estate taxes, including 

the right to prosecute administrative and/or judicial proceedings and judicial review and appeal of 

any decision which Lessee, in its sole discretion, considers adverse, and the right to settle or 

compromise any such proceedings.  Lessor will offer no objection and, at the request of Lessee, 

will cooperate with Lessee, without cost or expense to Lessor, in effecting such a reduction.  Lessee 

shall be authorized to collect any tax refund payable because of any proceeding Lessee may 

institute, and any such tax refund shall be the property of Lessee, to the extent to which it is based 

on a payment made by Lessee.   

So long as the Operating Lease is in effect, the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that 

the leasehold interest in the Demised Premises under this Agreement shall be exempt from ad 

valorem taxes pursuant to Mississippi law, including Section 27-31-1(b) of the Mississippi Code 

of 1972, as amended. 

 F. Quiet Enjoyment.  As long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its 

obligations hereunder exists, Lessor covenants and agrees that Lessee shall and may peaceably 

have, hold, and enjoy the occupancy and use of the Demised Premises to the extent provided herein 

free from molestation, eviction or disturbance by Lessor or any other persons or legal entity 

whatsoever, and as long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its obligations hereunder 

exists, and upon expiration or termination of the Operating Lease, the parties hereto acknowledge 

and agree that Lessee shall have the right to occupy, use and operate the Demised Premises for the 

term of this Agreement for any use permitted by law without any disturbance or restriction by 

Lessor or any other persons.  As long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its obligations 

hereunder exists, and upon expiration or termination of the Operating Lease, Lessor hereby 

covenants that, should Lessee determine that any easements are necessary in order for Lessee to 

occupy, use and operate the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement, Lessor shall grant 

to Lessee any easements and shall take any other action available to Lessor that may be required 

in order to allow Lessee to occupy, use and operate the Demised Premises for the term of this 

Agreement. 

G. Initial Turnkey Payment; Turnkey Payments. The parties acknowledge that City has 

incurred costs in the total amount of $[________] in connection with the WIP.  As part of the 

consideration to lease the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement as provided in Section 

C. above, Lessee shall pay to City the amount of $[________] (the “Initial Turnkey Payment”), 

payable on or before the date hereof in one initial upfront installment.  The Initial Turnkey Payment 

shall be made directly to Lessor pursuant to the Flow of Funds Memorandum (as defined in the 

CDE Loan Agreement).     

The parties acknowledge that pursuant to the Development Agreement, it is anticipated that 

City will incur additional costs in the amount of $[______________], in connection with the 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             58 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

development and construction of a portion of the Improvements.  As part of the consideration to 

lease the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement as provided in Section C. above, Lessee 

shall pay to City the Turkey Payments, payable as set forth in the Development Agreement.  The 

parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the foregoing transactions will be classified for federal 

income tax purposes as set forth in Section VI.B. below.  

Further, Lessor agrees to allow the Construction Parties (as defined in the Development 

Agreement) to access the Demised Premises for the purposes of completing the work contemplated 

under the Development Agreement. 

H. Development Agreement.  Lessor and Lessee shall observe all requirements, terms 

and conditions of the Development Agreement.  To the extent reasonably necessary, and without 

violating the laws of the State of Mississippi, Lessor and Lessee shall cooperate with each other to 

obtain the required permits, approvals, and authorizations for the construction of the Improvements 

in accordance with this Agreement, including by joining in applications for building permits, 

subdivision plat approvals, certificates of dedication, public works or other agreements, utility 

easements, permits for sewer, water and other utility services, and the dedication to the applicable 

governmental authorities of such title to or easements for utility, roadway and slope or storm 

drainage areas or facilities as are reasonably necessary or desirable. 

II.  CONSTRUCTION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS  

  A. Construction of the Improvements.  Lessor shall cause the Improvements to 

be constructed on the Property in accordance with the Plans and Specifications and the terms and 

conditions of the Development Agreement.  Pursuant to the Development Agreement, Lessee has 

appointed City to provide for, or cause to be provided for, the complete construction of the 

Improvements. 

 B. Lessee to Bear a Portion of Construction Costs.  Lessee is financing a 

portion of the costs to complete the construction of the Improvements on the Property pursuant to 

the CDE Loan Documents.  Turnkey Payments for a portion of the costs of construction of the 

Improvements shall be made from the moneys which shall be disbursed for this purpose in 

accordance and upon compliance with the CDE Loan Agreement and as provided for under the 

Development Agreement, the City Ground Lease and this Agreement.  

 C.  Risk of Loss.  Lessee will be responsible for and will indemnify, defend, 

save and hold harmless Lessor against all damage done to the Demised Premises because of any 

negligent act or omission by Lessee, its employees, subcontractors, or agents. 

III. LIENS 

Lessee shall not create or allow a lien or claim of any kind to be filed or claimed against 

Lessor’s interest in the Demised Premises during the continuance of this Agreement, except to the 

extent that the creation of such lien or liens is specifically authorized by a provision in this 

Agreement, the CDE Loan Agreement, or the written consent of Lessor.  If any prohibited lien is 

claimed or filed because of any act or omission by Lessee, its employees, subcontractors, or agents, 

Lessee shall cause the Demised Premises to be released from the claim within 30 days after Lessor 

is given written notice of the claim and transmits written notice of its receipt to Lessee, whichever 

30-day period expires earlier.  Lessee will cause such release either by paying to the court the 

amount necessary to relieve and release the Demised Premises from such claim, or in any other 

manner which, as a matter of law, will result, within the 30-day period, in releasing Lessor and its 

title from the claim. 

IV. INSURANCE; DESTRUCTION OR CONDEMNATION 

 A. Insurance.  From and after any earlier date when Lessee, or City pursuant 

to the Operating Lease, makes actual use of and occupies the Demised Premises or any part of it, 

Lessee shall cause to be written a policy or policies of insurance in the form generally known as 

public liability policies.  The policies shall insure Lessee against all claims and demands made by 

any person or persons for injuries received in connection with the operating and maintenance of 

the Demised Premises and for any other risk insured against by such policies.  Each class of 

policies shall be written within limits of not less than $500,000 for damages incurred or claimed 

by any one person for bodily injury, or otherwise, and damages to property or as otherwise required 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             59 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

under the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents.  All such policies shall name 

Lessee, Lessor, City and each Lender (as defined below), as their respective interests may appear, 

as the insured persons.  Lessee shall promptly deliver the original or a duplicate original of each 

policy or policies to Lessor and each Lender as soon as they are written, together with adequate 

evidence of the fact that the premiums are paid. 

 B. Lessee’s Insurance Obligation.  From and after the time this Agreement 

commences, Lessee will keep insured or cause to be kept insured all buildings and improvements 

upon the Property against all loss or damage by fire and windstorm, together with “extended 

coverage.”  The amount of insurance shall at all times be sufficient to prevent any party in interest 

from being or becoming a co-insurer on any part of the risk, and shall not be less than 80 percent 

of the full insurable value.  All such policies shall name Lessee, City, Lessor and each Lender, as 

their respective interests may appear, as the insured persons.  Without limiting the foregoing, for 

so long as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, Lessee shall maintain in full force and effect such 

insurance coverages as are required to be maintained under the CDE Loan Agreement. 

 C. Insurance Premiums.  Lessee shall pay premiums for all of the insurance 

policies it is required to carry under the terms of this Agreement, and shall deliver to Lessor, City 

and each Lender evidence of such payment before the payment of any premiums become in default.  

Lessee shall also cause renewals of expiring policies to be written and the policies or copies 

thereof, as required by this Agreement, to be delivered to Lessor, City and each Lender as it may 

request. 

 D. Destruction or Damage.  If during the term of this Agreement, all or any 

portion of the Demised Premises is destroyed or damaged as the result of fire, windstorm, or other 

casualty, Lessee shall immediately notify the applicable insurers; Lessor, City and each Lender of 

the destruction or damage, and Lessee, at its expense or at the expense of any lessee under the 

Operating Lease, shall repair or replace or cause to be repaired or replaced the destroyed or 

damaged Demised Premises.  Unless otherwise required by the CDE Loan Agreement or any other 

CDE Loan Document, the proceeds of all insurance maintained by Lessee on the Demised 

Premises shall be applied in accordance with the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan 

Documents, and if no loan is outstanding that is secured by a lien on the Demised Premises, then 

applied: first, to pay the costs of clearing and restoring the Demised Premises; and second, to 

Lessee.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long as the CDE Loans remain 

outstanding, all insurance proceeds shall be applied in accordance with the CDE Loan Agreement 

and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

 E.  Condemnation.  If all or any portion of the Property is taken for any public 

or quasi-public use under any governmental law, ordinance, or regulation, or by right of eminent 

domain or private purchase, the following provisions shall apply: 1) subject to the rights of each 

Lender under the Leasehold Deed of Trust, Lessee shall receive that part of any award or 

compensation that is attributable to the fair market value of Lessee’s leasehold estate in the 

Property, including leasehold improvements, together with any severance damages determined by 

a court of competent jurisdiction, and 2) Lessor shall receive that part of any award of 

compensation that is attributable to the fair market value of Lessor’s estate in the Property 

(including the reversionary interest).  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long 

as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, all condemnation proceeds shall be applied in accordance 

with the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

V. REPAIR OBLIGATIONS 

 During the continuance of this Agreement, Lessee shall keep or cause the lessee 

under the Operating Lease to keep in good state of repair and in commercially reasonable condition 

the Demised Premises (reasonable wear and tear excepted).  Lessee shall promptly repair, at its 

expense and in a manner reasonably acceptable to Lessor, any damage to Lessor’s property or to 

the property of others caused by Lessee or its managers, officers, agents, employees, or contractors.  

Lessee or a lessee under the Operating Lease shall not suffer or permit any strip, waste, or neglect 

of the Demised Premises to be committed.  Lessee shall repair, replace, and renovate the Demised 

Premises as often as necessary to keep the Demised Premises in repair and condition suitable for 

public elementary school education standards.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall have 

no obligation to maintain any portion of the Demised Premises for the period beyond their useful 

life (determined as of the Commencement Date). 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             60 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

  Lessor and Lessee agree that on the commencement date of the Operating Lease, 

City shall assume all responsibilities and liabilities to operate and maintain the Demised Premises 

in conformity with the provisions contained herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, City (in its 

capacity as Lessee under the Operating Lease) shall have no obligation to maintain any portion of 

the Demised Premises for the period beyond their useful life (determined as of the Commencement 

Date).    

VI. SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

A. Compliance with New Markets Tax Credits.  Lessee acknowledges that the 

Improvements to be constructed upon the Property by Lessor will be financed utilizing federal 

New Markets Tax Credits (the “Tax Credits”) authorized under Section 45D of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),  and both Lessee and Lessor agree that no action 

shall be taken by any party without the written consent of all parties that would in any way 

jeopardize or threaten the validity of the Tax Credits during the seven (7) year period wherein such 

credits are subject to recapture under Section 45D(g) of the Code.  During the term of the CDE 

Loan Agreement, neither Lessor nor Lessee shall be entitled to use, nor permit the use of, the 

Demised Premises for any Excluded Activity or Business (as defined in the CDE Loan 

Agreement). 

B. Transfer of Ownership for Federal Income Tax Purposes.  Notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Lessor and Lessee hereby agree and 

acknowledge that, notwithstanding the form of this transaction as a lease for local and state law 

purposes, it is the intent of each that this transaction be treated as a sale or grant of the Demised 

Premises from Lessor to Lessee, and for Lessee to be treated as the owner of the Demised Premises, 

for federal income tax purposes.  For Federal income tax and accounting purposes, Lessor 

recognizes and shall continue to recognize (i) Lessee as the owner of the Demised Premises 

pursuant to this Agreement, and (ii) this Agreement as transferring ownership to Lessee; Lessor 

and Lessee agree that neither shall take any tax reporting position to the contrary.  In furtherance 

and not in limitation of the foregoing, Lessor and Lessee agree that (i) to the greatest extent 

possible, the risk of loss and the benefits of profit and appreciation with respect to the Demised 

Premises shall reside with Lessee, (iii) it is not Lessor’s intent to realize any meaningful residual 

value from the Demised Premises on or after the date hereof, and (iv) Lessee alone shall be entitled 

to all of the tax attributes of ownership of the Demised Premises, including, without limitation, the 

right to claim depreciation or cost recovery deductions. 

C. Ground Lease Pledged to Lenders. 

(1) Lessee shall have the right to mortgage and otherwise encumber this Agreement 

and Lessee’s leasehold interest, in whole or in part, by one or more leasehold deed of trusts, 

including, but not limited to, the CDE Lender Deed of Trust (as defined below) (a “Leasehold 

Deed of Trust”) to any person or entity.  Any Leasehold Deed of Trust shall not constitute a lien 

on Lessor’s ground lease interest in the Property.  No holder of any such Leasehold Deed of Trust 

(together with the CDE Lender, a “Lender”) shall be liable for performance of any of the covenants 

and obligations of Lessee under this Agreement, except during any period from and after such 

Lender’s actual possession of, and exercise of Lessee’s rights with respect to the Demised 

Premises.  Lessor consents to Lessee’s assignment of rents in and to the Demised Premises to a 

Lender, and for a Lender in any action that relates in any manner to foreclose of its Leasehold 

Deed of Trust and/or exercise its assignment or rents, to be entitled to the appointment of a receiver.  

Lessee shall have the right to assign insurance proceeds to a Lender and Lessor acknowledges that 

the application of any insurance or condemnation proceeds shall be controlled by the CDE Loan 

Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

(2) Lessor acknowledges that Lessee will enter into the CDE Loan Agreement and the 

other CDE Loan Documents, pursuant to which the CDE Lender will make the CDE Loans, the 

proceeds of which will be used by Lessee to make the Turnkey Payments in connection with the 

development and construction of the Improvements and the other permitted uses provided in the 

CDE Loan Documents.  Lessor further acknowledges and agrees that Lessee’s leasehold interest 

hereunder has been pledged to the CDE Lenders as collateral for the CDE Loans under the CDE 

Loan Agreement, pursuant to that certain Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and 

Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of the Effective Date made by Lessee in 

favor of the CDE Lenders (the “CDE Lender Deed of Trust”).  Lessor hereby consents to the CDE 

Lender Deed of Trust, the CDE Loan Documents and all of the terms thereof.  The CDE Lenders 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             61 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

shall be a Lender for all purposes hereunder and the CDE Lender Deed of Trust shall be a 

Leasehold Deed of Trust for all purposes hereunder. 

(3) Lessor agrees not to accept a voluntary: (a) surrender, (b) termination or (c) 

amendment of this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the City Ground Lease or the 

Operating Lease by Lessee, at any time while a Leasehold Deed of Trust shall remain a lien on 

Lessee’s leasehold interest, without the prior written consent of the applicable Lender. 

(4) If Lessee or Lessor fails to keep, observe or perform any of the terms of this 

Agreement required to be kept, observed or performed by it, in addition to any notice to Lessee or 

Lessor, required hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as applicable, shall give written notice of such failure 

to each Lender in accordance with the notice provisions contained herein.  No notice of a failure 

or other default by Lessor or Lessee under or with respect to this Agreement shall be deemed to 

have been duly given unless and until a copy thereof has been so served on each Lender.  Lessor 

and Lessee agree to accept performance by any Lender with the same force and effect as though 

kept, observed or performed by Lessee or Lessor, as applicable.  Such Lender shall have the same 

right as Lessee or Lessor to enter the Demised Premises for the express purpose of keeping, 

observing or performing such terms.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, 

Lessor and Lessee agree that in the event of a default under this Agreement that would give Lessor 

or Lessee the right, immediately or after the lapse of a period of time, to cancel or terminate this 

Agreement or exercise any of its other rights or remedies hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as 

applicable, shall not exercise such right unless and until (a) Lessor or Lessee has given written 

notice to each Lender of such default, act or omission, (b) Lessor or Lessee has given each Lender 

an opportunity to cure, and (c) such Lender or its designee has failed to cure or remedy the default, 

act or omission within thirty (30) days after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in 

the case of a default in the due and punctual payment of any taxes, insurance premiums or other 

charges or monetary amounts required to be paid under this Agreement and within sixty (60) days 

after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in the case of a failure to observe or perform 

any other material terms of this Agreement to be observed or performed by Lessee, and if such 

default cannot with due diligence and good faith be cured within such sixty (60) day period, then 

such longer period of time as may be reasonably necessary, not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) 

days. 

(5) Any Lender which cures a default shall be subrogated to all of rights of Lessor 

against Lessee with respect to such default. 

(6) In addition to any rights and remedies a Lender may have pursuant to a Leasehold 

Deed of Trust or under any other applicable documents governing the terms of Lessee’s and such 

Lender’s agreements with respect to the Demised Premises, if a default exists under this 

Agreement, Lessor shall not terminate this Agreement or take any steps to obtain control or 

possession of the Demised Premises if, within a period not in excess of ninety (90) days following 

Lessor’s written notice to such Lender of the occurrence of such default, the Lender (a) commences 

foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings or is taking other steps to obtain control or possession 

of the Demised Premises and, (b) makes payment of all past due amounts, and is making payment 

of all sums due Lessor, when due, and (c) if such default is reasonably susceptible to cure by such 

Lender (taking into account, among other things, such Lender not being in possession), is taking 

reasonable steps to cure same, in which event, such Lender, upon appropriate notice to Lessor, 

shall have the right: (i) to acquire by foreclosure proceedings or other appropriate steps Lessee’s 

interest in this Agreement, and (ii) to remove Lessee from the Demised Premises.  Such Lender 

shall not be required to institute foreclosure proceedings if it is able to acquire and does acquire 

Lessee’s leasehold interest by any other legal means, including, without limitation, voluntary 

assignment.  Lessor agrees that if by reason of a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar type proceeding, 

or by reason of any other judicial order or legislative enactment, the Lender shall be stayed from 

commencing (or if commenced, from continuing) foreclosure proceedings or other appropriate 

steps, then the Lender shall be deemed to be prosecuting such proceedings with diligence and 

continuously so long as it is in good faith attempting to obtain relief from any such stay.  

(7) Any Lender shall be given prompt notice by Lessor and Lessee of any legal 

proceedings by the parties hereto involving obligations under this Agreement, and shall have the 

right to intervene therein and be made a party to such proceedings, and the parties hereto do hereby 

consent to such intervention.  If any Lender shall not elect to intervene or become a party to such 

proceedings, the Lender shall receive notice of, and a copy of any award or decision made in, said 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             62 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

proceedings which shall be binding on all Lenders not intervening after the receipt of notice of the 

proceeding. 

(8) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any foreclosure, or any 

exercise of rights or remedies under any Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall not be deemed to violate 

this Agreement or require the consent of Lessor.  If Lender or its nominee or designee succeeds to 

the interest of Lessee under this Agreement (“Successor Lessee”), subject to Lender’s performance 

of Lessee’s obligations under this Agreement, this Agreement will continue in full force and effect.  

Thereupon, Lessor shall recognize the Successor Lessee and its rights thereunder and Lessor shall 

make full and complete attornment to Successor Lessee as substitute lessee upon the same terms, 

covenants and conditions as provided in this Agreement.   

(9) Nothing herein shall impose upon Lender any liability for the obligations of Lessee 

unless and until Lender takes title to the Demised Premises.  Neither the making of the loans 

pursuant to the CDE Loan Agreement, nor being a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement, nor 

the exercise by Lender of its rights under this Agreement or the Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall be 

deemed to make Lender a mortgagee-in-possession.  In the event that Successor Lessee shall 

acquire title to the Demised Premises, Successor Lessee shall have no obligation, nor incur any 

liability, beyond Successor Lessee’s then interest, if any, in the Demised Premises, and Lessor shall 

look exclusively to such interest, if any, of Successor Lessee in the Demised Premises for the 

payment and discharge of any obligations imposed upon Successor Lessee hereunder, and 

Successor Lessee is hereby released or relieved of any other liability hereunder.  Lessor agrees 

that, with respect to any money judgment which may be obtained or secured by Lessor against 

Successor Lessee, Lessor shall look solely to the estate or interest owned by Successor Lessee in 

the Demised Premises, and Lessor will not collect or attempt to collect any such judgment out of 

any other assets of Successor Lessee.  Lessor agrees that, if Successor Lessee shall succeed to the 

interest of Lessee under this Agreement, Successor Lessee shall not be: 

(a) liable for any prior act or omission of Lessee or any prior tenant, or for 

consequential damages arising therefrom, provided, however, that nothing herein shall be deemed 

to release Successor Lessee from any obligation under the Agreement arising during Successor 

Lessee’s ownership of the Demised Premises; or 

(b) subject to any claims or defenses which Lessor might have as to Lessee, provided, 

however, that nothing herein shall be deemed to limit Successor Lessee’s obligation to perform all 

obligations of Lessee under this Agreement during Successor Lessee’s ownership of the Demised 

Premises; or 

(c) bound by any amendments or modifications of this Agreement made without 

Lender’s or Successor Lessee’s prior written consent. 

(10) Lessee may delegate irrevocably to a Lender the authority to exercise all of Lessee’s 

rights hereunder, but no such delegation shall be binding upon Lessor unless and until either Lessee 

or said Lender gives to Lessor a true copy of a written instrument effecting such delegation.  Such 

delegation of authority may be affected by the terms of the Leasehold Deed of Trust itself, in which 

case the service upon Lessor of a true copy of the Leasehold Deed of Trust in accordance with this 

Article, together with a written notice specifying the provision therein which delegates such 

authority to said Lender, shall be sufficient to give Lessor notice of such delegation. 

(11) Any Lender may at the time of any damage or destruction to the Demised Premises 

or any machinery, fixtures or equipment therein, by fire or otherwise, at its sole cost and expense, 

repair the same or construct new buildings, as the case may be, in accordance with the plans and 

specifications approved by each such Lender, and in such event, if the Lender repairs or constructs 

in accordance herewith, it shall be subrogated to the rights of Lessee to all insurance proceeds 

payable as a result of such damage or destruction. 

(12) Lessor agrees that the name of any Lender may be added as a named insured or to 

the “loss payable endorsement” or named under a standard mortgagee clause of all insurance 

policies required to be carried by Lessee hereunder on the condition that the insurance proceeds 

are to be applied in the manner specified in the Leasehold Deed of Trust in first lien position.  The 

proceeds of any insurance policies or arising from a condemnation are to be held by the Lender 

whose Leasehold Deed of Trust is prior in lien to any other Leasehold Deed of Trust, and 

distributed pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement and the CDE Loan Documents, but the 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             63 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Lender may reserve the right to apply all, or any part, of Lessee’s share of such proceeds to the 

Leasehold Deed of Trust debt pursuant to such Leasehold Deed of Trust before or in lieu of any 

required application of such proceeds hereunder. 

(13) Lessor hereby acknowledges that the Lenders may require estoppel certificates in 

substantially the form as attached hereto as Exhibit E (an “Estoppel Certificate”), consents, 

approvals or other written documentation from Lessor and from certain third parties that may from 

time to time have a property, regulatory or other interest in the Demised Premises in connection 

with any Leasehold Deed of Trust, and Lessor hereby agrees to (i) within twenty (20) days after 

written request, deliver all such documentation as Lessee or any Lender may reasonably require 

(including, but not limited to an Estoppel Certificate), provided that nothing therein materially 

adversely affects the rights of Lessor, and (ii) promptly cooperate with Lessee and any Lender 

holding Leasehold Deed of Trust in order to obtain any such written documentation from any such 

third parties.  It is understood that Lessor shall not be obligated to expend any funds or incur any 

liabilities in implementation of the foregoing, and Lessor shall be reimbursed by Lessee for all 

such out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in connection therewith. 

(14) As to Section VI.C., (i) each Lender shall be a third-party beneficiary hereof and 

(ii) such section shall be self-operative, and no further instrument is necessary. 

(15) For so long as the CDE Loan Agreement remains in effect, Lessee and Lessor shall 

provide such information as may be reasonably requested by the CDE Lender to comply with 

requirements of the CDFI Fund (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement) with respect to the Tax 

Credit data collection.  The Demised Premises shall be operated in a manner that satisfies and shall 

continue to satisfy all restrictions applicable to the Demised Premises and real property on which 

the Demised Premises is located and qualified businesses under Section 45D of the Code and 

Treasury Regulations (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement).  

D. New Lease.  If Lessor terminates this Agreement because of an event of default not 

cured by Lender or a foreclosure of Lessee’s interest in this Agreement, or if this Agreement is 

terminated for any other reason, or if this Agreement is rejected or disaffirmed pursuant to any 

bankruptcy, insolvency or other law affecting creditors’ rights, Lessor shall give written notice that 

such termination has occurred to each Lender of which Lessor has been informed.  In addition to 

any other rights the Lender may have hereunder, if, within forty-five (45) days after the receipt of 

such notice, such Lender shall have effected a cure of all monetary defaults of Lessee, and within 

one hundred eighty (180) days after the receipt of such notice such Lender shall have effected a 

cure of all non-monetary defaults of Lessee which are susceptible of cure by a third party within 

such period (expressly excluding breaches of personal covenant defaults of such Lessee, such as 

maintenance of organizational existence and the like), then such Lender may request a new lease 

for the entire Demised Premises on the same terms as this Agreement for the remaining balance of 

the term.  Lessor shall, within sixty (60) days thereafter, to the extent permitted by law, mutually 

execute and deliver a new lease of the Demised Premises with such Lender or to its respective 

nominee (the “New Lessee”), effective as of the date of execution of the new lease for what would 

have been, from the date of termination of this Agreement, the remainder of the term of this 

Agreement.  Such new lease shall contain the same provisions (including, but not limited to, 

extension provisions and any options in favor of Lessee) as would have been in effect for such 

remainder of the term pursuant to this Agreement.  Lessor will, at the request and at the sole cost 

and expense of such Lender, or respective nominee, cooperate, including in its name if reasonably 

required, in the prosecution of summary proceedings to evict Lessee or any other occupants of the 

Demised Premises.  Upon the execution and delivery of a new lease pursuant to this Section VI.D., 

the Demised Premises, and all subleases and other agreements pertaining to the Demised Premises 

which theretofore may have reverted to Lessor upon termination of this Agreement and which have 

not terminated shall be transferred to the extent transferable, without any warranty or recourse 

whatsoever, by Lessor to and assumed by New Lessee.  Any new lease made pursuant to this 

Section VI.D. shall be senior in priority with respect to any fee mortgage, if applicable, or other 

lien, charge or encumbrance, if any, on the fee simple title to the Demised Premises and/or Lessor’s 

reversionary interest in the Demised Premises.  Lessor shall cause each such fee mortgagee, 

judgment lienor or creditor, from time to time upon written request and without charge, to execute, 

acknowledge and deliver such instruments reasonably requested by a Lender to evidence the 

foregoing.  The provisions of this Section VI.D. shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 

E. Fee Mortgages.  Lessor shall have the right to convey, mortgage or encumber all or 

a portion of its leasehold interest in the Demised Premises and/or its interest in this Agreement 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             64 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

during the term of this Agreement (including without limitation a tenancy-in-common or other 

partial interest in the Demised Premises and/or this Agreement), without the prior written consent 

of Lessee, but only on the express conditions that (i) the lien of any such leasehold mortgage or 

leasehold deed of trust shall be subordinate to the leasehold interest of Lessee in the Demised 

Premises and other rights of Lessee (including extension options) created by this Agreement, as it 

may be extended, amended or otherwise modified from time to time (as well as any replacement 

lease for this Agreement entered into by a Lender pursuant to Section VI.D. above), (ii) the lien of 

any such leasehold mortgage or leasehold deed of trust shall be subordinate to the Leasehold Deed 

of Trust held by the CDE Lender and/or its successors and assigns, as it may be extended, amended 

or otherwise modified from time to time, and (iii) any transferee of Lessor’s leasehold interest in 

the Demised Premises and/or its interest in this Agreement during the term of this Agreement 

(including without limitation a tenancy-in-common or other partial interest in the Demised 

Premises and/or this Agreement) shall be bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

F. Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that pursuant to Section 57-105-1(7)(d) 

of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, this Agreement, the City Ground Lease, the 

Development Agreement and the Demised Premises are exempt from any limitation or 

requirements with respect to leasing, acquiring and/or constructing public property or facilities in 

the State of Mississippi.   

  VII. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 A. Representations and Warranties by Lessor.  Lessor represents and warrants 

to Lessee as follows: 

(1) Existence.  Lessor is a body corporate and politic and an urban renewal agency of 

the City of Jackson, Mississippi, and has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver, and 

perform this Agreement and transactions contemplated hereby. 

    (2) Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments contemplated by 

this Agreement to which Lessor is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, executed and 

delivered by Lessor and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessor enforceable 

in accordance with their terms.  All requisite action of Lessor has been taken to authorize the 

execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions contemplated hereby. 

(3) Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this 

Agreement and the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby do not and will not 

violate the Act nor any note, bond, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument to which 

Lessor is a party or by which it is bound. 

(4) Environmental.  To the best or its knowledge, between the issuance of the 

Environmental Reports and the Commencement Date, Lessor has not released or caused or 

permitted to be released on or from the Property any Hazardous Materials in violation of any 

Environmental Laws (as such terms are defined in the Operating Lease). 

(5) Liens and Encumbrances.  As of the Commencement Date, no liens encumber or 

have been filed against the Demised Premises (other than the CDE Lender Deed of Trust in favor 

of the CDE Lenders) and all work performed as of the Commencement Date has been paid in full 

and no person or entity has a claim against Lessor for nonpayment of the same. 

 B. Representations and Warranties by Lessee.  Lessee represents and warrants 

to Lessor as follows: 

 (1) Existence.  Lessee is a nonprofit corporation, duly organized and validly 

existing in good standing under the laws of the State of Mississippi and has all requisite power and 

authority to execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and the transactions contemplated 

hereby. 

 (2) Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments 

contemplated by this Agreement to which Lessee is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, 

executed, and delivered by Lessee and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessee 

enforceable in accordance with their terms.  All requisite organizational action of Lessee has been 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             65 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

taken to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

 (3) Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this 

Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not 

violate the Articles of Incorporation of Lessee as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of 

Mississippi on __________, ___, or the Bylaws of Lessee adopted on _______, 20__, nor any 

note, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessee is a party or by which it is 

bound. 

VIII.  LESSEE QUALIFICATION AS EXEMPT ORGANIZATION UNDER SECTION 

501(c)(3) OF THE CODE 

 Lessee has made an application with the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) to 

request qualification as an exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.  Lessee 

agrees to pursue qualification as a 501(c)(3) exempt organization under the provisions of the Code.  

If the application for 501(c)(3) exempt organization status is delayed or denied based on the 

application submitted by Lessee, Lessee agrees to provide for any reasonable changes in such 

application (or with respect to its organizational structure) as may be required by the IRS for Lessee 

to be approved as a 501(c)(3) exempt organization. 

IX. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

A. Event of Default.  In the event of default by any party of any of its covenants or 

conditions contained in this Agreement, the defaulting party shall be given notice citing the 

default(s) and allowing it thirty (30) days from such notice to cure such breach.  If the defaulting 

party has diligently commenced work to cure such breach during such thirty (30) day period but 

additional time is needed to cure such breach, the non-defaulting party may grant the defaulting 

party an extension of thirty (30) days, in its discretion.  If the defaulting party has failed to cure 

the breach within sixty (60) days from the date of non-defaulting party’s notice of such breach, 

and provided Lender has not cured Lessee’s breach pursuant to the provisions hereof, the non-

defaulting party may proceed in accordance with Section IX.B. below.  Any notice of default to, 

or opportunity to cure in favor of, Lessee under this Section IX.A. shall simultaneously be provided 

to Lender in accordance with Section VI.C. above. 

B. Remedies.  Upon a default by Lessee under Section IX.A. above, subject to the 

rights of any Lender, Lessor may exercise any remedies available to it at law or equity other than 

terminating this Agreement.  Lessee hereby acknowledges that equitable remedies are appropriate 

under this Agreement, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessor’s remedies shall 

include: (i) appointment of a receiver to operate the Demised Premises; or (ii) specific 

performance.  The remedies, rights and privileges of Lessor in case of default of Lessee as 

enumerated above shall not be exclusive; and, in addition thereto, Lessor may exercise and enforce 

all rights in law and in equity which it may otherwise have because of said default.  In the event 

of a default by Lessor under Section IX.A. above, Lessee may exercise and enforce all rights in 

law and in equity which it may otherwise have because of said default.  

 C. Waiver of Rights, Remedies and Relief.  No delay or failure of either party 

to exercise any power or right hereunder, or under a similar agreement with third parties, shall 

operate as a waiver of any right, remedy or relief which either party is entitled; and such rights, 

remedies and relief shall be deemed continuous; nor shall a partial exercise preclude the party from 

full exercise thereof.   

D. Forbearance During Term of CDE Loans.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 

contrary, Lessor shall forbear from exercising any of its remedies under this Agreement for so long 

as the CDE Loans remain outstanding. 

X. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

A. Notices.  Any notices or other communications hereunder shall be deemed to have 

been given when delivered personally, sent by electronic transmission (with confirmation receipt) 

to the following telephone numbers, or if deposited in the United States Mail, registered or 

certified, with proper postage and registration or certification fees prepaid, upon delivery by the 

post office addressed to the following addresses: 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             66 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

TO LESSOR: 

 

Jackson Redevelopment Authority 

__________________ 

__________________ 

Attention:  ______________ 

Facsimile: (601) ______________ 

E-mail:  __________________   

  

 with a copy to: 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS 39157 

Attention:  Jet Hollingsworth 

 Facsimile: (601) 985-4500 

 E-mail: jet.hollingsworth@butlersnow.com 

 and to: 

____________________ 

____________________ 

____________________ 

Attention:  ________________ 

Facsimile:  (___) ____________ 

E-mail:  _______________________ 

  

 

TO LESSEE: 

 

JRA Public Benefit Corporation 

________________ 

________________ 

Attention:  President, Board of Directors 

Facsimile: (___) ___-_____ 

E-mail:  ________________  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             67 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

with a copy to: 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS 39157 

Attention:  _____________ 

Facsimile: (601) 985-4500 

 E-mail: _________________  

 and to: 

____________________ 

____________________ 

____________________ 

Attention:  ________________ 

Facsimile: (___) ____________ 

E-mail:  _______________________ 

 

AND TO THE CDE LENDERS AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES AT THE 

ADDRESSES SET FORTH ON EXHIBIT F. 

or such other addresses as may be designated by any of the parties from time to time by 

written notice given to the other party in the aforesaid manner. 

B. Assignment.  This Agreement and all rights pertaining hereto, and obligations 

hereunder may be assigned by Lessor or Lessee at any time only with the written consent of the 

other party, which consent will not unreasonably be withheld, conditioned or delayed.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) Lessee may encumber and assign its leasehold interest in this 

Agreement under a Leasehold Deed of Trust, and any successor in interest thereto, pursuant to 

Section VI.C.(1) without the consent of Lessor and (ii) Lessee may assign or transfer this 

Agreement to a Lender at any time in connection with Lender’s exercise of its remedies pursuant 

to the applicable Leasehold Deed of Trust.  Other than as specifically permitted herein, this 

Agreement shall not be assigned by Lessee to any other party. 

C. Binding Effect.  The terms and provisions hereof shall be binding upon and shall 

inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, 

successors, and assigns. 

D. Brokerage Commissions.  Each party represents and warrants to the other party that 

such warranting party has not incurred any obligation to pay any brokerage commissions by reason 

of the transaction contemplated hereunder.  Each party shall be responsible for all loss, cost, 

damage, expense and liability whatsoever based upon any such commitment by such other party. 

E. Applicable Laws.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties 

hereunder shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Mississippi.  To the extent any provision of this Agreement is not enforceable under Mississippi 

law, such provision shall be modified, deleted or deemed invalid to the extent it is either not 

authorized by or inconsistent with the laws of the State of Mississippi, including the opinions of 

the Mississippi Attorney General. 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             68 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

F.     Memorandum of Ground Lease.  Lessor and Lessee shall sign, acknowledge and 

deliver a memorandum of ground lease in the form attached as Exhibit D for purposes of recording, 

where permitted by law.  The memorandum of ground lease may not, under any circumstances, be 

interpreted to amend any of the provisions of this Agreement which will, in all circumstances, 

govern and control. 

G.        Further Assurances.  Each party hereby agrees to execute all such further instruments 

and documents, and to take all such further action as any other party may reasonably require to 

give effect to the provisions and purpose of this Agreement. 

H. Agreement Interpretation.  This Agreement has been freely and fairly negotiated by 

the parties hereto and has been reviewed and discussed by legal counsel for each of the parties, 

each of whom has had the full opportunity to modify the draftsmanship hereof and, therefore, the 

terms of this Agreement shall be construed and interpreted without any presumption or other rule 

requiring construction or interpretation against the interest of the party causing this Agreement to 

be drafted. 

I. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same 

agreement.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by 

telecopier, facsimile machine, portable document format (“PDF”), Electronic Signature (as defined 

below) or other electronic means shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed 

counterpart of this Agreement.  The effectiveness of any such documents and signatures shall, 

subject to applicable laws, have the same force and effect as manually signed originals and shall 

be binding on the parties.  “Electronic Signature” means any symbol or process attached to a 

document or instrument and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign the document 

or instrument, including, without limitation, any digital representation of a party’s signature 

created by scanning such party’s signature or by any electronic signature service such as DocuSign. 

J. Joint and Several Liability.  If Lessor or Lessee consists of more than one person or 

entity, the obligations and liabilities of each such person or entity hereunder shall be joint and 

several.  

K. No Merger of Estates.  The interests of Lessor and Lessee in the Demised Premises 

shall at all times be separate and apart, and shall in no event be merged, notwithstanding the fact 

that the leasehold estate, or any interest therein, may be held directly or indirectly by or for the 

account of any person who shall own Lessor’s reversionary interest, or any portion thereof; and no 

such merger of estates shall occur by operation of law, or otherwise, unless and until all persons at 

the time having any interest in the Demised Premises, including any Lender, shall join in the 

execution of a written instrument effecting such merger of estates. 

L. Instrumentality.  Lessee is a governmental “instrumentality” of Lessor (a political 

subdivision of the State of Mississippi), in compliance with the guidance provided by the IRS in 

Revenue Ruling 57-128, 1957-1 C.B. 311.  Lessee will take all necessary actions to meet the 

requirements of an “instrumentality” of Lessor under the provisions of the Code and the 

regulations promulgated thereunder, including, but not limited to, making covenants and 

certifications in connection therewith. 

[Signature page follows] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Ground Lease Agreement to be 

duly executed as of the Effective Date.  

LESSOR: 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

By:        

_____________ 

LESSEE: 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             69 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, 

a Mississippi nonprofit corporation  

 

 

By: __________ 

President, Board of Directors 

  

EXHIBIT A 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

WIP 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

IMPROVEMENTS 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

MEMORANDUM OF GROUND LEASE 

 

(attached behind) 

EXHIBIT E 

 

FORM OF ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 

[Date] 

[Addressee] 

 

Re: Ground Lease Agreement dated ________, 2023 (as amended from time to time, 

the “Lease”) by and between Jackson Redevelopment Authority (the “Lessor”) and JRA Public 

Benefit Corporation (“Lessee”) with respect to certain premises in Hinds County, Mississippi (the 

“Property”) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             70 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 This Estoppel Certificate is being delivered in connection with a financing 

transaction the proceeds of which were used to develop and construct a new elementary school on 

the Property pursuant to that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated as of ________, 2023 (the 

“JRA Ground Lease”).  Lessee’s leasehold interest in the Property was pledged to Hope New 

Markets __, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company (the “Hope CDE Lender”) and Wells 

Fargo __, LLC, a ________ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE Lender” together with the 

Hope CDE Lender, the “CDE Lenders”), as collateral for the CDE Lenders’ loans under that certain 

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of ___________, 2023.  This Estoppel Certificate may be 

relied upon by the CDE Lenders, their successors and assigns, including a purchaser of an interest 

in any such loan, and any person claiming by or through the CDE Lender (each, a “Recipient”).  

Accordingly, Lessor and Lessee certify to and agree with each Recipient as of the date hereof as 

follows: 

1. The Lease is in full force and effect.  The Lease has not been amended, modified, 

supplemented, assigned, or extended, and is in full force and effect as of the date hereof.  There 

are no other agreements, whether written or oral, between Lessor and Lessee affecting the Property 

or Lessee’s obligation to pay rentals under the Lease.   

2. The term of the Lease commenced on ___________, 2023, and will expire on 

___________, 2073.   

3. Lessee acknowledges full receipt and satisfaction of all consideration contemplated 

or required by Section I.C.  Lessee has paid to Lessor all rent and other sums otherwise owed under 

the Lease as of the date hereof.   

4. There are no defaults or events that with the passage of time or notice would 

constitute a default by Lessor or Lessee under the Lease.  Lessor and Lessee are in full compliance 

with all of the terms, conditions and covenants of the Lease.  Lessor has no actual knowledge of 

any claims by others against Lessee relating to the Property or its use.  No event has occurred 

giving, and no state of facts exist which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, 

would give, Lessor the right to terminate the Lease.  As of this date, Lessor has no defenses or 

offsets against the full and complete enforcement of the Lease by Lessee or its predecessors, 

successors or assigns, including the CDE Lenders.   

5. All obligations under the Lease to be performed by either Lessor or Lessee prior to 

the date hereof have been satisfied, including but not limited to, any obligations of Lessee to make 

or pay for any improvements, alterations or work done on the Property, and all improvements or 

work required to be performed by Lessee have been completed in accordance with the Lease and 

have been accepted by Lessor.  

6. The address for notices to be sent to Lessor or Lessee is set forth in the Lease. 

7. If the CDE Lenders or their designees succeed to Lessee’s (or any successor to 

Lessee) interest in the Property or if a sale by power of sale or by judicial or non-judicial 

foreclosure occurs, Lessor agrees to attorn to and accept the CDE Lenders, their designees or a 

purchaser at such sale as its lessee under the Lease for the then remaining balance of the term 

thereof and Lessor shall be bound to such new lessee, in accordance with the all of the provisions 

of the Lease, for the remaining term of the Lease.  This attornment shall be self-operative. 

8. The undersigned individual hereby certifies that he or she is duly authorized to sign, 

acknowledge and deliver this Estoppel Certificate on behalf of Lessor or Lessee, as applicable.  If 

more than one party executes this Estoppel Certificate, each party shall be jointly and severally 

liable hereunder. 

9. Lessor acknowledges that (a) the CDE Lenders will rely on this Estoppel Certificate 

in making a loan or otherwise extending credit to Lessee and (b) each Recipient will rely on this 

Estoppel Certificate.  Lessor acknowledges that (a) the information contained in this Estoppel 

Certificate and the provisions hereof shall be for the benefit of each Recipient and (b) the 

provisions hereof shall also inure to the benefit of any lender making a loan secured by the direct 

or indirect interests in Lessee and/or the Property. 

[Signature page follows] 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             71 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Estoppel Certificate to be duly 

executed as of the Effective Date.  

LESSOR: 

 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 

By:        

____________ 

LESSEE: 

 

JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, 

a Mississippi nonprofit corporation  

 

By:   

_______________ 

President, Board of Directors 

 

EXHIBIT F 

 

ADDRESSES OF EACH LENDER AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES 

 

 

  

 

EXHIBIT H 

CITY GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement” or “City Ground Lease”), 

dated as of __________, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), is made between CITY OF JACKSON, 

MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi (“Lessor”), and JACKSON 

REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a body corporate and politic and the urban renewal agency 

of the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“Lessee”).   

W I T N E S S E T H 

WHEREAS, Lessor is the owner of fee simple owner of certain real property located at 

201 E. Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39201, and more particularly described on Exhibit A 

attached hereto (the “Property”); and 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             72 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, Lessor has determined that it is necessary and appropriate to lease the 

Property owned by Lessor and the improvements hereafter constructed thereon (including, but not 

limited to, the Improvements (as defined below)), as well as certain work in progress undertaken 

by Lessor as more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto (the “WIP”); and 

WHEREAS, on or about the Effective Date but following the execution of this Agreement, 

the Lessee will subsequently ground lease (the “JRA Ground Lease”) the Property, Improvements 

and WIP to the JRA Public Improvement Corporation, a Mississippi nonprofit corporation (the 

“QALICB”), with the understanding that QALICB, in cooperation with Lessee and Lessor, will 

continue to cause the development, repairing, improving, adorning and equipping the Russell C. 

Davis Planetarium and other authorized purposes with same including constructing, improving 

and paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways and public parking facilities on the 

Property, all as more fully described on Exhibit C attached hereto (collectively, the 

“Improvements,” and, together with the Property and the WIP, the “Demised Premises”) in 

accordance with the Development Agreement (as defined below) and the Plans and Specifications 

(as defined in the Development Agreement); and 

WHEREAS, Lessor, Lessee and QALICB have entered into that certain Development 

Services Agreement, dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, 

restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Development Agreement”) pursuant to 

which Lessor will cause the development and construction of the Improvements and QALICB will 

make turnkey development payments (the “Turnkey Payments”) using the proceeds of certain 

loans in the aggregate original principal amount of $[___________] (collectively, the “CDE 

Loans”) from  [Hope New Markets __, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company (the “HOPE 

CDE”) and Wells Fargo ___, LLC, a _________ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE” 

together with Hope CDE, the “CDE Lenders”], pursuant to that certain Loan and Security 

Agreement between QALICB, as borrower, and CDE Lenders, as lenders, dated as of the Effective 

Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, renewed modified or supplemented from 

time to time, the “CDE Loan Agreement”), and certain other ancillary documents (collectively and 

together with the CDE Loan Agreement, the “CDE Loan Documents”); and 

WHEREAS, QALICB (in its capacity as lessor under the Operating Lease (as defined 

below)) has agreed to lease the Demised Premises to Lessor (in its capacity as lessee under the 

Operating Lease), pursuant to that certain Lease Agreement dated as of the Effective Date, between 

Lessor and QALICB (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified or supplemented 

from time to time, the “Operating Lease”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and 

agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

I. LEASE OF THE DEMISED PREMISES  

 

A. General.  The intent of Lessor and Lessee is that Lessor shall lease to Lessee 

the Demised Premises.  Lessor hereby grants and leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby 

accepts, upon the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the Demised Premises to be 

used by Lessee to ground lease the Demised Premises to the QALICB pursuant to the JRA 

Ground Lease, finance the Demised Premises pursuant to the Development Agreement and 

ultimately lease to the Demised Premises to the Lessor for operations pursuant to the 

Operating Lease.  

 B. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on ____ __, 202_, 

subject to the performance of the parties of the terms and conditions hereof (the “Commencement 

Date”), and shall continue until _________ __, 2123 (the “Expiration Date”).  At the Expiration 

Date, Lessee shall surrender to Lessor the Demised Premises in good and clean condition (ordinary 

wear and tear excepted) and free of all personal property of Lessee; provided, however, that Lessee 

shall have no obligation to maintain any portion of the Demised Premises for the period beyond 

their economic useful life (determined as of the Commencement Date), and Lessee shall execute 

and deliver to Lessor any and all instruments and documents that Lessor reasonably requests to 

effectively transfer, assign, and convey the Demised Premises to Lessor, free of any encumbrances, 

excluding any Permitted Liens (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement). 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             73 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

C. Consideration.  Lessor hereby leases its interest in the Demised Premises to Lessee 

for the term of this Agreement with the understanding and agreement that, subject to the terms of 

the Development Agreement, Lessee and QALICB shall cause the Improvements to be constructed 

in accordance with the Plans and Specifications.  Lessor and Lessee agree that in exchange for the 

rights granted to Lessee under this Agreement, Lessee will ground lease the Demised Premises to 

the QALICB pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease and that QALICB, (i) using a portion of the 

proceeds of the CDE Loans, QALICB shall pay the Initial Turnkey Payment (as defined below) as 

set forth in Section I.G. below, (ii) using a portion of the proceeds of the CDE Loans, QALICB 

shall make the Turnkey Payments to Lessor pursuant to the terms of the Development Agreement 

to pay a portion of the costs to develop and construct the Improvements on the Property, and (iii) 

Lessor shall pay the remaining portion of the costs to develop and construct the Improvements on 

the Property, which upon completion shall be deemed a contribution in kind from Lessor to Lessee 

pursuant to this Agreement (the “Contribution”).  The amount of the Contribution is anticipated to 

be $[________________].   The Lessee will in turn make the Contribution of the remaining costs 

to the QALICB pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease. 

D. Utilities.  Lessor and Lessee agree, during the term of this Agreement, Lessee shall 

pay before delinquency, all charges for use of telephone, water, gas, heat, electricity, trash, sewer 

and all other utilities and services of whatever kind and nature which may be used in or upon the 

Demised Premises adequate for the intended purposes in full compliance with all governmental 

laws and regulations. 

E. Taxes.  Lessee shall pay all real estate taxes, special assessments and any other 

taxes, assessments or public charges levied or assessed by lawful authority against the Demised 

Premises attributable to the period during the term of this Agreement on or before the due date 

thereof, unless contested by Lessee in good faith.  Lessee shall have the right to contest, in good 

faith, by appropriate proceedings, the amount, applicability, or validity of any such taxes or 

assessments.  Lessee shall be responsible to pay its respective taxes on income and all its employee 

related taxes, if any, in connection with the operations of the Demised Premises.  As between 

Lessor and Lessee, Lessee has the exclusive right (but shall be under no obligation), at its expense, 

to endeavor at any time or times to obtain a reduction in the assessed valuation of the Demised 

Premises, or any part thereof, for the purpose of reducing the real estate taxes, including the right 

to prosecute administrative and/or judicial proceedings and judicial review and appeal of any 

decision which Lessee, in its sole discretion, considers adverse, and the right to settle or 

compromise any such proceedings.  Lessor will offer no objection and, at the request of Lessee, 

will cooperate with Lessee, without cost or expense to Lessor, in effecting such a reduction.  Lessee 

shall be authorized to collect any tax refund payable because of any proceeding Lessee may 

institute, and any such tax refund shall be the property of Lessee, to the extent to which it is based 

on a payment made by Lessee.   

So long as the Operating Lease is in effect, the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that 

the leasehold interest in the Demised Premises under this Agreement shall be exempt from ad 

valorem taxes pursuant to Mississippi law, including Section 27-31-1(b) of the Mississippi Code 

of 1972, as amended. 

F. Quiet Enjoyment.  As long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its 

obligations hereunder exists, Lessor covenants and agrees that Lessee shall and may peaceably 

have, hold, and enjoy the occupancy and use of the Demised Premises to the extent provided herein 

free from molestation, eviction or disturbance by Lessor or any other persons or legal entity 

whatsoever, and as long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its obligations hereunder 

exists, and upon expiration or termination of the JRA Ground Lease and the Operating Lease, the 

parties hereto acknowledge and agree that Lessee shall have the right to occupy, use and operate 

the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement for any use permitted by law without any 

disturbance or restriction by Lessor or any other persons.  As long as no default by Lessee in the 

performance of its obligations hereunder exists, and upon expiration or termination of the JRA 

Ground Lease and the Operating Lease, Lessor hereby covenants that, should Lessee determine 

that any easements are necessary in order for Lessee to occupy, use and operate the Demised 

Premises for the term of this Agreement, Lessor shall grant to Lessee any easements and shall take 

any other action available to Lessor that may be required in order to allow Lessee to occupy, use 

and operate the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement. 

G. Initial Turnkey Payment; Turnkey Payments. The parties acknowledge that Lessor 

has incurred costs in the total amount of $[__________] in connection with the WIP.  As part of 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             74 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

the consideration to lease the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement as provided in 

Section C. above, Lessee shall require QALICB (pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease) to pay to 

Lessor the amount of $[____________] (the “Initial Turnkey Payment”), payable on or before the 

date hereof in one initial upfront installment.  The Initial Turnkey Payment shall be made directly 

to Lessee pursuant to the Flow of Funds Memorandum (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement).     

The parties acknowledge that pursuant to the Development Agreement, it is anticipated that 

Lessor will incur additional costs in the amount of $[_____________], in connection with the 

development and construction of a portion of the Improvements.  As part of the consideration to 

lease the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement as provided in Section C. above, Lessee 

shall require QALICB (pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease) to pay to Lessor the Turkey Payments, 

payable as set forth in the Development Agreement.  The parties hereto acknowledge and agree 

that the foregoing transactions will be classified for federal income tax purposes as set forth in 

Section VI.B. below.  

Further, Lessor agrees to allow the Construction Parties (as defined in the Development 

Agreement) to access the Demised Premises for the purposes of completing the work contemplated 

under the Development Agreement. 

H. Development Agreement.  Lessor and Lessee shall observe all requirements, terms 

and conditions of the Development Agreement.  To the extent reasonably necessary, and without 

violating the laws of the State of Mississippi, Lessor and Lessee shall cooperate with each other to 

obtain the required permits, approvals, and authorizations for the construction of the Improvements 

in accordance with this Agreement, including by joining in applications for building permits, 

subdivision plat approvals, certificates of dedication, public works or other agreements, utility 

easements, permits for sewer, water and other utility services, and the dedication to the applicable 

governmental authorities of such title to or easements for utility, roadway and slope or storm 

drainage areas or facilities as are reasonably necessary or desirable. 

II.  CONSTRUCTION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS  

  A. Construction of the Improvements.  Lessor shall cause the Improvements to 

be constructed on the Property in accordance with the Plans and Specifications and the terms and 

conditions of the Development Agreement.  Pursuant to the Development Agreement, Lessee has 

appointed QALICB to provide for, or cause to be provided for, the complete construction of the 

Improvements. 

 B. QALICB to Bear a Portion of Construction Costs.  QALICB is financing a 

portion of the costs to complete the construction of the Improvements on the Property pursuant to 

the CDE Loan Documents.  Turnkey Payments for a portion of the costs of construction of the 

Improvements shall be made from the moneys which shall be disbursed for this purpose in 

accordance and upon compliance with the CDE Loan Agreement and as provided for under the 

Development Agreement, the JRA Ground Lease and this Agreement.  

 

III. LIENS 

Lessee shall not create or allow a lien or claim of any kind to be filed or claimed against 

Lessor’s interest in the Demised Premises during the continuance of this Agreement, except to the 

extent that the creation of such lien or liens is specifically authorized by a provision in this 

Agreement, the CDE Loan Agreement, or the written consent of Lessor.  If any prohibited lien is 

claimed or filed because of any act or omission by Lessee, its employees, subcontractors, or agents, 

Lessee shall cause the Demised Premises to be released from the claim within 30 days after Lessor 

is given written notice of the claim and transmits written notice of its receipt to Lessee, whichever 

30-day period expires earlier.  Lessee will cause such release either by paying to the court the 

amount necessary to relieve and release the Demised Premises from such claim, or in any other 

manner which, as a matter of law, will result, within the 30-day period, in releasing Lessor and its 

title from the claim. 

IV. INSURANCE; DESTRUCTION OR CONDEMNATION 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             75 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 A. Insurance.  From and after any earlier date when Lessee, or City pursuant 

to the Operating Lease, makes actual use of and occupies the Demised Premises or any part of it, 

Lessee shall cause QALICB to hold a written a policy or policies of insurance in the form generally 

known as public liability policies.  The policies shall insure QALICB against all claims and 

demands made by any person or persons for injuries received in connection with the operating and 

maintenance of the Demised Premises and for any other risk insured against by such policies.  Each 

class of policies shall be written within limits of not less than $500,000 for damages incurred or 

claimed by any one person for bodily injury, or otherwise, and damages to property or as otherwise 

required under the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents.  All such policies 

shall name Lessee, Lessor, QALICB and each Lender (as defined below), as their respective 

interests may appear, as the insured persons.  Lessee shall promptly deliver the original or a 

duplicate original of each policy or policies to Lessor and each CDE Lender as soon as they are 

written, together with adequate evidence of the fact that the premiums are paid. 

 B. Lessee’s Insurance Obligation.  From and after the time this Agreement 

commences, Lessee will keep insured or cause QALICB to be kept insured all buildings and 

improvements upon the Property against all loss or damage by fire and windstorm, together with 

“extended coverage.”  The amount of insurance shall at all times be sufficient to prevent any party 

in interest from being or becoming a co-insurer on any part of the risk, and shall not be less than 

80 percent of the full insurable value.  All such policies shall name Lessee, Lessor, QALICB and 

each Lender, as their respective interests may appear, as the insured persons.  Without limiting the 

foregoing, for so long as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, Lessee shall maintain or cause 

QALICB to maintain in full force and effect such insurance coverages as are required to be 

maintained under the CDE Loan Agreement. 

 C. Insurance Premiums.  Lessee shall pay or cause QALICB to pay premiums 

for all of the insurance policies it is required to carry under the terms of this Agreement, and shall 

deliver to Lessor and each Lender evidence of such payment before the payment of any premiums 

become in default.  Lessee shall also cause QALICB to make renewals of expiring policies to be 

written and the policies or copies thereof, as required by this Agreement, to be delivered to Lessor 

and each Lender as it may request. 

 D. Destruction or Damage.  If during the term of this Agreement, all or any 

portion of the Demised Premises is destroyed or damaged as the result of fire, windstorm, or other 

casualty, Lessee shall immediately notify the applicable insurers; Lessor, QALICB and each 

Lender of the destruction or damage, and QALICB, at its expense or at the expense of any lessee 

under the Operating Lease, shall repair or replace or cause to be repaired or replaced the destroyed 

or damaged Demised Premises.  Unless otherwise required by the CDE Loan Agreement or any 

other CDE Loan Document, the proceeds of all insurance maintained by Lessee or QALICB on 

the Demised Premises shall be applied in accordance with the CDE Loan Agreement and the other 

CDE Loan Documents, and if no loan is outstanding that is secured by a lien on the Demised 

Premises, then applied: first, to pay the costs of clearing and restoring the Demised Premises; and 

second, to QALICB.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long as the CDE 

Loans remain outstanding, all insurance proceeds shall be applied in accordance with the CDE 

Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

 

 E.  Condemnation.  If all or any portion of the Property is taken for any public 

or quasi-public use under any governmental law, ordinance, or regulation, or by right of eminent 

domain or private purchase, the following provisions shall apply: 1) subject to the rights of each 

CDE Lender under the Leasehold Deed of Trust, QALICB shall receive that part of any award or 

compensation that is attributable to the fair market value of QALICB’s leasehold estate in the 

Property, including leasehold improvements, together with any severance damages determined by 

a court of competent jurisdiction, and 2) Lessor shall receive that part of any award of 

compensation that is attributable to the fair market value of Lessor’s estate in the Property 

(including the reversionary interest).  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long 

as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, all condemnation proceeds shall be applied in accordance 

with the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

V. REPAIR OBLIGATIONS 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             76 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 During the continuance of this Agreement, Lessee shall keep or cause the QALICB 

to keep under the JRA Ground Lease to keep in good state of repair and in commercially reasonable 

condition the Demised Premises (reasonable wear and tear excepted).  Lessee shall, or cause 

QALICB to, promptly repair, at its expense and in a manner reasonably acceptable to Lessor, any 

damage to Lessor’s property or to the property of others caused by Lessee, QALICB or its 

managers, officers, agents, employees, or contractors.  Lessee or a lessee under the JRA Ground 

Lease or lessee under the Operating Lease shall not suffer or permit any strip, waste, or neglect of 

the Demised Premises to be committed.  Lessee shall, or cause QALICB to, repair, replace, and 

renovate the Demised Premises as often as necessary to keep the Demised Premises in repair and 

condition suitable for public elementary school education standards.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, Lessee shall have no obligation to maintain any portion of the Demised Premises for 

the period beyond their useful life (determined as of the Commencement Date). 

  Lessor and Lessee agree that on the commencement date of the Operating Lease, 

Lessor shall assume all responsibilities and liabilities to operate and maintain the Demised 

Premises in conformity with the provisions contained herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

Lessor (in its capacity as Lessee under the Operating Lease) shall have no obligation to maintain 

any portion of the Demised Premises for the period beyond their useful life (determined as of the 

Commencement Date).    

VI. SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

G. Compliance with New Markets Tax Credits.  Lessee acknowledges that the 

Improvements to be constructed upon the Property by Lessor will be financed utilizing federal 

New Markets Tax Credits (the “Tax Credits”) authorized under Section 45D of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),  and both Lessee and Lessor agree that no action 

shall be taken by any party without the written consent of all parties that would in any way 

jeopardize or threaten the validity of the Tax Credits during the seven (7) year period wherein such 

credits are subject to recapture under Section 45D(g) of the Code.  During the term of the CDE 

Loan Agreement, neither Lessor nor Lessee shall be entitled to use, nor permit the use of, the 

Demised Premises for any Excluded Activity or Business (as defined in the CDE Loan 

Agreement). 

H. Transfer of Ownership for Federal Income Tax Purposes.  Notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Lessor and Lessee hereby agree and 

acknowledge that, notwithstanding the form of this transaction as a lease for local and state law 

purposes, it is the intent of each that this transaction be treated as a sale or grant of the Demised 

Premises from Lessor to Lessee, and for Lessee to be treated as the owner of the Demised Premises, 

for federal income tax purposes.  For Federal income tax and accounting purposes, Lessor 

recognizes and shall continue to recognize (i) Lessee as the owner of the Demised Premises 

pursuant to this Agreement, and (ii) this Agreement as transferring ownership to Lessee; Lessor 

and Lessee agree that neither shall take any tax reporting position to the contrary.  In furtherance 

and not in limitation of the foregoing, Lessor and Lessee agree that (i) to the greatest extent 

possible, the risk of loss and the benefits of profit and appreciation with respect to the Demised 

Premises shall reside with Lessee, (iii) it is not Lessor’s intent to realize any meaningful residual 

value from the Demised Premises on or after the date hereof, except as a lessee under the Operating 

Lease, and (iv) Lessee alone shall be entitled to all of the tax attributes of ownership of the Demised 

Premises, including, without limitation, the right to claim depreciation or cost recovery deductions. 

I. Ground Lease Pledged to Lenders. 

(16) Pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease, Lessee shall provide QALICB the right to 

mortgage and otherwise encumber this Agreement and Lessee’s leasehold interest, in whole or in 

part, by one or more leasehold deed of trusts, including, but not limited to, the CDE Lender Deed 

of Trust (as defined below) (a “Leasehold Deed of Trust”) to any person or entity.  Any Leasehold 

Deed of Trust shall not constitute a lien on Lessor’s fee interest in the Property.  No holder of any 

such Leasehold Deed of Trust (together with the CDE Lenders, a “Lender”) shall be liable for 

performance of any of the covenants and obligations of Lessee under this Agreement, except 

during any period from and after such Lender’s actual possession of, and exercise of Lessee’s 

rights with respect to the Demised Premises.  Lessor consents to QALICB’s assignment of rents 

in and to the Demised Premises to a Lender, and for a Lender in any action that relates in any 

manner to foreclose of its Leasehold Deed of Trust and/or exercise its assignment or rents, to be 

entitled to the appointment of a receiver.  QALICB shall have the right to assign insurance proceeds 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             77 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

to a Lender and Lessor acknowledges that the application of any insurance or condemnation 

proceeds shall be controlled by the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

(17) Lessor acknowledges that Lessee will enter into the JRA Ground Lease and that 

QALICB will enter into the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents, pursuant 

to which the CDE Lenders will make the CDE Loans, the proceeds of which will be used by 

QALICB to make the Turnkey Payments in connection with the development and construction of 

the Improvements and the other permitted uses provided in the CDE Loan Documents.  Lessor 

further acknowledges and agrees that Lessee’s leasehold interest hereunder has been ground leased 

to the QALICB pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease and the QALICB’s leasehold interest has been 

pledged to the CDE Lender as collateral for the CDE Loans under the CDE Loan Agreement, 

pursuant to that certain Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security 

Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of the Effective Date made by Lessee in favor of the CDE 

Lenders (the “CDE Lenders’ Deed of Trust”).  Lessor hereby consents to the CDE Lender Deed of 

Trust, the CDE Loan Documents and all of the terms thereof.  The CDE Lenders shall be a Lender 

for all purposes hereunder and the CDE Lenders’ Deed of Trust shall be a Leasehold Deed of Trust 

for all purposes hereunder. 

(18) Lessor agrees not to accept a voluntary: (a) surrender, (b) termination or (c) 

amendment of this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the JRA Ground Lease or the 

Operating Lease by Lessee, at any time while a Leasehold Deed of Trust shall remain a lien on 

QALICB’s leasehold interest, without the prior written consent of the applicable CDE Lenders. 

(19) If Lessee or Lessor fails to keep, observe or perform any of the terms of this 

Agreement required to be kept, observed or performed by it, in addition to any notice to Lessee or 

Lessor, required hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as applicable, shall give written notice of such failure 

to each Lender in accordance with the notice provisions contained herein.  No notice of a failure 

or other default by Lessor or Lessee under or with respect to this Agreement shall be deemed to 

have been duly given unless and until a copy thereof has been so served on each Lender.  Lessor 

and Lessee agree to accept performance by any Lender with the same force and effect as though 

kept, observed or performed by Lessee or Lessor, as applicable.  Such Lender shall have the same 

right as Lessee or Lessor to enter the Demised Premises for the express purpose of keeping, 

observing or performing such terms.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, 

Lessor and Lessee agree that in the event of a default under this Agreement that would give Lessor 

or Lessee the right, immediately or after the lapse of a period of time, to cancel or terminate this 

Agreement or exercise any of its other rights or remedies hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as 

applicable, shall not exercise such right unless and until (a) Lessor or Lessee has given written 

notice to each Lender of such default, act or omission, (b) Lessor or Lessee has given each Lender 

an opportunity to cure, and (c) such Lender or its designee has failed to cure or remedy the default, 

act or omission within thirty (30) days after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in 

the case of a default in the due and punctual payment of any taxes, insurance premiums or other 

charges or monetary amounts required to be paid under this Agreement and within sixty (60) days 

after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in the case of a failure to observe or perform 

any other material terms of this Agreement to be observed or performed by Lessee, and if such 

default cannot with due diligence and good faith be cured within such sixty (60) day period, then 

such longer period of time as may be reasonably necessary, not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) 

days. 

(20) Any Lender which cures a default shall be subrogated to all of rights of Lessor 

against Lessee with respect to such default. 

(21) In addition to any rights and remedies a Lender may have pursuant to a Leasehold 

Deed of Trust or under any other applicable documents governing the terms of Lessee’s and such 

Lender’s agreements with respect to the Demised Premises, if a default exists under this 

Agreement, Lessor shall not terminate this Agreement or take any steps to obtain control or 

possession of the Demised Premises if, within a period not in excess of ninety (90) days following 

Lessor’s written notice to such Lender of the occurrence of such default, the Lender (a) commences 

foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings or is taking other steps to obtain control or possession 

of the Demised Premises and, (b) makes payment of all past due amounts, and is making payment 

of all sums due Lessor, when due, and (c) if such default is reasonably susceptible to cure by such 

Lender (taking into account, among other things, such Lender not being in possession), is taking 

reasonable steps to cure same, in which event, such Lender, upon appropriate notice to Lessor, 

shall have the right: (i) to acquire by foreclosure proceedings or other appropriate steps Lessee’s 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             78 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

interest in this Agreement, and (ii) to remove Lessee from the Demised Premises.  Such Lender 

shall not be required to institute foreclosure proceedings if it is able to acquire and does acquire 

Lessee’s leasehold interest by any other legal means, including, without limitation, voluntary 

assignment.  Lessor agrees that if by reason of a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar type proceeding, 

or by reason of any other judicial order or legislative enactment, the Lender shall be stayed from 

commencing (or if commenced, from continuing) foreclosure proceedings or other appropriate 

steps, then the Lender shall be deemed to be prosecuting such proceedings with diligence and 

continuously so long as it is in good faith attempting to obtain relief from any such stay.  

(22) Any Lender shall be given prompt notice by Lessor and Lessee of any legal 

proceedings by the parties hereto involving obligations under this Agreement, and shall have the 

right to intervene therein and be made a party to such proceedings, and the parties hereto do hereby 

consent to such intervention.  If any Lender shall not elect to intervene or become a party to such 

proceedings, the Lender shall receive notice of, and a copy of any award or decision made in, said 

proceedings which shall be binding on all Lenders not intervening after the receipt of notice of the 

proceeding. 

(23) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any foreclosure, or any 

exercise of rights or remedies under any Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall not be deemed to violate 

this Agreement or require the consent of Lessor.   

(24) Nothing herein shall impose upon Lender any liability for the obligations of Lessee 

unless and until Lender takes title to the Demised Premises.  Neither the making of the loans 

pursuant to the CDE Loan Agreement, nor being a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement, nor 

the exercise by Lender of its rights under this Agreement or the Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall be 

deemed to make Lender a mortgagee-in-possession.   

(25) Lessor agrees that the name of any Lender may be added as a named insured or to 

the “loss payable endorsement” or named under a standard mortgagee clause of all insurance 

policies required to be carried or caused to be carried by Lessee hereunder on the condition that 

the insurance proceeds are to be applied in the manner specified in the Leasehold Deed of Trust in 

first lien position.  The proceeds of any insurance policies or arising from a condemnation are to 

be held by the Lender whose Leasehold Deed of Trust is prior in lien to any other Leasehold Deed 

of Trust, and distributed pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, the JRA Ground Lease and 

the CDE Loan Documents, but the Lender may reserve the right to apply all, or any part, of 

Lessee’s share of such proceeds to the Leasehold Deed of Trust debt pursuant to such Leasehold 

Deed of Trust before or in lieu of any required application of such proceeds hereunder. 

(26) Lessor hereby acknowledges that the Lenders may require estoppel certificates in 

substantially the form as attached hereto as Exhibit E (an “Estoppel Certificate”), consents, 

approvals or other written documentation from Lessor and from certain third parties that may from 

time to time have a property, regulatory or other interest in the Demised Premises in connection 

with any Leasehold Deed of Trust, and Lessor hereby agrees to (i) within twenty (20) days after 

written request, deliver all such documentation as Lessee or any Lender may reasonably require 

(including, but not limited to an Estoppel Certificate), provided that nothing therein materially 

adversely affects the rights of Lessor, and (ii) promptly cooperate with Lessee and any Lender 

holding Leasehold Deed of Trust in order to obtain any such written documentation from any such 

third parties.  It is understood that Lessor shall not be obligated to expend any funds or incur any 

liabilities in implementation of the foregoing, and Lessor shall be reimbursed by Lessee for all 

such out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in connection therewith. 

(27) As to Section VI.C., (i) each Lender shall be a third-party beneficiary hereof and 

(ii) such section shall be self-operative, and no further instrument is necessary. 

(28) For so long as the CDE Loan Agreement remains in effect, Lessee and Lessor shall 

provide such information as may be reasonably requested by the CDE Lender to comply with 

requirements of the CDFI Fund (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement) with respect to the Tax 

Credit data collection.  The Demised Premises shall be operated in a manner that satisfies and shall 

continue to satisfy all restrictions applicable to the Demised Premises and real property on which 

the Demised Premises is located and qualified businesses under Section 45D of the Code and 

Treasury Regulations (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement).  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             79 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

J. New Lease.  If Lessor terminates this Agreement because of an event of default not 

cured by Lender or a foreclosure of Lessee’s interest in this Agreement, or if this Agreement is 

terminated for any other reason, or if this Agreement is rejected or disaffirmed pursuant to any 

bankruptcy, insolvency or other law affecting creditors’ rights, Lessor shall give written notice that 

such termination has occurred to each Lender of which Lessor has been informed.  In addition to 

any other rights the Lender may have hereunder, if, within forty-five (45) days after the receipt of 

such notice, such Lender shall have effected a cure of all monetary defaults of Lessee, and within 

one hundred eighty (180) days after the receipt of such notice such Lender shall have effected a 

cure of all non-monetary defaults of Lessee which are susceptible of cure by a third party within 

such period (expressly excluding breaches of personal covenant defaults of such Lessee, such as 

maintenance of organizational existence and the like), then such Lender may request a new lease 

for the entire Demised Premises on the same terms as this Agreement for the remaining balance of 

the term.  Lessor shall, within sixty (60) days thereafter, to the extent permitted by law, mutually 

execute and deliver a new lease of the Demised Premises with such Lender or to its respective 

nominee (the “New Lessee”), effective as of the date of execution of the new lease for what would 

have been, from the date of termination of this Agreement, the remainder of the term of this 

Agreement.  Such new lease shall contain the same provisions (including, but not limited to, 

extension provisions and any options in favor of Lessee) as would have been in effect for such 

remainder of the term pursuant to this Agreement.  Lessor will, at the request and at the sole cost 

and expense of such Lender, or respective nominee, cooperate, including in its name if reasonably 

required, in the prosecution of summary proceedings to evict Lessee or any other occupants of the 

Demised Premises.  Upon the execution and delivery of a new lease pursuant to this Section VI.D., 

the Demised Premises, and all subleases and other agreements pertaining to the Demised Premises 

which theretofore may have reverted to Lessor upon termination of this Agreement and which have 

not terminated shall be transferred to the extent transferable, without any warranty or recourse 

whatsoever, by Lessor to and assumed by New Lessee.  Any new lease made pursuant to this 

Section VI.D. shall be senior in priority with respect to any fee mortgage, if applicable, or other 

lien, charge or encumbrance, if any, on the fee simple title to the Demised Premises and/or Lessor’s 

reversionary interest in the Demised Premises.  Lessor shall cause each such fee mortgagee, 

judgment lienor or creditor, from time to time upon written request and without charge, to execute, 

acknowledge and deliver such instruments reasonably requested by a Lender to evidence the 

foregoing.  The provisions of this Section VI.D. shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 

K. Fee Mortgages.  Lessor shall have the right to convey, mortgage or encumber all or 

a portion of its fee simple interest in the Demised Premises and/or its interest in this Agreement 

during the term of this Agreement (including without limitation a tenancy-in-common or other 

partial interest in the Demised Premises and/or this Agreement), without the prior written consent 

of Lessee, but only on the express conditions that (i) the lien of any such fee mortgage or deed of 

trust shall be subordinate to the leasehold interest of Lessee in the Demised Premises and other 

rights of Lessee (including extension options) created by this Agreement, as it may be extended, 

amended or otherwise modified from time to time (as well as any replacement lease for this 

Agreement entered into by a Lender pursuant to Section VI.D. above), (ii) the lien of any such fee 

mortgage or deed of trust shall be subordinate to the Leasehold Deed of Trust held by the CDE 

Lenders and/or its successors and assigns, as it may be extended, amended or otherwise modified 

from time to time, and (iii) any transferee of Lessor’s fee simple interest in the Demised Premises 

and/or its interest in this Agreement during the term of this Agreement (including without 

limitation a tenancy-in-common or other partial interest in the Demised Premises and/or this 

Agreement) shall be bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

L. Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that pursuant to Section 57-105-1(7)(d) 

of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, this Agreement, the JRA Ground Lease, the 

Development Agreement and the Demised Premises are exempt from any limitation or 

requirements with respect to leasing, acquiring and/or constructing public property or facilities in 

the State of Mississippi.   

VII. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 A. Representations and Warranties by Lessor.  Lessor represents and warrants 

to Lessee as follows: 

(6) Existence.  Lessor is a body corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi and 

has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and 

transactions contemplated hereby. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             80 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 (7) Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments contemplated by 

this Agreement to which Lessor is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, executed and 

delivered by Lessor and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessor enforceable 

in accordance with their terms.  All requisite action of Lessor has been taken to authorize the 

execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions contemplated hereby. 

(8) Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this 

Agreement and the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby do not and will not 

violate any note, bond, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessor is a party 

or by which it is bound. 

(9) Environmental.  To the best or its knowledge, between the issuance of the 

Environmental Reports and the Commencement Date, Lessor has not released or caused or 

permitted to be released on or from the Property any Hazardous Materials in violation of any 

Environmental Laws (as such terms are defined in the Operating Lease). 

(10) Liens and Encumbrances.  As of the Commencement Date, no liens encumber or 

have been filed against the Demised Premises (other than the CDE Lenders’ Deed of Trust in favor 

of the CDE Lenders) and all work performed as of the Commencement Date has been paid in full 

and no person or entity has a claim against Lessor for nonpayment of the same. 

 B. Representations and Warranties by Lessee.  Lessee represents and warrants 

to Lessor as follows: 

 (1) Existence.  Lessee is a body corporate and politic and the urban renewal 

agency of the City of Jackson, Mississippi, duly organized and validly existing in good standing 

under the laws of the State of Mississippi and has all requisite power and authority to execute, 

deliver, and perform this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. 

 (2) Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments 

contemplated by this Agreement to which Lessee is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, 

executed, and delivered by Lessee and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessee 

enforceable in accordance with their terms.  All requisite organizational action of Lessee has been 

taken to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

 (3) Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this 

Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not 

violate any note, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessee is a party or 

by which it is bound. 

VIII.  [RESERVED]. 

IX. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

C. Event of Default.  In the event of default by any party of any of its covenants or 

conditions contained in this Agreement, the defaulting party shall be given notice citing the 

default(s) and allowing it thirty (30) days from such notice to cure such breach.  If the defaulting 

party has diligently commenced work to cure such breach during such thirty (30) day period but 

additional time is needed to cure such breach, the non-defaulting party may grant the defaulting 

party an extension of thirty (30) days, in its discretion.  If the defaulting party has failed to cure 

the breach within sixty (60) days from the date of non-defaulting party’s notice of such breach, 

and provided Lender has not cured Lessee’s breach pursuant to the provisions hereof, the non-

defaulting party may proceed in accordance with Section IX.B. below.  Any notice of default to, 

or opportunity to cure in favor of, Lessee under this Section IX.A. shall simultaneously be provided 

to Lender in accordance with Section VI.C. above. 

D. Remedies.  Upon a default by Lessee under Section IX.A. above, subject to the 

rights of any Lender, Lessor may exercise any remedies available to it at law or equity other than 

terminating this Agreement.  Lessee hereby acknowledges that equitable remedies are appropriate 

under this Agreement, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessor’s remedies shall 

include: (i) appointment of a receiver to operate the Demised Premises; or (ii) specific 

performance.  The remedies, rights and privileges of Lessor in case of default of Lessee as 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             81 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

enumerated above shall not be exclusive; and, in addition thereto, Lessor may exercise and enforce 

all rights in law and in equity which it may otherwise have because of said default.  In the event 

of a default by Lessor under Section IX.A. above, Lessee may exercise and enforce all rights in 

law and in equity which it may otherwise have because of said default.  

C. Waiver of Rights, Remedies and Relief.  No delay or failure of either party to 

exercise any power or right hereunder, or under a similar agreement with third parties, shall operate 

as a waiver of any right, remedy or relief which either party is entitled; and such rights, remedies 

and relief shall be deemed continuous; nor shall a partial exercise preclude the party from full 

exercise thereof.   

E. Forbearance During Term of CDE Loans.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 

contrary, Lessor shall forbear from exercising any of its remedies under this Agreement for so long 

as the CDE Loans remain outstanding. 

X. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

B. Notices.  Any notices or other communications hereunder shall be deemed to have 

been given when delivered personally, sent by electronic transmission (with confirmation receipt) 

to the following telephone numbers, or if deposited in the United States Mail, registered or 

certified, with proper postage and registration or certification fees prepaid, upon delivery by the 

post office addressed to the following addresses: 

TO LESSOR: 

 

City of Jackson, Mississippi 

________________ 

________________ 

Attention:  ____________ 

Facsimile:  (601) ___-______ 

E-mail:  ______________ 

  

 with a copy to: 

____________________ 

____________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  _____________ 

Facsimile:  _____________ 

E-mail:  _______________  

TO LESSEE: 

Jackson Redevelopment Authority 

__________________ 

__________________ 

Attention:  ______________ 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             82 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Facsimile: (601) ______________ 

E-mail:  __________________  

with a copy to: 

 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS 39157 

Attention:  Jetson G. Hollingsworth 

Facsimile: (601) 985-4404 

 E-mail: jet.hollingsworth@butlersnow.com  

 and to: 

____________________ 

____________________ 

____________________ 

Attention:  ________________ 

Facsimile: (___) ____________ 

E-mail:  _______________________ 

 

AND TO THE CDE LENDERS AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES AT THE 

ADDRESSES SET FORTH ON EXHIBIT F. 

or such other addresses as may be designated by any of the parties from time to time by 

written notice given to the other party in the aforesaid manner. 

B. Assignment.  This Agreement and all rights pertaining hereto, and obligations 

hereunder may be assigned by Lessor or Lessee at any time only with the written consent of the 

other party, which consent will not unreasonably be withheld, conditioned or delayed.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) QALICB may encumber and assign its leasehold interest in the 

JRA Ground Lease under a Leasehold Deed of Trust, and any successor in interest thereto, pursuant 

to Section VI.C.(1) without the consent of Lessor and (ii) QALICB may assign or transfer this 

Agreement to a Lender at any time in connection with QALICB’s exercise of its remedies pursuant 

to the applicable Leasehold Deed of Trust.  Other than as specifically permitted herein, this 

Agreement shall not be assigned by Lessee to any other party. 

C. Binding Effect.  The terms and provisions hereof shall be binding upon and shall 

inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, 

successors, and assigns. 

D. Brokerage Commissions.  Each party represents and warrants to the other party that 

such warranting party has not incurred any obligation to pay any brokerage commissions by reason 

of the transaction contemplated hereunder.  Each party shall be responsible for all loss, cost, 

damage, expense and liability whatsoever based upon any such commitment by such other party. 

E. Applicable Laws.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties 

hereunder shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Mississippi.  To the extent any provision of this Agreement is not enforceable under Mississippi 

law, such provision shall be modified, deleted or deemed invalid to the extent it is either not 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             83 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

authorized by or inconsistent with the laws of the State of Mississippi, including the opinions of 

the Mississippi Attorney General. 

F. Memorandum of Ground Lease.  Lessor and Lessee shall sign, acknowledge and 

deliver a memorandum of ground lease in the form attached as Exhibit D for purposes of recording, 

where permitted by law.  The memorandum of ground lease may not, under any circumstances, be 

interpreted to amend any of the provisions of this Agreement which will, in all circumstances, 

govern and control. 

G. Further Assurances.  Each party hereby agrees to execute all such further 

instruments and documents, and to take all such further action as any other party may reasonably 

require to give effect to the provisions and purpose of this Agreement. 

H. Agreement Interpretation.  This Agreement has been freely and fairly negotiated by 

the parties hereto and has been reviewed and discussed by legal counsel for each of the parties, 

each of whom has had the full opportunity to modify the draftsmanship hereof and, therefore, the 

terms of this Agreement shall be construed and interpreted without any presumption or other rule 

requiring construction or interpretation against the interest of the party causing this Agreement to 

be drafted. 

I. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same 

agreement.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by 

telecopier, facsimile machine, portable document format (“PDF”), Electronic Signature (as defined 

below) or other electronic means shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed 

counterpart of this Agreement.  The effectiveness of any such documents and signatures shall, 

subject to applicable laws, have the same force and effect as manually signed originals and shall 

be binding on the parties.  “Electronic Signature” means any symbol or process attached to a 

document or instrument and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign the document 

or instrument, including, without limitation, any digital representation of a party’s signature 

created by scanning such party’s signature or by any electronic signature service such as DocuSign. 

J. Joint and Several Liability.  If Lessor or Lessee consists of more than one person or 

entity, the obligations and liabilities of each such person or entity hereunder shall be joint and 

several.  

K. No Merger of Estates.  The interests of Lessor and Lessee in the Demised Premises 

shall at all times be separate and apart, and shall in no event be merged, notwithstanding the fact 

that the leasehold estate, or any interest therein, may be held directly or indirectly by or for the 

account of any person who shall own Lessor’s reversionary interest, or any portion thereof; and no 

such merger of estates shall occur by operation of law, or otherwise, unless and until all persons at 

the time having any interest in the Demised Premises, including any Lender, shall join in the 

execution of a written instrument effecting such merger of estates. 

[Signature page follows] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Ground Lease Agreement to be 

duly executed as of the Effective Date.  

LESSOR: 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of 

Mississippi 

 

By:__________________ 

LESSEE: 

 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             84 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

a body corporate and politic and urban renewal agency of the City of Jackson, Mississippi  

 

By:    

________________ 

________________ 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

WIP 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

  

EXHIBIT D 

 

MEMORANDUM OF GROUND LEASE 

 

(attached behind) 

EXHIBIT E 

 

FORM OF ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 

 

[Date] 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             85 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 

[Addressee] 

 

Re: Ground Lease Agreement dated _________ ___, 2023 (as amended from time to 

time, the “Lease”) by and between City of Jackson, Mississippi (the “Lessor”) and Jackson 

Redevelopment Authority (“Lessee”) with respect to certain premises in Hinds County, Mississippi 

(the “Property”) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 This Estoppel Certificate is being delivered in connection with a financing 

transaction the proceeds of which were used to develop, repair, improve, adorn and equip the 

Russell C. Davis Planetarium and other authorized purposes with same including constructing, 

improving and paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways and public parking 

facilities on the Property pursuant to that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated as of 

___________ __, 2023 (the “City Ground Lease”).  Lessee’s leasehold interest in the Property was 

ground leased to the JRA Public Benefit Corporation (the “QALICB”) pursuant to that certain 

Ground Lease Agreement dated as of ________, 2023 (the “JRA Ground Lease”).  The QALICB’s 

leasehold interest in the Property was pledged to Hope New Markets __, LLC, a Mississippi 

limited liability company (the “Hope CDE Lender”) and [Wells Fargo ____, LLC, a _________ 

limited liability company (the “Wells CDE Lender” and, together with the Hope CDE Lender, the 

“CDE Lenders”), as collateral for the CDE Lenders’ loans under that certain Loan and Security 

Agreement dated as of _________, 2023.  This Estoppel Certificate may be relied upon by the 

CDE Lenders, their successors and assigns, including a purchaser of an interest in any such loan, 

and any person claiming by or through the CDE Lenders (each, a “Recipient”).  Accordingly, 

Lessor and Lessee certify to and agree with each Recipient as of the date hereof as follows: 

10. The Lease is in full force and effect.  The Lease has not been amended, modified, 

supplemented, assigned, or extended, and is in full force and effect as of the date hereof.  There 

are no other agreements, whether written or oral, between Lessor and Lessee affecting the Property 

or Lessee’s obligation to pay rentals under the Lease.   

11. The term of the Lease commenced on ________ , 2023, and will expire on 

__________ 20__.   

12. Lessee acknowledges full receipt and satisfaction of all consideration contemplated 

or required by Section I.C.  Lessee has paid to Lessor all rent and other sums otherwise owed under 

the Lease as of the date hereof.   

13. There are no defaults or events that with the passage of time or notice would 

constitute a default by Lessor or Lessee under the Lease.  Lessor and Lessee are in full compliance 

with all of the terms, conditions and covenants of the Lease.  Lessor has no actual knowledge of 

any claims by others against Lessee relating to the Property or its use.  No event has occurred 

giving, and no state of facts exist which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, 

would give, Lessor the right to terminate the Lease.  As of this date, Lessor has no defenses or 

offsets against the full and complete enforcement of the Lease by Lessee or its predecessors, 

successors or assigns, including the CDE Lenders.   

14. All obligations under the Lease to be performed by either Lessor or Lessee prior to 

the date hereof have been satisfied, including but not limited to, any obligations of Lessee to make 

or pay for any improvements, alterations or work done on the Property, and all improvements or 

work required to be performed by Lessee have been completed in accordance with the Lease and 

have been accepted by Lessor.  

15. The address for notices to be sent to Lessor or Lessee is set forth in the Lease. 

16. If the CDE Lenders or their designees succeed to Lessee’s (or any successor to 

Lessee) interest in the Property or if a sale by power of sale or by judicial or non-judicial 

foreclosure occurs, Lessor agrees to attorn to and accept the CDE Lenders, their designees or a 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             86 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

purchaser at such sale as its lessee under the Lease for the then remaining balance of the term 

thereof and Lessor shall be bound to such new lessee, in accordance with the all of the provisions 

of the Lease, for the remaining term of the Lease.  This attornment shall be self-operative. 

17. The undersigned individual hereby certifies that he or she is duly authorized to sign, 

acknowledge and deliver this Estoppel Certificate on behalf of Lessor or Lessee, as applicable.  If 

more than one party executes this Estoppel Certificate, each party shall be jointly and severally 

liable hereunder. 

18. Lessor acknowledges that (a) the CDE Lenders will rely on this Estoppel Certificate 

in making a loan or otherwise extending credit to Lessee and (b) each Recipient will rely on this 

Estoppel Certificate.  Lessor acknowledges that (a) the information contained in this Estoppel 

Certificate and the provisions hereof shall be for the benefit of each Recipient and (b) the 

provisions hereof shall also inure to the benefit of any lender making a loan secured by the direct 

or indirect interests in Lessee and/or the Property. 

[Signature page follows] 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Estoppel Certificate to be duly 

executed as of the Effective Date.  

LESSOR: 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of 

Mississippi 

By:        

______________ 

______________ 

 

LESSEE: 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, 

a body corporate and politic and urban renewal agency of the City of Jackson, Mississippi  

 

By:        

________________                                              ________________ 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 

ADDRESSES OF EACH LENDER AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

                   _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who recommended an amendment 

on said item to substitute the Agenda Packet version with the Word version of the item.    

       _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             87 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Grizzell to accept the amendment recommended by the Catoria Martin, City Attorney.  

         _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

After a thorough discussion, Council Member Lindsay and Council Member Grizzell withdrew 

their motion and second. 

          _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXPEND COMMUNITY 

DEVELOPMENT BLOCK GRANT (CDBG) FUNDS FOR FAÇADE 

IMPROVEMENTS TO SMALL BUSINESS ENTERPRISES IN THE CITY OF 

JACKSON.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson receives federal funds, on an annual basis, from the U.S. 

Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) for several federal programs to benefit 

principally low and moderate-income individuals and families for the purposes of providing a 

suitable living environment, decent housing, and expanded economic opportunities; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG), Public Law 116-94, was 

enacted on December 20, 2019, providing assistance for low and moderate-income persons and 

special needs populations across the country; and 

 

WHEREAS, HUD has allocated CDBG funding for housing, community, and economic 

development activities; and 

 

WHEREAS, on February 18, 2020, the Office of Housing and Community Development 

(OHCD) was notified of CDBG funding in the amount of one million eight hundred seventy-one 

thousand nine hundred eighty-two dollars ($1,871,982.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, HUD has allocated supplemental funding to the City of Jackson to be used 

to prevent, prepare for, and respond to COVID-19; and 

 

WHEREAS, on April 2, 2020, OHCD was notified of supplemental funding in the amount 

of one million one hundred one thousand two hundred twenty-five dollars ($1,101,225.00) and on 

September 11, 2020, was awarded supplemental funding in the amount of one million four hundred 

sixty-seven thousand two hundred eighty-three dollars ($1,467,283.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, OHCD has allocated one hundred nine thousand, four hundred seventy-nine 

dollars ($109,479.00) for small businesses to be utilized for façade improvements between July 1, 

2023 to August 31, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Department of Planning and Development, through its Office of Housing 

and Community Development Division (OHCD) and Office of Economic Development (OED), 

recommends that the Mayor be authorized to use CDBG funds for small business enterprises in 

the City of Jackson for façade improvement expenses in an amount not to exceed one hundred nine 

thousand four hundred seventy-nine dollars and zero cents ($109,479.00). 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to expend CDBG funds 

in a total amount not to exceed one hundred nine thousand four hundred seventy-nine dollars and 

zero cents ($109,479.00) beginning July 1, 2023, through August 31, 2023, for façade 

improvements for small business enterprises in the City of Jackson. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             88 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO EXECUTE THE APPLICATION AND 

SUPPLEMENTALFORM WITH THE UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 

TRANSPORTATION’S FEDERAL TRANSIT ADMINISTRATION TO APPLY 

FOR THE FY2023 COMPETITIVE FUNDING OPPORTUNITY ENTITLED 

PILOT PROGRAM FOR TRANSIT ORIENTED DEVELOPMENT PLANNING IN 

THE AMOUNT OF $2,000,000.00 AND AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO 

EXECUTE THE AGREEMENT AND RELATED DOCUMENTS UPON AWARD 

OF THE GRANT FUNDS.  

WHEREAS, on August 8, 2023, the U.S. Department of Transportation’s Federal Transit 

Administration (FTA) announced the availability of a Discretionary FY2023 Competitive Funding 

Opportunity entitled Pilot Program for Transit Oriented Development Planning (Federal Assistance 

Listing 20.526) and opened the SF-424 application process for federal assistance for the program with 

the Opportunity Number of FTA-2023-011-TPE-TODP; and   

 

WHEREAS, Federal public transportation law set forth in 49 U.S. Code Section 20005 (b) 

authorizes the FTA to award grants for capital bus projects through a competitive process; and 

 

WHEREAS, the grant opportunity category is discretionary; and 

 

WHEREAS, this is a competitive grant, and an application to be submitted by October 10, 

2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Transit Division will request grant funding in the amount of 

two million dollars ($2,000,000.00); and 

 

WHEREAS, there is no match required of the City upon acceptance of these funds; and 

 

WHEREAS, if awarded any funds, the funds will be used over FY2024, FY2025, FY2026, 

and FY2027; and 

 

WHEREAS, the funds will be used for comprehensive planning that supports economic 

development, increased transit ridership and value capture multimodal connectivity, accessibility, 

increased transit access for pedestrian and bicycle traffic, mixed use/mixed income development, and 

affordable housing; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Transit Division is recommending that the City apply for and accept said 

award to use in the City’s public transportation system. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute the SF-424 

application and supplemental form with the United States Department of Transportation in the amount 

of two million dollars ($2,000,000.00) with no match requirement.  

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that any awarded funds shall be used over FY2024, FY2025, 

FY2026, and FY2027 to be used for comprehensive planning that supports economic development, 

increased transit ridership and value capture multimodal connectivity, accessibility, increased transit 

access for pedestrian and bicycle traffic, mixed use/mixed income development, and affordable 

housing 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute the agreement and 

related documents upon award of the grant funds. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             89 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO SUBMIT AN APPLICATION TO THE 

MISSISSIPPI DEPARTMENT OF REVENUE REQUESTING THAT CERTAIN 

AREAS OF DOWNTOWN BE DESIGNATED AS AN ENTERTAINMENT 

DISTRICT.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson (“City”) recognizes the economic impact of the 

convention center and the need to retain visitors and provide additional amenities which will 

increase the tax base and stability of downtown; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City is committed to investing in infrastructure repairs and projects that 

are in line with the aesthetics for the area; and 

 

WHEREAS, to further this goal and pursuant to Mississippi Code Section 17-29-5, the 

Office of Economic Development proposes designating certain areas of downtown Jackson as an 

entertainment district; and 

 

WHEREAS, the entertainment district will be known as the Lamar Entertainment District 

and will be the area more particularly described as follows: 

 

Beginning at a point on the West property line of Lamar Street 455.5 feet South property 

line of Griffith Street; thence West at an angle of 95 degrees 37 minutes, 176 feet to a stake; 

thence South 16 feet to the North property line of Amite Street; thence East along the said 

North line of Amite Street 147.7 feet to a stake; thence Northwest 34.5 feet to Lamar Street 

at the Northwest corner of Amite Street; thence Northerly along the west side of Lamar 

Street 17.6 feet to the point of beginning; being in 9.40 acre lot No. 2 North, in the City of 

Jackson, and being in the East Half of the Southwest Quarter of Section 3, Township 5 

North, Range 1 East; and 

WHEREAS, designating the above-referenced area as an entertainment district will allow 

for social enhancement, increased mixed-use, residential housing provisions, and improved 

pedestrian usage and transit provisions in the city; and 

 

WHEREAS, using the areas in this way will greatly enhance the economic viability of this 

area. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED, that the Mayor be authorized to submit an application 

to the Mississippi Department of Revenue to have the above-referenced area declared an 

entertainment district as defined in Mississippi Code Section 17-29-5. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDEREDthat after the above-referenced approval, the City of 

Jackson will recognize the above-referenced area as the Lamar Entertainment District, according 

to the statutes of the State of Mississippi and the State Tax Commission. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

RESOLUTION RATIFYING THE MAYOR’S TO EXECUTION OF A 

MEMORANDUM OF AGREEMENT WITH THE MISSISSIPPI 

TRANSPORTATION COMMISSION REGARDING STATE PROJECT ERBR25-

250(03) (MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR. DRIVE BRIDGE) AND RATIFYING THE 

DESIGNATION OF ELMORE MOODY, P.E., AS THE ENGINEER OF RECORD 

FOR SAID PROJECT.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson applied for and received $530,811.50 in FY2023 

Emergency Road and Bridge Repair Funds from the Mississippi Transportation Commission for 

the bridge on Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive over Town Creek Tributary; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             90 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, the Mississippi Department of Transportation requires the City to submit an 

executed Memorandum of Agreement, and resolution designating the Engineer of Record for each 

awarded bridge project; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City received the Memorandum of Agreement until August 23, 2023 and 

nothing in the letter indicated a deadline for submitting the executed Memorandum of Agreement; 

and 

 

WHEREAS, the Mayor’s Office received a call during the last week of September 

advising the City that the deadline for submitting the executed Memorandum of Agreement was 

September 30, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order a avoid the loss of Emergency Road and Bridge Repair Funds from 

the Mississippi Transportation Commission for the bridge on Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive over 

Town Creek Tributary, the Mayor executed the Memorandum of Agreement on Friday, September 

29, 2023. 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON THAT: 

 

SECTION 1. The Mayor’s execution of the Memorandum of Agreement with the 

Mississippi Transportation Commission for State Project ERBR-25-250(03) (Martin Luther King, 

Jr. Drive bridge) is hereby ratified. 

 

SECTION 2. The Designation of Elmore Moody, P.E., as the Engineer of Record for State 

Project ERBR-25-250(03) (Martin Luther King, Jr. Drive bridge) is hereby ratified. 

 

SECTION 3. The Mayor is authorized to execute other documents as necessary to the 

Mississippi Transportation Commission related to this project. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

                      _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim Public Works Director, who provided a brief 

overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF PARTS AND REPAIRS FROM 

EMPIRE TRUCK SALES, LLC AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENT TO EMPIRE 

TRUCK SALES, LLC FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS.  

WHEREAS, Department of Public Works had need of parts and repairs for one of the 

vehicles operated by the Solid Waste Division, TK-778; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstance, the procurement of these necessary parts and 

repairs were done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of 

the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the parts and repairs set forth in the invoice attached to this Order and made 

part of the minutes were provided to the Department of Public Works, and said repairs using the 

parts have been rendered and TK-778 restored to service. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that procurement of the parts and repairs set forth in 

the invoices attached to the Order is ratified. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             91 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment to the following vendor in the amount set 

forth be made, consistent with the attached invoice for the parts and repairs and provided as 

follows: 

 

Vendor Invoice No. Invoice Date Amount 

Empire Truck Sales, LLC RE001141903:01 09/21/2023 $9,980.74 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             92 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             93 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             94 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Banks. 

Absent – Stokes.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF REPAIRS AND SERVICES FROM 

CERTAIN VENDORS AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO SAID VENDORS.  

WHEREAS, the Building Maintenance Division of the Department of Public Works had 

need of certain repairs and services necessary to the operation and maintenance of the City’s 

buildings; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary repairs and 

services was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of 

the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the repairs set forth in certain invoices attached hereto were performed to 

restore functionality to vital components of the City’s buildings; and 

 

WHEREAS, the services set forth in certain invoices attached hereto were provided; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to ensure the continued and proper operation and maintenance of the 

City’s buildings, it is necessary to pay these outstanding invoices to continue receiving any needed 

repairs or services from these vendors; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Building Maintenance Division recommends that the invoices for the 

repairs and services attached hereto and made a part of the minutes be paid. 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             95 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the procurement of necessary repairs and services 

provided by United Plumbing & Heating Co, Inc., Universal Services, LLC, and Johnson Controls, 

Inc. is hereby ratified. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment to the following vendors in the amounts set 

forth be made, consistent with the attached invoices: 

 

 

United Plumbing        $897.00 

Universal Services        $2,540.00 

Johnson Controls        $1,541.00 

 

Total          $4,978.00 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             96 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             97 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             98 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

Yeas – Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Banks. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING A CONTRACT RELATED TO THE EMERGENCY 

REPAIRS TO THE ARTS CENTER OF MISSISSIPPI IN PREPARATION FOR 

THE U.S.A. INTERNATIONAL BALLET COMPETITION.  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Department of Public Works and Department of Human 

and Cultural Services have completed the process of preparing Thalia Mara Hall and the Arts 

Center of Mississippi for the USA International Ballet Competition (“USA IBC”); and 

 

WHEREAS, the USA IBC was successful and is reported to have generated more interest 

and attendance than any previous USA IBC; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson previously contracted with Cooke Douglass Farr Lemons 

(“CDFL”) to produce a scope of work for Thalia Mara Hall; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City contracted Canizaro Cawthon Davis, A Professional Association to 

produce a scope of work for the Arts Center of Mississippi, which scope is to include an update to 

the existing public restrooms to bring them into compliance with the ADA due to performance 

issues with Construction Specialists, LLC, which recently caused the City to terminate that 

construction agreement; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City authorized a contract with Benchmark Construction Corporation, 

whose principal office address is 1867 Crane Ridge Drive #200A, Jackson, MS 39216, to provide 

general contractor services to assist the City of Jackson with completing the proposed scope of 

work for Thalia Mara Hall by June 1, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 31-7-13(k), due to the threat of economic loss 

based on the restricted time period, limitations of available equipment, materials and delivery 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             99 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

schedules, and to protect and preserve the facilities, the City of Jackson invoked the emergency 

procurement procedure for the intended repairs to Thalia Mara and the Arts Center, a copy of 

which is attached hereto; and 

 

WHEREAS, during the competition, a storm caused widespread power outages 

throughout the City and resulted in the Mayor declaring a civil emergency, copy of said 

Declaration being attached hereto; and 

 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the emergency procurement process, the following proposals 

have been accepted for work or materials, which constitute a contract for the work, a copy of said 

contracts being attached to this Order and made a part of the minutes of this meeting: 

 

Vendor    Services/Materials     Amount 

 

Acoustics, Inc.    Demolition Track Lighting    $2,973.00 

Total       $2,973.00 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the contracts for work listed in the proposal listed 

above at the amount stated is hereby ratify. 

 

 

 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             100 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             101 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 
 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER RATIFYING PROCUREMENT OF PARTS AND REPAIRS FROM 

VARIOUS VENDORS AND AUTHORIZING PAYMENTS TO SAID VENDORS 

FROM THE DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS.  

WHEREAS, the Municipal Garage Division of the Department of Public Works had need 

of certain parts to make repairs to City vehicles and found it necessary to send certain City vehicles 

for outside repairs; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to exigent circumstances, the procurement of these necessary parts and 

repairs was done without prior approval by the City Purchasing Manager or the City Council of 

the City of Jackson; and 

 

WHEREAS, the parts and repairs set forth in certain invoices attached hereto were 

provided to the Department of Public Works, Municipal Garage Division, and the in-house and 

outside repairs have been completed. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that payment to the following vendors in the amounts 

set forth be made, consistent with the attached invoices: 

 

Vendor Invoice No.  Invoice Date   Amount  



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             102 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

AutoZone 0037957906 10/17/2022 $7.59 

AutoZone 0037958300 10/18/2022 $537.07 

AutoZone 0037958308 10/18/2022 $338.55 

AutoZone 0037958314 10/18/2022 -$432.15 

AutoZone 0037958548 10/18/2022 $39.98 

AutoZone 0037959000 10/19/2022 $99.50 

AutoZone 0037959001 10/19/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037969341 11/4/2022 $1,390.80 

AutoZone 0037919868 8/23/2022 $34.13 

AutoZone 0037885685 6/30/2022 $495.64 

AutoZone 0037889594 7/6/2022 $971.12 

AutoZone 0037906461 8/2/2022 $563.68 

AutoZone 0037917748 8/19/2022 $30.58 

AutoZone 0037919831 8/23/2022 $155.79 

AutoZone 0037953983 10/11/2022 $4,415.84 

AutoZone 0037954582 10/22/2022 $438.76 

AutoZone 0037954599 10/12/2022 $438.76 

AutoZone 0037954618 10/12/2022 $496.28 

AutoZone 0037955867 10/14/2022 $500.56 

AutoZone 0037959691 10/20/2022 $22.16 

AutoZone 0037959766 10/20/2022 -$22.16 

AutoZone 0037963273 10/26/2022 $152.45 

AutoZone 0037963412 10/26/2022 -$21.49 

AutoZone 0037963767 10/27/2022 $498.60 

AutoZone 0037966641 11/1/2022 $131.89 

AutoZone 0037869126 7/5/2022 $1,535.00 

AutoZone 0037916266 8/17/2022 $594.86 

AutoZone 0037920932 8/25/2022 $304.58 

AutoZone 0037958680 10/18/2022 $272.18 

AutoZone 0037958682 10/18/2022 $497.80 

AutoZone 0037958688 10/18/2022 $248.90 

AutoZone 0037968827 11/4/2022 $558.08 

AutoZone 0037972516 11/10/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037949186 10/4/2022 $176.67 

AutoZone 0037888774 7/5/2022 $22.99 

AutoZone 0037964659 10/28/2022 $119.99 

AutoZone 0037966783 11/1/2022 $184.91 

AutoZone 0037950318 10/6/2022 $34.99 

AutoZone 0037967990 11/3/2022 $265.10 

AutoZone 0037948947 10/4/2022 $169.98 

AutoZone 0037949062 10/4/2022 $936.88 

AutoZone 0037962156 10/24/2022 $180.99 

AutoZone 0037971342 11/8/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037971512 11/8/2022 $161.64 

AutoZone 0037976399 11/16/2022 $174.98 

AutoZone 0037885067 6/29/2022 $1,691.60 

AutoZone 0037885744 6/30/2022 $1,401.00 

AutoZone 0037888798 7/5/2022 $200.42 

AutoZone 0037894533 7/14/2022 $471.78 

AutoZone 0037906288 8/2/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037907106 8/3/2022 $36.18 

AutoZone 0037916224 8/17/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037916278 8/17/2022 $874.37 

AutoZone 0037917429 8/19/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037917727 8/19/2022 $22.00 

AutoZone 0037920313 8/24/2022 $35.19 

AutoZone 0037950304 10/6/2022 $145.34 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             103 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

AutoZone 0037950844 10/7/2022 $204.50 

AutoZone 0037952945 10/10/2022 -$145.34 

AutoZone 0037954613 10/12/2022 $488.72 

AutoZone 0037955738 10/14/2022 $109.89 

AutoZone 0037956040 10/14/2022 -$47.00 

AutoZone 0037963208 10/26/2022 $275.27 

AutoZone 0037963471 10/26/2022 $200.90 

AutoZone 0037964396 10/28/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037964512 10/28/2022 $1,373.06 

AutoZone 0037966651 11/1/2022 $522.40 

AutoZone 0037967988 11/3/2022 $185.12 

AutoZone 0037976404 11/16/2022 $1,022.56 

AutoZone 0037976412 11/16/2022 $1,767.48 

AutoZone 0037976808 11/17/2022 $19.09 

AutoZone 0037976901 11/17/2022 $15.29 

AutoZone 0037977070 11/17/2022 -$15.29 

AutoZone 0037963850 10/27/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037945843 9/30/2022 -$36.19 

AutoZone 0037979527 11/21/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037917731 8/19/2022 $22.00 

AutoZone 0037976988 11/17/2022 $120.64 

AutoZone 0037972548 11/10/2022 $129.25 

AutoZone 0037971846 11/9/2022 $105.17 

AutoZone 0037970846 11/7/2022 $114.92 

AutoZone 0037970910  11/7/2022 $122.16 

AutoZone 0037970845 11/7/2022 $35.08 

AutoZone 0037966786 11/1/2022 -$156.46 

AutoZone 0037966784 11/1/2022 -$161.46 

AutoZone 0037966785 11/1/2022 $156.46 

AutoZone 0037966640 11/1/2022 $161.46 

AutoZone 0037964576 10/28/2022 $549.97 

AutoZone 0037963793 10/27/2022 $57.86 

AutoZone 0037963765 10/27/2022 $1,049.64 

AutoZone 0037959905 10/20/2022 -$215.98 

AutoZone 0037960420 10/21/2022 -$16.49 

AutoZone 0037959301 10/19/2022 -$95.18 

AutoZone 0037958547 10/18/2022 $24.16 

AutoZone 0037956837 10/15/2022 -$155.79 

AutoZone 0037956830 10/15/2022 $155.79 

AutoZone 0037950612 10/6/2022 -$99.99 

AutoZone 0037951247 10/7/2022 -$168.70 

AutoZone 0037950378 10/6/2022 $380.47 

AutoZone 0037949659 10/5/2022 $257.85 

AutoZone 0037949319 10/4/2022 -$155.99 

AutoZone 0037948926 10/4/2022 $121.49 

AutoZone 0037949058 10/4/2022 $247.94 

AutoZone 0037949177 10/4/2022 -$247.94 

AutoZone 0037885413 6/30/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037916195 8/17/2022 $145.34 

AutoZone 0037906586 8/2/2022 $8.99 

AutoZone 0037906562 8/2/2022 $179.72 

AutoZone 0037906531 8/2/2022 -$206.77 

AutoZone 0037906517 8/2/2022 -$6.99 

AutoZone 0037906515 8/2/2022 -$7.49 

AutoZone 0037906516 8/2/2022 -$7.49 

AutoZone 0037906510 8/2/2022 $126.96 

AutoZone 0037906462 8/2/2022 $12.69 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             104 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

AutoZone 0037917613 8/19/2022 $34.74 

AutoZone 0037917612 8/19/2022 $322.72 

AutoZone 0037917605 8/19/2022 $70.59 

AutoZone 0037945829 9/30/2022 -$34.99 

AutoZone 0037945432 9/29/2022 -$67.00 

AutoZone 0037945431 9/29/2022 -$134.00 

AutoZone 0037945422 9/29/2022 -$67.00 

AutoZone 0037945352 9/29/2022 $67.00 

AutoZone 0037945351 9/29/2022 $262.34 

AutoZone 0037945349 9/29/2022 -$67.00 

AutoZone 0037979428 11/21/2022 $155.79 

AutoZone 0037967967 11/3/2022 $30.90 

AutoZone 0037963769 10/27/2022 $528.00 

AutoZone 0037954569 10/12/2022 $162.87 

AutoZone 0037950533 10/6/2022 $166.03 

AutoZone 0037950531 10/6/2022 $316.00 

AutoZone 0037919926 8/23/2022 $32.48 

AutoZone 0037916254 8/17/2022 $48.76 

Coke Boring 111422 11/14/2022 $963.54 

Deviney WO56614 11/21/2022 $4,690.65 

Frederick's Sales & Service 01-81720 8/2/2023 $44.99 

Frederick's Sales & Service 01-79953 7/14/2023 $52.91 

Frederick's Sales & Service 01-79954 7/14/2023 $89.90 

Mid South Machinery 001198867 7/18/2022 $4,950.00 

  
  $  45,199.70  

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             105 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             106 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             107 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             108 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             109 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             110 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             111 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             112 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             113 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             114 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             115 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             116 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             117 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             118 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             119 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             120 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             121 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             122 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             123 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             124 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             125 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             126 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             127 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             128 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             129 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             130 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             131 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             132 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             133 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             134 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             135 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             136 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             137 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             138 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             139 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             140 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             141 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             142 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             143 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             144 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             145 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             146 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             147 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             148 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             149 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             150 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             151 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             152 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             153 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             154 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             155 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             156 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             157 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             158 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             159 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             160 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             161 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             162 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             163 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             164 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             165 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             166 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             167 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             168 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             169 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             170 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             171 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             172 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             173 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             174 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             175 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             176 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             177 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             178 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             179 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             180 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             181 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             182 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             183 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             184 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             185 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Banks and Grizzell. 

Absent – Stokes.   

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Vice President Lee who moved, seconded by Council Member 

Lindsay to reconsider Agenda Item No. 13 - Claims. The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             186 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Thereafter, President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order:  

 

ORDER APPROVING CLAIMS NUMBER 29401 to 29456 APPEARING AT 

PAGES 1 TO 27 INCLUSIVE THEREON, ON MUNICIPAL “DOCKET OF 

CLAIMS”, IN THE AMOUNT OF $7,245,989.25 AND MAKING 

APPROPRIATIONS FOR THE PAYMENT THEREOF. 

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that claims numbered 29401 to 29456 appearing at pages 1 

to 27, inclusive thereon in the Municipal “Docket of Claims”, in the aggregate amount of 

$7,245,989.25 are hereby approved for payment and said amount is expressly appropriated for the 

immediate payment thereof. 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that there is appropriated from the various funds the sums 

necessary to be transferred to other funds for the purpose of paying the claims as follows: 

                                                                                                                 TO 

                                                                                               ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 

         FROM:                                                                                       FUND 

GENERAL FUND   4,360,424.36 

TECHNOLOGY FUND  512.39 

PARKS & RECR. FUND  146,958.31 

BUSINESS IMPROV FUND (LANDSCP)  415.68 

LANDFILL/SANITATION FUND  33,728.53 

STATE TORT CLAIMS FUND  925.00 

WATER/SEWER REVENUE FUND  80.71 

WATER/SEWER OP & MAINT FUND  1,208,446.20 

REPAIR & REPLACEMENT FUND   10,526.00 

DISABILITY RELIEF FUND  4,822.26 

EMPLOYEES GROUP INSURANCE FUND   1,168.00 

NARCOTICS EVIDENCE ESCROW  2,207.40 

PAYROLL FUND  347.40 

HOUSING COMM DEV ACT (CDBG) FD  32,901.15 

EMERGENCY SHELTER GRANT (ESG)  1,192.52 

UNEMPLOYMENT COMPENSATION REVO  3,213.28 

1% INFRASTRUCTURE TAX  68,962.96 

MADISON SEWAGE DISP OP & MAINT  39.54 

TRANSPORTATION FUND  409,078.44 

RESURFACING – REPAIR & REPL. FD  4,287.35 

WATER SEWER B&I FD 2013 $89.9M  5,750.00 

09 TIF BOND FUND $407000  850.00 

2015 A/B G.O. REFUNDING  343,206.26 

MODERNIZATION TAX  1,999.00 

SIEMENS SETTLEMENT ACCOUNT   299,231.99 

PLANNING AND DEV GRANTS    1,216.93 

CDBG COVID CARES   5,172.13 

ZOOLOGICAL PARK  17,424.80 

2019 7M NOTE  113,750.00 

LIBRARY FUND   162,250.66 

DFA – SB2971 – PETE BROWN GOLF   4,900.00 

TOTAL                                                                                                                   $7,245,989.25 

 

Vice President Lee moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             187 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

President Banks recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, and Sandra Moncure, Deputy 

City Attorney, who provided a brief overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Grizzell, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – Foote and Hartley.  

Abstentions – Banks.  

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING AN AMENDMENT TO THE CONTRACT WITH 

CANIZARO CAWTHON DAVIS, A PROFESSIONAL ASSOCIATION FOR 

ARCHITECTURAL AND ENGINEERING SERVICES FOR THE NEW FIRE 

STATION 20 BUILDING, CITY PROJECT NO. 15B7003.401.  

WHEREAS, the governing authorities for the City of Jackson authorized a professional 

services agreement with Canizaro Cawthon Davis, A Professional Association (hereinafter 

“CCD”) on July 12, 2016, for architectural services related to the construction of a new Fire Station 

20 Building, City Project No. 15B7003.401, which was executed on December 19, 2016 in the 

amount of $183,182.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, the professional services agreement was amended, as Amendment No. 1, on 

January 14, 2020, to extend the term of the contract through January 1, 2022, and provide 

additional professional fees of $39,946.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City accepted the bid of Castle Black Construction in the amount of 

$3,080,000.00 and entered into a contract in that amount with the construction substantial 

completion date of October 24, 2022; and 

 

WHEREAS, Amendment No. 2 to the Contract with CCD revised the construction fee 

consistent with the bid, setting the basic fee at $224,840.00 and increased the allowable 

reimbursable expenses by $2,000.00 to a total allowable amount of $8,000.00; and 

 

WHEREAS, Castle Black Construction failed to substantially complete construction of 

the project pursuant to the terms of the contract and filed for Chapter 11 Bankruptcy; and 

 

WHEREAS, Amendment No. 3, approved on February 28, 2023, provided additional 

architectural and engineering services necessary for the construction project due to the failure of 

Castle Black to substantially complete the project within the contract time at an additional cost of 

$9,800.00 and an amended contract term through June 30, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to Castle Black Construction’s failure to complete the project as of June 

30, 2023, pursuant to Amendment No. 4, approved on July18, 2023, CCD agreed to provide 

additional architectural and engineering services necessary for the construction project for a 

contract addition of $5,000.00 with the agreement expiring September 30, 2023; and 

 

WHEREAS, the building contractor has continued to exceed his contracted Substantial 

Completion date of October 24, 2022, which has resulted in the need for continued additional 

construction administration services from CCD; and 

 

WHEREAS, in order to provide the additional construction administration services 

necessary to complete the project, CCD has proposed Amendment No. 5, which will provide 

additional architectural and engineering services and allowances totaling $5,000.00 to complete 

the project; and 

 

WHEREAS, Amendment No.5 to the Agreement with CCD for Architectural Engineering 

Services necessary to complete the construction of the new Fire Station 20 building will increase 

the contract total to an amount not to exceed $257,865.00; and 

 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             188 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, the Fire Department and Department of Public Works recommends that the 

City modify the completion date of the Agreement with CCD to December 31, 2023 to coincide 

with the projected completion of construction. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to execute Amendment 

No.5 to the professional services agreement with Canizaro Cawthon Davis, A Professional 

Association for additional architectural and engineering services for New Fire Station 20, City 

Project No. 15B7003.401, increasing the total contract amount by $5,000.00, resulting in a not to 

exceed amount of $257,865.00, to be completed on or before December 31, 2023. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO TERMINATE THE 48-MONTH 

RENTAL AGREEMENT WITH ADVANTAGE BUSINESS SYSTEMS FOR A 

KONICA MINOLTA BIZHUB C450i DIGITALCOPIER BEING USED BY THE 

DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS WATER/SEWER UTILITIES DIVISION.  

WHEREAS, on October 25, 2022, the City of Jackson City Council authorized the Mayor 

to execute a 48-month copier rental agreement for the Department of Public Works Water/Sewer 

Utilities Division, with said copier being paid for from the Water/Sewer Enterprise Fund; and 

 

WHEREAS, due to upcoming changes with the Water/Sewer Enterprise Fund, it is 

necessary to terminate the contract in accordance with the rental agreement. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the Mayor is authorized to terminate the 48-month 

rental agreement with Advantage Business Systems for a Konica Minolta Bizhub C450i Digital 

Copier being used and paid for by the Department of Public Works Water/Sewer Utilities Division. 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Lindsay seconded. 

                       _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

    

President Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim Public Works Director, who provided a brief 

overview of said item.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote of said item: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

There came on for discussion, Agenda Item No. 36: 

 

DISCUSSION: JOSEPH HOLIDAY- MAN UP! STAND UP: President Banks stated 

discussion item would be held due to the absence of Council Member Stokes.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: WARD BOUNDARIES: President Banks recognized Council Member 

Hartley who expressed concerns regarding redistricting. President Banks requested the 

Chairperson of the Rules Committee and City legal prepare to have a discussion on the 

statutory responsibilities of the City Council. 

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             189 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

DISCUSSION: UPDATE ON PUBLIC WORKS' RIGHT OF WAY PROGRAM: 

President Banks recognized Council Member Hartley who expressed concerns 

regarding Council Member’s knowing the jurisdiction of their ward to help Council 

Members conduct the business of their ward. President Banks recognized Robert Lee, 

Interim Public Works Director, who stated the public works and solid waste departments 

were working on a getting the “Right of Way” program up and running next week. 

President Banks recognized Lakesha Weathers, Solid Waste Manager, who expressed 

concerns regarding grass cutting on city owned properties.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: THE MANDATORY DUTY OF THE CITY COUNCIL TO 

RESDISTRICT THE MUNICIPALITY - MS STATE ANNOTATED SECTION 21-8-

7: President Banks expressed concerns regarding redistricting and the fast-approaching 

deadline. President Banks also stated doing so is the duty of the Council. President Banks 

recognized Catoria Martin, City Attorney, who stated at this time, the firm the City has 

used in the past has not yet provided a proposal to present to the City Council but the 

conversation started about two months ago.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: GARBAGE RFP: President Banks recognized Council Member Foote 

who expressed concerns regarding the need for an RFP for a long-term garbage collection 

contract. Council Member Foote also stated there were only 170 days left before the 

current emergency contract expires.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Vice President Lee who moved, seconded by Council Member 

Lindsay to add an item to the agenda on an emergency basis, approving the payment of lodging 

and per diem expenses to individuals providing mock accreditation services to the Jackson Police 

Department on October 10 through October 12, 2023. The motion failed by the following vote: 

Yeas – Lindsay.  

Nays – Banks, Foote, Grizzell and Lee.  

Abstentions – Hartley 

Absent – Stokes.  

 

Note: Failed due to a lack of a majority vote.  

  * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

MONTHLY REPORT OF PRIVILEGE TAXES AS REQUIRED ACCORDING TO 

SECTION 27-17-501 OF THE MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED OF 1972. 

President Banks expressed that all City Council members received the monthly privilege 

license report for review. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 

• Council Member Grizzell announced the following: 

 

▪ Happy Homecoming to all Jackson State University Alumni! 

 

• Council Member Hartley announced the following: 

 

▪ Any non- profit groups interested in helping with clean-up efforts around Jackson 

State University, contact Ward 5 office at 601-960-1092. 

 

• Vice President Lee announced the following: 



REGULAR MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 TUESDAY, OCTOBER 10, 2023 10:00 A.M.                             190 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

▪ Happy Founders Day and Happy Homecoming to all Tougaloo College Alumni. 

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Council Member Lindsay who moved, seconded by Council 

Member Hartley to go into Closed Session to discuss “Pending Litigation”. The motion prevailed 

by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks announced to the public that the Council voted to go into Closed Session to 

discuss going into Executive Session regarding “Pending Litigation”.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

During Closed Session, Council Member Lindsay moved, seconded by Council Member 

Grizzell to go into Executive Session to discuss “Pending Litigation”.  The motion prevailed by 

the following vote: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Note: Council Member Lindsay left the meeting during discussion.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Council Member Grizzell moved, seconded by Council Member Foote, to come out of 

Executive Session.  The motion prevailed by the following vote: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley and Lee.  

Nays – None. 

Absent – Lindsay and Stokes. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

President Banks announced to the public that the Council voted to come out of Executive Session 

and no action was taken. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until the Special Council Meeting at 4:00 p.m. on October 11, 2023.  At 12:04 p.m., the 

Council stood adjourned.   

 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST:  

                                       ____________     

      CITY CLERK 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 





SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 11, 2023 4:00 P.M.                   191 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Special Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi, was called by a majority of the City Council Members and notices having been placed 

by the Clerk of Council at 3:42 p.m. Tuesday, October 10, 2023 in the Clerk of Council’s Office, 

electronic notifications to all Council Members, on the City's website and on the public bulletin 

board in City Hall, relative to: (1) Order approving the payment of lodging and per diem expenses 

to individuals providing Mock Accreditation Services to the Jackson Police Department on 

October 10 through October 12, 2023. (2) Resolution of the Jackson City Council committing to 

support the financial obligation for energy efficient street lights for Jackson State University. The 

meeting was convened in the Council Chambers located at 219 S. President Street at 4:00 p.m. on 

October 11, 2023 being the second Wednesday of said month, when and where the following 

things were had and done to wit: 

  

Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 

Lee, Council Vice President, Ward 2 (via teleconference); Ashby Foote, 

Ward 1 (via teleconference); Brian C. Grizzell, Ward 4; Vernon Hartley, 

Ward 5 and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 7. Directors: Louis Wright, Chief 

Administrative Officer; Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of the Council, 

Alice Patterson, Deputy Clerk of Council and Catoria Martin, City 

Attorney.  

 

Absent:   Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

  

The meeting was called to order by President Banks. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

ORDER APPROVING THE PAYMENT OF LODGING AND PER DIEM 

EXPENSES TO INDIVIDUALS PROVIDING MOCK ACCREDITATION 

SERVICES TO THE JACKSON POLICE DEPARTMENT ON OCTOBER 10 

THROUGH OCTOBER 12, 2023. 

  

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Police Department received accreditation from the 

Mississippi Law Enforcement Accreditation Commission (MLEAC) in the year 2016; and 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson Police Department's accreditation is now on the schedule 

for renewal and will require assessment by the Mississippi Law Enforcement Accreditation 

Commission; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department would like to prepare for the assessment by 

engaging the services of individuals certified by the Mississippi State Board of Minimum 

Standards to perform a mock or trial assessment; and 

 

WHEREAS, the purpose of mock or trial assessment is to identify and correct procedures, 

policies, or practices which may be problematic prior to the actual accreditation assessment; and 

 

WHEREAS, the Jackson Police Department had discussions with two individuals who are 

amenable to assisting it with a mock trial assessment during the period October 10-12, 2023 if 

lodging and meals or per diem expense is paid; and 

 

WHEREAS, a team consisting of LaTonya Norris and Derek L. Brown will provide the 

mock trial assessment; and 

 

WHEREAS, LaTonya Norris is the only team member requiring lodging; and 

 

WHEREAS, reservations at the Homewood Suites in Fondren at the rate of $154.00 per 

night for a total cost of $344.19 have been made; and 

 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 11, 2023 4:00 P.M.                   192 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

WHEREAS, the second member of the team is local and will not require lodging 

accommodations but will be provided with meals; and 

 

WHEREAS, the per diem expense of $46.00 per day for each member of the team which 

totals $92.00 per day has been computed; and 

 

WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served by authorizing the 

payment of the sum of $344.19 for the lodging of LaTonya Norris; and 

 

WHEREAS, the best interest of the City of Jackson would be served authorizing the 

payment of $46.00 per day for each member of the mock assessment team serves the best interest 

of the City. 

 

IT IS, THEREFORE, ORDERED that the sum of $344.19 may be paid for the lodging 

of LaTonya Norris. 

 

IT IS THEREFORE ORDERED that the sum of $46.00 per day may be paid to LaTonya 

Norris as per diem expense. 
 

Council Member Hartley moved adoption; Council Member Grizzell seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

President Banks recognized Deputy Chief, Deric Hearn, Jackson Police Department, who 

provided a brief overview of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Banks, called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Grizell and Lindsay. 

Nays – None.  

Abstention – None.   

Absent – Lee and Stokes.   

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

Note:  Vice President Lee joined the meeting.  

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE JACKSON CITY COUNCIL COMMITTING TO 

SUPPORT THE FINANCIAL OBLIGATIONS FOR ENERGY EFFICIENT STREET 

LIGHTING FOR JACKSON STATE UNIVERSITY. 

 

WHEREAS, the City of Jackson, Mississippi is committed to the well-being and progress of the 

community as a whole; and 

WHEREAS, more efficient, attractive and consistent street lighting is needed within the City 

of Jackson to reduce energy use, provide adequate lighting for safer and more attractive neighborhoods, 

and save money; and 

WHEREAS, on August 29, 2023, the Jackson City Council President received a request from 

Jackson State University Acting President, Dr. Elayne H. Anthony, requesting financial support for 

energy efficient street lights; and 

WHEREAS, it is in the best interest of the citizens of the City of Jackson that the Jackson City 

Council express full support and commitment for financial support to cover the added $760.20 in monthly 

cost for the maintenance and service related to installing energy-efficient street lights along Lynch 

Street between Dalton Street and University Boulevard. 

THEREFORE, IT IS HEREBY RESOLVED that the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi hereby commits to the City of Jackson paying the additional costs of $760.20 per month 

to support the installment of energy efficient street lights for Jackson State University. 



SPECIAL MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                     WEDNESDAY, OCTOBER 11, 2023 4:00 P.M.                   193 

MINUTE BOOK 6Y 
 

Council Member Grizzell moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Grizzell, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

DISCUSSION: MUNICIPAL GARAGE PURCHASING PROCUREMENT: 

President Banks stated that an item was passed on October 10, 2023 that included vehicle 

parts for Auto Zone as well as service repair and Auto Zone does not do service repair. 

Catoria Martin, City Attorney, explained the MS State Statue in regards to service repair 

for vehicles and a repair is treated the same as a commodity and confirmed parts being used 

for each vehicle. President Banks recognized Robert Lee, Interim Director of Public 

Works, who provided a brief overview of said item by stating that parts for vehicles were 

from Auto Zone, whereas, the sewer related service was from Mid-South. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

The following reports/announcements were provided during the meeting: 

 

Council Member Hartley announced the following: 

 

• Everyone is invited to attend Jim Hill High School Homecoming Parade. 

 

 * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until Regular Zoning Meeting at 2: 30 p.m. on October 16, 2023.  At 4:39 p.m., the 

Council stood adjourned.  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,  ______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST: 

  

             _______________________________        

                                                                        CITY CLERK 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



shanekiaj
Text Box



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             194 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

BE IT REMEMBERED that a Regular Zoning Meeting of the City Council of Jackson, 

Mississippi was convened in the Council Chambers in City Hall at 2:30 p.m. on October 16, 2023, 

being the third Monday of said month when and where the following things were had and done to 

wit: 

 

 Present: Council Members: Aaron Banks, Council President, Ward 6; Angelique 

Lee, Council Vice President, Ward 2 (via teleconference); Ashby Foote, 

Ward 1 (via teleconference); Vernon Hartley, Ward 5 (via teleconference) 

and Virgi Lindsay, Ward 7. Directors: Shanekia Mosley-Jordan, Clerk of 

Council; Valerie Brown, Deputy Clerk of Council; Ester Ainsworth, Zoning 

Administrator and Kristie Metcalfe, Deputy City Attorney. 

 

 Absent:    Kenneth I. Stokes, Ward 3 and Brian Grizzell, Ward 4. 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

   

The meeting was called to order by President Aaron Banks. 

  

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * *  

 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 

with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4223, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 

and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 

zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 

and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

 

ORDER GRANTING VISHAL KUMAR S. PATEL A CONDITIONAL USE 

PERMIT TO ALLOW FOR AN EXTENDED STAY HOTEL WITHIN A C-3 

(GENERAL) COMMERCIAL DISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 

572 E. BEASLEY RD. (PARCELS 709-361-8), CASE NO. 4223. 

  

            WHEREAS, Vishal Kumar S. Patel has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for an 

extended stay hotel within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located at 572 E. 

Beasley Rd. (Parcels 709-361-8) in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 

Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 

has recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit to allow for an extended stay hotel within 

a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located at 572 E. Beasley Rd. (Parcels 709-

361-8); and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 

that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, October 16, 

2023 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 

City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 

petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on September 7, 2023 and September 21, 2023 

that a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on September 27, 2023, all as 

provided for by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that 

the Jackson City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Conditional Use Permit within 

the existing C-3 (General) Commercial District of the City of Jackson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 

opinion that proposed use is compatible with the character of development in the vicinity relative 

to density, bulk and intensity of structures, parking, and other uses and that a Conditional Use 

Permit be granted to operate an extended stay hotel for the property located at 572 E. Beasley Rd. 

(Parcels 709-361-8) within the existing C-3 (General) Commercial District of the City of Jackson.  



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             195 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 

Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

A parcel of land containing 1.7917 acres, more or less, being situated in the Southwest ¼ of 

Section 1, Township 6 North, Range 1 East, City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds 

County, Mississippi, and being more particularly described by metes and bounds as follows, 

to wit: 

Commence at a point of the west line of said Section 1, where the same is intersected by an 

extension of the southern line of Beverly Heights, Part 3, a subdivision, the map or plat of 

which is recorded in Plat Book 11 at Page 36 of the Chancery Records of Hinds County at 

Jackson, Mississippi, and run thence East for a distance of 755.70 feet along the said extension 

of the southern line of Beverly Heights, Part 3, to the southwest corner of the said Beverly 

Heights, Part 3; thence continue East for a distance of 336.04 feet along the said southern line; 

thence, South 89 degrees 25 minutes 46 seconds East for a distance of 1,510,46 feet along the 

said Beverly Heights, Part 3, to the northwest corner of that certain property which was 

conveyed to food Max of Mississippi, Inc., in Deed Book 3644 at Page 425 of the said 

Chancery Records of Hinds County, Mississippi; thence South 00 degrees 34 minutes 15 

seconds West for a distance of 733.90 feet along the western line of the said Max Food property 

to the POINT OF BEGINNING for the parcel herein described; thence continue South 00 

degrees 34 minutes 15 seconds West for a distance of 345.01 feet to the northern right of way 

line of Beasley Road; thence North 89 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds west for the distance of 

227.51 feet along the northern right of way line of Beasley Road; thence leave said northern 

right of way line and run North 01 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East for a distance of 345.0 

feet; thence South 89 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds East for distance of 224.93 feet to the 

POINT OF BEGINNING. 

Being the same property conveyed to ESA P PORTFOLIO L.L.C. (f/k/a BRE/ESA properties 

L.L.C.) by Deed from Summit Hotel Properties, LLC, a South Dakota Limited liability 

company of record in book 6509, page 161, said Register's Office. 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Conditional Use Permit to operate an extended stay 

hotel within a C-3 (General) Commercial District for the property located at 572 E. Beasley Rd. 

(Parcels 709-361-8). The Conditions of the Use Permit shall be that it is granted on an annual 

basis; that it be granted to Vishal Kumar S. Patel, the owners/operators of the extended stay hotel, 

that subsequent owners or operators of an extended stay hotel at the location must apply for and 

receive a new Use Permit and that compliance with adopted property maintenance, building, fire 

and Zoning codes be maintained at all times.  However, that before a Use Permit is issued for any 

structure to be erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant must meet the requirements 

established through the Site Plan Review process. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 
 

There was no representative from the Applicant.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley and Lee and Lindsay 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             196 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 

with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4224, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 

and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 

zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 

and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 

President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 
 

ORDER GRANTING BRIA & ALVIN LYLES A USE PERMIT TO ALLOW FOR 

THE PLACEMENT OF A MANUFACTURED HOUSE WITHIN A R-4 (LIMITED 

MULTI-FAMILY) RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT ON THE PROPERTY LOCATED 

AT 0 FOREST GLEN DR. (PARCEL 720-10-5), CASE NO. 4224. 
 

            WHEREAS, Bria & Alvin Lyles have filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for the 

placement of manufactured house within a R-4 (Limited Multi-Family) Residential District on the 

property located at 0 Forest Glen Dr. (Parcel 720-10-5) in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District 

of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, 

has recommended approval of a Use Permit to allow for the placement of a manufactured house 

within a R-4 (Limited Multi-Family) Residential District on the property at 0 Forest Glen Dr. 

(Parcel 720-10-5); and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 

that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, October 16, 

2023 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 

City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 

petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on September 7, 2023 and September 21, 2023 

that a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on September 27, 2023, all as 

provided for by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that 

the Jackson City Planning Board had recommended approval of the petitioned Use Permit within 

the existing R-4 (Limited Multi-Family) Residential District of the City of Jackson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 

opinion that proposed use would not be detrimental to the continued use, value, or development of 

properties in the vicinity and that a Use Permit be granted to allow for the placement of a 

manufactured house within the existing R-4 (Limited Multi-Family) Residential District for the 

property at 0 Forest Glen Dr. (Parcel 720-10-5) located in the City of Jackson.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 

Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

BEG NE COR NW ¼ SW ¼ SEC 9 S 1187.93 FT WLY 378.49 FT N  

1184.63 FT E 356.18 FT TO POB IN NW ¼ SW ¼ SEC 9 T6 R1E. 

be and is hereby modified so as to approve a Use Permit to allow for the placement of a 

manufactured house within a R-4 (Limited Multi-Family) Residential District on the property 

located at 0 Forest Glen Dr. (Parcel 720-10-5).  However, that before a Use Permit is issued for 

any structure to be erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant must meet the 

requirements established for the placement of a manufactured house and through the Site Plan 

Review process.  The requirements for the placement of a manufactured house shall be that: 

▪ The unit is not located in the R-1A & R-3 Residential Districts;  

▪ The unit is new or less than ten (10) years old; 

▪ The units are similar to surrounding neighborhood features; 

▪ Landscaping is similar to surrounding neighborhood features; 



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             197 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

▪ The permanent hitch, wheels, axles, or other devices allowing transportation are removed;  

▪ The unit is erected on a conventional foundation and is permanently affixed to the 

property;  

▪ Permanent water and sewer facilities are available to the site; The unit has a HUD 

Certification Label (tag); and 

▪ Prior to the placement of the unit on the site and the issuance of a building permit, 

documented approval of the unit from the State of Mississippi Fire Marshall’s Office must 

be obtained. 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Vice President Lee seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

There was no representative from the Applicant.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 

with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4225, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 

and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 

zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 

and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

 

ORDER GRANTING ERNEST KING JR. A SPECIAL EXCEPTION TO ALLOW 

FOR A PRIVATE HORSE FACILITY\STABLE WITHIN A R-1 (SINGLE-

FAMILY) RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 526 

EDEN DOWNS RD. (PARCELS 844-170 & 844-170-2), CASE NO. 4225. 

WHEREAS, Ernest King Jr. has filed a petition for a Special Exception to allow for a 

private horse facility\stable within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District for the property 

located at 526 Eden Downs Rd. (Parcels 844-170 & 844-170-2), in the City of Jackson, First 

Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, the Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing 

has recommended approval of a Special Exception to allow for a private horse facility\stable within 

a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District; and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 

that a meeting of the Jackson City Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., October 

16, 2023 to consider said petition based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 

City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 

petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on September 7, 2023 and September 21, 2023 

that a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on September 27, 2023, as 

provided for by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that 

the Jackson City Planning Board had recommended approval of a Special Exception for the above 

described property within an existing R-1 (Single-Family) Residential Zoning District of the City 

of Jackson; and 



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             198 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, it appears to the Jackson City Council that the documents are in order, and 

that the recommendation of the Planning Board to approve a Special Exception to allow for a 

private horse facility\stable within a R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District does support the 

promotion of the public health, safety, morals, the general welfare of the community and the 

granting of such will not adversely affect adjacent property owners.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI:  

That the property located in the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Jackson, Mississippi, and 

being more particularly described as follows: 

PARCEL I  

Being situated in the northeast quarter of section 21, Township 5 N, range 1 W, Hinds 

County, Mississippi and being more particularly described by meats and bounds as follows, 

to wit: 

Commence at the southwest corner of the southeast quarter of the northeast quarter of 

section 21 and run thence W for a distance of 605 point 25 feet; vents run north for a distance 

of 525.30 feet to the center of a drainage ditch; thence leave said center of drainage ditch 

and run N 89 degrees 18 minutes 17 seconds W for a distance of 718.24 feet along an 

existing fence line to the eastern line of Eden downs Rd. Dance N 00 degrees 24 minutes 

56 seconds W for a distance of 120.0 feet along the old eastern line of Eden downs Rd. To 

a ferrous rod which marks the point of beginning for the parcel herein described; Thence 

leave said eastern line and run S 99 degrees 09 minutes 20 seconds east for a distance of 

750.61 feet to the center of a drainage ditch; thence N 10 degrees 40 minutes 17 seconds 

east for a distance of 34.20 feet along the said Sinner; that's N 36 degrees 12 minutes 35 

seconds east for a distance of 27.31 feet along the said center; Thence N 44 degrees 51 

minutes 15 seconds east for a distance of 38.42 feet along the said center; Thence N 15 

degrees 16 minutes 45 seconds east for a distance of 79.32 feet along the Sid center; that's 

north 12 degrees 00 minutes 32 seconds east for a distance of 64.61 feet along the said 

center; That's N 43 degrees 00 minutes 05 seconds east for a distance of 21.76 feet along 

the said center; thence N 02 degrees 23 minutes 23 seconds W for a distance of 63.36 feet 

along the said center that's N 26 degrees 16 minutes 23 seconds east for a distance of 14.39 

feet along the said center; Thence S 55 degrees 06 minutes 39 seconds east for a distance 

of 18.47 feet; Thence N 21 degrees 12 minutes 46 seconds east for a distance of 19.74 feet 

along the center; Thence north 08 degrees 52 minutes 23 seconds W for a distance of 91.17 

feet along the said center of a drainage ditch; thence leave said center of a drainage ditch 

and run S 88 degrees 10 minutes 54 seconds east for a distance of 70.56 feet to a fence 

corner; Thence N 11 degrees 42 minutes 47 seconds east for a distance of 206.0 feet along 

the fence line to a fence corner; Thence N 76 degrees 52 minutes 26 seconds W for a 

distance of 783.81 feet along the existing fence line do I fence corner; thence South 01 

degrees 00 minutes 40 seconds W for a distance of 81.71 feet along a fence line to a ferrous 

metal rod; thence leave said fence line and run N 87 degrees 22 minutes 40 seconds W for 

a distance of 230.47 feet to the Sid eastern line of Eden downs Rd. Thence S 01 degrees 26 

minutes 55 seconds W for a distance of 273.55 feet along the said eastern line of Eden 

downs Rd. Thence S 00 degrees 04 minutes 37 seconds east for a distance of 451.50 feet 

along the Sid eastern line of Eden down roads to the point of beginning, containing 14.9161 

acres more or less. (Plat or survey by Robert B Barnes, R. P. L. S., is attached hereto as 

exhibit A in aid or and as a part of this description. 

LESS AND EXCEPT FROM THE WARRANTY herein is 0.0776 acres, more or less, lying 

in the northeast corner of the above-described property which lies between the deed line 

and the existing fence line. They said grand tours do hereby remise, release and quitclaim 

their rights and interests in and to this 0.0778 acre, more or less, to the said grantees. 

 

PARCEL II  

Part of the SE ¼ of the capital N Capital SE ¼ of the NE ¼ of Section 21. TNS 5. The First 

Judicial District, Jackson, Hinds County, Miss. As established by Robert B Barnes, R. P. L. 



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             199 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

S, per a survey dated December 19, 1992 and run thence a 90 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds 

dash 608.25 feet; Run this capital N 60 degrees 00 minutes 00 seconds S - 529.30 feet; run 

thence in 85 degrees 14 minutes 47 seconds in dash 720.14 feet to the east line of Eden 

towns road; Run thence N 00 degrees 24 minutes 56 seconds north 270.00 feet along the 

east line of Eden downs Rd. to an iron pin; Run that's N 00 degrees 04 minutes 37 seconds 

West 59.40 feet along the east line of Eden downs Rd. to an iron pen and the point of 

beginning; Continue thence N 00 degrees 06 minutes and 37 seconds north 152.26 feet 

along the east line of Eden downs Rd. to an iron pin; Thence leaving Eden downs Rd. Run 

N 68 degrees 19 minutes 08 seconds E 256.80 feet along a westward extension of an existing 

fence and an existing fence to an iron pin; Run thence S 00 degrees 06 minutes 37 seconds 

N 240.05 feet to an iron pin; Run thence S 85 degrees 35 minutes 23 seconds north 372.02 

feet to the point of beginning. Containing 1.000 acres more or less. 

be and is hereby granted a Special Exception to allow for a private horse facility\stable within a 

R-1 (Single-Family) Residential District for the property located at 526 Eden Downs Rd. (Parcels 

844-170 & 844-170-2).   However, that before for any structure is erected or use thereof on the 

said property, the applicant must meet the requirements established through the Site Plan Review 

process. 

   

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

         

President Banks recognized, Joe Deaton, Representative for the Applicant, who spoke in favor 

of a Special Exception to allow for a privately owned horse facility/stable within a R-1 (Single 

Family) Residential District.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

President Banks recognized Zoning Administrator Ester Ainsworth who provided the Council 

with a procedural history of Zoning Case No. 4226, including all applicable ordinances, statutes, 

and a brief review of documents included in the Council agenda packets which were the applicable 

zoning map, future land use map, photos of the subject area, staff report, application with exhibits 

and planning board meeting minutes.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

 President Banks requested that the Clerk read the Order: 

 

ORDER GRANTING EARNEST WILLIAMS A USE PERMIT TO ALLOW FOR 

A NIGHT CLUB/BAR WITHIN A C80-C2 (LIMITED) COMMERCIAL 

SUBDISTRICT FOR THE PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1651 UNIVERSITY BLVD 

– SUITE B. (PARCEL 166-1), CASE NO. 4226. 

 

      WHEREAS, Earnest Williams has filed a petition for a Use Permit to allow for a night 

club/ bar located within a C80-C2 (Limited) Commercial Subdistrict for the property located at 

1651 University Blvd – Suite B. (Parcel 166-1) in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of 

Hinds County, Mississippi; and 

WHEREAS, Jackson City Planning Board, after holding the required public hearing, has 

recommended denial of a Use Permit to allow for a night club/ bar within a C80-C2 (Limited) 



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             200 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Commercial Subdistrict for the property located at 1651 University Blvd – Suite B. (Parcel 166-

1); and 

WHEREAS, notice was duly and legally given to property owners and interested citizens 

that a meeting of the Council would be held at the City Hall at 2:30 p.m., Monday, October 16, 

2023 to consider said change, based upon the record of the case as developed before the Jackson 

City Planning Board; and 

WHEREAS, it appeared to the satisfaction of the Jackson City Council that notice of said 

petition had been published in the Mississippi Link on September 7, 2023 and September 21, 2023 

that a hearing had been held by the Jackson City Planning Board on September 27, 2023, all as 

provided for by ordinances of the City of Jackson and the laws of the State of Mississippi, and that 

the Jackson City Planning Board had recommended denial of a Use Permit within the existing 

C80-C2 (Limited) Commercial Subdistrict of the City of Jackson; and 

 WHEREAS, the Jackson City Council, after having considered the matter, is of the 

opinion that the proposed use would not be hazardous, detrimental, or disturbing to present 

surrounding land uses due to noises, glare, smoke, dust, odor, fumes, water pollution, vibration, 

electrical interference, or other nuisances and that a Conditional Use Permit be granted  to allow 

for a night club/ bar within a C80-C2 (Limited) Commercial Subdistrict for the property located 

at 1651 University Blvd – Suite B. (Parcel 166-1).        

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDERED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI: 

That the property located in the City of Jackson, First Judicial District of Hinds County, 

Mississippi, more particular described as follows: 

Being situated in the SW ¼ of Section 9, T5N, RI E, City of Jackson, Hinds County, 

Mississippi, and being more particularly described by metes and bounds as follows: 

Commence at the intersection of the West right of way line of Old U. S. Highway No. 51 

(now Terry Road) with the South line of Lot 49 of   Mississippi Addition, a subdivision, 

the map or plat of which is recorded  in Plat Book 4 at page 90 of the Chancery records of 

Hinds County at Jackson, Mississippi, said intersection being the point of beginning for 

the parcel herein described; thence run 44.338 feet along the arc of a 6615.93 foot radius 

curve to the right in the said West right of way line, said arc having a 44.338 foot chord 

which bears S 400 39'05" W, thence S 400  56' 25" W for a distance of 11.84' along the 

West right of way line;  thence N 60 0 48' 35" W for a distance of 3575 ' along the said 

West right of way line; thence S 400 56' 25" W for a distance of 225.10' along the said 

West right of way line; thence leave said West right of way line and run N 670 03' 35" W 

for a distance of 335.45' to an iron pin which marks the Southwest corner of the T. R. Evans 

property as described in Deed Book 699 at page 366 of the said Chancery Clerk Records 

of Hinds County; thence N 18 0 34' 21" E for a distance of 351.885' to the South right of 

way line of U.S. Highway No. 80; thence S 820 46' 00" E  for a distance of 349.515' along 

the said South right of way line of U. S.  Highway No. 80; thence run 36.243 feet along the 

arc of a 3173.50 foot radius curve to the left, said arc having a 36.43 foot chord which bears 

S 290 23' 58" W; thence S 290  04' 20" W for a distance of 78.70'; thence S 600 55' 40" E 

for a distance of 60.0' along the Westerly extension of the South right of way line of Somme 

Street; thence S 290 04' 20" W for a distance of 50.0' along the West line of the said 

Mississippi Addition to the Southwest corner of the said Lot 49 of Mississippi Addition; 

thence S 600 55' 40" E for a distance of 106.81' along the said South line of Lot 49 to the 

point of beginning, containing 3,488 acres, more or less. 

be and is hereby granted a Conditional Use Permit to allow for a night club/ bar within a C80-C2 

(Limited) Commercial Subdistrict for the property located at 1651 University Blvd – Suite B. 

(Parcel 166-1).  The Conditions of the Use Permit shall be that it is granted on an annual basis; 

that it be granted to Ernest Williams, the owner/operator of the night club/bar, that subsequent 

owners or operators of a night club/bar at the location must apply for and receive a new Use Permit; 

the distance requirements from any religious institutions, schools, funeral homes and that 

compliance with adopted property maintenance, building, fire, law enforcement and Zoning codes 

be maintained at all times.  However, that before a Use Permit is issued for any structure to be 



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             201 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

erected or use thereof on the said property, the applicant must meet the requirements established 

through the Site Plan Review process.     

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; Council Member Hartley seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

There was no representative from the Applicant.  

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

There was no opposition from the public. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 

RESOLUTION FOR THE 2023 CITY OF JACKSON URBAN RENEWAL PLAN. 

 

The City Clerk for the City of Jackson, Mississippi (the "City"), reported that pursuant to 

a resolution declaring the intention of the Mayor and City Council (the "Governing Body") of the 

City calling for a public hearing to be held at 10:00 o'clock a.m. on October 10, 2023, with respect 

to the Urban Renewal Plan (City of Jackson, Mississippi Planetarium Project 2023) (the "2023 

Urban Renewal Plan"), did cause a notice of the public hearing to be published in The Clarion 

Ledger and The Mississippi Link, both legally qualified newspapers published in the City and 

having a general circulation in the City on September 21, 2023, as evidenced by the proof of 

publication on file in the office of the City Clerk. The President of the Governing Body then called 

the meeting to order, and the public hearing was duly convened. At the time, all present were given 

an opportunity to present oral and/or written comments on the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan, which 

is included herein as EXHIBIT A. A general description of the testimony presented is set forth in 

EXHIBIT B hereto. At the conclusion of the public hearing, Councilperson Lindsay offered and 

moved the adoption of the following: 

RESOLUTION OF THE MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, APPROVING AND ADOPTING THE URBAN 

RENEWAL PLAN (CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM 

PROJECT 2023); PROVIDING FOR THE IMPLEMENTATION OF SUCH PLAN, 

AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES. 

WHEREAS, in accordance with Section 43-35-1 et seq. of the Mississippi Code of 1972, 

as amended from time to time (the “Urban Renewal Act”), the Governing Body by resolution duly 

adopted on September 12, 2023, approved the form of the proposed 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and 

directed such 2023 Urban Renewal Plan to be submitted to the Planning Board of the City (the 

“Planning Board”) for review and recommendations as to the conformity of the Urban Renewal 

Plan with the general plan for the development of the City as a whole; and 

WHEREAS, under the power and authority granted by the laws of the State of Mississippi 

(the "State") and particularly under the Urban Renewal Act the Governing Body of the City on 

September 12, 2023, did adopt a certain resolution (the "Public Hearing Resolution") entitled " 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF MAYOR AND CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI TAKING OFFICIAL ACTION TOWARDS THE APPROVAL 

OF THE CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, URBAN RENEWAL PLAN (CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023); SETTING A PUBLIC 

HEARING ON SUCH URBAN RENEWAL PLAN (CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 

PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023); AUTHORIZING AN URBAN RENEWAL PROJECT; 

AND FOR RELATED PURPOSES"; and 



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             202 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, as directed by the Public Hearing Resolution and as required by law, a Notice 

of Public Hearing was published in The Clarion Ledger and The Mississippi Link, both legally 

qualified newspapers published in the City and having general circulation in the City, and was so 

published in said newspapers on September 21, 2023; as evidenced by the publisher's proof of 

publication of the same heretofore presented to the Governing Body and filed with the City Clerk 

all in accordance with State law and attached hereto as EXHIBIT C; and  

WHEREAS, the Notice of Public Hearing generally described the 2023 Urban Renewal 

Plan and further called for a public hearing to be held in the regular meeting place of this Governing 

Body at the City Hall of the City at 260 S. President Street, Jackson, Mississippi, at the hour of 

10:00 o'clock a.m. on October 10, 2023, in order for the general public to state and present their 

views on the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan; and 

WHEREAS, prior to October 10, 2023 and pursuant to the Urban Renewal Act, the City 

did submit its 2023 Urban Renewal Plan to the Planning Board for review and said Planning Board 

did convene a meeting on September 27, 2023 at 1:30 pm and has submitted its written finding or 

recommendation to the City regarding the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and its conformance with the 

City’s general plan (the "Comprehensive Plan") for the development of the City as a whole; and 

WHEREAS, at 10:00 o'clock a.m. on October 10, 2023, the public hearing was held and 

all in attendance were given the opportunity to state and present their views on the 2023 Urban 

Renewal Plan; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023 authorizing the City to (a) pursue additional subsidy for the Urban Renewal 

Project (as defined in the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan) by participating and utilizing federal New 

Markets Tax Credits pursuant to Section 45D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 

and/or Mississippi Equity Investment Tax Credits pursuant to Sections 57-105-1, Mississippi Code 

of 1972, as amended and/or supplemented from time to time (the “MS NMTC Act”) (collectively, 

the “NMTC Financing”) to finance the Urban Renewal Project, (b) authorizing the use of a Public 

Entity (the “Public Entity”), including but not limited to the Jackson Redevelopment Authority 

(the “JRA”) to be utilized as defined specifically pursuant to § 57-105-1 (7)(b)(iii) of the MS 

NMTC Act as well as a “Public Benefit Corporation” as defined specifically pursuant to § 57-105-

1 (7)(b)(ii) of the MS NMTC Act (the “Public Benefit Corporation” or specifically the “JRA Public 

Benefit Corporation”), and (c) entering into or approving various leases, loans, development 

agreements and other financing arrangements with the Public Entity, the JRA Public Benefit 

Corporation or other NMTC Financing participants for the purpose of utilizing NMTC Financing 

as may be approved by further action of the Governing Body; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023, the Governing Body herby approves and acknowledges the form of the 

Operating Lease Agreement (the "Operating Lease Agreement") by and between the JRA Public 

Benefit Corporation and the City; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023, the Governing Body herby approves and acknowledges the form of the 

Development Services Agreement (the "Development Services Agreement") by and between the 

City, as Developer (as defined in the Development Services Agreement), JRA and the JRA Public 

Benefit Corporation; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023, the Governing Body herby approves and acknowledges the form of the JRA 

Ground Lease Agreement (the "JRA Ground Lease Agreement") by and between JRA and the JRA 

Public Benefit Corporation; and  

WHEREAS, in connection with the approval of the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and the 

authority provided to the City pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution approved on 

September 26, 2023, the Governing Body herby approves and acknowledges the form of the City 



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             203 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Ground Lease Agreement (the "City Ground Lease Agreement") by and between the City and the 

JRA.  

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE GOVERNING BODY OF THE 

CITY, ACTING FOR AND ON BEHALF OF THE CITY, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1. That all the findings and facts made and set forth in the preamble to this 

resolution shall be and the same are hereby found, declared and adjudicated to be true and correct. 

Capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the same meaning as set forth in the Public Hearing 

Resolution. 

SECTION 2. Pursuant to the certified copy of the resolution of the City's Planning Board, 

a copy of which is attached hereto as EXHIBIT D, the Planning Board reviewed the 2023 Urban 

Renewal Plan on September 27, 2023 and has found that the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan is necessary 

and appropriate to facilitate the proper growth and development of the community in accordance 

with sound planning standards and local community objectives and is consistent with the 

Comprehensive Plan.  

SECTION 3.  The Governing Body herby approves the Operating Lease Agreement by 

and between the JRA Public Benefit Corporation and the City in the form attached as EXHIBIT 

E.   

SECTION 4. The Governing Body herby approves the Development Services Agreement 

by and between the City, as Developer (as defined in the Development Services Agreement), JRA 

and the JRA Public Benefit Corporation in the form attached as EXHIBIT F; and  

SECTION 5. The Governing Body herby approves the JRA Ground Lease Agreement by 

and between JRA and the JRA Public Benefit Corporation in the form attached as EXHIBIT G; 

and  

SECTION 6. The Governing Body herby approves the City Ground Lease Agreement by 

and between the City and the JRA in the form attached as EXHIBIT H; and  

SECTION 7. That the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan will afford maximum opportunity, 

consistent with the sound needs of the City as a whole, for the rehabilitation or redevelopment of 

the 2023 Urban Renewal Area.  

SECTION 8. That the Governing Body is now fully authorized and empowered under the 

provisions of the Urban Renewal Act, to adopt and implement the 2023 Urban Renewal Plan and 

does hereby adopt and approve said 2023 Urban Renewal Plan to be implemented for the 

development and redevelopment of the City in conjunction with the 2023 Urban Renewal Project. 

SECTION 9.  This resolution shall become effective immediately and all resolutions and 

orders, or parts thereof, in conflict herewith are, to the extent of such conflict, repealed.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[Remainder Left Intentionally Blank] 

 

 



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             204 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

URBAN RENEWAL PLAN 

(CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023) 

URBAN RENEWAL PLAN 

(CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI PLANETARIUM PROJECT 2023) 

 

I. Existence of Urban Renewal Plan 

This Urban Renewal Plan shall constitute an urban renewal plan of the City of Jackson, 

Mississippi (the "City"), as set forth in Mississippi Code Annotated § 43-35-13, as amended. 

II. Designation of Urban Renewal Area 

The City Council of the City of Jackson, Mississippi, did by Resolution of October 10, 

2023, declare that certain property located in the City of Jackson, Hinds County, Mississippi area 

of operation and more particularly described in EXHIBIT "A" hereto to be blighted within the 

meaning of Mississippi Code Annotated § 43-35-3(i) and did designate such area as set forth in 

EXHIBIT "A" hereto as appropriate for an urban renewal project.  The property described on 

EXHIBIT "A" hereto is the "Urban Renewal Area" for purposes of this Urban Renewal Plan. 

III. The Urban Renewal Project 

The Urban Renewal Project shall be the repairing, improving, adorning and equipping the 

Arts Center of Mississippi and the Russell C. Davis Planetarium and for other authorized purposes 

in connection with same including constructing, improving and paving streets, sidewalks, 

driveways, parkways, walkways and public parking facilities located at 201 E. Pascagoula Street, 

Jackson, MS 39201 (the "Urban Renewal Project") within the City, which site shall be the property 

described in EXHIBIT "A" hereto (the "Project Site").   

IV. Relationship to Local Objective 

The Urban Renewal Project will not require a zoning change to and shall be accomplished 

in accordance with the city zoning ordinance and building code unless exceptions are made in 

accordance with law.  The Urban Renewal Project will constitute an appropriate land use. 

V. Ownership/Operation of Urban Renewal Project 

The Project Site, currently owned and operated by the City, may be ground leased to the 

Jackson Redevelopment Authority (“JRA”), established as an urban renewal agency pursuant to 

Sections 43-35-1 through 43-35-37 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended (the "Urban 

Renewal Act").  JRA, acting pursuant to Sections 57-105-1 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as 

amended (the “MS NMTC Act”), intends to establish a “Public Benefit Corporation” (as defined 

therein) (the “PBC”) in order to facilitate the financing for the Project utilizing federal New 

Markets Tax Credits pursuant to Section 45D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended 

(the “Code”) and, if available, Mississippi Equity Investment Tax Credits of the MS NMTC Act.  

JRA may ground lease the Project Site to PBC for purposes of financing the Project pursuant to 

the MS NMTC Act.  JRA, the City and the newly formed public benefit corporation may enter into 

a joint development agreement, wherein the PBC will pay turnkey development payments to the 

City to facilitate the cost of construction of the Project.  Upon completion of the renovations, PBC 

may lease back the Urban Renewal Project to the City for operations. To provide for this Urban 

Renewal Project the City and JRA, as applicable, may enter the ground leases, the leaseback, the 

joint development agreement and/or any other agreement(s) as may be necessary with respect to 

the conveyance of the Project Site and the conveyance, development and operations of the Project 

all consistent with the provisions of the Urban Renewal Act and the MS NMTC Act.   



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             205 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

VI. Financing 

A. Pursuant to Sections 21-33-301 et seq., Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended and 

supplemented from time to time (the “City Bond Act”) and Sections 31-25-1 et seq., Mississippi 

Code of 1972, as amended and supplemented from time to time (the “Bank Act”), the City may  

issue either (a) general obligation bonds of the City, in one or more taxable or tax-exempt series 

in a total aggregate principal amount of not to exceed Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Series 2023 Bonds”),  (b) a general obligation bond of the City to be 

sold to the Mississippi Development Bank (the “Bank”), in one or more taxable or tax-exempt 

series, in a total aggregate principal amount of not to exceed Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand 

Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Series 2023 City Bond”), and/or (c) by entering into a taxable or tax-

exempt loan(s) with the Bank to borrow money from the Bank in a total principal amount not to 

exceed Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Series 2023 Loan”).  Such 

Series 2023 Bonds shall be issued in the form of one or more instruments.  The proceeds from sale 

of the Series 2023 Bonds may be used to provide the necessary funds for the Construction Project 

and/or Urban Renewal Project and may be contributed to the JRA to use all or a portion of such 

Series 2023 Bond proceeds as a leverage loan in accordance with the financing and as authorized 

pursuant to the Series 2023 City Bond Resolution dated September 26, 2023 and the Series 2023 

Indenture, dated the date of delivery thereof.    

VII. Ad Valorem Taxes 

The Urban Renewal Project shall be fully subject to ad valorem taxation, unless exempted 

by further action of the City Council of the City of Jackson, Mississippi, or unless otherwise 

exempt under Mississippi law. 

 

EXHIBIT "A" 

 PROJECT SITE DESCRIPTION 

 

That certain tract of land situated in the City of Jackson, Mississippi, Hinds County, 

Mississippi, more particularly described as follows: 

 

Located at 201 East Pascagoula Street in downtown Jackson, the planetarium is situated in 

one of Jackson's most vibrant cultural districts. Lamar Street runs underneath the 

planetarium.  

  



REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL 

                                 MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                             206 

 MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              207 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

EXHIBIT C 

 

COPY OF PROOF OF PUBLICATION 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              208 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

  



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              209 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              210 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 

 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT D 

PLANNING BOARD ORDER/RESOLUTION 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              211 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 

 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              212 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

EXHIBIT E 

OPERATING LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of _____________, 2023 (the 

“Effective Date”), is made between JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, a Mississippi 

nonprofit corporation (“Lessor”) and CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and 

politic of the State of Mississippi (“Lessee” or “City”).   

W I T N E S S E T H 

WHEREAS, Lessor has acquired a leasehold estate in the real property located in Hinds 

County, Mississippi, located at 201 E. Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39201 and more particularly 

described on Exhibit A attached hereto (the “Property”), pursuant to that certain Ground Lease 

Agreement of even date herewith (the “JRA Ground Lease”) between Lessor (in such capacity, 

“Ground Lessee”) and Jackson Redevelopment Authority, a body corporate and politic and urban 

renewal agency of the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“JRA”); and  

WHEREAS, JRA and City have entered into that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated 

as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or 

supplemented from time to time, the “City Ground Lease”) under which JRA holds a leasehold 

estate in the Demised Premises (as such term is defined in the City Ground Lease); and  

WHEREAS, pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease, Lessor (in its capacity as Ground Lessee) 

is leasing the Demised Premises (as defined below), which includes certain work in progress 

undertaken by City, as more particularly described in the JRA Ground Lease and the City Ground 

Lease (the “WIP”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease, the City Ground Lease and the 

Development Agreement (as defined in the JRA Ground Lease), City and JRA in cooperation with 

Lessor (in its capacity as Ground Lessee), will continue to cause development, repairing, 

improving, adorning and equipping the Russell C. Davis Planetarium and other authorized 

purposes with same including constructing, improving and paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, 

parkways, walkways and public parking facilities on the Property as more fully described on 

Exhibit B attached hereto (collectively, the “Improvements”); and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Development Agreement Lessor is appointing Lessee to 

provide for, or cause to be provided for, the completion of the construction and development of 

the Improvements on the Property; and  

WHEREAS, Lessor is willing to lease the Property, the WIP and the Improvements 

(collectively, the “Demised Premises”) to Lessee as provided herein for Lessee to operate the 

Demised Premises; and 

WHEREAS, Lessor, as borrower, is entering into a Loan and Security Agreement (the 

“CDE Loan Agreement”) and other ancillary loan documents (collectively, and together with the 

CDE Loan Agreement, the “CDE Loan Documents”) with Hope New Markets ___, LLC, a 

Mississippi limited liability company (the “Hope CDE Lender”) and Wells Fargo __, LLC, a 

_________ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE Lender” together with the Hope CDE 

Lender, the “CDE Lenders”), as lenders, pursuant to which the CDE Lenders will make certain 

loans to Lessor (collectively, the “CDE Loans”), the proceeds of which will be deposited into the 

Loan Disbursement Account (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and 

agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

LEASE OF THE DEMISED PREMISES 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              213 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

General.  The intent of Lessor and Lessee is that Lessor shall provide and lease to Lessee 

the Demised Premises which shall be operated under the terms and conditions of this Agreement.   

The Demised Premises.  The term “Demised Premises,” as previously referenced herein, 

shall mean the Improvements described on Exhibit B attached hereto to be constructed by Lessee 

(pursuant to the Development Agreement), together with the Property and the WIP, as previously 

referenced herein, granted to Lessor (in its capacity as Ground Lessee) pursuant to the JRA Ground 

Lease.   

Term.  The term of this Agreement shall begin on ________, 2024 (the “Commencement 

Date”) and continue until _______________, 2053, unless and until terminated in accordance with 

the provisions of this Agreement (“Term”).  Upon expiration of the Term or earlier termination in 

accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, Lessee shall leave the Demised Premises in 

good condition, normal wear and tear excepted. 

Compensation.  For and in consideration of this Agreement and in addition to the other 

duties, obligations and covenants of Lessee as provided in this Agreement, Lessee shall pay rent 

(“Base Rent”) as provided in the attached Exhibit C on the first (1st) day of each March, June, 

September and December for the Term, and shall pay all Operating Expenses (as defined below) 

pursuant to Section III.A.   

Damage and Destruction.  If the Demised Premises or any part thereof shall be damaged 

by fire or other casualty during the Term, Lessee, at Lessee’s sole cost and expense, shall rebuild 

or restore the damaged portion of the Demised Premises to at least the condition existing 

immediately prior to such destruction so that the Demised Premises can be used to furnish at least 

substantially the same type and quality of services as were furnished at the Demised Premises prior 

to such destruction or casualty.  In the event of such partial destruction, Lessor shall assign all 

rights Lessor may have to proceeds of any insurance maintained in respect of the Demised 

Premises to Lessee.  If, during the Term, the Demised Premises or any other structure material to 

the operation is substantially or totally destroyed by casualty, Lessee shall have the option either 

to terminate this Agreement or commence and proceed with reasonable diligence to restore the 

Demised Premises to substantially the same condition in which it was immediately prior to the 

happening of the casualty, except that Lessee’s obligation to restore shall not exceed the scope of 

the work required to be done in originally constructing the Improvements as set forth in the initial 

Plans and Specifications, nor shall Lessee be required to spend for such work an amount in excess 

of the insurance proceeds actually received by Lessee and/or Lessor as a result of the casualty.  In 

the event Lessee terminates this Agreement, Lessee shall at Lessor’s direction either proceed to 

collect any insurance payable with respect to such damage and pay such insurance proceeds to the 

Lessor or assign all rights Lessee may have to the proceeds of any insurance maintained by Lessee 

in respect of the Demised Premises to Lessor and thereafter Lessor shall have no claims against 

Lessee for the value of any unexpired portion of the Term or otherwise.  In the event Lessee 

exercises its option to rebuild or restore the Demised Premises as described above and subject to 

the CDE Loan Agreement, Lessor shall assign all rights Lessor may have to the proceeds of any 

insurance maintained in respect of the Demised Premises to Lessee.  Lessee shall give immediate 

written notice to Lessor and the CDE Lenders in case of fire, accident, or other casualty in or about 

the Demised Premises involving damage exceeding $100,000.  For purposes of this Section, the 

Demised Premises shall be deemed substantially destroyed if more than 50% of the Demised 

Premises are rendered unusable.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long as 

the CDE Loans remain outstanding, all insurance proceeds shall be applied in accordance with the 

CDE Loan Agreement. 

Utilities.  Lessee shall be solely responsible for and shall promptly pay all charges in 

respect of the Demised Premises for utilities and similar services incurred in connection with the 

operation of the Demised Premises. 

Taxes.  Lessee shall be responsible for and shall pay prior to delinquency any and all 

federal, state or local taxes (if any) incurred or assessed in connection with Lessee’s operating of 

the Demised Premises.  During the Term and to the extent permitted by law, Lessee agrees to take 

such actions as the statutes of Mississippi permit to ensure that the Demised Premises and all 

property and operations of Lessee thereon shall remain exempt from ad valorem taxation and other 

local taxation to the maximum extent allowed by the law. 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              214 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Quiet Enjoyment.  Lessor covenants that it holds title to the leasehold interest of the 

Demised Premises under the JRA Ground Lease.  As long as Lessee performs as provided in this 

Agreement, Lessor covenants and agrees that Lessee shall and may peaceably have, hold, and 

enjoy the occupancy and use of the Demised Premises to the extent provided herein free from 

molestation, eviction or disturbance by Lessor or any other persons or legal entity whatsoever.  

Subject to the CDE Loan Agreement, Lessor shall have the right to mortgage and/or grant security 

interests secured by liens on this Agreement as well as the JRA Ground Lease, the building, 

improvements and equipment comprising the Demised Premises. 

Care and Maintenance of the Demised Premises.  Lessee shall, at Lessee’s sole cost and 

expense, operate, maintain, repair, improve and upkeep the Demised Premises as needed and 

required and do any and all other acts or things to keep the Demised Premises or any equipment, 

facilities or fixtures contained therein or thereon in good condition and repair, reasonable wear and 

tear excepted.  As the owner of the Demised Premises, Lessor shall be responsible for all 

replacements related to the structure of the Demised Premises (“Structural Replacement”), unless 

due to the negligence of, abuse or misuse of, or failure to properly and regularly maintain such 

Demised Premises by Lessee, or its employees, agents, contractors or business invitees, in which 

case such Structural Replacement shall be at Lessee’s sole cost and expense.  If Lessor is required 

to pay for any Structural Replacements, Lessor may charge back to Lessee, as additional rent, and 

Lessee agrees to pay, its pro rata share of such cost as follows:  the costs incurred in connection 

with such Structural Replacement shall be amortized over the estimated remaining useful life of 

the Structural Replacement, or the Demised Premises, whichever is shorter, and only such annual 

amortized amounts as are applicable to the then existing lease term shall be payable by Lessee as 

additional rent, as a one-time payment equal to the present value of such annual amortized amounts 

determined using a reasonable discount rate.  In each case, Lessor shall send to Lessee a billing 

statement describing the Structural Replacement that was required, the date of the replacement, 

the cost of the replacement, and the remaining useful life of the Structural Replacement or the 

Demised Premises, as applicable, together with the calculation of the amount due from Lessee as 

additional rent.  Within thirty (30) days of receipt of the billing statement for the Structural 

Replacement, the Lessee shall pay to the Lessor said amount.  In the event that Lessee fails to 

maintain the Demised Premises in accordance with this Agreement, and such failure shall continue 

for a period of fifteen (15) calendar days after receipt of written notice by Lessee, Lessor may, but 

shall not be obligated to, undertake any such maintenance, repair, improvement and upkeep of the 

Demised Premises.  All cost and expense which Lessor incurs for such maintenance, repair, 

improvement and upkeep of the Demised Premises shall be deemed additional rent hereunder and 

shall be payable by Lessee to Lessor as such in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, 

but not later than the first (1st) day of the month following the month in which payment therefor 

is made by Lessor. 

Operating Lease.  Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that it is their mutual intent 

that this Agreement is, and shall be treated as an “operating” or “true” lease for federal income tax 

purposes and for accounting purposes and for all other purposes.  With respect to the 

Improvements, the parties acknowledge and agree that the building has an economic useful life of 

at least _______ (___) years. 

Lease Pledged to CDE Lenders.  Lessee acknowledges and agrees that this Agreement has 

been pledged to the CDE Lenders as collateral for the loans under the CDE Loan Agreement.  

Lessee hereby consents to Lessor’s collateral assignment of this Agreement to the CDE Lenders.  

In the event that (1) the CDE Lenders elect to exercise its remedies under the CDE Loan 

Documents, (2) the CDE Lenders or their assignees or designees or any purchaser (each, including 

the CDE Lenders, herein sometimes referred to herein as a “Successor Lessor”) succeeds to the 

rights of Lessor under this Agreement, whether through possession or foreclosure action or 

otherwise, and (3) this Agreement is not extinguished by such foreclosure or other action, then 

Lessee shall attorn to Successor Lessor and shall agree to perform its obligations under this 

Agreement for the benefit of Successor Lessor.  Lessee waives any and all rights to terminate this 

Agreement solely by reason of any default or foreclosure under the CDE Loan Documents.  If any 

court holds this Agreement to be terminated by reason of such a default or foreclosure and such 

Successor Lessor desires for this Agreement to remain in effect, then at the written request of the 

Successor Lessor, Lessee shall execute and deliver a new lease for the balance of the term at the 

same rental herein provided and upon the same terms and conditions as herein provided.  Lessee 

recognizes such Successor Lessor shall not be liable for, subject to, or bound by (a) any payment 

of the Base Rent more than one (1) rental period in advance, except prepayments in the nature of 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              215 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

security for the performance by Lessee of its obligations under this Agreement, but only to the 

extent such prepayments have been delivered to such Successor Lessor, (b) any amendment of this 

Agreement made without the consent of the CDE Lenders, (c) damages for any breach, act or 

omission of any prior lessor, (d) any offsets or defenses which Lessee might have against any prior 

lessor, (e) any obligations with respect to construction or completion of the Improvements, or 

following any fire or casualty, the restoration or repair of any improvement upon the Demised 

Premises, (f) warranties of any nature whatsoever, including any warranties respecting use, 

compliance with zoning, hazardous wastes or Environmental Laws (as defined below), title, 

authority, habitability, fitness for purpose or possession; or (g) any assignment or subletting by 

Lessee made in a manner not expressly permitted under this Agreement, unless such assignment 

or sublease was made with the consent of the CDE Lenders as of the date of such assignment or 

sublease.  Any liability of a Successor Lessor shall be limited to its interest in the subleased 

Demised Premises, and following any transfer of the subleased Demised Premises to another party, 

a Successor Lessor shall have no further liability under this Agreement. 

INSURANCE 

General Requirements.  During the term of this Agreement, Lessee shall maintain insurance 

against the loss or damage by fire or other risks from time to time included under standard extended 

coverage insurance policies with respect to the building and contents located therein on the 

Demised Premises.  Such insurance protection shall cover losses in aggregate amounts not less 

than eighty percent (80%) (or such other greater amount as may be required to prevent Lessor from 

becoming a co-insured) of the fair insurable value thereof and such insurable value of said 

purposes, if not agreed upon by Lessor and Lessee, shall be determined by an insurance appraiser 

chosen by them jointly.  Such policies shall be payable to Lessee and Lessor as their interest may 

appear.  Lessee shall maintain commercial general liability insurance coverage in such amount as 

it determines for bodily injuries or deaths of persons occurring in or about the Demised Premises 

and any property damage thereof.  All such policies of insurance shall, if requested by Lessor, 

name Lessor and/or the CDE Lenders as an additional named insured or loss payee as applicable.  

Without limiting the foregoing, for so long as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, Lessee shall 

maintain in full force and effect such insurance coverages as are required to be maintained under 

the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

Cancellation/Certification.  Certificates of insurance evidencing such coverage shall be 

delivered to Lessor prior to the Commencement Date and from time to time thereafter prior to 

expiration of the then-current policy terms.  All insurance policies or certificates thereof shall 

include provision for not less than thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to Lessor, the CDE Lenders 

and Lessee of cancellation or change in conditions or terms thereof. 

DUTIES AND OBLIGATIONS OF LESSEE 

In addition to the Base Rent, Lessee agrees to pay all costs and expense of every kind and 

nature associated with owning and operating the Demised Premises including, without limitation, 

all costs and expenses, Lessor shall pay or became obligated to pay in connection with the 

management, operation, maintenance, replacement and repair of the Demised Premises, which 

costs and expenses shall include, by way of illustration and not limitation, liability and casualty 

insurance costs, maintenance and repair costs, accounting expenses, management fees and 

expenses, ad valorem taxes, utilities costs, pest control costs, and the costs of the other defined 

services described herein (the “Operating Expense”).  Lessee shall, on the first day of each calendar 

month, reimburse Lessor for any Operating Expenses paid by Lessor.   

In addition to the compensation payable by Lessee to Lessor as provided in Section I.D. 

above, Lessee shall operate and maintain the Demised Premises, in compliance with but not limited 

to, the following terms: 

Subject to the terms of this Agreement, Lessee shall immediately fix all mechanical 

problems that affect the operation of the Demised Premises under the provisions of the Act (as 

defined below) at any time; 

Lessee shall procure, pay the costs of and maintain all casualty and disability insurance 

coverage’s, including coverage’s of personal property and contents on the Demised Premises as 

are mutually determined and agreed upon between Lessor and Lessee (consistent as to amount and 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              216 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

terms with recognized and recommended industry standards) with both Lessor and Lessee as 

named insured as their respective interest shall appear; 

Lessee shall pay directly all utility charges for all necessary utilities used on the Demised 

Premises; 

All persons employed in the management, supervision, operations, and maintenance of the 

Demised Premises shall be employees of Lessee or its subcontractors; 

Lessee shall pay all costs of maintenance and repair of equipment utilized on the Demised 

Premises; 

Lessee shall provide and pay all costs of supplies reasonable and necessary to the proper 

operation of the Demised Premises; 

Lessee shall pay such other costs and expenses and take such other actions as may be 

necessary for the proper operation and maintenance of the Demised Premises; 

The conduct of the operations and maintenance of the Demised Premises by Lessee shall 

at all times be in compliance with all other governmental statues and regulations applicable thereto 

(collectively, the “Legal Requirements”); 

(a) Throughout the Term, Lessee shall fully and punctually comply with all present and 

future Legal Requirements that are applicable to the Demised Premises and that relate to the quality 

or protection of the environment or the use, storage, handling and disposal of Hazardous Material 

(as defined below), including, without limitation, the National Environmental Policy Act of 1969, 

as amended, 42 U.S.C. § 4321 et seq., the Comprehensive Environmental Response Compensation 

and Liability Act, 42 U.S.C. § 9601 et seq., the Hazardous Materials Transportation Act, 49 U.S.C. 

§1801 et seq., the Toxic Substances Control Act, 15 U.S.C. §2601 et seq., the Resource 

Conservation and Recovery Act, 42 U.S.C. §6901 et seq., the Federal Water Pollution Control Act, 

as amended by the Clean Water Act of 1977, 33 U.S.C. §1251 et seq., and the Clean Air Act, 42 

U.S.C. §7401 et seq., and all regulations promulgated on the authority of the foregoing (the 

“Environmental Laws”).  The term “Hazardous Material” means any substance: 

the presence of which requires or may later require notification, investigation or 

remediation under any Environmental Law; or 

that is or becomes defined as a “hazardous waste,” “hazardous material,” “hazardous 

substance,” “pollutant” or “contaminant” under any Environmental Law, including, without 

limitation, the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (42 

U.S.C. §9601 et seq.), the Resource Conservation and Recovery Act (42 U.S.C. §6901 et seq.) and 

the associated regulations; or 

that is toxic, explosive, corrosive, flammable, infectious, radioactive, carcinogenic, 

mutagenic or otherwise hazardous and is or becomes regulated by any governmental authority, 

agency, department, commission, board, agency or instrumentality of the United States, any state 

of the United States, or any political subdivision within any state; or 

the presence of which on the Demised Premises causes or threatens to cause a nuisance on 

the Demised Premises or to adjacent properties or poses or threatens to pose a hazard to the 

Demised Premises or to the health or safety of persons on or about the Demised Premises; or 

that contains gasoline, diesel fuel or other petroleum hydrocarbons or volatile organic 

compounds; or 

that contains polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs), asbestos or urea formaldehyde foam 

insulation; or 

that contains or emits radioactive particles, waves or material, including, without 

limitation, radon gas. 

(b) In conducting its activities on the Demised Premises, Lessee shall fully and 

punctually comply, and shall cause its agents, employees, contractors, invitees and others on the 

Demised Premises (collectively, the “Lessee Parties”) to fully and punctually comply, with all 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              217 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

present and future Environmental Laws.  In that regard, Lessee must secure all permits and 

approvals required by virtue of applicable Environmental Laws in order for Lessee to lawfully use 

the Demised Premises. Lessee may not release or discharge, and will not permit any Lessee Party 

to release or discharge, air emissions, waste, effluent, Hazardous Material or contaminants from 

the Demised Premises in such a manner that the release or discharge will unlawfully pollute or 

contaminate air, ground (including sub-surface strata), or water (including ground water) or 

become a public nuisance.  Any treatment, testing or control of releases or discharges, including 

monitoring or mitigation measures, required as a result of Lessee’s operations will be solely 

Lessee’s responsibility.  

(c) To the extent authorized by Mississippi law, Lessee shall defend, indemnify and 

hold Lessor and its directors, officers, agents, employees and contractors harmless from and 

against all suits, actions, legal or administrative proceedings, demands, claims, liability, fines, 

penalties, loss, injuries, damages, expenses and costs, including, without limitation, interest and 

reasonable attorneys’ and paralegals’ fees for attorneys of the indemnitee’s choice, and costs of 

defense (direct and on appeal), settlement or judgment, that may be incurred or suffered by, or 

claimed or assessed against, any of the indemnitees under any Environmental Law for, with respect 

to, or as a direct or indirect result of the presence on, within or beneath the Demised Premises or 

the stormwater retention areas, if any, into which the Demised Premises drain (the “Stormwater 

Retention Areas”), or the transportation, handling, management, storage, spill, escape, seepage, 

leakage, spillage, discharge, emission or release to or from the Demised Premises or the 

Stormwater Retention Areas of, any Hazardous Material that is brought on the Demised Premises 

during the Term. 

(d) Lessor shall comply, and shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its 

design professional and contractors to comply, with all requirements of any Environmental Laws 

applicable to the Demised Premises in the design and construction of the Improvements.   

(e) The provisions of this Paragraph (9) will survive the expiration of the Term or the 

earlier termination of this Agreement.  

(a) Lessee shall comply with all Legal Requirements governing non-discrimination in 

public accommodations and commercial facilities (“Public Accommodation Laws”), such as the 

requirements of the Americans with Disabilities Act (42 U.S.C. § 12101) and all rules and 

regulations made on the basis of authority granted in that Act. 

(b) Lessee shall promptly make all alterations, modifications or improvements, 

including, without limitation, remodeling, renovation, rehabilitation, reconstruction, changes or 

rearrangements in structure and changes or rearrangements in wall configuration or full-height 

partitions that become necessary with respect to the Demised Premises in order to comply with 

any Legal Requirement that initially becomes effective after the Commencement Date. 

(c) The provisions of this Paragraph 10 will survive the expiration of the Term or the 

earlier termination of this Agreement. 

Lessee shall not subject Lessor’s interest in the Demised Premises to any mechanics’ or 

materialmens’ liens or other lien of any kind, except to the extent that the creation of such lien or 

liens is specifically authorized by a provision in this Agreement or the written consent of Lessor.  

Lessee shall not allow a lien or claim of any kind to be filed or claimed against Lessor’s interest 

in the Demised Premises during the continuance of this Agreement.  If such lien is claimed or filed, 

Lessee shall cause the Demised Premises to be released from the claim within 30 days after Lessor 

is given written notice of the claim and transmits written notice of its receipt to Lessee, whichever 

30-day period expires earlier.  Lessee will cause such release either by paying to the court the 

amount necessary to relieve and release the Demised Premises from such claim, or in any other 

manner which, as a matter of law, will result, within the 30-day period, in releasing Lessor and its 

title from the claim. 

SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

Compliance with New Markets Tax Credits.  Lessee acknowledges that the Improvements, 

as developed and constructed by Lessee, will be financed utilizing federal New Markets Tax 

Credits (the “Tax Credits”) authorized under Section 45D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, 

as amended (the “Code”), and both Lessee and Lessor agree that no action shall be taken by either 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              218 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

party without the written consent of both parties and the CDE Lenders that would in any way 

jeopardize or threaten the validity of the Tax Credits during the seven (7) year period wherein such 

Tax Credits are subject to recapture under Section 45D(g) of the Code (the “Compliance Period”), 

or Lessor’s status as a “qualified active low-income community business” as such term is defined 

in Section 45D of the Code and associated Treasury Regulations.  During the term of the CDE 

Loan Agreement, Lessee shall be entitled to use the Demised Premises in accordance with the 

terms contained in the CDE Loan Documents and shall not be permitted to use, or permit the use 

of, the Demised Premises for any Excluded Activity or Business (as defined below).  

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, Lessee shall have no right to cure any breach of 

the provisions of this Section IV.A. 

If Lessee or Lessor fails to keep, observe or perform any of the terms of this Agreement 

required to be kept, observed or performed by it, in addition to any notice hereunder, Lessor or 

Lessee, as applicable, shall give written notice of such failure to each Lender (as defined in the 

JRA Ground Lease) according to the notice provisions contained herein.  No notice of a failure or 

other default by Lessor or Lessee under or with respect to this Agreement shall be deemed to have 

been duly given unless and until a copy thereof has been so served on any Lender.  Lessor and 

Lessee agree to accept performance by any Lender with the same force and effect as though kept, 

observed or performed by Lessee or Lessor, as applicable.  Such Lender shall have the same right 

as Lessee or Lessor to enter the Demised Premises for the express purpose of keeping, observing 

or performing such terms.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Lessor 

and Lessee agree that in the event of a default under this Agreement that would give Lessor  the 

right, immediately or after the lapse of a period of time, to cancel or terminate this Agreement or 

exercise any of its other rights or remedies hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as applicable, shall not 

exercise such right unless and until (a) Lessor or Lessee has given written notice to each Lender 

of such default, act or omission, (b) Lessor or Lessee has given each Lender an opportunity to cure, 

and (c) such Lender or its designee has failed to cure or remedy the default, act or omission within 

thirty (30) days after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in the case of a default in 

the due and punctual payment of any taxes, insurance premiums or other charges or monetary 

amounts required to be paid under this Agreement and within sixty (60) days after the expiration 

of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in the case of a failure to observe or perform any other material 

terms of this Agreement to be observed or performed by Lessee, and if such default cannot with 

due diligence and good faith be cured within such sixty (60) day period, then such longer period 

of time as may be reasonably necessary, not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) days.  Any Lender 

which cures a default shall be subrogated to any and all rights of Lessor against Lessee with respect 

to such default. 

Lessor hereby acknowledges that the Lender may require estoppel certificates in 

substantially the form attached as Exhibit E to the Ground Lease (an “Estoppel Certificate”), 

consents, approvals or other written documentation from Lessor and from certain third parties that 

may from time to time have a property, regulatory or other interest in the Demised Premises in 

connection with any Leasehold Deed of Trust (as defined in the Ground Lease), and Lessor hereby 

agrees to (i) within twenty (20) days after written request, deliver all such documentation as Lessee 

or Lender may reasonably require (including, but not limited to an Estoppel Certificate), provided 

that nothing therein materially adversely affects the rights of Lessor, and (ii) promptly cooperate 

with Lessee and any Lender holding Leasehold Deed of Trust in order to obtain any such written 

documentation from any such third parties.  It is understood that Lessor shall not be obligated to 

expend any funds or incur any liabilities in implementation of the foregoing, and Lessor shall be 

reimbursed by Lessee for all such out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in 

connection therewith. 

As to Sections I.E., I.K., II.A., II.B., and IV.A. – F., (i) each Lender shall be a third party 

beneficiary hereof and (ii) such section shall be self-operative and no further instrument is 

necessary. 

For so long as the CDE Loan Agreement remains in effect, Lessee and Lessor shall provide 

such information as may be reasonably requested by the CDE Lenders to comply with 

requirements of the CDFI Fund (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement) with respect to the Tax 

Credit data collection.  The Demised Premises shall be operated in a manner that satisfies and shall 

continue to satisfy all restrictions applicable to the Demised Premises and real property on which 

the Demised Premises is located and qualified businesses under Section 45D of the Code and 

Treasury Regulations (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement).  



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              219 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Lessee shall use the Demised Premises only for the uses described in this Agreement and 

for no other purpose without the prior written consent of the CDE Lenders.  In no event shall any 

portion of the Demised Premises be used or subleased to any party for any trade or business, either 

as a principal or an ancillary business, that is an excluded business under Section 1.45D 

1(d)(5)(iii)(B) of the Treasury Regulations, including, without limitation, any one or more of the 

following:  (i) the rental to others of “residential rental property” (as such term is defined in Section 

168(e)(2)(A) of the Code); (ii) the operation of any private or commercial golf course, country 

club, massage parlor, hot tub or suntan facility, race track or other facility used for gambling, any 

store the principal business of which is the sale of alcoholic beverages for consumption off 

premises, or any check cashing store; (iii) the development or holding of intangibles for sale or 

license; (iv) farming (within the meaning of Section 2032A(e)(5)(A) or (B) of the Code); (v) the 

operation of any a bank, credit union or other financial institution; provided that any tenant or 

subtenant may operate a state or federally chartered bank or thrift; (vi) any type of sexually oriented 

business, adult entertainment or adult bookstore; including but not limited to any facility selling 

or displaying adult or pornographic books, literature, videotapes or materials in any medium, or 

any facility providing adult entertainment or other adult services (for purposes of this limitation, 

materials or activities shall be considered “adult” or “pornographic” if the same are not available 

for sale or rental to children under eighteen (18) years old because they explicitly deal with or 

depict human sexuality); (vii) escort services, dating services, or similar matchmaking or 

companion services; (viii) without limitation of (ii) above, bingo or similar games of chance, 

including, without limitation, the sale of lottery tickets; (ix) the sale of any firearms, ammunition 

or weapons, or a shooting gallery of any type; (x) the sale of fireworks, except as an incidental part 

of another primary business; (xi) pay day lending activities, pay day advances, pay check advances, 

or any similar type of lending activity; (xii) pawn shops, pawn brokers, car title lenders (which, 

for purposes of this limitation, will not include auto loans made by a state or federally chartered 

bank or thrift), or any similar type of lending activity; (xiii) check cashing services, except as an 

incidental part of another primary business or incident to the banking activities of a state or 

federally chartered bank or thrift; (xiv) debt collection activities, debt consolidation services, credit 

repair or credit restoration activities, except as such activities are incidental to banking activities 

conducted by a state or Federally chartered bank or thrift; (xv) bail bond services of any kind, or 

any activities of a bail bond agent; (xvi) the sale, distribution, marketing, or production of medical 

marijuana, medical cannabis or any constituent cannabinoids such as THC, as well as any 

substance considered to be synthetic cannabinoids (this limitation applies broadly, regardless of 

whether the activity is conducted by collectives, collective caregivers, co-ops, growers, or any 

other entity or organization); (xvii) the sale, distribution, or manufacture of any type of drug 

paraphernalia; (xviii) tattoo parlors or any establishment that performs tattooing; (xix) a bar, 

restaurant or other establishment, the principal business of which is the sale of alcohol for 

consumption on premises (for purposes of this limitation, an establishment shall be considered to 

have the sale of alcohol for consumption on premises as a principal business if: (a) alcohol sales 

amount to fifty percent (50%) or more of the establishment’s gross receipts in any month; (b) there 

is no independent, full service kitchen to service in restaurant dining; (c) there are no waiters and 

table service for dining; (d) minors are prohibited from entry during all or at specified times of the 

day; or (e) more than thirty percent (30%) of the square footage of the premises is devoted 

principally to the sale and consumption of alcohol on premises); (xx) businesses based 

predominantly on inbound or outbound telemarketing activities, except as such calls are an 

incidental part of another primary business; or (xxi) multi-level marketing activities, the sale of 

multi-level business opportunities or network marketing activities (individually and collectively, 

an “Excluded Activity or Business”).  If applicable, all subleases shall contain this Excluded 

Activity or Business restriction and shall provide for automatic termination if the Demised 

Premises are used for such Excluded Activity or Business. 

Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that pursuant to Section 57-105-1(7)(d) of the 

Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, this Agreement and the Demised Premises are exempt from 

any limitation or requirements with respect to leasing, acquiring and/or constructing public 

property or facilities in the State of Mississippi.   

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

Representations and Warranties by Lessor.  Lessor represents and warrants to Lessee as 

follows: 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              220 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Existence.  Lessor is a non-profit corporation, duly organized and validly existing in good 

standing under the laws of the State of Mississippi and has all requisite power and authority to 

execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. 

Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments contemplated by this 

Agreement to which Lessor is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, executed, and 

delivered by Lessor and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessor enforceable 

in accordance with their terms.  All requisite organizational action of Lessor has been taken to 

authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and 

the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not violate the Articles 

of Incorporation of Lessor as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Mississippi on 

______________, or the Bylaws of Lessor adopted on ___________, nor any note, indenture, 

mortgage, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessor is a party or by which it is bound. 

Representations and Warranties by Lessee.  Lessee represents and warrants to Lessor as 

follows: 

Existence.  Lessee is a body corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi and has all 

requisite power and authority to execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and the transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments contemplated by this 

Agreement to which Lessee is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, executed, and 

delivered by Lessee and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessee enforceable 

in accordance with their terms.  All requisite organizational action of Lessee has been taken to 

authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and 

the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not violate the Act or 

any note, bond, indenture, mortgage, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessee is a 

party or by which it is bound. 

NMTC Compliance.  Lessee will comply with the provisions of Section IV. 

TERMINATION 

During the Compliance Period, this Agreement may not be terminated without the written 

consent of both parties other than for non-payment of rent following failure to cure within ten (10) 

days of the payment due date or for Lessee’s breach of Section V.B(4).  This Agreement may be 

terminated by the non-violating party upon thirty (30) days written notice upon the following 

grounds (violations of this Agreement), where the same is not cured in said thirty (30) days: 

The failure of either party to materially abide by the terms and conditions of this 

Agreement; or  

The failure of either party to make timely payments called for under this Agreement. 

The termination of this Agreement for violations of its terms or the terms of the other 

written agreements between the parties shall not affect the aggrieved party’s rights to seek remedies 

as herein provided.  In addition to relief granted an aggrieved party, the party violating this 

Agreement agrees to pay all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred by the aggrieved 

party in enforcing this Agreement.  Provided further, however, that if a party claims the other party 

has violated this Agreement (or other written agreements between the parties) and if it is later 

determined that no such violation occurred, the party wrongfully claiming such violation agrees to 

pay all costs, including reasonable attorney fees, incurred by the aggrieved party in defending their 

conduct. 

REMEDIES 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              221 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Violation of this Agreement.  Upon the violation of any provision of this Agreement, the 

aggrieved party may seek relief from such violation under the terms of this Agreement, in law and 

in equity. 

Waiver of Rights, Remedies and Relief.  No delay or failure of either party to exercise any 

power or right hereunder, or under a similar agreement with third parties, shall operate as a waiver 

of any right, remedy or relief which either party is entitled; and such rights, remedies and relief 

shall be deemed continuous; nor shall a partial exercise preclude the party from full exercise 

thereof.   

MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS 

Notices.  Any notices or other communications hereunder shall be deemed to have been 

given when delivered personally, sent by electronic transmission (with confirmation receipt) to the 

following telephone numbers, or if deposited in the United States Mail, registered or certified, with 

proper postage and registration or certification fees prepaid, upon delivery by the post office 

addressed to the following addresses: 

TO LESSEE: 

 

City of Jackson, Mississippi 

_________________ 

_________________ 

Attention:  ____________ 

Facsimile: (___) ___-____ 

E-mail:   

  

 with a copy to: 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS 39157 

Attention:  Jetson G. Hollingsworth 

 Facsimile: (601) 985-4500 

 E-mail: jet.hollingsworth@gmail.com  

 and to: 

____________________ 

_________________ 

_________________ 

Attention:  _______________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

E-mail:   

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              222 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

TO LESSOR: 

 

JRA Public Benefit Corporation 

________________ 

________________ 

Attention:  President, Board of Directors 

Facsimile:  ________________ 

E-mail:   

with a copy to: 

 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS  39157 

Attention:  Jetson G. Hollingsworth 

 Facsimile: (601) 985-4500 

 E-mail: jet.hollingsworth@butlersnow.com  

 and to: 

____________________ 

_________________ 

_________________ 

Attention:  _______________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

E-mail:   

 

AND TO THE CDE LENDERS AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES AT THE 

ADDRESSES SET FORTH ON EXHIBIT E. 

or such other addresses as may be designated by any of the parties from time to time by 

written notice given to the other party in the aforesaid manner. 

Fair Market Rent, etc.  The parties hereto acknowledge and agree that this Agreement, the 

arrangements contemplated herein, and the compensation to be paid hereunder: (i) are 

commercially reasonable; (ii) are commensurate or less than fair market value; (iii) are consistent 

with and necessary for the legitimate business purposes of the parties; and (iv) are based on the 

reasonably anticipated costs of the items and services provided hereunder. 

Assignment/Right to Sublet.  This Agreement may be assigned by Lessor as provided for 

under Section I.K. hereof.  This Agreement and all rights pertaining hereto and obligations 

hereunder may also be assigned by Lessor or Lessee at any time only with the written consent of 

the other party, which consent will not unreasonably be withheld.  Other than as consented to in 

writing by Lessor, this Agreement shall not be assigned by Lessee to any other party.  



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              223 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall be entitled to sublet the Demised Premises or any part 

thereof with the written consent of the Lessor. 

Binding Effect.  The terms and provisions hereof shall be binding upon and shall inure to 

the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors, and 

assigns. 

Brokerage Commissions.  Each party represents and warrants to the other party that such 

warranting party has not incurred any obligation to pay any brokerage commissions by reason of 

the transaction contemplated hereunder.  Each party shall indemnify and hold harmless the other 

party against any and all loss, cost, damage, expense and liability whatsoever based upon any such 

commitment by such indemnifying party, but only to the extent authorized by Mississippi law. 

Applicable Laws.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties hereunder 

shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of Mississippi. 

Memorandum of Lease.  Lessor and Lessee shall sign, acknowledge and deliver a 

memorandum of lease in the form attached as Exhibit D for purposes of recording, where permitted 

by law.  The memorandum of lease may not, under any circumstances, be interpreted to amend 

any of the provisions of this Agreement which will, in all circumstances, govern and control. 

Further Assurances.  Each party hereby agrees to execute all such further instruments and 

documents, and to take all such further action as any other party may reasonably require in order 

to give effect to the provisions and purpose of this Agreement. 

Agreement Interpretation.  This Agreement has been freely and fairly negotiated by the 

parties hereto and has been reviewed and discussed by legal counsel for each of the parties, each 

of whom has had the full opportunity to modify the draftsmanship hereof and, therefore, the terms 

of this Agreement shall be construed and interpreted without any presumption or other rule 

requiring construction or interpretation against the interest of the party causing this Agreement to 

be drafted. 

Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which 

shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same agreement.  

Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by telecopier, facsimile 

machine, portable document format (“PDF”), Electronic Signature (as defined below) or other 

electronic means shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed counterpart of this 

Agreement.  The effectiveness of any such documents and signatures shall, subject to applicable 

laws, have the same force and effect as manually signed originals and shall be binding on the 

parties.  “Electronic Signature” means any symbol or process attached to a document or instrument 

and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign the document or instrument, including, 

without limitation, any digital representation of a party’s signature created by scanning such party’s 

signature or by any electronic signature service such as DocuSign. 

Subordination.  Lessee shall subordinate its rights under this Agreement to the lien of any 

mortgage or deed of trust executed in favor of any bank, insurance company or other lender and 

now or in the future in force against the Demised Premises, including, but not limited to, the CDE 

Lenders. 

Instrumentality.  Lessor is a governmental “instrumentality” of JRA, in compliance with 

the guidance provided by the Internal Revenue Service in Revenue Ruling 57-128, 1957-1 C.B. 

311.  Lessor will take all necessary actions to meet the requirements of an “instrumentality” of 

JRA under the provisions of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder, including, but 

not limited to, making covenants and certifications in connection therewith. 

[Signature page follows]  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Lease Agreement to be duly 

executed as of the Effective Date. 

  

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              224 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

LESSOR: 

 

JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, 

a Mississippi nonprofit corporation  

 

 

By:_____________ 

President, Board of Directors 

 

LESSEE: 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of 

Mississippi 

 

 

 

By:        

_______________ 

       _______________ 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 

EXHIBIT B 

IMPROVEMENTS 

 

EXHIBIT C 

BASE RENT 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

MEMORANDUM OF LEASE 

 

(attached behind) 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              225 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

EXHIBIT E 

 

ADDRESSES OF EACH LENDER AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES 

 

EXHIBIT F 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICE AGREEMENT 

 

DEVELOPMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT 

THIS DEVELOPMENT SERVICES AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and 

entered into as of __________, ____ 2023 (the “Effective Date”) by and among CITY OF 

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi (the “City” or 

“Developer”), and JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and 

politic and the urban renewal agency of the City (“JRA”) and JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT 

CORPORATION, a Mississippi nonprofit corporation (“QALICB”).  

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, Developer is the fee simple owner of certain real property located at 201 E. 

Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39201, as legally described on Exhibit A, attached hereto and 

incorporated herein by reference (the “Property”); 

WHEREAS, Developer is engaged in the development, repairing, improving, adorning and 

equipping the Russell C. Davis Planetarium and other authorized purposes with same including 

constructing, improving and paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways and public 

parking facilities on the Property (collectively, the “Project”);  

WHEREAS, Developer and JRA have entered into that certain Ground Lease Agreement 

dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or 

supplemented from time to time, the “City Ground Lease”) under which JRA holds a leasehold 

estate in the Demised Premises (as such term is defined in the City Ground Lease) and pursuant 

thereto and hereto, will participate in the development and financing of a portion of the Project 

with Developer and QALICB; 

WHEREAS, JRA and QALICB have entered into that certain Ground Lease Agreement 

dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or 

supplemented from time to time, the “JRA Ground Lease”) under which QALICB holds a 

leasehold estate in the Demised Premises (as such term is defined in the JRA Ground Lease) and 

pursuant thereto and hereto, will participate in the development and financing of a portion of the 

Project with Developer and JRA; 

WHEREAS, upon completion of the construction and development of the Project, 

QALICB will lease the Demised Premises to Developer pursuant to that certain Lease Agreement 

dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or 

supplemented from time to time, the “Operating Lease”) under which Developer will operate the 

Project;  

WHEREAS, QALICB desires to utilize new markets tax credit (“NMTC”) financing for 

the purpose of financing the costs of constructing a portion of the Project through qualified low-

income community investment loans which must meet certain terms and conditions to qualify for 

NMTCs under Section 45D of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”);  

WHEREAS, Hope New Markets ___, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company (the 

“Hope CDE”) and Wells Fargo ___, LLC, a _______ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE”, 

together with Hope CDE, the “CDE Lenders”) are providing certain loans in the aggregate original 

principal amount of $[____________] (collectively, the “QLICI Loans”) to QALICB, and 

QALICB and the CDE Lenders are parties to (i) that certain Loan and Security Agreement dated 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              226 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or supplemented 

from time to time, the “Loan Agreement”), (ii) that certain Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment 

of Leases and Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of the Effective Date (as the 

same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or supplemented from time to time, the 

“Leasehold Mortgage”), and (iii) certain other ancillary loan documents (collectively, and together 

with the Loan Agreement and the Leasehold Mortgage, the “Loan Documents”), which set forth 

the terms and conditions under which the CDE Lenders will make the QLICI Loans to QALICB 

for the Project; 

WHEREAS, the Project must satisfy all requirements of the Loan Documents, and any 

other agreements executed by QALICB, JRA or Developer in connection with the financing of the 

Project which may provide for funding of any portion of the Project (collectively, the “Financing 

Documents”), which set forth the terms and conditions for Project funding;  

WHEREAS, JRA, acting in cooperation with the QALICB and Developer, desire to assist 

in the financing of the Project and hereby acknowledge and agree to the terms and conditions 

herein; and 

WHEREAS, QALICB desires to appoint Developer exclusively to undertake the 

development and construction of the Project on behalf of QALICB in accordance with this 

Agreement, the Loan Documents, the Financing Documents, Section 45D of the Code, and all 

applicable laws. 

AGREEMENT 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing, of the mutual promises of the 

parties hereto, and of other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 

are hereby acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

1. Incorporation, Capitalized Terms.  The above Recitals are hereby incorporated by 

this reference.  Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the meaning 

given in the Loan Documents. 

2. Appointment.  QALICB hereby appoints Developer to provide the Development 

Services (as defined below) and confirms and ratifies the appointment of Developer with regard 

to any Development Services rendered by Developer prior to and as of the date hereof with respect 

to the development and construction of the Project.  

3. Authority and Obligations.  QALICB acknowledges and agrees that pursuant to this 

Agreement, Developer has the authority and the obligation to undertake, and Developer, as of 

________, ___ 2023 has undertaken and agrees to continue to undertake for the benefit of 

QALICB, the following services for the benefit of QALICB and the Project (collectively as set 

forth below, the “Development Services”):  

(A) act at the direction of QALICB in its relation with the CDE Lenders, project 

funders, and any governmental agency or authority with respect to matters relating to the 

development and construction of the Project as provided for in this Section 3;  

(B) at the direction of QALICB, select the architect, contractor, engineer, construction 

manager, and any other necessary third party consultants (collectively, the “Construction Parties”) 

in connection with preparation of the renderings, design, drawings, plans and specifications for the 

development and construction of the Project (“Plans and Specifications”), and negotiate and enter 

into all necessary contracts in compliance with all applicable public bid laws, regulations, orders 

and requirements of all governmental, judicial or legal authorities having jurisdiction over the 

Project (including without limitation the Construction Contract) for the Project in Developer’s 

name; 

(C) at the direction of QALICB, choose the products and materials necessary to equip 

the Project in a manner which satisfies all requirements of the Plans and Specifications;  

(D) at the direction of QALICB, monitor for reimbursement purposes the disbursement 

and payment of amounts owed to the Construction Parties selected to complete the Project; 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              227 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

(E) at the direction of QALICB, undertake alternative solutions within the scope of the 

budget approved by QALICB and the CDE Lenders (“Project Budget”) whenever design details 

affect construction feasibility or schedules;  

(F) be cognizant of and advise QALICB as needed with respect to any and all rules or 

regulations, city ordinances, including health and fire safety regulations, or any other requirements 

of law or governmental authorities applicable to the development and construction of the Project 

and to coordinate the services of professionals in connection therewith; 

(G) ensure contractors obtain all necessary permits and approvals for and in connection 

with the development and construction of the Project, including but not limited to securing all 

Project code approvals and obtain certificates of occupancy for the Project, and in obtaining a 

contractor payment and performance bond; 

(H) provide, and periodically update Project construction time schedule which 

coordinates and integrates the architect’s services with construction schedules; 

(I) at the direction of QALICB, cause the Project to be completed in a prompt and 

expeditious manner, consistent with good workmanship, and in compliance with the following: 

(i) the Plans and Specifications as they may be amended by the agreement of the 

parties hereto, satisfying the construction related reporting requirements of all Project funders 

which are imposed upon QALICB or the Project and otherwise assist QALICB in meeting those 

and related requirements; 

(ii) applicable requirements set forth in the Loan Documents, but only such 

requirements that are in connection with and directly related to the Development Services set forth 

in Section 3(A) through (X) of this Agreement, including the obligations to cause the contractor to 

obtain and maintain insurance and/or bonding as set forth therein, and Developer hereby covenants 

that, notwithstanding any provision to the contrary in this Agreement and except as specifically 

permitted by the Loan Documents, it shall not approve any change or the use of any savings in any 

line item of the Project Budget to fund an actual or potential shortfall in any other line item thereof 

except in full compliance with the terms of the Loan Documents and with the consent of QALICB; 

and  

(iii) any and all zoning regulations, county ordinances, including health, fire and safety 

regulations, and any other requirements of federal, state and local laws, rules, regulations and 

ordinances applicable to construction of the Project, and in performance of its responsibilities 

hereunder, Developer covenants and agrees to observe and perform the terms, covenants, 

conditions, provisions and agreements to be performed by QALICB under the Loan Documents, 

but only with respect to the completion of the construction of the Project and the related 

Development Services set forth in Section 3(A) through (X) of this Agreement; 

(J) at the direction of QALICB, ensure the Project is developed and completed free 

and clear of all mechanic’s and materialmen’s liens; 

(K) at the direction of QALICB, coordinate the work of the architect to complete the 

Project in accordance with the objectives as to cost, time and quality, and provide sufficient 

personnel at the Property with authority to achieve such objectives; 

(L) at the direction of QALICB, prepare a detailed schedule of realistic activity 

sequences and durations, allocation of labor and materials and processing of shop drawings and 

samples; perform regular monitoring of the schedule as construction progresses, identify potential 

variances between scheduled and probable completion dates, review the schedule for work not 

started or incomplete; and on request of QALICB provide QALICB documentation regarding the 

monitoring of the schedule and regarding any scheduling adjustments affecting the probable 

completion date for the Project; 

(M) at the direction of QALICB, revise and refine the approved estimate of Project cost, 

incorporate changes as they occur, and develop cash flow reports and forecasts as needed; provide 

regular monitoring of the approved estimate of Project cost, show actual costs for activities in 

process and estimates for uncompleted tasks, identify variances between actual and budgeted or 

estimated costs and advise QALICB whenever projected costs exceed budgeted or estimated costs;  



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              228 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

(N) develop and implement a system for review and processing of change orders as to 

the Project;  

(O) develop and implement a procedure for the review and processing of applications 

by contractors for progress and final payments; 

(P) establish and implement procedures for expediting the processing and approval of 

shop drawings and samples; 

(Q) record the progress of the Project and submit written progress reports to QALICB, 

including the percentage of completion and the number and amounts of change orders 

(R) at the direction of QALICB, cause to be performed in a diligent and efficient 

manner the following: 

(i) development of the Project, including any required off-site work; and 

(ii) general administration and supervision of the Project, including but not limited to 

activities of contractors, and others employed as to the Project in a manner which complies in all 

respects with the Plans and Specifications; 

(S) keep, or cause to be kept, accounts and cost records as to the Project; 

(T) maintain, or cause to be maintained, at its expense, all accounting facilities and 

equipment necessary to adequately perform the foregoing functions; 

(U) make available to QALICB, during normal business hours and upon its written 

request, copies of all contracts; 

(V) maintain sufficient, reasonable and adequate documentation that provides objective 

evidence that details the time, effort, costs, and money spent by Developer on any of the services 

(e.g., time records or memoranda recounting meetings or other efforts as to such services); 

(W) at the direction of QALICB, prepare requests for release of QLICI Loan proceeds 

for application to Project Costs (as defined below) and complete and submit all forms necessary 

therefor and take all other actions as necessary to comply with Section 45D of the Code as related 

to the Project;  

(X) at the direction of QALICB, prepare a schedule of costs incurred by Developer prior 

to the date of consummation of the QLICI Loans in form and substance satisfactory to the CDE 

Lenders. 

4. Project Completion.  QALICB and Developer share a common interest in 

developing the Project and Developer has agreed to guarantee the completion of the Project in 

accordance with the Guaranty of Completion and Payment dated as of the Effective Date, by 

Developer for the benefit of the CDE Lenders (the “Guaranty”); therefore, in consideration for 

such benefit, and in order to induce the CDE Lenders to make the QLICI Loans to QALICB, 

subject to the provisions of this Agreement, Developer agrees as follows: 

(A) Developer shall collaterally assign all of Developer’s right, title, and interest in this 

Agreement and all other agreements entered into by Developer for completion of the Project to the 

CDE Lenders, including any warranties provided by any third parties to such agreements and all 

permits, licenses, and approvals necessary for completion of the Project (collectively, the 

“Contracts and Permits”), pursuant to that certain Assignment of Construction Documents made 

by Developer in favor of the CDE Lenders.  Developer agrees that, upon the occurrence of an 

Event of Default under the Guaranty or any of the other Loan Documents, the CDE Lenders shall 

have the right to enforce this Agreement and the Contracts and Permits to cause the Project to be 

completed by a third party (the “Completion Right”).  If the CDE Lenders exercise the Completion 

Right, the CDE Lenders shall have no obligation to advance funds in excess of any remaining 

undisbursed QLICI Loan proceeds to pay Project Costs or other costs required to complete 

construction of the Project.  QALICB and JRA hereby acknowledges and consents to the 

Completion Right.  



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              229 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

(B) Developer acknowledges that the terms of the Leasehold Mortgage securing the 

QLICI Loans impose covenants and obligations upon QALICB, the performance and observance 

of which will (in whole or in part) be dependent on Developer’s actions and inactions as the 

developer of the Project.  QALICB has provided to Developer a copy of the Leasehold Mortgage, 

and Developer has reviewed and is familiar with the provisions of such Leasehold Mortgage.  

Developer hereby covenants and agrees that Developer shall not violate or cause a violation of any 

of the provisions of the Leasehold Mortgage, and that Developer shall take such actions, on a 

prompt and timely basis, as shall be necessary to enable QALICB to comply with the same.  Any 

failure by Developer to observe or comply with the foregoing provisions that is not cured by (i) 

the end of the applicable cure period set forth in this Agreement, if any, or (ii) the applicable cure 

period afforded to QALICB under the provisions of the Leasehold Mortgage, whichever is the 

shorter period, shall constitute a default under this Agreement. 

5. Initial Turnkey Payment; Turnkey Payments.  The parties acknowledge that in 

connection with providing the Development Services, Developer has previously incurred certain 

costs and expenses in the total amount of $[____________].  As part of the consideration to lease 

the Demised Premises, QALICB will pay Developer the amount of $[___________] (the “Initial 

Turnkey Payment”), which Initial Turnkey Payment will be paid on the Effective Date as more 

particularly described in the Ground Lease.  Subject to the consent of the CDE Lenders, QALICB 

agrees to make additional payments under this Agreement (the “Turnkey Payments”) for a portion 

of Developer’s actual costs and expenses incurred or involved in providing Development Services 

hereunder anticipated to be in the amount of $[____________], and any amounts incurred or paid 

by Developer under any agreements entered into by Developer for the purpose of undertaking or 

completing the Project, including without limitation the Construction Contract and Architect 

Agreement, subject to the amounts provided in the Project Budget (collectively, “Project Costs”).  

Such Turnkey Payments will be made by QALICB as such funds are made available to QALICB 

pursuant to that certain Disbursement Agreement dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may 

be amended, assigned, restated, modified, or supplemented from time to time, the “Disbursement 

Agreement”), by and among QALICB, Developer, [Wells Fargo, a ____________], and the CDE 

Lender, following delivery of an invoice for reimbursable costs from Developer to QALICB and 

any and all other materials required to be submitted by QALICB pursuant to the Loan Documents 

as a condition precedent to the disbursement or release of QLICI Loan proceeds pursuant to the 

Disbursement Agreement.  The anticipated schedule of Turnkey Payments is attached hereto as 

Exhibit B. 

6. City Contribution/JRA Leverage Loan.  The parties acknowledge and agree that in 

connection with the NMTC financing arrangements, JRA will be providing a leverage loan in the 

amount of $[______________] (the “Leverage Loan”) to [Wells Fargo Investment Fund].  The 

City has agreed to contribute (a) a portion of the bond proceeds from the issuance of its taxable 

general obligation bonds in one or more series in a total aggregate principal amount of not to 

exceed Nine Million Five Hundred Thousand Dollars ($9,500,000) (the “Bonds”) (b) federal grant 

funds and (c) any other legally available revenues of the City in support of the Project.  In addition, 

JRA will be accepting various other sources of capital, including but not limited to, additional 

bridge loan financing, in order to provide funding for the Leverage Loan.    

7. Default.  Developer and JRA acknowledge that the terms of the Loan Documents 

evidencing, governing and securing the Project funding impose covenants and obligations upon 

QALICB, the performance and observance of which will (in part) be dependent on Developer’s 

actions and inactions as the developer of the Project.  QALICB has provided to Developer and 

JRA copies of the Loan Documents, and Developer and JRA have reviewed and are familiar with 

the provisions of such Loan Documents.  Developer and JRA shall take such actions, on a prompt 

and timely basis, as shall be necessary to enable QALICB to comply with such Loan Documents; 

provided, however, that Developer’s obligations shall be limited to providing Development 

Services hereunder and nothing contained in this Agreement shall be construed as imposing 

additional obligations upon Developer with respect to the Loan Documents.  Any failure by 

Developer or JRA to substantially comply with a material provision under this Agreement that is 

not cured by (i) the end of a thirty (30) calendar day opportunity to cure such default after receipt 

of written notice of the same from QALICB, or (ii) the applicable cure period afforded to QALICB 

under the provisions of the Loan Documents, whichever is the shorter period, shall constitute a 

default under this Agreement; provided, however, that the cure period to comply may be extended 

for an additional sixty (60) days if the ability to cure such failure to comply within the specified 

cure period is not within the reasonable control of JRA or Developer.  QALICB may concurrently 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              230 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

or successively pursue any remedy at law or in equity, including, but not limited to, the following: 

(a) terminate this Agreement; or (b) withhold any disputed amounts due to Developer.  All amounts 

withheld by QALICB shall be promptly released to Developer only after Developer has cured the 

default justifying the withholding, as demonstrated by evidence reasonably acceptable to 

QALICB.  

8. Notices.  Each party shall deliver all notices, requests, consents, claims, demands, 

waivers and other communications under this Agreement (each, a “Notice”) in writing and 

addressed to the other party at its address set out below (or to such other address that the receiving 

party may designate from time to time in accordance with this Section). Each party shall deliver 

all Notices by personal delivery, nationally recognized overnight courier (with all fees pre-paid), 

facsimile or e-mail (with confirmation of transmission) or certified or registered mail (in each case, 

return receipt requested, postage prepaid).  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, a 

Notice is effective only (a) on receipt by the receiving party, and (b) if the party giving the Notice 

has complied with the requirements of this Section. 

Notice to QALICB:  JRA Public Benefit Corporation 

_____________ 

Jackson, MS _______ 

Attention:  President, Board of Directors 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

Email: _________________ 

 

with a copy to:  Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS  39157 

Attention:  Jet Hollingsworth 

Facsimile: (601) 985-4500 

Email:  jet.hollingsworth@butlersnow.com  

 

and to:   ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

 

Notice to Developer:   City of Jackson, Mississippi 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  ______________ 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              231 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Facsimile:  _____________ 

Email:  _________________  

   

with a copy to:  ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

  

and to:   ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

 

Notice to JRA: ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

 

 

and to:   ___________________ 

___________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  __________________ 

Facsimile:  ______________ 

   Email:  _________________  

 

Copies of all notices provided hereunder shall be simultaneously provided to the CDE 

Lenders as provided in the Loan Agreement.  



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              232 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

9. Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on the parties hereto, 

their heirs, successors, and assigns.  Except as expressly set forth herein, this Agreement may not 

be assigned by either party without the written consent of the other, provided that by execution of 

this Agreement, Developer and JRA consent to the assignment by QALICB to the extent required 

under the terms of the Loan Documents. 

10. Severability of Provisions.  Each provision of this Agreement shall be considered 

severable and if, for any reason, any provision which is not essential to the effectuation of the basic 

purposes of this Agreement is determined to be invalid and contrary to any existing or future law, 

such invalidity shall not impair the operation of or affect those provisions of this Agreement which 

are valid. 

11. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, together with all related exhibits and 

schedules, is the sole and entire agreement of the parties to this Agreement regarding the subject 

matter contained herein and therein, and supersedes all prior and contemporaneous understandings, 

agreements, representations and warranties, both written and oral, regarding such subject matter.  

This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which when so executed 

and delivered shall be an original, but all of which shall together constitute one and the same 

instrument.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by 

telecopier, facsimile machine, portable document format (“PDF”), Electronic Signature (as defined 

below) or other electronic means shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed 

counterpart of this Agreement.  The effectiveness of any such documents and signatures shall, 

subject to applicable laws, have the same force and effect as manually signed originals and shall 

be binding on the parties.  “Electronic Signature” means any symbol or process attached to a 

document or instrument and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign the document 

or instrument, including, without limitation, any digital representation of a party’s signature 

created by scanning such party’s signature or by any electronic signature service such as DocuSign.  

The parties agree to mutually cooperate with each other to assist in obtaining and finalizing the 

NMTC financing transaction including, without limitation, amending this Agreement as necessary 

and reasonably requested by the CDE Lenders to finalize or carryout the terms or requirements for 

the same. 

12. Applicable Law.  This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance 

with the laws of the State of Mississippi. 

13. Third Party Beneficiaries.  Unless otherwise evidenced in writing signed by all 

parties, QALICB, JRA and Developer do not intend to benefit any party that is not a party to this 

Agreement and no such party shall be deemed to be a third party beneficiary of this Agreement or 

any provision hereof; provided, however, that QALICB, JRA and Developer agree that the CDE 

Lenders are an intended third party beneficiary of this Agreement with the right to enforce the 

same as specified in Section 4 above, and the provisions of this Agreement shall not be amended, 

restated, modified or terminated without the prior written consent of the CDE Lenders. 

[Signatures on following page] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have duly executed this Development Services 

Agreement effective as of the day and year first above written. 

DEVELOPER:  

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of 

Mississippi. 

By:        

_______________      

_______________ 

     JRA: 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a public body corporate and politic and 

the urban renewal agency for the City of Jackson, Mississippi 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              233 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

By:        

_______________ 

_______________  

QALICB: 

 

JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, 

a Mississippi nonprofit corporation  

 By:        

_________________ 

President, Board of Directors 

 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

PROPERTY 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

TURNKEY PAYMENTS 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT G 

JRA GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

 

GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), dated as of __________, 

2023 (the “Effective Date”), is made between JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a 

public body corporate and politic and the urban renewal agency of the City (“Lessor”), and JRA 

PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, a Mississippi nonprofit corporation (“Lessee”).   

W I T N E S S E T H 

WHEREAS, Lessor is the ground lessee of certain real property located in 201 E. 

Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39201, and more particularly described on Exhibit A attached 

hereto (the “Property”) pursuant to that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated as of the Effective 

Date (the “City Ground Lease”) by and between the City of Jackson, Mississippi, a public body 

corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi (the “City”), as lessor therein, and the Lessor, as 

lessee therein; and 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              234 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

WHEREAS, Lessor has determined that it is necessary and appropriate to lease the 

Property and the improvements hereafter constructed thereon (including, but not limited to, the 

Improvements (as defined below)), as well as certain work in progress undertaken by the City as 

more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto (the “WIP”), to Lessee with the 

understanding that Lessor, in cooperation with Lessee, will continue to cause development, 

repairing, improving, adorning and equipping the Russell C. Davis Planetarium and other 

authorized purposes with same including constructing, improving and paving streets, sidewalks, 

driveways, parkways, walkways and public parking facilities on the Property, as more fully 

described on Exhibit C attached hereto (collectively, the “Improvements,” and, together with the 

Property and the WIP, the “Demised Premises”) in accordance with the Development Agreement 

(as defined below) and the Plans and Specifications (as defined in the Development Agreement); 

and 

WHEREAS, City, Lessor and Lessee have entered into that certain Development Services 

Agreement dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, 

modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Development Agreement”) pursuant to which 

City will cause the development and construction of the Improvements and Lessee will make 

turnkey development payments (the “Turnkey Payments”) using the proceeds of certain loans in 

the aggregate original principal amount of $[________] (collectively, the “CDE Loans”) from  

Hope New Markets __, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company (the “Hope CDE”) and Wells 

Fargo __, LLC, a _______ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE” together with the HOPE 

CDE, the “CDE Lenders”), pursuant to that certain Loan and Security Agreement between Lessee, 

as borrower, and CDE Lenders, as lender, dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be 

amended, assigned, restated, renewed modified or supplemented from time to time, the “CDE Loan 

Agreement”), and certain other ancillary documents (collectively and together with the CDE Loan 

Agreement, the “CDE Loan Documents”); and 

WHEREAS, Lessee (in its capacity as lessor under the Operating Lease (as defined below)) 

has agreed to lease the Demised Premises to City (in its capacity as lessee under the Operating 

Lease), pursuant to that certain Lease Agreement dated as of the Effective Date, between City and 

Lessee (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified or supplemented from time to 

time, the “Operating Lease”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and 

agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

I. LEASE OF THE DEMISED PREMISES  

A. General.  The intent of Lessor and Lessee is that Lessor shall lease to Lessee the 

Demised Premises.  Lessor hereby grants and leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby accepts, upon 

the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the Demised Premises to be used by Lessee to cause 

the development of the Demised Premises and lease the Demised Premises to the City for 

operations of the Russell C. Davis Planetarium.  

B. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on ________, 2023, subject to 

the performance of the parties of the terms and conditions hereof (the “Commencement Date”), 

and shall continue until __________, 2074 (the “Expiration Date”).  At the Expiration Date, Lessee 

shall surrender to Lessor the Demised Premises in good and clean condition (ordinary wear and 

tear excepted) and free of all personal property of Lessee; provided, however, that Lessee shall 

have no obligation to maintain any portion of the Demised Premises for the period beyond their 

economic useful life (determined as of the Commencement Date), and Lessee shall execute and 

deliver to Lessor any and all instruments and documents that Lessor reasonably requests to 

effectively transfer, assign, and convey the Demised Premises to Lessor, free of any encumbrances, 

excluding any Permitted Liens (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement). 

C. Consideration.  Lessor hereby leases its interest in the Demised Premises to Lessee 

for the term of this Agreement with the understanding and agreement that, subject to the terms of 

the Development Agreement, Lessor shall cause the Improvements to be constructed in accordance 

with the Plans and Specifications.  Lessor and Lessee agree that in exchange for the rights granted 

to Lessee under this Agreement, (i) using a portion of the proceeds of the CDE Loans, Lessee shall 

pay the Initial Turnkey Payment (as defined below) as set forth in Section I.G. below, (ii) using a 

portion of the proceeds of the CDE Loans, Lessee shall make the Turnkey Payments to City 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              235 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

pursuant to the terms of the Development Agreement to pay a portion of the costs to develop and 

construct the Improvements on the Property, and (iii) City shall pay the remaining portion of the 

costs to develop and construct the Improvements on the Property, which upon completion shall be 

deemed a contribution in kind from City to Lessor pursuant to the City Ground Lease (the 

“Contribution”). The Lessor will in turn make the Contribution of remaining costs to Lessee 

pursuant to this Agreement.  The amount of the Contribution is anticipated to be 

$[_______________].  

D. Utilities.  Lessor and Lessee agree, during the term of this Agreement, Lessee shall 

pay before delinquency, all charges for use of telephone, water, gas, heat, electricity, trash, sewer 

and all other utilities and services of whatever kind and nature which may be used in or upon the 

Demised Premises adequate for the intended purposes in full compliance with all governmental 

laws and regulations. 

E. Taxes.  Lessee shall pay all real estate taxes, special assessments and any other 

taxes, assessments or public charges levied or assessed by lawful authority against the Demised 

Premises attributable to the period during the term of this Agreement on or before the due date 

thereof, unless contested by Lessee in good faith.  Lessee shall have the right to contest, in good 

faith, by appropriate proceedings, the amount, applicability, or validity of any such taxes or 

assessments.  Lessee shall be responsible to pay its respective taxes on income and all its employee 

related taxes, if any, in connection with the operations of the Demised Premises.  As between 

Lessor and Lessee, Lessee has the exclusive right (but shall be under no obligation), at its expense, 

to endeavor at any time or times to obtain a reduction in the assessed valuation of the Demised 

Premises, or any part thereof, for the purpose of reducing the real estate taxes, including the right 

to prosecute administrative and/or judicial proceedings and judicial review and appeal of any 

decision which Lessee, in its sole discretion, considers adverse, and the right to settle or 

compromise any such proceedings.  Lessor will offer no objection and, at the request of Lessee, 

will cooperate with Lessee, without cost or expense to Lessor, in effecting such a reduction.  Lessee 

shall be authorized to collect any tax refund payable because of any proceeding Lessee may 

institute, and any such tax refund shall be the property of Lessee, to the extent to which it is based 

on a payment made by Lessee.   

So long as the Operating Lease is in effect, the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that 

the leasehold interest in the Demised Premises under this Agreement shall be exempt from ad 

valorem taxes pursuant to Mississippi law, including Section 27-31-1(b) of the Mississippi Code 

of 1972, as amended. 

F. Quiet Enjoyment.  As long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its 

obligations hereunder exists, Lessor covenants and agrees that Lessee shall and may peaceably 

have, hold, and enjoy the occupancy and use of the Demised Premises to the extent provided herein 

free from molestation, eviction or disturbance by Lessor or any other persons or legal entity 

whatsoever, and as long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its obligations hereunder 

exists, and upon expiration or termination of the Operating Lease, the parties hereto acknowledge 

and agree that Lessee shall have the right to occupy, use and operate the Demised Premises for the 

term of this Agreement for any use permitted by law without any disturbance or restriction by 

Lessor or any other persons.  As long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its obligations 

hereunder exists, and upon expiration or termination of the Operating Lease, Lessor hereby 

covenants that, should Lessee determine that any easements are necessary in order for Lessee to 

occupy, use and operate the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement, Lessor shall grant 

to Lessee any easements and shall take any other action available to Lessor that may be required 

in order to allow Lessee to occupy, use and operate the Demised Premises for the term of this 

Agreement. 

G. Initial Turnkey Payment; Turnkey Payments. The parties acknowledge that City has 

incurred costs in the total amount of $[________] in connection with the WIP.  As part of the 

consideration to lease the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement as provided in Section 

C. above, Lessee shall pay to City the amount of $[________] (the “Initial Turnkey Payment”), 

payable on or before the date hereof in one initial upfront installment.  The Initial Turnkey Payment 

shall be made directly to Lessor pursuant to the Flow of Funds Memorandum (as defined in the 

CDE Loan Agreement).     

The parties acknowledge that pursuant to the Development Agreement, it is anticipated that 

City will incur additional costs in the amount of $[______________], in connection with the 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              236 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

development and construction of a portion of the Improvements.  As part of the consideration to 

lease the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement as provided in Section C. above, Lessee 

shall pay to City the Turkey Payments, payable as set forth in the Development Agreement.  The 

parties hereto acknowledge and agree that the foregoing transactions will be classified for federal 

income tax purposes as set forth in Section VI.B. below.  

Further, Lessor agrees to allow the Construction Parties (as defined in the Development 

Agreement) to access the Demised Premises for the purposes of completing the work contemplated 

under the Development Agreement. 

H. Development Agreement.  Lessor and Lessee shall observe all requirements, terms 

and conditions of the Development Agreement.  To the extent reasonably necessary, and without 

violating the laws of the State of Mississippi, Lessor and Lessee shall cooperate with each other to 

obtain the required permits, approvals, and authorizations for the construction of the Improvements 

in accordance with this Agreement, including by joining in applications for building permits, 

subdivision plat approvals, certificates of dedication, public works or other agreements, utility 

easements, permits for sewer, water and other utility services, and the dedication to the applicable 

governmental authorities of such title to or easements for utility, roadway and slope or storm 

drainage areas or facilities as are reasonably necessary or desirable. 

II.  CONSTRUCTION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS  

  A. Construction of the Improvements.  Lessor shall cause the Improvements to 

be constructed on the Property in accordance with the Plans and Specifications and the terms and 

conditions of the Development Agreement.  Pursuant to the Development Agreement, Lessee has 

appointed City to provide for, or cause to be provided for, the complete construction of the 

Improvements. 

 B. Lessee to Bear a Portion of Construction Costs.  Lessee is financing a 

portion of the costs to complete the construction of the Improvements on the Property pursuant to 

the CDE Loan Documents.  Turnkey Payments for a portion of the costs of construction of the 

Improvements shall be made from the moneys which shall be disbursed for this purpose in 

accordance and upon compliance with the CDE Loan Agreement and as provided for under the 

Development Agreement, the City Ground Lease and this Agreement.  

 C.  Risk of Loss.  Lessee will be responsible for and will indemnify, defend, 

save and hold harmless Lessor against all damage done to the Demised Premises because of any 

negligent act or omission by Lessee, its employees, subcontractors, or agents. 

III. LIENS 

Lessee shall not create or allow a lien or claim of any kind to be filed or claimed against 

Lessor’s interest in the Demised Premises during the continuance of this Agreement, except to the 

extent that the creation of such lien or liens is specifically authorized by a provision in this 

Agreement, the CDE Loan Agreement, or the written consent of Lessor.  If any prohibited lien is 

claimed or filed because of any act or omission by Lessee, its employees, subcontractors, or agents, 

Lessee shall cause the Demised Premises to be released from the claim within 30 days after Lessor 

is given written notice of the claim and transmits written notice of its receipt to Lessee, whichever 

30-day period expires earlier.  Lessee will cause such release either by paying to the court the 

amount necessary to relieve and release the Demised Premises from such claim, or in any other 

manner which, as a matter of law, will result, within the 30-day period, in releasing Lessor and its 

title from the claim. 

IV. INSURANCE; DESTRUCTION OR CONDEMNATION 

 A. Insurance.  From and after any earlier date when Lessee, or City pursuant 

to the Operating Lease, makes actual use of and occupies the Demised Premises or any part of it, 

Lessee shall cause to be written a policy or policies of insurance in the form generally known as 

public liability policies.  The policies shall insure Lessee against all claims and demands made by 

any person or persons for injuries received in connection with the operating and maintenance of 

the Demised Premises and for any other risk insured against by such policies.  Each class of 

policies shall be written within limits of not less than $500,000 for damages incurred or claimed 

by any one person for bodily injury, or otherwise, and damages to property or as otherwise required 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              237 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

under the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents.  All such policies shall name 

Lessee, Lessor, City and each Lender (as defined below), as their respective interests may appear, 

as the insured persons.  Lessee shall promptly deliver the original or a duplicate original of each 

policy or policies to Lessor and each Lender as soon as they are written, together with adequate 

evidence of the fact that the premiums are paid. 

 B. Lessee’s Insurance Obligation.  From and after the time this Agreement 

commences, Lessee will keep insured or cause to be kept insured all buildings and improvements 

upon the Property against all loss or damage by fire and windstorm, together with “extended 

coverage.”  The amount of insurance shall at all times be sufficient to prevent any party in interest 

from being or becoming a co-insurer on any part of the risk, and shall not be less than 80 percent 

of the full insurable value.  All such policies shall name Lessee, City, Lessor and each Lender, as 

their respective interests may appear, as the insured persons.  Without limiting the foregoing, for 

so long as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, Lessee shall maintain in full force and effect such 

insurance coverages as are required to be maintained under the CDE Loan Agreement. 

 C. Insurance Premiums.  Lessee shall pay premiums for all of the insurance 

policies it is required to carry under the terms of this Agreement, and shall deliver to Lessor, City 

and each Lender evidence of such payment before the payment of any premiums become in default.  

Lessee shall also cause renewals of expiring policies to be written and the policies or copies 

thereof, as required by this Agreement, to be delivered to Lessor, City and each Lender as it may 

request. 

 D. Destruction or Damage.  If during the term of this Agreement, all or any 

portion of the Demised Premises is destroyed or damaged as the result of fire, windstorm, or other 

casualty, Lessee shall immediately notify the applicable insurers; Lessor, City and each Lender of 

the destruction or damage, and Lessee, at its expense or at the expense of any lessee under the 

Operating Lease, shall repair or replace or cause to be repaired or replaced the destroyed or 

damaged Demised Premises.  Unless otherwise required by the CDE Loan Agreement or any other 

CDE Loan Document, the proceeds of all insurance maintained by Lessee on the Demised 

Premises shall be applied in accordance with the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan 

Documents, and if no loan is outstanding that is secured by a lien on the Demised Premises, then 

applied: first, to pay the costs of clearing and restoring the Demised Premises; and second, to 

Lessee.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long as the CDE Loans remain 

outstanding, all insurance proceeds shall be applied in accordance with the CDE Loan Agreement 

and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

 E.  Condemnation.  If all or any portion of the Property is taken for any public 

or quasi-public use under any governmental law, ordinance, or regulation, or by right of eminent 

domain or private purchase, the following provisions shall apply: 1) subject to the rights of each 

Lender under the Leasehold Deed of Trust, Lessee shall receive that part of any award or 

compensation that is attributable to the fair market value of Lessee’s leasehold estate in the 

Property, including leasehold improvements, together with any severance damages determined by 

a court of competent jurisdiction, and 2) Lessor shall receive that part of any award of 

compensation that is attributable to the fair market value of Lessor’s estate in the Property 

(including the reversionary interest).  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long 

as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, all condemnation proceeds shall be applied in accordance 

with the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

V. REPAIR OBLIGATIONS 

 During the continuance of this Agreement, Lessee shall keep or cause the lessee 

under the Operating Lease to keep in good state of repair and in commercially reasonable condition 

the Demised Premises (reasonable wear and tear excepted).  Lessee shall promptly repair, at its 

expense and in a manner reasonably acceptable to Lessor, any damage to Lessor’s property or to 

the property of others caused by Lessee or its managers, officers, agents, employees, or contractors.  

Lessee or a lessee under the Operating Lease shall not suffer or permit any strip, waste, or neglect 

of the Demised Premises to be committed.  Lessee shall repair, replace, and renovate the Demised 

Premises as often as necessary to keep the Demised Premises in repair and condition suitable for 

public elementary school education standards.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Lessee shall have 

no obligation to maintain any portion of the Demised Premises for the period beyond their useful 

life (determined as of the Commencement Date). 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              238 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

  Lessor and Lessee agree that on the commencement date of the Operating Lease, 

City shall assume all responsibilities and liabilities to operate and maintain the Demised Premises 

in conformity with the provisions contained herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, City (in its 

capacity as Lessee under the Operating Lease) shall have no obligation to maintain any portion of 

the Demised Premises for the period beyond their useful life (determined as of the Commencement 

Date).    

VI. SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

A. Compliance with New Markets Tax Credits.  Lessee acknowledges that the 

Improvements to be constructed upon the Property by Lessor will be financed utilizing federal 

New Markets Tax Credits (the “Tax Credits”) authorized under Section 45D of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),  and both Lessee and Lessor agree that no action 

shall be taken by any party without the written consent of all parties that would in any way 

jeopardize or threaten the validity of the Tax Credits during the seven (7) year period wherein such 

credits are subject to recapture under Section 45D(g) of the Code.  During the term of the CDE 

Loan Agreement, neither Lessor nor Lessee shall be entitled to use, nor permit the use of, the 

Demised Premises for any Excluded Activity or Business (as defined in the CDE Loan 

Agreement). 

B. Transfer of Ownership for Federal Income Tax Purposes.  Notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Lessor and Lessee hereby agree and 

acknowledge that, notwithstanding the form of this transaction as a lease for local and state law 

purposes, it is the intent of each that this transaction be treated as a sale or grant of the Demised 

Premises from Lessor to Lessee, and for Lessee to be treated as the owner of the Demised Premises, 

for federal income tax purposes.  For Federal income tax and accounting purposes, Lessor 

recognizes and shall continue to recognize (i) Lessee as the owner of the Demised Premises 

pursuant to this Agreement, and (ii) this Agreement as transferring ownership to Lessee; Lessor 

and Lessee agree that neither shall take any tax reporting position to the contrary.  In furtherance 

and not in limitation of the foregoing, Lessor and Lessee agree that (i) to the greatest extent 

possible, the risk of loss and the benefits of profit and appreciation with respect to the Demised 

Premises shall reside with Lessee, (iii) it is not Lessor’s intent to realize any meaningful residual 

value from the Demised Premises on or after the date hereof, and (iv) Lessee alone shall be entitled 

to all of the tax attributes of ownership of the Demised Premises, including, without limitation, the 

right to claim depreciation or cost recovery deductions. 

C. Ground Lease Pledged to Lenders. 

(1) Lessee shall have the right to mortgage and otherwise encumber this Agreement 

and Lessee’s leasehold interest, in whole or in part, by one or more leasehold deed of trusts, 

including, but not limited to, the CDE Lender Deed of Trust (as defined below) (a “Leasehold 

Deed of Trust”) to any person or entity.  Any Leasehold Deed of Trust shall not constitute a lien 

on Lessor’s ground lease interest in the Property.  No holder of any such Leasehold Deed of Trust 

(together with the CDE Lender, a “Lender”) shall be liable for performance of any of the covenants 

and obligations of Lessee under this Agreement, except during any period from and after such 

Lender’s actual possession of, and exercise of Lessee’s rights with respect to the Demised 

Premises.  Lessor consents to Lessee’s assignment of rents in and to the Demised Premises to a 

Lender, and for a Lender in any action that relates in any manner to foreclose of its Leasehold 

Deed of Trust and/or exercise its assignment or rents, to be entitled to the appointment of a receiver.  

Lessee shall have the right to assign insurance proceeds to a Lender and Lessor acknowledges that 

the application of any insurance or condemnation proceeds shall be controlled by the CDE Loan 

Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

(2) Lessor acknowledges that Lessee will enter into the CDE Loan Agreement and the 

other CDE Loan Documents, pursuant to which the CDE Lender will make the CDE Loans, the 

proceeds of which will be used by Lessee to make the Turnkey Payments in connection with the 

development and construction of the Improvements and the other permitted uses provided in the 

CDE Loan Documents.  Lessor further acknowledges and agrees that Lessee’s leasehold interest 

hereunder has been pledged to the CDE Lenders as collateral for the CDE Loans under the CDE 

Loan Agreement, pursuant to that certain Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and 

Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of the Effective Date made by Lessee in 

favor of the CDE Lenders (the “CDE Lender Deed of Trust”).  Lessor hereby consents to the CDE 

Lender Deed of Trust, the CDE Loan Documents and all of the terms thereof.  The CDE Lenders 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              239 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

shall be a Lender for all purposes hereunder and the CDE Lender Deed of Trust shall be a 

Leasehold Deed of Trust for all purposes hereunder. 

(3) Lessor agrees not to accept a voluntary: (a) surrender, (b) termination or (c) 

amendment of this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the City Ground Lease or the 

Operating Lease by Lessee, at any time while a Leasehold Deed of Trust shall remain a lien on 

Lessee’s leasehold interest, without the prior written consent of the applicable Lender. 

(4) If Lessee or Lessor fails to keep, observe or perform any of the terms of this 

Agreement required to be kept, observed or performed by it, in addition to any notice to Lessee or 

Lessor, required hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as applicable, shall give written notice of such failure 

to each Lender in accordance with the notice provisions contained herein.  No notice of a failure 

or other default by Lessor or Lessee under or with respect to this Agreement shall be deemed to 

have been duly given unless and until a copy thereof has been so served on each Lender.  Lessor 

and Lessee agree to accept performance by any Lender with the same force and effect as though 

kept, observed or performed by Lessee or Lessor, as applicable.  Such Lender shall have the same 

right as Lessee or Lessor to enter the Demised Premises for the express purpose of keeping, 

observing or performing such terms.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, 

Lessor and Lessee agree that in the event of a default under this Agreement that would give Lessor 

or Lessee the right, immediately or after the lapse of a period of time, to cancel or terminate this 

Agreement or exercise any of its other rights or remedies hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as 

applicable, shall not exercise such right unless and until (a) Lessor or Lessee has given written 

notice to each Lender of such default, act or omission, (b) Lessor or Lessee has given each Lender 

an opportunity to cure, and (c) such Lender or its designee has failed to cure or remedy the default, 

act or omission within thirty (30) days after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in 

the case of a default in the due and punctual payment of any taxes, insurance premiums or other 

charges or monetary amounts required to be paid under this Agreement and within sixty (60) days 

after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in the case of a failure to observe or perform 

any other material terms of this Agreement to be observed or performed by Lessee, and if such 

default cannot with due diligence and good faith be cured within such sixty (60) day period, then 

such longer period of time as may be reasonably necessary, not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) 

days. 

(5) Any Lender which cures a default shall be subrogated to all of rights of Lessor 

against Lessee with respect to such default. 

(6) In addition to any rights and remedies a Lender may have pursuant to a Leasehold 

Deed of Trust or under any other applicable documents governing the terms of Lessee’s and such 

Lender’s agreements with respect to the Demised Premises, if a default exists under this 

Agreement, Lessor shall not terminate this Agreement or take any steps to obtain control or 

possession of the Demised Premises if, within a period not in excess of ninety (90) days following 

Lessor’s written notice to such Lender of the occurrence of such default, the Lender (a) commences 

foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings or is taking other steps to obtain control or possession 

of the Demised Premises and, (b) makes payment of all past due amounts, and is making payment 

of all sums due Lessor, when due, and (c) if such default is reasonably susceptible to cure by such 

Lender (taking into account, among other things, such Lender not being in possession), is taking 

reasonable steps to cure same, in which event, such Lender, upon appropriate notice to Lessor, 

shall have the right: (i) to acquire by foreclosure proceedings or other appropriate steps Lessee’s 

interest in this Agreement, and (ii) to remove Lessee from the Demised Premises.  Such Lender 

shall not be required to institute foreclosure proceedings if it is able to acquire and does acquire 

Lessee’s leasehold interest by any other legal means, including, without limitation, voluntary 

assignment.  Lessor agrees that if by reason of a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar type proceeding, 

or by reason of any other judicial order or legislative enactment, the Lender shall be stayed from 

commencing (or if commenced, from continuing) foreclosure proceedings or other appropriate 

steps, then the Lender shall be deemed to be prosecuting such proceedings with diligence and 

continuously so long as it is in good faith attempting to obtain relief from any such stay.  

(7) Any Lender shall be given prompt notice by Lessor and Lessee of any legal 

proceedings by the parties hereto involving obligations under this Agreement, and shall have the 

right to intervene therein and be made a party to such proceedings, and the parties hereto do hereby 

consent to such intervention.  If any Lender shall not elect to intervene or become a party to such 

proceedings, the Lender shall receive notice of, and a copy of any award or decision made in, said 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              240 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

proceedings which shall be binding on all Lenders not intervening after the receipt of notice of the 

proceeding. 

(8) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any foreclosure, or any 

exercise of rights or remedies under any Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall not be deemed to violate 

this Agreement or require the consent of Lessor.  If Lender or its nominee or designee succeeds to 

the interest of Lessee under this Agreement (“Successor Lessee”), subject to Lender’s performance 

of Lessee’s obligations under this Agreement, this Agreement will continue in full force and effect.  

Thereupon, Lessor shall recognize the Successor Lessee and its rights thereunder and Lessor shall 

make full and complete attornment to Successor Lessee as substitute lessee upon the same terms, 

covenants and conditions as provided in this Agreement.   

(9) Nothing herein shall impose upon Lender any liability for the obligations of Lessee 

unless and until Lender takes title to the Demised Premises.  Neither the making of the loans 

pursuant to the CDE Loan Agreement, nor being a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement, nor 

the exercise by Lender of its rights under this Agreement or the Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall be 

deemed to make Lender a mortgagee-in-possession.  In the event that Successor Lessee shall 

acquire title to the Demised Premises, Successor Lessee shall have no obligation, nor incur any 

liability, beyond Successor Lessee’s then interest, if any, in the Demised Premises, and Lessor shall 

look exclusively to such interest, if any, of Successor Lessee in the Demised Premises for the 

payment and discharge of any obligations imposed upon Successor Lessee hereunder, and 

Successor Lessee is hereby released or relieved of any other liability hereunder.  Lessor agrees 

that, with respect to any money judgment which may be obtained or secured by Lessor against 

Successor Lessee, Lessor shall look solely to the estate or interest owned by Successor Lessee in 

the Demised Premises, and Lessor will not collect or attempt to collect any such judgment out of 

any other assets of Successor Lessee.  Lessor agrees that, if Successor Lessee shall succeed to the 

interest of Lessee under this Agreement, Successor Lessee shall not be: 

(a) liable for any prior act or omission of Lessee or any prior tenant, or for 

consequential damages arising therefrom, provided, however, that nothing herein shall be deemed 

to release Successor Lessee from any obligation under the Agreement arising during Successor 

Lessee’s ownership of the Demised Premises; or 

(b) subject to any claims or defenses which Lessor might have as to Lessee, provided, 

however, that nothing herein shall be deemed to limit Successor Lessee’s obligation to perform all 

obligations of Lessee under this Agreement during Successor Lessee’s ownership of the Demised 

Premises; or 

(c) bound by any amendments or modifications of this Agreement made without 

Lender’s or Successor Lessee’s prior written consent. 

(10) Lessee may delegate irrevocably to a Lender the authority to exercise all of Lessee’s 

rights hereunder, but no such delegation shall be binding upon Lessor unless and until either Lessee 

or said Lender gives to Lessor a true copy of a written instrument effecting such delegation.  Such 

delegation of authority may be affected by the terms of the Leasehold Deed of Trust itself, in which 

case the service upon Lessor of a true copy of the Leasehold Deed of Trust in accordance with this 

Article, together with a written notice specifying the provision therein which delegates such 

authority to said Lender, shall be sufficient to give Lessor notice of such delegation. 

(11) Any Lender may at the time of any damage or destruction to the Demised Premises 

or any machinery, fixtures or equipment therein, by fire or otherwise, at its sole cost and expense, 

repair the same or construct new buildings, as the case may be, in accordance with the plans and 

specifications approved by each such Lender, and in such event, if the Lender repairs or constructs 

in accordance herewith, it shall be subrogated to the rights of Lessee to all insurance proceeds 

payable as a result of such damage or destruction. 

(12) Lessor agrees that the name of any Lender may be added as a named insured or to 

the “loss payable endorsement” or named under a standard mortgagee clause of all insurance 

policies required to be carried by Lessee hereunder on the condition that the insurance proceeds 

are to be applied in the manner specified in the Leasehold Deed of Trust in first lien position.  The 

proceeds of any insurance policies or arising from a condemnation are to be held by the Lender 

whose Leasehold Deed of Trust is prior in lien to any other Leasehold Deed of Trust, and 

distributed pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement and the CDE Loan Documents, but the 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              241 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Lender may reserve the right to apply all, or any part, of Lessee’s share of such proceeds to the 

Leasehold Deed of Trust debt pursuant to such Leasehold Deed of Trust before or in lieu of any 

required application of such proceeds hereunder. 

(13) Lessor hereby acknowledges that the Lenders may require estoppel certificates in 

substantially the form as attached hereto as Exhibit E (an “Estoppel Certificate”), consents, 

approvals or other written documentation from Lessor and from certain third parties that may from 

time to time have a property, regulatory or other interest in the Demised Premises in connection 

with any Leasehold Deed of Trust, and Lessor hereby agrees to (i) within twenty (20) days after 

written request, deliver all such documentation as Lessee or any Lender may reasonably require 

(including, but not limited to an Estoppel Certificate), provided that nothing therein materially 

adversely affects the rights of Lessor, and (ii) promptly cooperate with Lessee and any Lender 

holding Leasehold Deed of Trust in order to obtain any such written documentation from any such 

third parties.  It is understood that Lessor shall not be obligated to expend any funds or incur any 

liabilities in implementation of the foregoing, and Lessor shall be reimbursed by Lessee for all 

such out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in connection therewith. 

(14) As to Section VI.C., (i) each Lender shall be a third-party beneficiary hereof and 

(ii) such section shall be self-operative, and no further instrument is necessary. 

(15) For so long as the CDE Loan Agreement remains in effect, Lessee and Lessor shall 

provide such information as may be reasonably requested by the CDE Lender to comply with 

requirements of the CDFI Fund (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement) with respect to the Tax 

Credit data collection.  The Demised Premises shall be operated in a manner that satisfies and shall 

continue to satisfy all restrictions applicable to the Demised Premises and real property on which 

the Demised Premises is located and qualified businesses under Section 45D of the Code and 

Treasury Regulations (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement).  

D. New Lease.  If Lessor terminates this Agreement because of an event of default not 

cured by Lender or a foreclosure of Lessee’s interest in this Agreement, or if this Agreement is 

terminated for any other reason, or if this Agreement is rejected or disaffirmed pursuant to any 

bankruptcy, insolvency or other law affecting creditors’ rights, Lessor shall give written notice that 

such termination has occurred to each Lender of which Lessor has been informed.  In addition to 

any other rights the Lender may have hereunder, if, within forty-five (45) days after the receipt of 

such notice, such Lender shall have effected a cure of all monetary defaults of Lessee, and within 

one hundred eighty (180) days after the receipt of such notice such Lender shall have effected a 

cure of all non-monetary defaults of Lessee which are susceptible of cure by a third party within 

such period (expressly excluding breaches of personal covenant defaults of such Lessee, such as 

maintenance of organizational existence and the like), then such Lender may request a new lease 

for the entire Demised Premises on the same terms as this Agreement for the remaining balance of 

the term.  Lessor shall, within sixty (60) days thereafter, to the extent permitted by law, mutually 

execute and deliver a new lease of the Demised Premises with such Lender or to its respective 

nominee (the “New Lessee”), effective as of the date of execution of the new lease for what would 

have been, from the date of termination of this Agreement, the remainder of the term of this 

Agreement.  Such new lease shall contain the same provisions (including, but not limited to, 

extension provisions and any options in favor of Lessee) as would have been in effect for such 

remainder of the term pursuant to this Agreement.  Lessor will, at the request and at the sole cost 

and expense of such Lender, or respective nominee, cooperate, including in its name if reasonably 

required, in the prosecution of summary proceedings to evict Lessee or any other occupants of the 

Demised Premises.  Upon the execution and delivery of a new lease pursuant to this Section VI.D., 

the Demised Premises, and all subleases and other agreements pertaining to the Demised Premises 

which theretofore may have reverted to Lessor upon termination of this Agreement and which have 

not terminated shall be transferred to the extent transferable, without any warranty or recourse 

whatsoever, by Lessor to and assumed by New Lessee.  Any new lease made pursuant to this 

Section VI.D. shall be senior in priority with respect to any fee mortgage, if applicable, or other 

lien, charge or encumbrance, if any, on the fee simple title to the Demised Premises and/or Lessor’s 

reversionary interest in the Demised Premises.  Lessor shall cause each such fee mortgagee, 

judgment lienor or creditor, from time to time upon written request and without charge, to execute, 

acknowledge and deliver such instruments reasonably requested by a Lender to evidence the 

foregoing.  The provisions of this Section VI.D. shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 

E. Fee Mortgages.  Lessor shall have the right to convey, mortgage or encumber all or 

a portion of its leasehold interest in the Demised Premises and/or its interest in this Agreement 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              242 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

during the term of this Agreement (including without limitation a tenancy-in-common or other 

partial interest in the Demised Premises and/or this Agreement), without the prior written consent 

of Lessee, but only on the express conditions that (i) the lien of any such leasehold mortgage or 

leasehold deed of trust shall be subordinate to the leasehold interest of Lessee in the Demised 

Premises and other rights of Lessee (including extension options) created by this Agreement, as it 

may be extended, amended or otherwise modified from time to time (as well as any replacement 

lease for this Agreement entered into by a Lender pursuant to Section VI.D. above), (ii) the lien of 

any such leasehold mortgage or leasehold deed of trust shall be subordinate to the Leasehold Deed 

of Trust held by the CDE Lender and/or its successors and assigns, as it may be extended, amended 

or otherwise modified from time to time, and (iii) any transferee of Lessor’s leasehold interest in 

the Demised Premises and/or its interest in this Agreement during the term of this Agreement 

(including without limitation a tenancy-in-common or other partial interest in the Demised 

Premises and/or this Agreement) shall be bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

F. Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that pursuant to Section 57-105-1(7)(d) 

of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, this Agreement, the City Ground Lease, the 

Development Agreement and the Demised Premises are exempt from any limitation or 

requirements with respect to leasing, acquiring and/or constructing public property or facilities in 

the State of Mississippi.   

  VII. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 

 A. Representations and Warranties by Lessor.  Lessor represents and warrants 

to Lessee as follows: 

(1) Existence.  Lessor is a body corporate and politic and an urban renewal agency of 

the City of Jackson, Mississippi, and has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver, and 

perform this Agreement and transactions contemplated hereby. 

    (2) Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments contemplated by 

this Agreement to which Lessor is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, executed and 

delivered by Lessor and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessor enforceable 

in accordance with their terms.  All requisite action of Lessor has been taken to authorize the 

execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions contemplated hereby. 

(3) Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this 

Agreement and the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby do not and will not 

violate the Act nor any note, bond, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument to which 

Lessor is a party or by which it is bound. 

(4) Environmental.  To the best or its knowledge, between the issuance of the 

Environmental Reports and the Commencement Date, Lessor has not released or caused or 

permitted to be released on or from the Property any Hazardous Materials in violation of any 

Environmental Laws (as such terms are defined in the Operating Lease). 

(5) Liens and Encumbrances.  As of the Commencement Date, no liens encumber or 

have been filed against the Demised Premises (other than the CDE Lender Deed of Trust in favor 

of the CDE Lenders) and all work performed as of the Commencement Date has been paid in full 

and no person or entity has a claim against Lessor for nonpayment of the same. 

 B. Representations and Warranties by Lessee.  Lessee represents and warrants 

to Lessor as follows: 

 (1) Existence.  Lessee is a nonprofit corporation, duly organized and validly 

existing in good standing under the laws of the State of Mississippi and has all requisite power and 

authority to execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and the transactions contemplated 

hereby. 

 (2) Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments 

contemplated by this Agreement to which Lessee is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, 

executed, and delivered by Lessee and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessee 

enforceable in accordance with their terms.  All requisite organizational action of Lessee has been 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              243 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

taken to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

 (3) Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this 

Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not 

violate the Articles of Incorporation of Lessee as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of 

Mississippi on __________, ___, or the Bylaws of Lessee adopted on _______, 20__, nor any 

note, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessee is a party or by which it is 

bound. 

VIII.  LESSEE QUALIFICATION AS EXEMPT ORGANIZATION UNDER SECTION 

501(c)(3) OF THE CODE 

 Lessee has made an application with the Internal Revenue Service (the “IRS”) to 

request qualification as an exempt organization under Section 501(c)(3) of the Code.  Lessee 

agrees to pursue qualification as a 501(c)(3) exempt organization under the provisions of the Code.  

If the application for 501(c)(3) exempt organization status is delayed or denied based on the 

application submitted by Lessee, Lessee agrees to provide for any reasonable changes in such 

application (or with respect to its organizational structure) as may be required by the IRS for Lessee 

to be approved as a 501(c)(3) exempt organization. 

IX. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

A. Event of Default.  In the event of default by any party of any of its covenants or 

conditions contained in this Agreement, the defaulting party shall be given notice citing the 

default(s) and allowing it thirty (30) days from such notice to cure such breach.  If the defaulting 

party has diligently commenced work to cure such breach during such thirty (30) day period but 

additional time is needed to cure such breach, the non-defaulting party may grant the defaulting 

party an extension of thirty (30) days, in its discretion.  If the defaulting party has failed to cure 

the breach within sixty (60) days from the date of non-defaulting party’s notice of such breach, 

and provided Lender has not cured Lessee’s breach pursuant to the provisions hereof, the non-

defaulting party may proceed in accordance with Section IX.B. below.  Any notice of default to, 

or opportunity to cure in favor of, Lessee under this Section IX.A. shall simultaneously be provided 

to Lender in accordance with Section VI.C. above. 

B. Remedies.  Upon a default by Lessee under Section IX.A. above, subject to the 

rights of any Lender, Lessor may exercise any remedies available to it at law or equity other than 

terminating this Agreement.  Lessee hereby acknowledges that equitable remedies are appropriate 

under this Agreement, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessor’s remedies shall 

include: (i) appointment of a receiver to operate the Demised Premises; or (ii) specific 

performance.  The remedies, rights and privileges of Lessor in case of default of Lessee as 

enumerated above shall not be exclusive; and, in addition thereto, Lessor may exercise and enforce 

all rights in law and in equity which it may otherwise have because of said default.  In the event 

of a default by Lessor under Section IX.A. above, Lessee may exercise and enforce all rights in 

law and in equity which it may otherwise have because of said default.  

 C. Waiver of Rights, Remedies and Relief.  No delay or failure of either party 

to exercise any power or right hereunder, or under a similar agreement with third parties, shall 

operate as a waiver of any right, remedy or relief which either party is entitled; and such rights, 

remedies and relief shall be deemed continuous; nor shall a partial exercise preclude the party from 

full exercise thereof.   

D. Forbearance During Term of CDE Loans.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 

contrary, Lessor shall forbear from exercising any of its remedies under this Agreement for so long 

as the CDE Loans remain outstanding. 

X. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

A. Notices.  Any notices or other communications hereunder shall be deemed to have 

been given when delivered personally, sent by electronic transmission (with confirmation receipt) 

to the following telephone numbers, or if deposited in the United States Mail, registered or 

certified, with proper postage and registration or certification fees prepaid, upon delivery by the 

post office addressed to the following addresses: 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              244 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

TO LESSOR: 

 

Jackson Redevelopment Authority 

__________________ 

__________________ 

Attention:  ______________ 

Facsimile:  (601) ______________ 

E-mail:  __________________   

  

 with a copy to: 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS 39157 

Attention:  Jet Hollingsworth 

 Facsimile: (601) 985-4500 

 E-mail: jet.hollingsworth@butlersnow.com 

 and to: 

____________________ 

____________________ 

____________________ 

Attention:  ________________ 

Facsimile: (___) ____________ 

E-mail:  _______________________ 

  

 

TO LESSEE: 

 

JRA Public Benefit Corporation 

________________ 

________________ 

Attention:  President, Board of Directors 

Facsimile: (___) ___-_____ 

E-mail:  ________________  



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              245 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

with a copy to: 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS 39157 

Attention:  _____________ 

Facsimile: (601) 985-4500 

 E-mail: _________________  

 and to: 

____________________ 

____________________ 

____________________ 

Attention:  ________________ 

Facsimile: (___) ____________ 

E-mail:  _______________________ 

 

AND TO THE CDE LENDERS AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES AT THE 

ADDRESSES SET FORTH ON EXHIBIT F. 

or such other addresses as may be designated by any of the parties from time to time by 

written notice given to the other party in the aforesaid manner. 

B. Assignment.  This Agreement and all rights pertaining hereto, and obligations 

hereunder may be assigned by Lessor or Lessee at any time only with the written consent of the 

other party, which consent will not unreasonably be withheld, conditioned or delayed.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) Lessee may encumber and assign its leasehold interest in this 

Agreement under a Leasehold Deed of Trust, and any successor in interest thereto, pursuant to 

Section VI.C.(1) without the consent of Lessor and (ii) Lessee may assign or transfer this 

Agreement to a Lender at any time in connection with Lender’s exercise of its remedies pursuant 

to the applicable Leasehold Deed of Trust.  Other than as specifically permitted herein, this 

Agreement shall not be assigned by Lessee to any other party. 

C. Binding Effect.  The terms and provisions hereof shall be binding upon and shall 

inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, 

successors, and assigns. 

D. Brokerage Commissions.  Each party represents and warrants to the other party that 

such warranting party has not incurred any obligation to pay any brokerage commissions by reason 

of the transaction contemplated hereunder.  Each party shall be responsible for all loss, cost, 

damage, expense and liability whatsoever based upon any such commitment by such other party. 

E. Applicable Laws.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties 

hereunder shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Mississippi.  To the extent any provision of this Agreement is not enforceable under Mississippi 

law, such provision shall be modified, deleted or deemed invalid to the extent it is either not 

authorized by or inconsistent with the laws of the State of Mississippi, including the opinions of 

the Mississippi Attorney General. 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              246 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

F. Memorandum of Ground Lease.  Lessor and Lessee shall sign, acknowledge and 

deliver a memorandum of ground lease in the form attached as Exhibit D for purposes of recording, 

where permitted by law.  The memorandum of ground lease may not, under any circumstances, be 

interpreted to amend any of the provisions of this Agreement which will, in all circumstances, 

govern and control. 

G. Further Assurances.  Each party hereby agrees to execute all such further 

instruments and documents, and to take all such further action as any other party may reasonably 

require to give effect to the provisions and purpose of this Agreement. 

H. Agreement Interpretation.  This Agreement has been freely and fairly negotiated by 

the parties hereto and has been reviewed and discussed by legal counsel for each of the parties, 

each of whom has had the full opportunity to modify the draftsmanship hereof and, therefore, the 

terms of this Agreement shall be construed and interpreted without any presumption or other rule 

requiring construction or interpretation against the interest of the party causing this Agreement to 

be drafted. 

I. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same 

agreement.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by 

telecopier, facsimile machine, portable document format (“PDF”), Electronic Signature (as defined 

below) or other electronic means shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed 

counterpart of this Agreement.  The effectiveness of any such documents and signatures shall, 

subject to applicable laws, have the same force and effect as manually signed originals and shall 

be binding on the parties.  “Electronic Signature” means any symbol or process attached to a 

document or instrument and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign the document 

or instrument, including, without limitation, any digital representation of a party’s signature 

created by scanning such party’s signature or by any electronic signature service such as DocuSign. 

J. Joint and Several Liability.  If Lessor or Lessee consists of more than one person or 

entity, the obligations and liabilities of each such person or entity hereunder shall be joint and 

several.  

K. No Merger of Estates.  The interests of Lessor and Lessee in the Demised Premises 

shall at all times be separate and apart, and shall in no event be merged, notwithstanding the fact 

that the leasehold estate, or any interest therein, may be held directly or indirectly by or for the 

account of any person who shall own Lessor’s reversionary interest, or any portion thereof; and no 

such merger of estates shall occur by operation of law, or otherwise, unless and until all persons at 

the time having any interest in the Demised Premises, including any Lender, shall join in the 

execution of a written instrument effecting such merger of estates. 

L. Instrumentality.  Lessee is a governmental “instrumentality” of Lessor (a political 

subdivision of the State of Mississippi), in compliance with the guidance provided by the IRS in 

Revenue Ruling 57-128, 1957-1 C.B. 311.  Lessee will take all necessary actions to meet the 

requirements of an “instrumentality” of Lessor under the provisions of the Code and the 

regulations promulgated thereunder, including, but not limited to, making covenants and 

certifications in connection therewith. 

[Signature page follows] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Ground Lease Agreement to be 

duly executed as of the Effective Date.  

 

LESSOR: 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 

 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              247 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

By:        

______________ 

_____________ 

 

LESSEE: 

 

JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, 

a Mississippi nonprofit corporation  

 

 

By: __________ 

President, Board of Directors 

  

EXHIBIT A 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

WIP 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

IMPROVEMENTS 

 

EXHIBIT D 

 

MEMORANDUM OF GROUND LEASE 

 

(attached behind) 

EXHIBIT E 

 

FORM OF ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              248 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

[Date] 

[Addressee] 

 

Re: Ground Lease Agreement dated ________, 2023 (as amended from time to time, 

the “Lease”) by and between Jackson Redevelopment Authority (the “Lessor”) and JRA Public 

Benefit Corporation (“Lessee”) with respect to certain premises in Hinds County, Mississippi (the 

“Property”) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 This Estoppel Certificate is being delivered in connection with a financing 

transaction the proceeds of which were used to develop and construct a new elementary school on 

the Property pursuant to that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated as of ________, 2023 (the 

“JRA Ground Lease”).  Lessee’s leasehold interest in the Property was pledged to Hope New 

Markets __, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company (the “Hope CDE Lender”) and Wells 

Fargo __, LLC, a ________ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE Lender” together with the 

Hope CDE Lender, the “CDE Lenders”), as collateral for the CDE Lenders’ loans under that certain 

Loan and Security Agreement dated as of ___________, 2023.  This Estoppel Certificate may be 

relied upon by the CDE Lenders, their successors and assigns, including a purchaser of an interest 

in any such loan, and any person claiming by or through the CDE Lender (each, a “Recipient”).  

Accordingly, Lessor and Lessee certify to and agree with each Recipient as of the date hereof as 

follows: 

1. The Lease is in full force and effect.  The Lease has not been amended, modified, 

supplemented, assigned, or extended, and is in full force and effect as of the date hereof.  There 

are no other agreements, whether written or oral, between Lessor and Lessee affecting the Property 

or Lessee’s obligation to pay rentals under the Lease.   

2. The term of the Lease commenced on ___________, 2023, and will expire on 

___________, 2073.   

3. Lessee acknowledges full receipt and satisfaction of all consideration contemplated 

or required by Section I.C.  Lessee has paid to Lessor all rent and other sums otherwise owed under 

the Lease as of the date hereof.   

4. There are no defaults or events that with the passage of time or notice would 

constitute a default by Lessor or Lessee under the Lease.  Lessor and Lessee are in full compliance 

with all of the terms, conditions and covenants of the Lease.  Lessor has no actual knowledge of 

any claims by others against Lessee relating to the Property or its use.  No event has occurred 

giving, and no state of facts exist which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, 

would give, Lessor the right to terminate the Lease.  As of this date, Lessor has no defenses or 

offsets against the full and complete enforcement of the Lease by Lessee or its predecessors, 

successors or assigns, including the CDE Lenders.   

5. All obligations under the Lease to be performed by either Lessor or Lessee prior to 

the date hereof have been satisfied, including but not limited to, any obligations of Lessee to make 

or pay for any improvements, alterations or work done on the Property, and all improvements or 

work required to be performed by Lessee have been completed in accordance with the Lease and 

have been accepted by Lessor.  

6. The address for notices to be sent to Lessor or Lessee is set forth in the Lease. 

7. If the CDE Lenders or their designees succeed to Lessee’s (or any successor to 

Lessee) interest in the Property or if a sale by power of sale or by judicial or non-judicial 

foreclosure occurs, Lessor agrees to attorn to and accept the CDE Lenders, their designees or a 

purchaser at such sale as its lessee under the Lease for the then remaining balance of the term 

thereof and Lessor shall be bound to such new lessee, in accordance with the all of the provisions 

of the Lease, for the remaining term of the Lease.  This attornment shall be self-operative. 

8. The undersigned individual hereby certifies that he or she is duly authorized to sign, 

acknowledge and deliver this Estoppel Certificate on behalf of Lessor or Lessee, as applicable.  If 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              249 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

more than one party executes this Estoppel Certificate, each party shall be jointly and severally 

liable hereunder. 

9. Lessor acknowledges that (a) the CDE Lenders will rely on this Estoppel Certificate 

in making a loan or otherwise extending credit to Lessee and (b) each Recipient will rely on this 

Estoppel Certificate.  Lessor acknowledges that (a) the information contained in this Estoppel 

Certificate and the provisions hereof shall be for the benefit of each Recipient and (b) the 

provisions hereof shall also inure to the benefit of any lender making a loan secured by the direct 

or indirect interests in Lessee and/or the Property. 

[Signature page follows] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Estoppel Certificate to be duly 

executed as of the Effective Date.  

LESSOR: 

 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY 

 

By:        

____________ 

____________ 

  

LESSEE: 

JRA PUBLIC BENEFIT CORPORATION, 

a Mississippi nonprofit corporation  

 

By:   

_______________ 

President, Board of Directors 

 

EXHIBIT F 

 

ADDRESSES OF EACH LENDER AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES 

 

 

  

 

EXHIBIT H 

CITY GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              250 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT 

THIS GROUND LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement” or “City Ground Lease”), 

dated as of __________, 2023 (the “Effective Date”), is made between CITY OF JACKSON, 

MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi (“Lessor”), and JACKSON 

REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, a body corporate and politic and the urban renewal agency 

of the City of Jackson, Mississippi (“Lessee”).   

W I T N E S S E T H 

WHEREAS, Lessor is the owner of fee simple owner of certain real property located at 

201 E. Pascagoula Street, Jackson, MS 39201, and more particularly described on Exhibit A 

attached hereto (the “Property”); and 

WHEREAS, Lessor has determined that it is necessary and appropriate to lease the 

Property owned by Lessor and the improvements hereafter constructed thereon (including, but not 

limited to, the Improvements (as defined below)), as well as certain work in progress undertaken 

by Lessor as more particularly described on Exhibit B attached hereto (the “WIP”);  

WHEREAS, on or about the Effective Date but following the execution of this Agreement, 

the Lessee will subsequently ground lease (the “JRA Ground Lease”) the Property, Improvements 

and WIP to the JRA Public Improvement Corporation, a Mississippi nonprofit corporation (the 

“QALICB”), with the understanding that QALICB, in cooperation with Lessee and Lessor, will 

continue to cause the development, repairing, improving, adorning and equipping the Russell C. 

Davis Planetarium and other authorized purposes with same including constructing, improving 

and paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways and public parking facilities on the 

Property, all as more fully described on Exhibit C attached hereto (collectively, the 

“Improvements,” and, together with the Property and the WIP, the “Demised Premises”) in 

accordance with the Development Agreement (as defined below) and the Plans and Specifications 

(as defined in the Development Agreement); and 

WHEREAS, Lessor, Lessee and QALICB have entered into that certain Development 

Services Agreement, dated as of the Effective Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, 

restated, modified or supplemented from time to time, the “Development Agreement”) pursuant to 

which Lessor will cause the development and construction of the Improvements and QALICB will 

make turnkey development payments (the “Turnkey Payments”) using the proceeds of certain 

loans in the aggregate original principal amount of $[___________] (collectively, the “CDE 

Loans”) from  [Hope New Markets __, LLC, a Mississippi limited liability company (the “HOPE 

CDE”) and Wells Fargo ___, LLC, a _________ limited liability company (the “Wells CDE” 

together with Hope CDE, the “CDE Lenders”], pursuant to that certain Loan and Security 

Agreement between QALICB, as borrower, and CDE Lenders, as lenders, dated as of the Effective 

Date (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, renewed modified or supplemented from 

time to time, the “CDE Loan Agreement”), and certain other ancillary documents (collectively and 

together with the CDE Loan Agreement, the “CDE Loan Documents”); and 

WHEREAS, QALICB (in its capacity as lessor under the Operating Lease (as defined 

below)) has agreed to lease the Demised Premises to Lessor (in its capacity as lessee under the 

Operating Lease), pursuant to that certain Lease Agreement dated as of the Effective Date, between 

Lessor and QALICB (as the same may be amended, assigned, restated, modified or supplemented 

from time to time, the “Operating Lease”). 

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and the mutual covenants and 

agreements contained herein, and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows: 

I. LEASE OF THE DEMISED PREMISES  

A. General.  The intent of Lessor and Lessee is that Lessor shall lease to Lessee the 

Demised Premises.  Lessor hereby grants and leases to Lessee, and Lessee hereby accepts, upon 

the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, the Demised Premises to be used by Lessee to ground 

lease the Demised Premises to the QALICB pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease, finance the 

Demised Premises pursuant to the Development Agreement and ultimately lease to the Demised 

Premises to the Lessor for operations pursuant to the Operating Lease.  



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              251 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

B. Term.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on ____ __, 202_, subject to 

the performance of the parties of the terms and conditions hereof (the “Commencement Date”), 

and shall continue until _________ __, 2123 (the “Expiration Date”).  At the Expiration Date, 

Lessee shall surrender to Lessor the Demised Premises in good and clean condition (ordinary wear 

and tear excepted) and free of all personal property of Lessee; provided, however, that Lessee shall 

have no obligation to maintain any portion of the Demised Premises for the period beyond their 

economic useful life (determined as of the Commencement Date), and Lessee shall execute and 

deliver to Lessor any and all instruments and documents that Lessor reasonably requests to 

effectively transfer, assign, and convey the Demised Premises to Lessor, free of any encumbrances, 

excluding any Permitted Liens (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement). 

C. Consideration.  Lessor hereby leases its interest in the Demised Premises to Lessee 

for the term of this Agreement with the understanding and agreement that, subject to the terms of 

the Development Agreement, Lessee and QALICB shall cause the Improvements to be constructed 

in accordance with the Plans and Specifications.  Lessor and Lessee agree that in exchange for the 

rights granted to Lessee under this Agreement, Lessee will ground lease the Demised Premises to 

the QALICB pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease and that QALICB, (i) using a portion of the 

proceeds of the CDE Loans, QALICB shall pay the Initial Turnkey Payment (as defined below) as 

set forth in Section I.G. below, (ii) using a portion of the proceeds of the CDE Loans, QALICB 

shall make the Turnkey Payments to Lessor pursuant to the terms of the Development Agreement 

to pay a portion of the costs to develop and construct the Improvements on the Property, and (iii) 

Lessor shall pay the remaining portion of the costs to develop and construct the Improvements on 

the Property, which upon completion shall be deemed a contribution in kind from Lessor to Lessee 

pursuant to this Agreement (the “Contribution”).  The amount of the Contribution is anticipated to 

be $[________________].   The Lessee will in turn make the Contribution of the remaining costs 

to the QALICB pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease. 

D. Utilities.  Lessor and Lessee agree, during the term of this Agreement, Lessee shall 

pay before delinquency, all charges for use of telephone, water, gas, heat, electricity, trash, sewer 

and all other utilities and services of whatever kind and nature which may be used in or upon the 

Demised Premises adequate for the intended purposes in full compliance with all governmental 

laws and regulations. 

E. Taxes.  Lessee shall pay all real estate taxes, special assessments and any other 

taxes, assessments or public charges levied or assessed by lawful authority against the Demised 

Premises attributable to the period during the term of this Agreement on or before the due date 

thereof, unless contested by Lessee in good faith.  Lessee shall have the right to contest, in good 

faith, by appropriate proceedings, the amount, applicability, or validity of any such taxes or 

assessments.  Lessee shall be responsible to pay its respective taxes on income and all its employee 

related taxes, if any, in connection with the operations of the Demised Premises.  As between 

Lessor and Lessee, Lessee has the exclusive right (but shall be under no obligation), at its expense, 

to endeavor at any time or times to obtain a reduction in the assessed valuation of the Demised 

Premises, or any part thereof, for the purpose of reducing the real estate taxes, including the right 

to prosecute administrative and/or judicial proceedings and judicial review and appeal of any 

decision which Lessee, in its sole discretion, considers adverse, and the right to settle or 

compromise any such proceedings.  Lessor will offer no objection and, at the request of Lessee, 

will cooperate with Lessee, without cost or expense to Lessor, in effecting such a reduction.  Lessee 

shall be authorized to collect any tax refund payable because of any proceeding Lessee may 

institute, and any such tax refund shall be the property of Lessee, to the extent to which it is based 

on a payment made by Lessee.   

So long as the Operating Lease is in effect, the parties hereto acknowledge and agree that 

the leasehold interest in the Demised Premises under this Agreement shall be exempt from ad 

valorem taxes pursuant to Mississippi law, including Section 27-31-1(b) of the Mississippi Code 

of 1972, as amended. 

F. Quiet Enjoyment.  As long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its 

obligations hereunder exists, Lessor covenants and agrees that Lessee shall and may peaceably 

have, hold, and enjoy the occupancy and use of the Demised Premises to the extent provided herein 

free from molestation, eviction or disturbance by Lessor or any other persons or legal entity 

whatsoever, and as long as no default by Lessee in the performance of its obligations hereunder 

exists, and upon expiration or termination of the JRA Ground Lease and the Operating Lease, the 

parties hereto acknowledge and agree that Lessee shall have the right to occupy, use and operate 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              252 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement for any use permitted by law without any 

disturbance or restriction by Lessor or any other persons.  As long as no default by Lessee in the 

performance of its obligations hereunder exists, and upon expiration or termination of the JRA 

Ground Lease and the Operating Lease, Lessor hereby covenants that, should Lessee determine 

that any easements are necessary in order for Lessee to occupy, use and operate the Demised 

Premises for the term of this Agreement, Lessor shall grant to Lessee any easements and shall take 

any other action available to Lessor that may be required in order to allow Lessee to occupy, use 

and operate the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement. 

G. Initial Turnkey Payment; Turnkey Payments. The parties acknowledge that Lessor 

has incurred costs in the total amount of $[__________] in connection with the WIP.  As part of 

the consideration to lease the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement as provided in 

Section C. above, Lessee shall require QALICB (pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease) to pay to 

Lessor the amount of $[____________] (the “Initial Turnkey Payment”), payable on or before the 

date hereof in one initial upfront installment.  The Initial Turnkey Payment shall be made directly 

to Lessee pursuant to the Flow of Funds Memorandum (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement).     

The parties acknowledge that pursuant to the Development Agreement, it is anticipated that 

Lessor will incur additional costs in the amount of $[_____________], in connection with the 

development and construction of a portion of the Improvements.  As part of the consideration to 

lease the Demised Premises for the term of this Agreement as provided in Section C. above, Lessee 

shall require QALICB (pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease) to pay to Lessor the Turkey Payments, 

payable as set forth in the Development Agreement.  The parties hereto acknowledge and agree 

that the foregoing transactions will be classified for federal income tax purposes as set forth in 

Section VI.B. below.  

Further, Lessor agrees to allow the Construction Parties (as defined in the Development 

Agreement) to access the Demised Premises for the purposes of completing the work contemplated 

under the Development Agreement. 

H. Development Agreement.  Lessor and Lessee shall observe all requirements, terms 

and conditions of the Development Agreement.  To the extent reasonably necessary, and without 

violating the laws of the State of Mississippi, Lessor and Lessee shall cooperate with each other to 

obtain the required permits, approvals, and authorizations for the construction of the Improvements 

in accordance with this Agreement, including by joining in applications for building permits, 

subdivision plat approvals, certificates of dedication, public works or other agreements, utility 

easements, permits for sewer, water and other utility services, and the dedication to the applicable 

governmental authorities of such title to or easements for utility, roadway and slope or storm 

drainage areas or facilities as are reasonably necessary or desirable. 

II.  CONSTRUCTION OF THE IMPROVEMENTS  

  A. Construction of the Improvements.  Lessor shall cause the Improvements to 

be constructed on the Property in accordance with the Plans and Specifications and the terms and 

conditions of the Development Agreement.  Pursuant to the Development Agreement, Lessee has 

appointed QALICB to provide for, or cause to be provided for, the complete construction of the 

Improvements. 

 B. QALICB to Bear a Portion of Construction Costs.  QALICB is financing a 

portion of the costs to complete the construction of the Improvements on the Property pursuant to 

the CDE Loan Documents.  Turnkey Payments for a portion of the costs of construction of the 

Improvements shall be made from the moneys which shall be disbursed for this purpose in 

accordance and upon compliance with the CDE Loan Agreement and as provided for under the 

Development Agreement, the JRA Ground Lease and this Agreement.  

 

III. LIENS 

Lessee shall not create or allow a lien or claim of any kind to be filed or claimed against 

Lessor’s interest in the Demised Premises during the continuance of this Agreement, except to the 

extent that the creation of such lien or liens is specifically authorized by a provision in this 

Agreement, the CDE Loan Agreement, or the written consent of Lessor.  If any prohibited lien is 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              253 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

claimed or filed because of any act or omission by Lessee, its employees, subcontractors, or agents, 

Lessee shall cause the Demised Premises to be released from the claim within 30 days after Lessor 

is given written notice of the claim and transmits written notice of its receipt to Lessee, whichever 

30-day period expires earlier.  Lessee will cause such release either by paying to the court the 

amount necessary to relieve and release the Demised Premises from such claim, or in any other 

manner which, as a matter of law, will result, within the 30-day period, in releasing Lessor and its 

title from the claim. 

IV. INSURANCE; DESTRUCTION OR CONDEMNATION 

 A. Insurance.  From and after any earlier date when Lessee, or City pursuant 

to the Operating Lease, makes actual use of and occupies the Demised Premises or any part of it, 

Lessee shall cause QALICB to hold a written a policy or policies of insurance in the form generally 

known as public liability policies.  The policies shall insure QALICB against all claims and 

demands made by any person or persons for injuries received in connection with the operating and 

maintenance of the Demised Premises and for any other risk insured against by such policies.  Each 

class of policies shall be written within limits of not less than $500,000 for damages incurred or 

claimed by any one person for bodily injury, or otherwise, and damages to property or as otherwise 

required under the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents.  All such policies 

shall name Lessee, Lessor, QALICB and each Lender (as defined below), as their respective 

interests may appear, as the insured persons.  Lessee shall promptly deliver the original or a 

duplicate original of each policy or policies to Lessor and each CDE Lender as soon as they are 

written, together with adequate evidence of the fact that the premiums are paid. 

 B. Lessee’s Insurance Obligation.  From and after the time this Agreement 

commences, Lessee will keep insured or cause QALICB to be kept insured all buildings and 

improvements upon the Property against all loss or damage by fire and windstorm, together with 

“extended coverage.”  The amount of insurance shall at all times be sufficient to prevent any party 

in interest from being or becoming a co-insurer on any part of the risk, and shall not be less than 

80 percent of the full insurable value.  All such policies shall name Lessee, Lessor, QALICB and 

each Lender, as their respective interests may appear, as the insured persons.  Without limiting the 

foregoing, for so long as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, Lessee shall maintain or cause 

QALICB to maintain in full force and effect such insurance coverages as are required to be 

maintained under the CDE Loan Agreement. 

 C. Insurance Premiums.  Lessee shall pay or cause QALICB to pay premiums 

for all of the insurance policies it is required to carry under the terms of this Agreement, and shall 

deliver to Lessor and each Lender evidence of such payment before the payment of any premiums 

become in default.  Lessee shall also cause QALICB to make renewals of expiring policies to be 

written and the policies or copies thereof, as required by this Agreement, to be delivered to Lessor 

and each Lender as it may request. 

 D. Destruction or Damage.  If during the term of this Agreement, all or any 

portion of the Demised Premises is destroyed or damaged as the result of fire, windstorm, or other 

casualty, Lessee shall immediately notify the applicable insurers; Lessor, QALICB and each 

Lender of the destruction or damage, and QALICB, at its expense or at the expense of any lessee 

under the Operating Lease, shall repair or replace or cause to be repaired or replaced the destroyed 

or damaged Demised Premises.  Unless otherwise required by the CDE Loan Agreement or any 

other CDE Loan Document, the proceeds of all insurance maintained by Lessee or QALICB on 

the Demised Premises shall be applied in accordance with the CDE Loan Agreement and the other 

CDE Loan Documents, and if no loan is outstanding that is secured by a lien on the Demised 

Premises, then applied: first, to pay the costs of clearing and restoring the Demised Premises; and 

second, to QALICB.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long as the CDE 

Loans remain outstanding, all insurance proceeds shall be applied in accordance with the CDE 

Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

 E.  Condemnation.  If all or any portion of the Property is taken for any public 

or quasi-public use under any governmental law, ordinance, or regulation, or by right of eminent 

domain or private purchase, the following provisions shall apply: 1) subject to the rights of each 

CDE Lender under the Leasehold Deed of Trust, QALICB shall receive that part of any award or 

compensation that is attributable to the fair market value of QALICB’s leasehold estate in the 

Property, including leasehold improvements, together with any severance damages determined by 

a court of competent jurisdiction, and 2) Lessor shall receive that part of any award of 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              254 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

compensation that is attributable to the fair market value of Lessor’s estate in the Property 

(including the reversionary interest).  Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, for so long 

as the CDE Loans remain outstanding, all condemnation proceeds shall be applied in accordance 

with the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

V. REPAIR OBLIGATIONS 

 During the continuance of this Agreement, Lessee shall keep or cause the QALICB 

to keep under the JRA Ground Lease to keep in good state of repair and in commercially reasonable 

condition the Demised Premises (reasonable wear and tear excepted).  Lessee shall, or cause 

QALICB to, promptly repair, at its expense and in a manner reasonably acceptable to Lessor, any 

damage to Lessor’s property or to the property of others caused by Lessee, QALICB or its 

managers, officers, agents, employees, or contractors.  Lessee or a lessee under the JRA Ground 

Lease or lessee under the Operating Lease shall not suffer or permit any strip, waste, or neglect of 

the Demised Premises to be committed.  Lessee shall, or cause QALICB to, repair, replace, and 

renovate the Demised Premises as often as necessary to keep the Demised Premises in repair and 

condition suitable for public elementary school education standards.  Notwithstanding the 

foregoing, Lessee shall have no obligation to maintain any portion of the Demised Premises for 

the period beyond their useful life (determined as of the Commencement Date). 

  Lessor and Lessee agree that on the commencement date of the Operating Lease, 

Lessor shall assume all responsibilities and liabilities to operate and maintain the Demised 

Premises in conformity with the provisions contained herein.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, 

Lessor (in its capacity as Lessee under the Operating Lease) shall have no obligation to maintain 

any portion of the Demised Premises for the period beyond their useful life (determined as of the 

Commencement Date).    

VI. SPECIAL CONDITIONS 

G. Compliance with New Markets Tax Credits.  Lessee acknowledges that the 

Improvements to be constructed upon the Property by Lessor will be financed utilizing federal 

New Markets Tax Credits (the “Tax Credits”) authorized under Section 45D of the Internal 

Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”),  and both Lessee and Lessor agree that no action 

shall be taken by any party without the written consent of all parties that would in any way 

jeopardize or threaten the validity of the Tax Credits during the seven (7) year period wherein such 

credits are subject to recapture under Section 45D(g) of the Code.  During the term of the CDE 

Loan Agreement, neither Lessor nor Lessee shall be entitled to use, nor permit the use of, the 

Demised Premises for any Excluded Activity or Business (as defined in the CDE Loan 

Agreement). 

H. Transfer of Ownership for Federal Income Tax Purposes.  Notwithstanding 

anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, Lessor and Lessee hereby agree and 

acknowledge that, notwithstanding the form of this transaction as a lease for local and state law 

purposes, it is the intent of each that this transaction be treated as a sale or grant of the Demised 

Premises from Lessor to Lessee, and for Lessee to be treated as the owner of the Demised Premises, 

for federal income tax purposes.  For Federal income tax and accounting purposes, Lessor 

recognizes and shall continue to recognize (i) Lessee as the owner of the Demised Premises 

pursuant to this Agreement, and (ii) this Agreement as transferring ownership to Lessee; Lessor 

and Lessee agree that neither shall take any tax reporting position to the contrary.  In furtherance 

and not in limitation of the foregoing, Lessor and Lessee agree that (i) to the greatest extent 

possible, the risk of loss and the benefits of profit and appreciation with respect to the Demised 

Premises shall reside with Lessee, (iii) it is not Lessor’s intent to realize any meaningful residual 

value from the Demised Premises on or after the date hereof, except as a lessee under the Operating 

Lease, and (iv) Lessee alone shall be entitled to all of the tax attributes of ownership of the Demised 

Premises, including, without limitation, the right to claim depreciation or cost recovery deductions. 

I. Ground Lease Pledged to Lenders. 

(16) Pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease, Lessee shall provide QALICB the right to 

mortgage and otherwise encumber this Agreement and Lessee’s leasehold interest, in whole or in 

part, by one or more leasehold deed of trusts, including, but not limited to, the CDE Lender Deed 

of Trust (as defined below) (a “Leasehold Deed of Trust”) to any person or entity.  Any Leasehold 

Deed of Trust shall not constitute a lien on Lessor’s fee interest in the Property.  No holder of any 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              255 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

such Leasehold Deed of Trust (together with the CDE Lenders, a “Lender”) shall be liable for 

performance of any of the covenants and obligations of Lessee under this Agreement, except 

during any period from and after such Lender’s actual possession of, and exercise of Lessee’s 

rights with respect to the Demised Premises.  Lessor consents to QALICB’s assignment of rents 

in and to the Demised Premises to a Lender, and for a Lender in any action that relates in any 

manner to foreclose of its Leasehold Deed of Trust and/or exercise its assignment or rents, to be 

entitled to the appointment of a receiver.  QALICB shall have the right to assign insurance proceeds 

to a Lender and Lessor acknowledges that the application of any insurance or condemnation 

proceeds shall be controlled by the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents. 

(17) Lessor acknowledges that Lessee will enter into the JRA Ground Lease and that 

QALICB will enter into the CDE Loan Agreement and the other CDE Loan Documents, pursuant 

to which the CDE Lenders will make the CDE Loans, the proceeds of which will be used by 

QALICB to make the Turnkey Payments in connection with the development and construction of 

the Improvements and the other permitted uses provided in the CDE Loan Documents.  Lessor 

further acknowledges and agrees that Lessee’s leasehold interest hereunder has been ground leased 

to the QALICB pursuant to the JRA Ground Lease and the QALICB’s leasehold interest has been 

pledged to the CDE Lender as collateral for the CDE Loans under the CDE Loan Agreement, 

pursuant to that certain Leasehold Deed of Trust, Assignment of Leases and Rents, Security 

Agreement and Fixture Filing dated as of the Effective Date made by Lessee in favor of the CDE 

Lenders (the “CDE Lenders’ Deed of Trust”).  Lessor hereby consents to the CDE Lender Deed of 

Trust, the CDE Loan Documents and all of the terms thereof.  The CDE Lenders shall be a Lender 

for all purposes hereunder and the CDE Lenders’ Deed of Trust shall be a Leasehold Deed of Trust 

for all purposes hereunder. 

(18) Lessor agrees not to accept a voluntary: (a) surrender, (b) termination or (c) 

amendment of this Agreement, the Development Agreement, the JRA Ground Lease or the 

Operating Lease by Lessee, at any time while a Leasehold Deed of Trust shall remain a lien on 

QALICB’s leasehold interest, without the prior written consent of the applicable CDE Lenders. 

(19) If Lessee or Lessor fails to keep, observe or perform any of the terms of this 

Agreement required to be kept, observed or performed by it, in addition to any notice to Lessee or 

Lessor, required hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as applicable, shall give written notice of such failure 

to each Lender in accordance with the notice provisions contained herein.  No notice of a failure 

or other default by Lessor or Lessee under or with respect to this Agreement shall be deemed to 

have been duly given unless and until a copy thereof has been so served on each Lender.  Lessor 

and Lessee agree to accept performance by any Lender with the same force and effect as though 

kept, observed or performed by Lessee or Lessor, as applicable.  Such Lender shall have the same 

right as Lessee or Lessor to enter the Demised Premises for the express purpose of keeping, 

observing or performing such terms.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, 

Lessor and Lessee agree that in the event of a default under this Agreement that would give Lessor 

or Lessee the right, immediately or after the lapse of a period of time, to cancel or terminate this 

Agreement or exercise any of its other rights or remedies hereunder, Lessor or Lessee, as 

applicable, shall not exercise such right unless and until (a) Lessor or Lessee has given written 

notice to each Lender of such default, act or omission, (b) Lessor or Lessee has given each Lender 

an opportunity to cure, and (c) such Lender or its designee has failed to cure or remedy the default, 

act or omission within thirty (30) days after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in 

the case of a default in the due and punctual payment of any taxes, insurance premiums or other 

charges or monetary amounts required to be paid under this Agreement and within sixty (60) days 

after the expiration of Lessee’s or Lessor’s cure period in the case of a failure to observe or perform 

any other material terms of this Agreement to be observed or performed by Lessee, and if such 

default cannot with due diligence and good faith be cured within such sixty (60) day period, then 

such longer period of time as may be reasonably necessary, not to exceed one hundred eighty (180) 

days. 

(20) Any Lender which cures a default shall be subrogated to all of rights of Lessor 

against Lessee with respect to such default. 

(21) In addition to any rights and remedies a Lender may have pursuant to a Leasehold 

Deed of Trust or under any other applicable documents governing the terms of Lessee’s and such 

Lender’s agreements with respect to the Demised Premises, if a default exists under this 

Agreement, Lessor shall not terminate this Agreement or take any steps to obtain control or 

possession of the Demised Premises if, within a period not in excess of ninety (90) days following 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              256 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Lessor’s written notice to such Lender of the occurrence of such default, the Lender (a) commences 

foreclosure or other appropriate proceedings or is taking other steps to obtain control or possession 

of the Demised Premises and, (b) makes payment of all past due amounts, and is making payment 

of all sums due Lessor, when due, and (c) if such default is reasonably susceptible to cure by such 

Lender (taking into account, among other things, such Lender not being in possession), is taking 

reasonable steps to cure same, in which event, such Lender, upon appropriate notice to Lessor, 

shall have the right: (i) to acquire by foreclosure proceedings or other appropriate steps Lessee’s 

interest in this Agreement, and (ii) to remove Lessee from the Demised Premises.  Such Lender 

shall not be required to institute foreclosure proceedings if it is able to acquire and does acquire 

Lessee’s leasehold interest by any other legal means, including, without limitation, voluntary 

assignment.  Lessor agrees that if by reason of a bankruptcy, insolvency or similar type proceeding, 

or by reason of any other judicial order or legislative enactment, the Lender shall be stayed from 

commencing (or if commenced, from continuing) foreclosure proceedings or other appropriate 

steps, then the Lender shall be deemed to be prosecuting such proceedings with diligence and 

continuously so long as it is in good faith attempting to obtain relief from any such stay.  

(22) Any Lender shall be given prompt notice by Lessor and Lessee of any legal 

proceedings by the parties hereto involving obligations under this Agreement, and shall have the 

right to intervene therein and be made a party to such proceedings, and the parties hereto do hereby 

consent to such intervention.  If any Lender shall not elect to intervene or become a party to such 

proceedings, the Lender shall receive notice of, and a copy of any award or decision made in, said 

proceedings which shall be binding on all Lenders not intervening after the receipt of notice of the 

proceeding. 

(23) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, any foreclosure, or any 

exercise of rights or remedies under any Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall not be deemed to violate 

this Agreement or require the consent of Lessor.   

(24) Nothing herein shall impose upon Lender any liability for the obligations of Lessee 

unless and until Lender takes title to the Demised Premises.  Neither the making of the loans 

pursuant to the CDE Loan Agreement, nor being a third-party beneficiary of this Agreement, nor 

the exercise by Lender of its rights under this Agreement or the Leasehold Deed of Trust, shall be 

deemed to make Lender a mortgagee-in-possession.   

(25) Lessor agrees that the name of any Lender may be added as a named insured or to 

the “loss payable endorsement” or named under a standard mortgagee clause of all insurance 

policies required to be carried or caused to be carried by Lessee hereunder on the condition that 

the insurance proceeds are to be applied in the manner specified in the Leasehold Deed of Trust in 

first lien position.  The proceeds of any insurance policies or arising from a condemnation are to 

be held by the Lender whose Leasehold Deed of Trust is prior in lien to any other Leasehold Deed 

of Trust, and distributed pursuant to the provisions of this Agreement, the JRA Ground Lease and 

the CDE Loan Documents, but the Lender may reserve the right to apply all, or any part, of 

Lessee’s share of such proceeds to the Leasehold Deed of Trust debt pursuant to such Leasehold 

Deed of Trust before or in lieu of any required application of such proceeds hereunder. 

(26) Lessor hereby acknowledges that the Lenders may require estoppel certificates in 

substantially the form as attached hereto as Exhibit E (an “Estoppel Certificate”), consents, 

approvals or other written documentation from Lessor and from certain third parties that may from 

time to time have a property, regulatory or other interest in the Demised Premises in connection 

with any Leasehold Deed of Trust, and Lessor hereby agrees to (i) within twenty (20) days after 

written request, deliver all such documentation as Lessee or any Lender may reasonably require 

(including, but not limited to an Estoppel Certificate), provided that nothing therein materially 

adversely affects the rights of Lessor, and (ii) promptly cooperate with Lessee and any Lender 

holding Leasehold Deed of Trust in order to obtain any such written documentation from any such 

third parties.  It is understood that Lessor shall not be obligated to expend any funds or incur any 

liabilities in implementation of the foregoing, and Lessor shall be reimbursed by Lessee for all 

such out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by Lessor in connection therewith. 

(27) As to Section VI.C., (i) each Lender shall be a third-party beneficiary hereof and 

(ii) such section shall be self-operative, and no further instrument is necessary. 

(28) For so long as the CDE Loan Agreement remains in effect, Lessee and Lessor shall 

provide such information as may be reasonably requested by the CDE Lender  to comply with 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              257 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

requirements of the CDFI Fund (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement) with respect to the Tax 

Credit data collection.  The Demised Premises shall be operated in a manner that satisfies and shall 

continue to satisfy all restrictions applicable to the Demised Premises and real property on which 

the Demised Premises is located and qualified businesses under Section 45D of the Code and 

Treasury Regulations (as defined in the CDE Loan Agreement).  

J. New Lease.  If Lessor terminates this Agreement because of an event of default not 

cured by Lender or a foreclosure of Lessee’s interest in this Agreement, or if this Agreement is 

terminated for any other reason, or if this Agreement is rejected or disaffirmed pursuant to any 

bankruptcy, insolvency or other law affecting creditors’ rights, Lessor shall give written notice that 

such termination has occurred to each Lender of which Lessor has been informed.  In addition to 

any other rights the Lender may have hereunder, if, within forty-five (45) days after the receipt of 

such notice, such Lender shall have effected a cure of all monetary defaults of Lessee, and within 

one hundred eighty (180) days after the receipt of such notice such Lender shall have effected a 

cure of all non-monetary defaults of Lessee which are susceptible of cure by a third party within 

such period (expressly excluding breaches of personal covenant defaults of such Lessee, such as 

maintenance of organizational existence and the like), then such Lender may request a new lease 

for the entire Demised Premises on the same terms as this Agreement for the remaining balance of 

the term.  Lessor shall, within sixty (60) days thereafter, to the extent permitted by law, mutually 

execute and deliver a new lease of the Demised Premises with such Lender or to its respective 

nominee (the “New Lessee”), effective as of the date of execution of the new lease for what would 

have been, from the date of termination of this Agreement, the remainder of the term of this 

Agreement.  Such new lease shall contain the same provisions (including, but not limited to, 

extension provisions and any options in favor of Lessee) as would have been in effect for such 

remainder of the term pursuant to this Agreement.  Lessor will, at the request and at the sole cost 

and expense of such Lender, or respective nominee, cooperate, including in its name if reasonably 

required, in the prosecution of summary proceedings to evict Lessee or any other occupants of the 

Demised Premises.  Upon the execution and delivery of a new lease pursuant to this Section VI.D., 

the Demised Premises, and all subleases and other agreements pertaining to the Demised Premises 

which theretofore may have reverted to Lessor upon termination of this Agreement and which have 

not terminated shall be transferred to the extent transferable, without any warranty or recourse 

whatsoever, by Lessor to and assumed by New Lessee.  Any new lease made pursuant to this 

Section VI.D. shall be senior in priority with respect to any fee mortgage, if applicable, or other 

lien, charge or encumbrance, if any, on the fee simple title to the Demised Premises and/or Lessor’s 

reversionary interest in the Demised Premises.  Lessor shall cause each such fee mortgagee, 

judgment lienor or creditor, from time to time upon written request and without charge, to execute, 

acknowledge and deliver such instruments reasonably requested by a Lender to evidence the 

foregoing.  The provisions of this Section VI.D. shall survive any termination of this Agreement. 

K. Fee Mortgages.  Lessor shall have the right to convey, mortgage or encumber all or 

a portion of its fee simple interest in the Demised Premises and/or its interest in this Agreement 

during the term of this Agreement (including without limitation a tenancy-in-common or other 

partial interest in the Demised Premises and/or this Agreement), without the prior written consent 

of Lessee, but only on the express conditions that (i) the lien of any such fee mortgage or deed of 

trust shall be subordinate to the leasehold interest of Lessee in the Demised Premises and other 

rights of Lessee (including extension options) created by this Agreement, as it may be extended, 

amended or otherwise modified from time to time (as well as any replacement lease for this 

Agreement entered into by a Lender pursuant to Section VI.D. above), (ii) the lien of any such fee 

mortgage or deed of trust shall be subordinate to the Leasehold Deed of Trust held by the CDE 

Lenders and/or its successors and assigns, as it may be extended, amended or otherwise modified 

from time to time, and (iii) any transferee of Lessor’s fee simple interest in the Demised Premises 

and/or its interest in this Agreement during the term of this Agreement (including without 

limitation a tenancy-in-common or other partial interest in the Demised Premises and/or this 

Agreement) shall be bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

L. Lessor and Lessee acknowledge and agree that pursuant to Section 57-105-1(7)(d) 

of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, this Agreement, the JRA Ground Lease, the 

Development Agreement and the Demised Premises are exempt from any limitation or 

requirements with respect to leasing, acquiring and/or constructing public property or facilities in 

the State of Mississippi.   

VII. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              258 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

 A. Representations and Warranties by Lessor.  Lessor represents and warrants 

to Lessee as follows: 

(6) Existence.  Lessor is a body corporate and politic of the State of Mississippi and 

has all requisite power and authority to execute, deliver, and perform this Agreement and 

transactions contemplated hereby. 

 (7) Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments contemplated by 

this Agreement to which Lessor is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, executed and 

delivered by Lessor and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessor enforceable 

in accordance with their terms.  All requisite action of Lessor has been taken to authorize the 

execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions contemplated hereby. 

(8) Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this 

Agreement and the consummation of the transaction contemplated hereby do not and will not 

violate any note, bond, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessor is a party 

or by which it is bound. 

(9) Environmental.  To the best or its knowledge, between the issuance of the 

Environmental Reports and the Commencement Date, Lessor has not released or caused or 

permitted to be released on or from the Property any Hazardous Materials in violation of any 

Environmental Laws (as such terms are defined in the Operating Lease). 

(10) Liens and Encumbrances.  As of the Commencement Date, no liens encumber or 

have been filed against the Demised Premises (other than the CDE Lenders’ Deed of Trust in favor 

of the CDE Lenders) and all work performed as of the Commencement Date has been paid in full 

and no person or entity has a claim against Lessor for nonpayment of the same. 

 B. Representations and Warranties by Lessee.  Lessee represents and warrants 

to Lessor as follows: 

 (1) Existence.  Lessee is a body corporate and politic and the urban renewal 

agency of the City of Jackson, Mississippi, duly organized and validly existing in good standing 

under the laws of the State of Mississippi and has all requisite power and authority to execute, 

deliver, and perform this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby. 

 (2) Authority.  This Agreement and all agreements and instruments 

contemplated by this Agreement to which Lessee is a party or signatory have been duly authorized, 

executed, and delivered by Lessee and constitute the legal, valid and binding obligations of Lessee 

enforceable in accordance with their terms.  All requisite organizational action of Lessee has been 

taken to authorize the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement and all transactions 

contemplated hereby. 

 (3) Conflicting Instruments.  The execution, delivery and performance of this 

Agreement and the consummation of the transactions contemplated hereby do not and will not 

violate any note, indenture, lease or other agreement or instrument to which Lessee is a party or 

by which it is bound. 

VIII.  [RESERVED]. 

IX. EVENTS OF DEFAULT AND REMEDIES 

C. Event of Default.  In the event of default by any party of any of its covenants or 

conditions contained in this Agreement, the defaulting party shall be given notice citing the 

default(s) and allowing it thirty (30) days from such notice to cure such breach.  If the defaulting 

party has diligently commenced work to cure such breach during such thirty (30) day period but 

additional time is needed to cure such breach, the non-defaulting party may grant the defaulting 

party an extension of thirty (30) days, in its discretion.  If the defaulting party has failed to cure 

the breach within sixty (60) days from the date of non-defaulting party’s notice of such breach, 

and provided Lender has not cured Lessee’s breach pursuant to the provisions hereof, the non-

defaulting party may proceed in accordance with Section IX.B. below.  Any notice of default to, 

or opportunity to cure in favor of, Lessee under this Section IX.A. shall simultaneously be provided 

to Lender in accordance with Section VI.C. above. 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              259 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

D. Remedies.  Upon a default by Lessee under Section IX.A. above, subject to the 

rights of any Lender, Lessor may exercise any remedies available to it at law or equity other than 

terminating this Agreement.  Lessee hereby acknowledges that equitable remedies are appropriate 

under this Agreement, and without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Lessor’s remedies shall 

include: (i) appointment of a receiver to operate the Demised Premises; or (ii) specific 

performance.  The remedies, rights and privileges of Lessor in case of default of Lessee as 

enumerated above shall not be exclusive; and, in addition thereto, Lessor may exercise and enforce 

all rights in law and in equity which it may otherwise have because of said default.  In the event 

of a default by Lessor under Section IX.A. above, Lessee may exercise and enforce all rights in 

law and in equity which it may otherwise have because of said default.  

C. Waiver of Rights, Remedies and Relief.  No delay or failure of either party to 

exercise any power or right hereunder, or under a similar agreement with third parties, shall operate 

as a waiver of any right, remedy or relief which either party is entitled; and such rights, remedies 

and relief shall be deemed continuous; nor shall a partial exercise preclude the party from full 

exercise thereof.   

E. Forbearance During Term of CDE Loans.  Notwithstanding anything herein to the 

contrary, Lessor shall forbear from exercising any of its remedies under this Agreement for so long 

as the CDE Loans remain outstanding. 

X. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. 

B. Notices.  Any notices or other communications hereunder shall be deemed to have 

been given when delivered personally, sent by electronic transmission (with confirmation receipt) 

to the following telephone numbers, or if deposited in the United States Mail, registered or 

certified, with proper postage and registration or certification fees prepaid, upon delivery by the 

post office addressed to the following addresses: 

TO LESSOR: 

 

City of Jackson, Mississippi 

________________ 

________________ 

Attention:  ____________ 

Facsimile:  (601) ___-______ 

E-mail:  ______________ 

  

 with a copy to: 

____________________ 

____________________ 

___________________ 

Attention:  _____________ 

Facsimile:  _____________ 

E-mail:  _______________  

TO LESSEE: 

Jackson Redevelopment Authority 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              260 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

__________________ 

__________________ 

Attention:  ______________ 

Facsimile: (601) ______________ 

E-mail:  __________________  

with a copy to: 

 

Butler Snow LLP 

1020 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 1400 

Ridgeland, MS 39157 

Attention:  Jetson G. Hollingsworth 

Facsimile: (601) 985-4404 

 E-mail: jet.hollingsworth@butlersnow.com  

 and to: 

____________________ 

____________________ 

____________________ 

Attention:  ________________ 

Facsimile: (___) ____________ 

E-mail:  _______________________ 

 

AND TO THE CDE LENDERS AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES AT THE 

ADDRESSES SET FORTH ON EXHIBIT F. 

or such other addresses as may be designated by any of the parties from time to time by 

written notice given to the other party in the aforesaid manner. 

B. Assignment.  This Agreement and all rights pertaining hereto, and obligations 

hereunder may be assigned by Lessor or Lessee at any time only with the written consent of the 

other party, which consent will not unreasonably be withheld, conditioned or delayed.  

Notwithstanding the foregoing, (i) QALICB may encumber and assign its leasehold interest in the 

JRA Ground Lease under a Leasehold Deed of Trust, and any successor in interest thereto, pursuant 

to Section VI.C.(1) without the consent of Lessor and (ii) QALICB may assign or transfer this 

Agreement to a Lender at any time in connection with QALICB’s exercise of its remedies pursuant 

to the applicable Leasehold Deed of Trust.  Other than as specifically permitted herein, this 

Agreement shall not be assigned by Lessee to any other party. 

C. Binding Effect.  The terms and provisions hereof shall be binding upon and shall 

inure to the benefit of the parties hereto and their respective heirs, personal representatives, 

successors, and assigns. 

D. Brokerage Commissions.  Each party represents and warrants to the other party that 

such warranting party has not incurred any obligation to pay any brokerage commissions by reason 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              261 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

of the transaction contemplated hereunder.  Each party shall be responsible for all loss, cost, 

damage, expense and liability whatsoever based upon any such commitment by such other party. 

E. Applicable Laws.  This Agreement and the rights and obligations of the parties 

hereunder shall be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Mississippi.  To the extent any provision of this Agreement is not enforceable under Mississippi 

law, such provision shall be modified, deleted or deemed invalid to the extent it is either not 

authorized by or inconsistent with the laws of the State of Mississippi, including the opinions of 

the Mississippi Attorney General. 

F. Memorandum of Ground Lease.  Lessor and Lessee shall sign, acknowledge and 

deliver a memorandum of ground lease in the form attached as Exhibit D for purposes of recording, 

where permitted by law.  The memorandum of ground lease may not, under any circumstances, be 

interpreted to amend any of the provisions of this Agreement which will, in all circumstances, 

govern and control. 

G. Further Assurances.  Each party hereby agrees to execute all such further 

instruments and documents, and to take all such further action as any other party may reasonably 

require to give effect to the provisions and purpose of this Agreement. 

H. Agreement Interpretation.  This Agreement has been freely and fairly negotiated by 

the parties hereto and has been reviewed and discussed by legal counsel for each of the parties, 

each of whom has had the full opportunity to modify the draftsmanship hereof and, therefore, the 

terms of this Agreement shall be construed and interpreted without any presumption or other rule 

requiring construction or interpretation against the interest of the party causing this Agreement to 

be drafted. 

I. Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each 

of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same 

agreement.  Delivery of an executed counterpart of a signature page to this Agreement by 

telecopier, facsimile machine, portable document format (“PDF”), Electronic Signature (as defined 

below) or other electronic means shall be as effective as delivery of a manually executed 

counterpart of this Agreement.  The effectiveness of any such documents and signatures shall, 

subject to applicable laws, have the same force and effect as manually signed originals and shall 

be binding on the parties.  “Electronic Signature” means any symbol or process attached to a 

document or instrument and executed or adopted by a person with the intent to sign the document 

or instrument, including, without limitation, any digital representation of a party’s signature 

created by scanning such party’s signature or by any electronic signature service such as DocuSign. 

J. Joint and Several Liability.  If Lessor or Lessee consists of more than one person or 

entity, the obligations and liabilities of each such person or entity hereunder shall be joint and 

several.  

K. No Merger of Estates.  The interests of Lessor and Lessee in the Demised Premises 

shall at all times be separate and apart, and shall in no event be merged, notwithstanding the fact 

that the leasehold estate, or any interest therein, may be held directly or indirectly by or for the 

account of any person who shall own Lessor’s reversionary interest, or any portion thereof; and no 

such merger of estates shall occur by operation of law, or otherwise, unless and until all persons at 

the time having any interest in the Demised Premises, including any Lender, shall join in the 

execution of a written instrument effecting such merger of estates. 

[Signature page follows] 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Ground Lease Agreement to be 

duly executed as of the Effective Date.  

LESSOR: 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of 

Mississippi 

By:__________________ 

LESSEE: 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              262 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, 

a body corporate and politic and urban renewal agency of the City of Jackson, Mississippi  

 

By:    

________________ 

________________ 

 

EXHIBIT A 

 

LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPERTY 

 

 

EXHIBIT B 

 

WIP 

 

 

 

EXHIBIT C 

 

IMPROVEMENTS 

 

 

  

EXHIBIT D 

 

MEMORANDUM OF GROUND LEASE 

 

(attached behind) 

EXHIBIT E 

 

FORM OF ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE 

 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              263 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

[Date] 

 

 

[Addressee] 

 

Re: Ground Lease Agreement dated _________ ___, 2023 (as amended from time to 

time, the “Lease”) by and between City of Jackson, Mississippi (the “Lessor”) and Jackson 

Redevelopment Authority (“Lessee”) with respect to certain premises in Hinds County, Mississippi 

(the “Property”) 

Ladies and Gentlemen: 

 This Estoppel Certificate is being delivered in connection with a financing 

transaction the proceeds of which were used to develop, repair, improve, adorn and equip the 

Russell C. Davis Planetarium and other authorized purposes with same including constructing, 

improving and paving streets, sidewalks, driveways, parkways, walkways and public parking 

facilities on the Property pursuant to that certain Ground Lease Agreement dated as of 

___________ __, 2023 (the “City Ground Lease”).  Lessee’s leasehold interest in the Property was 

ground leased to the JRA Public Benefit Corporation (the “QALICB”) pursuant to that certain 

Ground Lease Agreement dated as of ________, 2023 (the “JRA Ground Lease”).  The QALICB’s 

leasehold interest in the Property was pledged to Hope New Markets __, LLC, a Mississippi 

limited liability company (the “Hope CDE Lender”) and [Wells Fargo ____, LLC, a _________ 

limited liability company (the “Wells CDE Lender” and, together with the Hope CDE Lender, the 

“CDE Lenders”), as collateral for the CDE Lenders’ loans under that certain Loan and Security 

Agreement dated as of _________, 2023.  This Estoppel Certificate may be relied upon by the 

CDE Lenders, their successors and assigns, including a purchaser of an interest in any such loan, 

and any person claiming by or through the CDE Lenders (each, a “Recipient”).  Accordingly, 

Lessor and Lessee certify to and agree with each Recipient as of the date hereof as follows: 

10. The Lease is in full force and effect.  The Lease has not been amended, modified, 

supplemented, assigned, or extended, and is in full force and effect as of the date hereof.  There 

are no other agreements, whether written or oral, between Lessor and Lessee affecting the Property 

or Lessee’s obligation to pay rentals under the Lease.   

11. The term of the Lease commenced on ________ , 2023, and will expire on 

__________ 20__.   

12. Lessee acknowledges full receipt and satisfaction of all consideration contemplated 

or required by Section I.C.  Lessee has paid to Lessor all rent and other sums otherwise owed under 

the Lease as of the date hereof.   

13. There are no defaults or events that with the passage of time or notice would 

constitute a default by Lessor or Lessee under the Lease.  Lessor and Lessee are in full compliance 

with all of the terms, conditions and covenants of the Lease.  Lessor has no actual knowledge of 

any claims by others against Lessee relating to the Property or its use.  No event has occurred 

giving, and no state of facts exist which, with the passage of time or the giving of notice, or both, 

would give, Lessor the right to terminate the Lease.  As of this date, Lessor has no defenses or 

offsets against the full and complete enforcement of the Lease by Lessee or its predecessors, 

successors or assigns, including the CDE Lenders.   

14. All obligations under the Lease to be performed by either Lessor or Lessee prior to 

the date hereof have been satisfied, including but not limited to, any obligations of Lessee to make 

or pay for any improvements, alterations or work done on the Property, and all improvements or 

work required to be performed by Lessee have been completed in accordance with the Lease and 

have been accepted by Lessor.  

15. The address for notices to be sent to Lessor or Lessee is set forth in the Lease. 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              264 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

16. If the CDE Lenders or their designees succeed to Lessee’s (or any successor to 

Lessee) interest in the Property or if a sale by power of sale or by judicial or non-judicial 

foreclosure occurs, Lessor agrees to attorn to and accept the CDE Lenders, their designees or a 

purchaser at such sale as its lessee under the Lease for the then remaining balance of the term 

thereof and Lessor shall be bound to such new lessee, in accordance with the all of the provisions 

of the Lease, for the remaining term of the Lease.  This attornment shall be self-operative. 

17. The undersigned individual hereby certifies that he or she is duly authorized to sign, 

acknowledge and deliver this Estoppel Certificate on behalf of Lessor or Lessee, as applicable.  If 

more than one party executes this Estoppel Certificate, each party shall be jointly and severally 

liable hereunder. 

18. Lessor acknowledges that (a) the CDE Lenders will rely on this Estoppel Certificate 

in making a loan or otherwise extending credit to Lessee and (b) each Recipient will rely on this 

Estoppel Certificate.  Lessor acknowledges that (a) the information contained in this Estoppel 

Certificate and the provisions hereof shall be for the benefit of each Recipient and (b) the 

provisions hereof shall also inure to the benefit of any lender making a loan secured by the direct 

or indirect interests in Lessee and/or the Property. 

[Signature page follows] 

  

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Estoppel Certificate to be duly 

executed as of the Effective Date.  

LESSOR: 

CITY OF JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI, a body corporate and politic of the State of 

Mississippi 

By:        

______________ 

______________ 

 

LESSEE: 

JACKSON REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY, 

a body corporate and politic and urban renewal agency of the City of Jackson, Mississippi  

 

By:        

________________                                              ________________ 

 

 

EXHIBIT F 

ADDRESSES OF EACH LENDER AND OTHER FINANCING PARTIES 

 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; President Banks seconded. 

        _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

 

President Banks recognized Tray Hairston, Butler Snow, LLP, who provided a brief overview 

of said item. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              265 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

Thereafter, President Banks called for a vote on said item: 

 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * * 
 

ORDER GRANTING EXTENSION OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS AND USE 

PERMITS FOR ONE YEAR. 

            Coming for consideration are requests for the approval of the following for certification of 

renewal for one year and after the anniversary date of approval for Use Permit or Special Exceptions 

as follows: 

CASE NO. NAME LOCATION USE GRANTED 

SE–3970 

Ward 1 
Brad Reeves 

4909 Ridgewood Rd. & 

1538 Sheffield Dr. 
Professional Office 10/16/2017 

SE–4102 

Ward 7 

Midtown Christian 

Academy 
217 Millsaps Ave. 

Commercial Day  

Care 
10/19/2020 

4187 

Ward 1 

C-UP 

Osama Nasser 

1039 E County Line Rd. 

Suite 102  

Jackson, MS  

Tobacco Paraphernalia  

Retail Business 
10/17/2022 

 

    IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Council of the City of Jackson that the said Use 

Permits and/or Special Exceptions be and the same are hereby extended for another year from 

and after the anniversary date granting said permits. 

Council Member Lindsay moved adoption; President Banks seconded. 

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Council Member Lindsay who moved, President Banks seconded by, to amend said order to 

include the renewal of Case No. 4145 due to payment received after agenda posted. The motion 

prevailed by the following votes: 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes.    

_ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ _ 

Thereafter, President Foote called for a vote on said order, as amended: 

 

ORDER GRANTING EXTENSION OF SPECIAL EXCEPTIONS AND USE 

PERMITS FOR ONE YEAR. 

            Coming for consideration are requests for the approval of the following for certification of 

renewal for one year and after the anniversary date of approval for Use Permit or Special Exceptions 

as follows: 

CASE NO. NAME LOCATION USE GRANTED 

SE–3970 

Ward 1 
Brad Reeves 

4909 Ridgewood Rd. & 

1538 Sheffield Dr. 
Professional Office 10/16/2017 



 REGULAR ZONING MEETING OF THE CITY COUNCIL  

                                     MONDAY, OCTOBER 16, 2023 2:30 P.M.                              266 

  MINUTE BOOK 6Y 

SE–4102 

Ward 7 

Midtown Christian 

Academy 
217 Millsaps Ave. 

Commercial Day  

Care 
10/19/2020 

4187 

Ward 1 

C-UP 

Osama Nasser 

1039 E County Line Rd. 

Suite 102  

Jackson, MS  

Tobacco Paraphernalia  

Retail Business 
10/17/2022 

4145 

Ward 7 

C-UP 

YANA Club of 

MS, Inc. 
Northview Drive 

Accessory Off-Street 

Parking Lot 
10/17/2022 

   

  IT IS HEREBY ORDERED by the Council of the City of Jackson that the said Use 

Permits and/or Special Exceptions be and the same are hereby extended for another year from 

and after the anniversary date granting said permits. 

Yeas – Banks, Foote, Hartley, Lee and Lindsay. 

Nays – None. 

Absent – Grizzell and Stokes. 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

There being no further business to come before the City Council, it was unanimously voted to 

adjourn until the next Regular Council Meeting to be held at 10:00 a.m. on Tuesday, October 24, 

2023. At 3:20 p.m., the Council stood adjourned. 

 

 

PREPARED BY:    APPROVED: 

 

                                   ____________                                                     ,______         ___                        

CLERK OF COUNCIL              COUNCIL PRESIDENT    DATE 

  

 

                                         ____________     

      MAYOR 

 

      ATTEST: 

 

                                         ____________     

      CITY CLERK 

 

 

* * * * * * * * * * * * * * 

 







































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































 

1 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT 
 

This MANAGEMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made and entered into as of the 
____ day of November 2023, by and between the City of Jackson (“City”), and SP PLUS 
CORPORATION, a Delaware corporation (“Operator”). 

RECITALS: 

WHEREAS, the City is seeking an operator to operate the City’s Metered Parking System, 
provide parking enforcement, and citation collections; and 

WHEREAS, Sections 63-3-211, 21-37-3, and 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as 
amended, authorize the City to regulate parking on the public streets over which the City has 
jurisdiction; and 

WHEREAS, Section 21-37-29 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, authorizes the 
City to purchase, lease, or otherwise acquire, and to install and maintain parking meters for the 
regulation of the parking of vehicles on the municipal streets; and 

WHEREAS, Section 21-37-29 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, further authorizes 
the City to prescribe, by ordinance, reasonable rules and regulations for the use and operation of 
same, and to provide and prescribe penalties for the violation of such rules and regulations; and 

WHEREAS, Section 21-37-29 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, further authorizes 
the City to fix, prescribe, and collect fees for the use of the parking space adjacent to any such meters 
and to require that such fee shall be paid by the deposit of the appropriate coin or coins in such 
meters; and 

WHEREAS, the City has exercised such authority by enacting various ordinances, including, 
but not limited to, Sections 118-371 thru -382 of the City of Jackson Code of Ordinances; and 

WHEREAS, Section 21-17-5 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, commonly referred 
to as the Municipal Home Rule Law authorizes the City to enter into a contract with a private entity 
to operate and maintain the City’s Metered Parking System; and 

WHEREAS, the City issued its REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS (RFP) FOR DOWNTOWN PARKING 
METER PROJECT on March 1, 2023 and received one proposal from SP PLUS Corporation; and 

WHEREAS, Section 21-37-32 of the Mississippi Code of 1972, as amended, authorizes the 
City to delegate the enforcement of its City Parking Ordinances as follows: 

A municipality, by ordinance duly spread upon its minutes, may delegate to an 
appropriate private enterprise with whom the municipality contracts all or part of 
the authority to enforce any ordinance concerning the regulation of parking within 
the confines of the municipality or any part thereof, including, but not limited to, 
penalties for violations, deadlines for the payment of fines and late payment 



 

2 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

penalties for fines not paid when due. The delegating ordinance may also provide 
that a summons or parking citation for the violation may be issued by a uniformed 
law enforcement officer, uniformed law enforcement employee or by uniformed 
personnel employed by the delegate serving under contract with the municipality. 

WHEREAS, the Mayor is presenting contemporaneously with the order authorizing the 
Agreement to the City Council the requisite ordinance necessary to delegate the authority to 
enforce its City Parking Ordinances to an appropriate private enterprise; and 

WHEREAS, Operator is an experienced operator and manager of municipal on-street parking 
operations; and 

WHEREAS, the parties desire to enter into an agreement whereby Operator will manage 
parking on designated City streets and provide enforcement of such parking on the terms set forth 
herein. 

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which 
are acknowledged, the parties agree as follows: 

1. DEFINITIONS.  Unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, for the 
purposes of this Agreement, the following terms have the following meanings: 

1.1. ”Applicable Law” means, according to the context, the ordinances of the City of Jackson, as 
amended, the laws of Mississippi, or the laws of the United State of America. 

1.2. “Approval”, “Approved”, “Approves”, “Approved by the City” and similar expressions 
mean approved or consented to by the City in accordance with the provisions of Section 2. 

1.3. “Business Plan” means the document approved by City as part of this Agreement and then 
updated and approved from time to time by Operator and City as detailed herein. Operator 
will operate the Metered Parking System in accordance with the Business Plan and all 
actions taken by Operator in accordance with the Business Plan are hereby Approved and 
overseen by the City. The Business Plan will at all times detail how Operator will achieve 
City’s goals under this Agreement while operating the Metered Parking System. The 
Business Plan, as updated from time to time, must include: (i) an executive summary 
providing an overview of the Metered Parking System performance to date and a narrative 
description of the business, operations, and activities to be implemented to generate Gross 
Receipts; (ii) Operator’s marketing strategy and communications strategy for the Metered 
Parking System (to include but not be limited to stakeholder outreach and public education 
and outreach); (iii) the Operations Plan to include customer service and an Operating 
Expense budget for the next Year and forecasted for the succeeding five Years; (iv) 
Operator’s business plan for generating Other Project Revenues, if any; (v) financial 
forecasts for Gross Receipts, including Other Project Revenue, if Other Project Revenue is 
applicable; (vi) an overview of the industry and market, including opportunities and 
competitive challenges; and (vii) the metrics by which the Operator will aim to fulfill the 



 

3 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

City’s objectives. The Business Plan will also detail the process, timelines and procedures by 
which Operator intends to operate the Metered Parking System on the City’s behalf and as 
City’s agent, including providing processes for taking parking spaces temporarily out of 
service and the day-to-day operations of Metered Parking Activities, including, but not 
limited to, setting forth the time periods necessary for placement and removal of taking 
parking spaces temporarily out of service. Should the scope of operations performed by 
Operator be expanded, the expectation is that the Business Plan would be expanded to 
include additional services, such as the following: practices and procedures for the issuance 
of right-of-way permits, including the permitting and regulation of street lane vacations for 
construction use. The Business Plan will include intended staffing, procedures for Metered 
Parking Fee collection, enforcement, administrative appeal, and collection of all fines and 
late payment charges, and all other processes and procedures to be implemented to run 
the Metered Parking System on behalf of the City, including customer service, user 
education, stakeholder engagement. The Business Plan must at all times provide for the 
operation of the Metered Parking System in accordance with the Operating Standards, the 
City Parking Ordinances, Applicable Law. 

1.4. "Citation Fees” means the funds collected by the Operator on City’s behalf and as City’s 
agent for fines assessed by the Operator for violations of City Parking Ordinances. 

1.5. “City Parking Ordinances” means those ordinances found in Chapter 118 of the Jackson 
Code of Ordinances, as amend relating to the parking of motor vehicles, including by not 
limited to, Divisions 1 and 2 of Article VI.—Stopping, Standing, and Parking, found at 
sections 118-316 thru 118-332 that generally apply to the parking of vehicles in City rights-
of-way and specifically refer to metered parking. 

1.6. “Commencement Date” means the date that is sixty (60) days after the date the Metered 
Parking Devices installed by Operator are first commissioned for public use as 
memorialized in writing by the parties.  In the event that the Metered Parking Devices 
are commissioned in phases and not at the same time, the Commencement Date shall 
be the date of the first Metered Parking Device commissioning, as memorialized in 
writing by the parties. 

1.7. “Designated Streets” means those streets depicted in Diagram 1 attached hereto as 
Exhibit F on which Metered Parking Devices may be installed, Operator will enforce City 
Parking Ordinances, and which may be revised pursuant to City Parking Ordinances. 

1.8. “Gross Receipts” means all Metered Parking Fees and Citation Fees derived from the 
Metered Parking System and collected by Operator, less (i) any refunds, discounts and 
allowances made by Operator to customers, (ii) Payment Processing Fees, and (iii) fees for 
use of any customer-facing technology solutions used for the Services including, without 
limitation, Sphere Commerce™ or Parking.com (if applicable).  In the event that City 
Approves the sale of advertising on Metered Parking Devices or Approves any activity 
relating to Metered Parking Activities that generates Other Project Revenue, such Other 
Project Revenue shall be included in Gross Receipts. 



 

4 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

1.9. “Metered Parking Activities” means the activities to be performed by Operator as City’s 
agent and as the grantee of the rights granted Operator under this Agreement.  Meter 
Parking Activities includes, without limitation, all activities relating the management, on 
City’s behalf and as City’s agent, of the day-to day operations of the Metered Parking System 
in accordance with the Business Plan and applicable City, State, and Federal law, including: 
(i) identification, purchase, storage, installation, maintenance, operation, and removal of 
Metered Parking System equipment, materials, and services to promote the efficient 
utilization and profitability of the Metered Parking System; (ii) the collection of data 
necessary to support issuance of parking violations by Operator; (iii) the issuance of parking 
violation citations; (iv) the administration of a citation review process, including 
participation by a Municipal Court Judge; (v) the collection, as City’s agent, of Metered 
Parking Fees, for deposit into the Operator’s Revenue Account; (vi) the collection, as City’s 
agent, of fines for parking violations (vii) the licensing and contracting for equipment, 
services, data, and systems to optimize the utility of the Metered Parking System and which 
the City’s Designee approves in accordance with the Business Plan; and (viii) such other 
activities reasonably relating to the operation of the Metered Parking System that City 
directs Operator to perform under this Agreement from time to time. 

1.10. “Metered Parking System” means the Metering Devices located on Designated Streets, 
supporting structures, computer systems and software used in connection with the 
administration of Metered Parking Spaces and the collection of Metered Parking Fees 
therefore, equipment, computer systems and software used in connection with 
enforcement of City Parking Ordinances and all improvement of any and every kind 
whatsoever forming a part of and used in connection with the operation and maintenance 
of the metering system associated with the Metered Parking Spaces (including all Metering 
Devices but excluding any interest in the streets, sidewalks, paving, or similar real 
property). 

1.11. “Metered Parking Fee” means the fee charged by Operator on City’s behalf and as City’s 
agent as consideration for the privilege of parking a motor vehicle or otherwise making 
use of Metered Parking Spaces. 

1.12. “Monthly Report” means a standard monthly reporting statement provided to the City 
by Operator, through ClientView, showing all Gross Receipts, Operating Expenses, the 
Management Fee earned (if any), and Net Profit for the preceding month, and a general 
journal and revenue summary.  If the City requests a customized reporting statement, 
additional charges will apply as an Operating Expense. 

1.12. “Metering Devices” means the parking meters, pay and display stations, electronic 
metering devices, APIs on mobile phone devices, APIs on automobile dashboards, mobile 
sensors and other similar devices or measurement systems that may be used from time to 
time in connection with the Metered Parking System Operations to measure utilization of 
Metered Parking Spaces, including any shelters used to guard the devices and patrons from 



 

5 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

the elements utilized by Operator and any other future technology that may be used to 
perform the Metered Parking System Operations. 

1.13. “Metered Parking System Operations” means (i) the operation, management and 
maintenance of the Metered Parking System, (ii) the issuance, processing and collection of 
parking tickets or citations for violations of City Parking Ordinances with respect to the 
Metered Parking Spaces pursuant to this Agreement, and (iii) all other actions relating to 
the Metered Parking System that are performed by or on behalf of Operator as City’s agent 
pursuant to this Agreement. 

1.14. “Metered Parking Spaces” means those on-street parking spaces or curb areas for which, 
during periods of time, City requires the payment of a Metered Parking Fee for parking a 
motor vehicle or other use at that space or place for a limited period of time and such 
designation is effective for all purposes of this Agreement. 

1.15. “Net Profit” means the balance remaining after deducting the Operating Expenses and 
Operator’s Management Fee (defined below) from Gross Receipts.  All Net Profit shall be 
paid to City concurrently with delivery of the monthly statement required in Section 8.  City 
will provide a W-9 tax form to Operator along with electronic payment information so 
Operator may transfer Net Profit by ACH transfer. “ 

1.16. “Operating Expenses” means all the expenses of managing and operating the parking 
services Operator may purchase/incur as City’s agent in accordance with the terms of 
this Agreement and Business Plan and as set forth in the one-year Approved Budget, a 
copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit C.  Operating Expenses shall include but shall 
not be limited to:  

1) Payments and deposits for unemployment insurance, social security taxes, 
workers’ compensation insurance, disability benefits, and other similar taxes for 
on-site Employees directly engaged in the parking operation, but expressly 
excluding Operator’s administrative and clerical staff not directly engaged in the 
parking services;  

2) Payroll expenses and applicable payroll taxes, including, but not limited to, 
vacation pay, sick pay, personal day pay, holiday pay, retirement, pension and 
health and welfare programs, for on-site Employees directly engaged in the 
parking services and certain allocations for off-site Employees directly engaged 
in the parking services;  

3) An equitable allocation of Insurance costs to the extent required of Operator 
in this Agreement  

4) Employee training and safety incentive programs for on-site personnel;  



 

6 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

5) Payment to independent contractors performing maintenance and repair 
services in connection with providing the services;  

6) On-site telephone, cellular, and data communication charges to the extent 
that such charges are directly related to the parking services;  

7) Fees for license, permits, approvals and bonds required for the parking 
services, including a charge assessed for the processing of any initial or renewal 
license application.  

8) Advertising and promotion costs;  

9) Sundry items such as uniforms, tickets and janitorial supplies;  

10) Normal maintenance and repairs in connection with the parking services; 

11) First month’s change funds/petty cash advanced by Operator (if applicable); 

12) Citation processing costs; 

13) Costs of hardware, software, and equipment to perform the Services; 

14) Compliance with governmental laws, regulations and payment card industry 
standards; 

15) Maintenance and repair to be performed by Operator; 

16) Mystery shopping services; 

17) The Monthly Charges; 

18) Fuel; 

19) Any applicable Sales Tax; 

20) Telephone; 

21) Utilities (except to the extent paid directly by City); 

22) Bookkeeping and administrative services; 

23) Automobile allowances; 

24) Employee recruitment, training and ongoing employee relations; 

25) Computerized accounts receivable service; 

26) Banking and credit card system services; 



 

7 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

27) Postage and freight; tickets, paper and reporting forms; 

28) Accounts payable and insurance claims processing; 

29) Customer convenience fees generated through mobile payment transactions. 

30) Health insurance, worker's compensation insurance employer's liability 
insurance, general liability insurance, automobile insurance, garage liability or 
commercial general liability insurance, comprehensive crime insurance, and 
umbrella liability insurance coverage, at rates established by Operator (but in no 
event to exceed the rates contained in the Approved Budget); and 

31) Deductibles established by Operator for insured losses attributable to the 
Operator’s services (plus attorney’s fees and court costs to defend City and/or 
Operator in actions brought to recover damages for such losses). 

1.17. “Operating Standards” means the standards, specifications, policies, procedures and 
processes that apply to the operation of, maintenance of, and rehabilitation of the 
Metered Parking System set forth in Exhibit B, submitted by Operator to the City.  To the 
extent that any term or provision set forth in Exhibit B or incorporated by reference in 
Exhibit B conflicts with any term or provision specified in this Agreement, then such term 
or provision of this Agreement shall govern and shall supersede any such conflicting term 
or provision. 

1.18. “Operator’s Revenue Account” means a federally insured bank account maintained by 
Operator in connection with its Services under this Agreement. 

1.19. “Other Project Revenue” means any fees or revenues generated through the sale of 
advertising on Metered Parking Devices and any fees or revenues generated through 
activities relating to Metered Parking Activities Approved by the City. 

1.20. “Payment Processing Fees” means credit card, debit card, electronic funds transfer or 
other payment processing fees. 

1.21. “Sales Tax” means sales, parking, use, excise, gross receipts or other tax or charge due the 
taxing authorities. 

1.22. “Services” means the administration, management, and operation services, as set forth 
in Exhibit A that the Operator has agreed to provide to the City in exchange for the 
Management Fee and for the Incentive Fee. 

1.23. Transition Date” means the date fourteen (14) days after the date of the Agreement. 

1.24. “Year” means the City’s fiscal beginning on October 1 of the calendar year and ending 
September 30 of the succeeding calendar year. 



 

8 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

2. Approvals, Consents and Performance by the City. 

2.1. Procedures. Wherever the provisions of this Agreement require or provide for or permit an 
Approval or Consent by the City of or to any action, person, document, or other matter 
contemplated by this Agreement, Operator shall seek such Approval through the person 
designated in Section 21.1. The City shall have the right to require the submission of 
reasonable supporting documentation or other information in connection with a request 
for Approval or Consent. The City will respond to requests for Approval within a reasonable 
time, taking into account the urgency and complexity of the request.  City shall not 
unreasonably withhold Approval.  Nothing herein shall be construed as a limitation on the 
authority of the City Council to approve or consent where required by Applicable Law, in 
the City’s reasonable judgment.  With respect to the submission by Operator of any 
Business Plan or amendment or update thereto and any budget, such amendment or 
update to the Business Plan or any budget will be deemed to be Approved, if the City has 
submitted no written response within thirty (30) days following its receipt by the City.  All 
Approvals must be in writing from the City’s Representative, unless the Approval being 
sought is an amendment to the terms of this Agreement or the attached Diagram, but not 
including amendments to the Exhibits or Schedule, in which case the Approval must be 
given by the City Council by Order recording in its minutes. 

2.2. Approved Documents. Subject to the other provisions hereof, wherever in this Agreement 
an Approval by the City is required with respect to any document, proposal, certificate, plan, 
drawing, specification, contract, agreement, budget, Exhibit, report or other written 
instrument whatsoever, following such Approval such document shall not be amended, 
supplemented, replaced, revised, modified, altered or changed in any manner whatsoever 
without obtaining a further Approval in accordance with the provisions of this Section 2. 

3. RETENTION OF OPERATOR. City hereby grants to Operator and Operator hereby accepts the 
exclusive right and obligation of administering, managing, operating, and maintaining the 
Metered Parking System. 

4. TERM. 

4.1. The initial term of this Agreement shall be for sixty (60) months from the 
Commencement Date and ending on the last date of the sixtieth full calendar 
month following the Commencement Date (the “Initial Term”), unless terminated 
earlier as provided in this Agreement.   

4.2. After the Initial Term, on the mutual agreement of the parties this Agreement may 
be renewed for an additional five (5) years (the “Renewal Term”), unless 
terminated earlier as provided in this Agreement.  

 
5. SCOPE OF SERVICE.  Operator shall provide the Services agreed to under this Agreement to 

the City in accordance with the Business Plan, the Operating Standards, and the City 
Parking Ordinances, as well as any Applicable Law. 



 

9 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

6. BUSINESS PLAN. Operator shall provide City with its initial, proposed Business Plan and 
budget within fourteen (14) days of the Transition Date.  Operator shall annually prepare 
and deliver to City a proposed budget for the coming Year, including the most recent, 
available balance of the Operator’s Revenue Account and reasonable projects as to its 
monthly balance through the end of the current Year, and updates to the Business Plan, for 
City’s reasonable Approval for the forthcoming Year.  For each Year following the initial 
Business Plan budget, the Operator shall submit to the City by July 1, prior to the beginning 
of the new fiscal year on October 1, its budget for the forthcoming Year, along with any 
updates or amendments to the Business Plan for Approval by the City.  If at any time 
during the period covered by an Approved budget it appears to Operator that the actual 
total of its Operating Expenses is likely to exceed the Operating Expense budget by more 
than ten percent (10%), Operator shall advise City and the parties shall discuss what 
actions, if any, may be implemented to minimize Operating Expenses without substantially 
impairing the operation of the Metered Parking System.  

7. GROSS RECEIPTS; SALES TAX.  All Gross Receipts shall be deposited into Operator’s 
Revenue Account.  Operator shall, as an Operating Expense, remit payment for any 
applicable Sales Taxes based on Gross Receipts collected by Operator.  City shall remit 
payment for any applicable Sales Taxes based on any receipts collected by City or its 
agents.  In addition, to the extent permitted by Mississippi law each party agrees to 
defend, indemnify and hold harmless the other party from any losses, costs (including 
reasonable attorney’s fees), expenses, penalties or liabilities whatsoever arising from 
breach of its respective Sales Tax payment obligations. 

6. OPERATING EXPENSES.  
6.1 Pursuant to the then-current approved Budget, City shall pay Operator for all 

Operating Expenses.  
 

6.2 Operating Expenses shall be paid pursuant to Section 10. 
 

6.3 If any Operating Expense increases due to any applicable (i) governmental action 
imposing or increasing employer-provided medical insurance or other benefits, 
workers compensation rates, or federal, state or local minimum wage or living wage 
rates, paid sick or family leave, disability benefit taxes, or the cost of disability 
premiums required to cover state-mandated disability coverage, or (ii) cost increases 
under a collective bargaining agreement, the applicable Approved budget shall be 
revised to reflect the increase in Operating Expenses. 

 
6.4 Operating Expenses shall not include (i) the costs of maintenance and repair required 

of City hereunder, or (ii) City's various costs associated with its ownership and/or 
occupancy of the Metered Parking System assets, including without limitation 
depreciation, building insurance, real estate taxes and assessments, taxes on City's 
personal property, debt retirement (including without limitation mortgage interest), 
rent and such costs and Expenses as may be necessitated to comply with the 



 

10 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990.  Payment of such expenses and costs are 
the sole obligation of City. 

 
6.5 If City disputes any Operating Expense, City shall give Operator written notice 

specifying the item(s) disputed and the reason therefor.  Payment for any Operating 
Expenses that are not disputed shall not be withheld.  The parties shall, in good faith, 
diligently pursue resolution of any disputed items within thirty (30) days of said 
notice.  If the parties agree that the Operating Expense was not properly withheld 
from Gross Receipts, Operator shall reimburse the disallowed Operating Expense to 
the Operator’s Revenue Account within ten (10) days. 

 
7. MANAGEMENT FEE.  As compensation for Operator's services, City shall pay Operator a fee 

as set forth below.  Said fee is hereinafter called the “Management Fee”.  If more than one 
(1) type of fee is set forth below, then the fees are collectively called the “Management 
Fee”. 
 
7.1 City shall pay Operator a fee of $94,500.00 per Year (the “Base Fee”), which shall be 

paid in equal monthly installments and prorated for any partial month.  On each 
anniversary of the Commencement Date, the Base Fee shall automatically 
increase by the annual percentage increase in the U.S. Consumer Price Index for 
All Urban Consumers (CPI-U); East South Central; All Items; Not Seasonally 
Adjusted; 1982-1984 = 100 reference base period for the preceding 12-month 
period.  This adjustment shall not exceed 5% in any Year.  If the particular CPI 
measure cited in the preceding sentence shall cease to exist, then Operator shall 
substitute any official index published by the Bureau of Labor Statistics, or 
successor or similar governmental agency as may then be in existence and shall 
be most nearly equivalent thereto for the same area, subject to City's Approval of 
the index so selected, which Approval shall not be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed. 

7.2 At the end of the Year, Operator shall be entitled to be paid from the Operator’s 
Revenue Account, an incentive fee (the “Incentive Fee”) equal to two percent (2%) 
of annual Gross Receipts less Operating Expenses less the Base Fee earned during 
the Year.  If this Agreement is terminated or expires prior to the end of the Year, the 
Operator shall be entitled to receive the prorated Incentive Fee for such Year within 
forty-five (45) days after the date of termination or expiration. 

7.3 For purposes of calculating the Incentive Fee, Gross Receipts shall include the value 
of any free or discounted parking privileges granted by City, which value shall be 
calculated at the posted parking rates (“Discounted Funds”), and any receipts 
collected by City. 

7.4 Within five (5) days after the end of each month, City shall send Operator a report of 
all Discounted Funds and any receipts collected by City for the preceding month.   

7.5 The Management Fee shall be paid as set forth in Section 10. 



 

11 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

 
8. MONTHLY REPORTING.   

 
8.1 Within twenty (20) days after the end of each month, Operator shall provide to the 

City a Monthly Report.  
 

8.2 Operator shall keep complete and accurate reports and records (collectively, the 
“Records”) of Gross Receipts, Operating Expenses, Management Fees and Net Profit 
relating to the Metered Parking Activities.  Operator shall keep proper books of 
record and account in which full, true and correct entries will be made of all dealings 
and transactions of or in relation to affairs, operations, transactions and activities of 
the Operator with respect to this Agreement in accordance with good accounting 
practices.  Operator shall permit City to inspect the Records at Operator’s offices 
during reasonable business hours and at City's expense upon reasonable advance 
written notice from City, to the extent reasonably necessary to verify the accuracy 
of any Monthly Report in the preceding 12 months.   Expressly excluded from the 
Records available for inspection are any Records or portion thereof containing 
sensitive credit card data or proprietary or confidential information. City shall have 
the right to perform only one audit during any 12-month period.   Should the City 
require any additional audit during a 12-month period, the audit shall be conducted 
at the City’s expense. 

 
9. ANNUAL REVIEW. On or before October 31 of each Year, the City and the Operator shall 

meet to review the results of the previous Year, including, but not limited to, the September 
30 end-of-Year balance of the Operator’s Revenue Account, the balance, if any, of Operating 
Expenses that were paid using the Operator’s own funds, any Base Fee not paid during the 
previous Year due to shortfalls in the Operator’s Revenue Account, and the calculation of 
the Operator’s Incentive Fee.  City and Operator shall also discuss and agree to a portion of 
the balance of the Operator’s Revenue Account that can be transferred to the City.  City shall 
not be entitled to receive any balance of the Operator’s Revenue Account that would reduce 
such balance to an amount less than one month’s budget based on the current Year’s annual 
budget.  For good cause shown, the Operator may request that it be allowed to retain more 
than one month’s budget based on the current Year’s annual budget. 

10. PAYMENT 
  
10.1 Operator may deduct the Management Fee at the end of the month when due, and 

Operating Expenses, as paid, and the Monthly Charges from Gross Receipts to the 
extent there are sufficient funds in the Operator’s Revenue Account.   

 
10.2 If at any time, there exists an insufficient balance in the Operator’s Revenue Account 

to pay any Operating Expense as it becomes due and payable, Operator shall be 
responsible for the payment of said Operating Expenses from Operator’s own funds 
but may receive reimbursement for such amounts as set forth in Section 10.4 and 



 

12 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

10.6.  If on the final day of the month there is an insufficient balance in the Operator’s 
Revenue Account to pay the Base Fee, Operator shall not be entitled to receive its 
monthly installment for that month but may receive payment for such amount 
pursuant to Section 10.5 and 10.6. 

10.3 Regardless of the balance of the Operator’s Revenue Account, the City shall be 
responsible for the payment of the Monthly Charges and where on the last day of 
any month, there are insufficient funds to pay the Monthly Charges after all the 
Operating Expenses have been paid, Operator may invoice the City for such charges 
and City shall pay said invoice within forty-five (45) day, in accordance with 
applicable Mississippi law, including such law allowing for the addition of interest 
charges for late payment of undisputed amounts at the highest legal rate permitted 
by such law. 

10.4 Where Operator is required to pay any Operating Expenses from its own funds, the 
Operator may keep a running total of any such payments and reimburse itself from 
future Gross Receipts. 

10.5 Where Operator does not receive its Base Fee in any month because of an 
insufficient balance in the Operator’s Revenue Account, Operator may keep a 
running total of all such Base Fees not received and pay the Base Fees not received 
from future Gross Receipts. 

10.6 Upon the early termination or expiration of this Agreement the City shall pay all 
unpaid arrearages of Operating Expenses and Management Fees owed to Operator 
within forty-five (45) days after the date of termination or expiration, including 
without limitation the amounts set forth in Section 14.4. 

 
11. LIABILITY INSURANCE.  
 

11.1 Operator shall carry and maintain, as an Operating Expense, the following 
insurance coverages: 

  
11.1.1 Worker's Compensation insurance in compliance with the Worker's 

Compensation Act of the state in which the Metered Parking System is 
located. 

  
11.1.2 Employer's liability insurance on all employees for the Metered Parking 

Activities not covered by the Worker's Compensation Act, for occupational 
accidents or disease, for limits of not less than $1,000,000 for any one 
occurrence, or whatever is necessary to satisfy the requirements of the 
umbrella liability insurance specified below. 

 
11.1.3 Garage liability or commercial general liability insurance on an occurrence 

form basis with limits of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence with an 
annual aggregate limit of $2,000,000 per location. 

 



 

13 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

11.1.4 Automobile liability insurance covering losses for owned, non-owned or 
hired vehicles including comprehensive and collision coverage with a limit 
of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence. 

 
11.1.5 Comprehensive crime insurance including employee theft, premise, transit 

and depositor's forgery coverage with limits as to any given occurrence of 
not less than $1,000,000.   

 
11.1.6 Umbrella liability insurance with an annual aggregate limit of not less than 

$100,000,000. 
  

11.2 The liability policies affording the coverages described in Sections 11.1.3, 11.1.4, 
and 11.1.6 shall be endorsed to cover City and its employees, agents, directors 
and officers as additional insureds for any negligent acts or omissions of 
Operator’s employees. 
 

11.3 Operator shall deliver certificates of insurance to City and renewal policies shall 
be obtained, and certificates delivered to City prior to expiration.  The insurer shall 
endeavor to mail thirty (30) days’ prior written notice to certificate holder should 
any of the policies be cancelled prior to the expiration date.  Notwithstanding 
anything to the contrary in this Agreement, Operator’s right to collect its insurance 
charges for any given period is subject only to verification that the required 
insurance coverage was in effect for that period as evidenced by a duly issued 
certificate of insurance. 

  
11. PROPERTY INSURANCE.  City shall, at its expense, provide and maintain fire and extended 

coverage, vandalism and malicious mischief, and all-risk insurance coverages for buildings, 
improvements and any other real or personal property of City used in the operation of the 
Metered Parking System in an amount equal to the full replacement cost thereof. 
 

12. WAIVER OF SUBROGATION. To the extent permitted by Mississippi law, if any Metered 
Parking System assets (including any buildings, improvements, equipment or fixtures) are 
damaged or destroyed by fire or other casualty, all claims of either party against the other 
party for such damage or destruction are released, and any subrogation rights or claims 
are waived.  Any applicable insurance policies shall contain a clause or endorsement 
providing that the insurance shall not be prejudiced if the insured has waived its rights of 
recovery (including subrogation rights). 
 

13. INDEMNITY. 
 

13.1 Operator shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless City from and against any and 
all costs, expenses, losses, liabilities, claims, judgments and demands (collectively, 
“Losses”) to the extent caused by Operator’s negligence or Operator’s breach of this 
Agreement but only if such breach results in bodily injury or property damage. 



 

14 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

 
13.2 To the extent permitted by Mississippi law, City shall defend, indemnify and hold 

harmless Operator from and against any and all Losses to the extent caused by City’s 
acts or omissions, negligence or breach of this Agreement, arising from the issuance 
of summons or parking citations for violations may be issued by a uniformed law 
enforcement officer, uniformed law enforcement employee or by uniformed 
personnel employed by the City serving under contract with the City,  or by reason 
of the physical or structural condition of the City’s assets or equipment contained 
therein, or by fire, gas, water, electricity failure or malfunction, or by the breaking 
overflowing or leaking of roofs, pipes, or walls of the City’s assets. 

  
13.3 To the extent permitted by Mississippi law, in no event will either party be liable 

under any circumstances to the other party for any loss of profit, indirect, incidental, 
special, exemplary, compensatory, punitive or consequential damages resulting 
from or arising out of this Agreement, regardless whether such liability is asserted 
on the basis of contract, statute, tort (including negligence or strict liability), or 
otherwise. 

 
14. FINANCE AND ACQUISITION OF EQUIPMENT.   

 
14.1 After the passage of an ordinance by the City permitting the Operator to start 

enforcement of parking regulations, Operator agrees to procure the vehicles and 
LPR equipment (collectively, the “Vehicles”) and digital parking meters (the 
“Equipment”) all of which is more fully described in Exhibit D.  The cost of the 
Vehicles, Equipment, Equipment installation, signage materials and signage 
installation, as well as the removal of the old parking meters and poles, plus 
interest at the prime rate published in The Wall Street Journal per annum 
(“Interest Rate”), shall be reimbursed by Client to Operator in monthly charges 
(the “Monthly Charge(s)”) over a period commencing on the first day of the first 
month following the acquisition of the Vehicles or installation of such Equipment 
(“Installation Date”) and continuing through the final month of the Initial Term 
(the “Payment Period”). An amortization schedule shall be attached hereto as 
Exhibit E (“Amortization Schedule”).  Notwithstanding the foregoing: 
 
14.1.1 If the first Monthly Charge shall become due on a later date (because of a 
later than anticipated installation), such that the Payment Period is shortened, the 
Monthly Charge shall be recalculated and the Amortization schedule revised 
accordingly.   
 
14.1.2 If the numbers or types of Equipment or Vehicles to be financed should be 
modified subsequent to the date of this Agreement, thus increasing or decreasing 
the amount to be financed, then the Monthly Charge shall be recalculated and the 
Amortization Schedule revised accordingly. 

 



 

15 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

14.1.3 If for any reason procurement of the Equipment or Vehicles is delayed by 
six (6) or more months from the date of this Agreement, then the Monthly Charges 
shall be recalculated and the Amortization Schedule revised to reflect (as 
applicable) any change in the aforesaid Interest Rate, the shortened Payment 
Period or any change in the numbers or types of Equipment or Vehicles. 

 
14.1.4 The Monthly Charges shall be deemed Operating Expenses. In addition, 
any sales tax or personal property tax assessed on the Equipment and Vehicles 
shall be either (i) reimbursed as an Operating Expense, or (ii) paid directly by the 
City to the tax authority or equipment financier (as applicable). 
 

14.2 During the Payment Period, (i) the Equipment is and shall remain personal 
property and shall not constitute a fixture; (ii) City does not own the Equipment 
or the Vehicles and City shall not have or acquire any right, title or interest in or 
to the Equipment or Vehicles; (iii) title to the Equipment and Vehicles shall be 
retained by Operator or an equipment financier, as applicable, subject only to any 
security interest or assignment that Operator may grant to such equipment 
financier (if any); (iv)  City shall not suffer or permit any lien or encumbrance to 
attach to the Equipment or Vehicles; and (v) City shall refrain from taking any action 
to bar, restrain or otherwise prevent Operator, its representatives, agents, secured 
parties, successors or assigns from entering, and hereby grants to said parties the 
right of entry to, the Metered Parking System for the purpose of inspecting or taking 
possession of and removing the Equipment and Vehicles upon any uncured default 
in payment of the Monthly Charges. 
 

14.3 Upon expiration of the Payment Period, provided all Monthly Charges have been 
paid in accordance herewith and no event of default shall have occurred and be 
continuing under this Agreement, title to the Equipment and Vehicles shall be 
transferred to the City.  However, notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to 
the contrary, if this Agreement should terminate for any reason prior to 
Operator’s receipt of all Monthly Charges for the entire Payment Period, the City 
shall be responsible for paying to Operator, within forty-five (45) days after the 
date of Operator’s statement for same, one lump-sum payment equal to the total 
of the portion of all remaining Monthly Charges for the Payment Period that 
constitute principal payments, which shall be automatically accelerated and 
become due.  Upon receipt of such lump-sum payment, title to the Equipment and 
Vehicles shall be transferred to the City. 
 

14.4 Operator shall be responsible for maintenance and repair of the Equipment and 
Vehicles during the term of this Agreement; provided, however, that any 
associated costs shall be deemed Operating Expenses and reimbursed to 
Operator.   

 



 

16 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

15. ADVERTISING.  During the six (6) months following the Commencement Date, Operator 
will endeavor to study and provide its opinion to the City concerning the efficacy of selling 
advertising on Metered Parking Devices.  After receiving the results of the Operator’s 
study and opinion concerning such advertising, the City may Approve advertising on 
Metered Parking Devices within the City, which shall become a duty of the Operator to 
administer as part of this Agreement.  All expenses associated with advertising shall be 
considered Operating Expenses and this Other Project Revenue will be considered Gross 
Receipts. 

16. OTHER SOURCES OF REVENUE.  Operator may, at any time, propose to City other 
activities related to Metered Parking Activities that Operator believes would generate 
Other Project Revenue.  If Approved, the expenses from such activity shall be considered 
as Operating Expenses and the Other Project Revenue shall be considered as Gross 
Receipts. 

17. INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY.  Operator hereby grants to City, during the term of this 
Agreement only, a non-assignable, non-exclusive right and license to use Operator’s 
intellectual property, including but not limited to its trade names, trademarks and any 
and all on-site parking amenities programs (the “Intellectual Property”), to the extent 
related to Operator's administration, management and operation of the Metered Parking 
System.  Upon termination of this Agreement for any reason, Operator shall have the 
right, at its sole cost and expense, to remove the Intellectual Property from the Metered 
Parking System and Metered Parking Devices, and City shall refrain from all further use of 
the Intellectual Property. 

 
18. LICENSES AND PERMITS.  Operator shall obtain and maintain all licenses and permits 

required by an operator of parking facilities by any governmental body or agency having 
jurisdiction over Operator's operations and will abide by the terms of such licenses and 
permits.  Any license or permit fees incurred by Operator shall be deemed an Operating 
Expense. 
 

19. TERMINATION.  In addition to any other termination rights hereunder: 
 

19.1 Either party may terminate this Agreement upon the other party’s breach of this 
Agreement provided the breaching party first receives written notice of such breach 
and fails to remedy same, within fourteen (14) days if a monetary breach or within 
thirty (30) days if a non-monetary breach, after receipt of written notice thereof, or 
if the breaching party fails to commence remedying such non-monetary breach 
within said 14-day period if such breach reasonably cannot be remedied within thirty 
(30) days.   

 
19.2 Either party may terminate this Agreement if the other party files a voluntary 

petition or similar pleading for bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or makes an 



 

17 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

assignment for the benefit of creditors, with such termination to be effective upon 
giving notice thereof. 

 
19.3 After the first twelve (12) months of the Initial Term, if there exists an insufficient 

balance in the Operator’s Revenue Account to pay the Management Fee and 
Operating Expenses when due and payable for any period of three (3) consecutive 
months, the Operator shall be entitled to terminate this Agreement by providing 
thirty (30) days written notice to the City.  In the event that Operator terminates the 
agreement pursuant to this paragraph, City may elect to either pay the amounts set 
forth in Section 14.3 in accordance with Section 19.5 or continue to pay the Monthly 
Charge in accordance with this Agreement, except that City shall be responsible for 
all costs associated with the Equipment and Vehicles, including, but not limited to, 
costs of operation, maintenance, and repair.  If the City elects to continue paying the 
Monthly Charges, this Agreement shall remain in effect with respect to the 
obligations contained in this Section 19.3 and the Equipment and Vehicles shall 
remain the property of the Operator as provided in Section 14.3 until expiration of 
the Payment Period and the payment of all Monthly Charges in accordance 
herewith.  Upon such payment in full and if and no event of default shall have 
occurred and be continuing under this Agreement, title to the Equipment and 
Vehicles shall be transferred to the City.  During the Payment Period, the City shall 
allow the Operator or Operator’s commercial lender the right to inspect the 
Equipment and Vehicles to confirm the City’s compliance with its maintenance 
and repair obligations as provided in this Section 19.3.    If the City defaults on any 
of its obligations hereunder and such defaults, if curable, have not been cured 
within the cure periods set forth in Section 19.1, then the Operator shall be 
entitled to all remedies available under law, including without limitation with 
respect to the repossession of the Equipment and Vehicles.   

 
19.4 Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement to the contrary, if City is in monetary 

breach of this Agreement and fails to cure such monetary breach within any 
applicable time period specified in this Agreement, then Operator shall have a self-
help remedy and is hereby authorized at any time and from time to time to the 
fullest extent permitted by law, without prior notice to City, to unilaterally offset 
and recoup any past-due payments from any Gross Receipts collected or held by 
Operator.  If Operator elects to exercise its right to offset and recoup all amounts 
due the Operator, City will be deemed to have cured the breach and Operator may 
not terminate this Agreement. 

 
19.5 Upon the termination of this Agreement for any reason, the City shall pay all 

amounts owed to Operator within forty-five (45) days after the date of termination, 
including without limitation the amounts set forth in Section 14.3. 

 
20. ASSIGNMENT.   Operator shall not assign or transfer this Agreement or its right, title or 

interest herein without the prior written consent of City, which consent shall not be 



 

18 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

unreasonably withheld.  Operator is hereby given the right to assign this Agreement to an 
affiliate of Operator or to a corporation substantially all of the stock of which is owned by 
Operator and/or to collaterally assign its right, title and interest herein to a financial 
institution as security for any present or future loans to Operator. 

 
21. DAY-TO-DAY SUPERVISING AND ADMINISTRATION ACTIVITIES. 

21.1 Designation by the City. For purposes of overseeing, supervising, managing 
and controlling, and administering day-to-day operations, having direct contact with 
Operator and, in general, verifying compliance with the terms and conditions of this 
Agreement, the City will notify Operator of the name, title and full contact details of 
the representative that will represent the City in relationship with the Operator. Said 
designation will take place no later than the Transition Date. Until said designation is 
revoked or canceled by the City, the City’s representative will continue serving as the 
City’s direct and immediate contact with Operator. 

21.2 Designation by Operator. In order to facilitate the City’s oversight and control 
of activities related to day-to-day operations hereunder, including having contact 
with the City and, in general, verifying compliance with the terms and conditions of 
this Agreement, Operator will notify the City of the name, title and full contact details 
of Operator’s representative that will represent Operator in relationship with the 
City. Said designation will take place no later than the Transition Date. Until said 
designation is revoked or canceled by Operator, or as per the City’s reasonable 
request, Operator’s representative will continue serving as Operator’s direct and 
immediate contact with the City. 

21.3 For clarity purposes, and unless otherwise expressly notified by one Party to 
the other Party, the Parties acknowledge that their representative to be designated 
for purposes of Section 21.1 and Section 21.2 will not be authorized or empowered 
to amend or modify any term or condition under this Agreement or any Exhibits 
hereof, or waive any right by any of the Parties or the exercise of any remedy against 
the other Party, all as set forth herein. 

22. NOTICE.  Any notice or communication required to be given to or served upon either party 
shall be given or served by personal service or by express delivery or by mailing the same, 
postage prepaid, by United States registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, to 
the following addresses: 
 

To City:   City of Jackson 
Attn: Chloe Dotson, Director of Planning 
200 South President Street  
Jackson MS 39201 
 

With copy to: City of Jackson 



 

19 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

 Attn: Office of the City Attorney 
 Post Office Box 2779 
 Jackson, Mississippi  39207-2779 
 
To Operator:  SP Plus Corporation 

Attn: Legal Department 
200 East Randolph Street, Suite 7700 
Chicago, IL 60601 

 
With copy to: SP Plus Corporation 

Attn: Jason Spoeth 
Senior Vice President 
121 Luckie Street NW, Suite 200 
Atlanta, GA 30303 
 

 Either party may designate a substitute addressee by written notice to the other 
party. 
 
23. MISCELLANEOUS. 
 

23.1 Relationship of the Parties.  No partnership or joint venture between the parties is 
created by this Agreement, it being agreed that Operator is an independent 
contractor. The personnel providing the services under this Agreement are 
employees of Operator, not City. Operator shall be responsible for paying the wages 
and benefits provided to its employees and for preparing and filing all necessary 
returns, reports and forms required by law in connection such employment, such as 
FICA taxes, unemployment insurance, worker’s compensation insurance, disability 
benefits, Federal and state income tax withholding and other similar taxes. 

 
23.2 Force Majeure.  Neither party shall be in breach of this Agreement for failure to 

perform any of its obligations by reason of strikes, boycotts, labor disputes, 
embargoes, shortages of materials, acts of God including, without limitation, public 
health emergencies, outbreaks, epidemics, pandemics and natural disasters, acts of 
the public enemy, acts of public authority, acts of war, weather conditions, riots, 
rebellion, civil commotion, civil unrest, demonstrations, protests, accidents, 
sabotage, terrorism, bioterrorism or any other casualty or circumstances for which 
it is not responsible and are not within its control (any such event being a “Force 
Majeure Event”).  No Management Fee shall be due to Operator if it suspends 
operations for any Force Majeure Event for the period of such suspension.  
 

23.3 Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance 
with the laws of the state in which the Metered Parking System is located.  

 



 

20 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

23.4 Waivers.  No waiver of default by either party of any term, covenant or condition 
hereof to be performed or observed by the other party shall be construed as, or 
operate as, a waiver of any subsequent default of the same or any other term, 
covenant or condition hereof. 

 
23.5 Severability.  If any provision hereof is held to be invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, such invalidity shall not affect any other provision hereof, provided such 
invalidity does not materially prejudice either party in its rights and obligations 
contained in the valid provisions of this Agreement. 

 
23.6 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement, together with any exhibits attached hereto, 

constitutes the entire agreement between the parties, and supersedes all 
representations, statements or prior agreements and understandings both written 
and oral with respect to the matters contained in this Agreement and any exhibits 
attached hereto.  No person has been authorized to give any information or make 
any representation not contained in this Agreement.  This Agreement may be 
amended only by written agreement of the parties. 

 
23.7 Parties Bound.  This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the 

parties and their heirs, successors, executors, administrators, legal representatives 
and permitted assigns, except that successors in elected office are not bound by the 
actions of their predecessors, including entering into this Agreement.  Consequently, 
with respect to successors of City Council members and the Mayor, upon their 
election and thereafter at any time, they may elect to terminate this Agreement by 
a vote of the majority of the quorum of the City Council, otherwise this Agreement 
shall continue in effect.  Upon the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this 
Section, the City shall pay all amounts owed to Operator within forty-five (45) days 
after the date of termination, including without limitation the amounts set forth in 
Section 14.4. 
 

23.8 Failure to Appropriate Funds.  Should the governing authorities fail for any Year to 
budget the funding necessary for the City to make payments required under this 
Agreement, this Agreement shall terminate at the conclusion of the last-funded Year.  
Upon the termination of this Agreement pursuant to this Section, the City shall pay 
all amounts owed to Operator within forty-five (45) days after the date of 
termination, including without limitation the amounts set forth in Section  14.4. 

 
23.9 Neither Party Deemed Drafter.  The parties have had sufficient time to consult 

legal counsel and negotiate changes regarding the terms hereof.  Therefore, 
neither party shall be deemed the drafter of this Agreement and, as such, this 
Agreement shall not be construed against either party due to the drafting hereof. 

 
23.10 Authority.  The individual signing this Agreement on behalf of City hereby represents 

that he or she has been empowered with full authority to act on behalf of City in 



 

21 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

connection with this Agreement, and that execution of this Agreement has been duly 
authorized by City.  If this Agreement is signed by an agent of City, then the individual 
signing below on behalf of City’s agent hereby represents that he or she has been 
empowered with full authority to act on behalf of said agent in connection with this 
Agreement, and that execution of this Agreement has been duly authorized by said 
agent and by City.  The individual signing this Agreement on behalf of Operator 
hereby represents that he or she has been empowered with full authority to act on 
behalf of Operator in connection with this Agreement, and that execution of this 
Agreement has been duly authorized by Operator. 

 
23.11 Counterparts and Signatures.  This Agreement may be executed in any number of 

separate counterparts, each of which shall together be deemed an original, but the 
several counterparts shall together constitute but one and the same Agreement.  A 
facsimile, portable document format (PDF) file or other reproduction of this 
Agreement may be executed by one or both parties, and an executed copy of this 
Agreement may be delivered by one or both parties by facsimile or by electronic mail 
in a PDF file, and such execution and delivery shall be considered valid, legally binding 
and effective for all purposes.  At the written request of either party, the parties shall 
execute this Agreement with original signatures. 

 
23.12 Headings.  Section headings are included solely for convenience, are not to be 

considered part of this Agreement and are not intended to modify, explain or be 
a full or accurate description of the content of any section of this Agreement. 

 
23.13 Payment. The expiration or termination of this Agreement shall not release City 

from its obligations to pay any Management Fees earned or Operating Expenses 
accrued that are due Operator as provided in this Agreement. 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first above 

written. 
 
CITY:      OPERATOR: 
 
City of Jackson SP Plus Corporation 
 
 
By: ________________________________                        By: _________________________________ 
Name: _____________________________ Name: Jason Spoeth 
Title: ______________________________ Title: Senior Vice President 
{{Name2_es_:fullname}}e}} 
  



 

22 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

Exhibit A 
Scope of Services 

 
The Operator shall: 
 

1. Monitor Metered Parking System Activities effectiveness. 
 
2. Collect, maintain and analyze parking data for the purpose of making 

recommendations to the City for improving operations and enforcement, as well as 
maximizing revenues. 

 
3. Provide recommendations for parking fees and policies; provided, however, the City 

shall retain sole authority to set and/or approve all fees and policies. 
 
4. Respond to parking complaints and public inquiries. Operator shall log all complaints 

and document the resolution of same. 
 
5. Implement and continue a public information program approved by the City. 
 
6. Observe and comply with all applicable federal, state, or local laws. 
 
7. Coordinate parking matters with local businesses. 
 
8. Purchase all materials, equipment and supplies necessary to carry out all parking 

operation and parking enforcement functions. 
 
9. Engage third party contractors, to the extent necessary, to provide the full scope of 

services, subject to City approval. 
 
10. Attend regular meetings at the request of City administration to review and discuss 

parking matters. 
 
11. Oversee day-to-day parking operations and respond to all field-related parking 

activity concerns with City parking facilities. 
 
12. Install, maintain, relocate and replace parking meters, pay stations, and other 

parking equipment as necessary. 
 
13. Hire and manage all parking related staff. Staff shall be fully trained, competent, and 

qualified with the skills and experience necessary to properly perform their assigned 
responsibilities. 

 
14. Perform background and drug screening for all staff hired to provide services to the 

City.  



 

23 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

 
15. Designate a manager who shall oversee parking operations to ensure high quality 

service and parking staff performance. 
 
16. Ensure that all personnel interacting with the public are in uniform and are 

maintaining a clean, orderly appearance. The uniform must display City approved 
insignia that clearly identifies staff as being responsible for City parking services. 

 
17. Ensure that all personnel issuing parking citations are properly trained and certified. 
 
18. Enforce City parking restrictions for on-street parking, including through the issuance 

of administrative and/or civil parking citations in accordance with City 
ordinances/policies. 

 
19. Participate in a multi-step adjudication process, whereby the initial administrative 

review is conducted by Operator staff, a secondary administrative review is 
conducted by the Operator’s general manager, and a third step allows for an 
administrative hearing to be conducted by an appointed magistrate within the City. 

 
20. Manage the financial activity of the parking system to include collecting and 

depositing all parking revenues and paying all parking related expenses in a timely 
manner and the technology relating to on-street digital meters, phone and on-line 
apps, and collection technology; 
 

21. Maintain detailed financial records. These records shall be open to the City and 
available to the public through public records requests made pursuant to the 
Mississippi Public Records Act.  

 
22. Pursue collection of outstanding fees for parking violations, which may be 

accomplished by contracting with a collection agency. 
 
23. Retain vendors to perform booting services if required by the City. 
 
24. Engage outside vendors to perform the following Services: 
 

a) Flowbird to allow for payment at City parking meters. 
b) Passport to allow for payment from mobile applications and for payment 
collections. 

 
25. Inventory and remove existing parking meters and replace them with new digital pay 

stations.  Maintain the new digital pay stations.  

26. Acquire vehicles equipped with license plate recognition cameras necessary to 
perform the services. 



 

24 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

Exhibit B 
Operating Standards 

  



 

25 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

Exhibit C 
Projected Budget 

  



 

26 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

Exhibit D 
Equipment 

 

• ___Vehicles 

• ___ LPR equipment count room equipment 

• signage and poles 

• removal of existing meter poles  

• approximately 85 Flowbird pay stations 
  



 

27 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

Exhibit E 
Amortization Schedule 

  



 

28 
Agenda Item No. 30 

11.7.2023 

Exhibit F 
Diagram 

 
 
 







































































































































































































































shanekiaj
Text Box
40













shanekiaj
Text Box
Agenda Item No. 4111.7.2023(Dotson, Lumumba)













ORDER AUTHORIZING PAYMENT OF $36,950.33 TO GRANICUS FOR 

GRANICUS, INC. FOR ANNUAL MAINTENANCE FOR THE AGENDA 

MANAGEMENT AND VIDEO SYSTEM. (JACKSON CITY COUNCIL) 

 

WHEREAS, the governing authorities passed an order on March 16, 2021, to authorize 

the Mayor to execute an agreement with Granicus, Inc.  for annual maintenance for the agenda 

management and video system; and  

 

WHEREAS, the appliance provides for an easy way to create, track, and publish agenda items 

for City Departments and the City Council; and 

 

IT IS, THERFORE, ORDERED that payment be made to Granicus, Inc. for the annual 

maintenance for the agenda management and video system in the amount of $36,950.33. 

 

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that payment for said services be made from the City of 

Jackson Technology Fund. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Agenda Item No. 42 

11.7.2023 

(Jackson City Council)  



THIS IS NOT AN INVOICE Order Form
Prepared for
Jackson MS

Order #: Q-309893
Prepared: 25 Oct 2023

Page 1 of 3

Granicus Budgetary Proposal for Jackson MS

ORDER DETAILS
Prepared By: Francisco Garcia
Phone: (939) 268-1270
Email: francisco.garcia@granicus.com
Order #: Q-309893
Prepared On: 25 Oct 2023
Expires On: 31 Dec 2023

Currency: USD
Payment Terms: Net 30 (Payments for subscriptions are due at the beginning of the period of 

performance.)
  

Period of Performance: 01 Jan 2024 - 31 Dec 2024

ORDER TERMS

Current Subscription 
End Date: 31 Dec 2023



Order Form 
Jackson MS

Order #: Q-309893
Prepared: 25 Oct 2023

 Page 2 of 3

PRICING SUMMARY
The pricing and terms within this Proposal are specific to the products and volumes contained within this
Proposal.

Renewing Subscription Fees

Solution Billing 
Frequency Quantity/Unit Annual Fee

Meeting Efficiency Suite Annual 1 Each $0.00

Government Transparency Suite Annual 1 Each $15,430.69

Granicus Encoding Appliance Software 
(GT) Annual 1 Each $1,602.35

Peak Agenda Management Annual 1 Each $19,917.29

Open Platform Suite Annual 1 Each $0.00
SUBTOTAL: $36,950.33



Order Form
Jackson MS

Order #: Q-309893
Prepared: 25 Oct 2023

Page 3 of 3

TERMS & CONDITIONS
• This quote, and all products and services delivered hereunder are governed by the terms located at 

https://granicus.com/legal/licensing, including any product-specific terms included therein (the “License 

Agreement”).  If your organization and Granicus has entered into a separate agreement or is utilizing a contract 

vehicle for this transaction, the terms of the License Agreement are incorporated into such separate agreement 

or contract vehicle by reference, with any directly conflicting terms and conditions being resolved in favor of the 

separate agreement or contract vehicle to the extent applicable.

• If submitting a Purchase Order, please include the following language: The pricing, terms and conditions of quote 

Q-309893 dated 25 Oct 2023 are incorporated into this Purchase Order by reference and shall take precedence 

over any terms and conditions included in this Purchase Order.

• This quote is exclusive of applicable state, local, and federal taxes, which, if any, will be included in the invoice. It 

is the responsibility of Jackson MS to provide applicable exemption certificate(s).

• Any lapse in payment may result in suspension of service and will require the payment of a setup fee to reinstate 

the subscription.

• The terms and conditions set forth in the Agreement effective 01 Jan 2021 are incorporated herein by reference.

https://granicus.com/legal/licensing

















